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INTRODUCTION

The three and a half years of Lord Waxell's Viceroyalty from October
1943 to March 1947 was probably the most difficult and momentous
period of office that any Viceroy has had to face The cruaal significance
of these years and the great services that Wavell rendered during them to
India and Britam, though recognized ta some extent at the tume, have not
since then recerved the appreciation that 1s therr due A shadow has been
cast over fus Viceroyalty by his summary disnussal from the post and by
the bnlliance wath which, immediately after hus departure, Lord Mount-
batten wound up the British Ray wath the full agreement of all parties By
contrast Lord Wavell's unavailing efforts to bring about agreement be-
tween the Conpress and the Mushm League can all too casily appear 1n
retrospect to have been fumbling and maladroit and his removal from the
scene to have been a necessary prelimmary to a final nnging down of the
curtain amd general applause Insome recently published books references
to hus Viceroyalty have been disparaging, even contemptuous It has been
sa1d that he was quate unfitted for delicate negotiations, that he was defeat-
st m outlook, an advocate of what Wimston Churchill would have
‘properly described as an ignoble and sordid scurtle’, that he was often at
a loss what to do and, by the time of his dismussal, at the end of his re-
sources These judgements are Jargely based on surmise and have been put

forward without reference to all the relevant documents, many of which
have not been published Lord Wavell’s Jourmal, along with some of hus
own notes and memoranda, should help to correct a number of ms-
conceptions and will lead, perhaps, to a better appraisal of his achuevements
as Viceroy and his qualities as a man

The mam sigmificance of s Viceroyalty hies 1n the two fateful poliical
decisions that were, in effect, reached dunng hus tenure of office One of
them, that Inda should be granted Independence wathun exghteen months,
was taken at fus mstance, and largely because of his msistence, and was
annpunced before he left the country The other, that India should be
divided, though 1t was not actually taken and proclumed by the Buush
Government tll some weeks after his departure, had 1 reality been
reached by India’s pnhnca] leaders before he handed over to his successor
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It was jiot a decision that he willed, desired, or advocated mndeed he
greatly regretred ut, bur, as he reahzed and 1old the Bnish Govemment

as soon as he arred back m England, parnition had become virtually
mescapable 1t was the nccessary sequel to the breakhdown of his long and
patient endeavours to reconctle withit a united India the conflicting aims
of the Congress and the Muslim League By the nme of hus departure tire
embittered protagonsts of these hostile parnes had at last agreed at least
on thus, that they should go their separate ways m a divided India The key
members of the Congress, who had earlter been adamant in their resistance
to diviston, were by now eonvinced by expenience in the Intenm Govermn-
ment that collaboration with the League i governing India was impossible
and that 1t was best, therefore, 1o let the Muslims take those parts of the
country that on a populaton basis they could indisputably claim, and
form them into a separate State Meanw hile Jinnah and the Mushm League
had come to accept the position that1f they really wanted Pakustan, all they
could pet would be the truncated Pakastan that population igures would
eave them, and they were content to take thys rather than to have no
Pakystan at all Thus when Mountbatten became Viceroy, a firm basis
for agrecment between the parties already exssted He bule upon 1t wath
superb confidence, deaision, and skill, but 1t was a much easter task than

to coax the Congress and the League into some form of umted India, 3s
Wiy ell and the Bntish Gosemment had for one and a half years nghtly,
but saundy, artempted.

Mountbatten also had the advantage of enjoying fuller powers (for
which he had wisely stpulated in advance) than were ever allowed to
Wavell It u sud? that Nehru was so steuck by the aie of authonty with
which he spoke that a fow days after bus armial i Indua he asked um

'Have you by some nuracle gor plenpotentiary powers® ‘Suppose 1
have,” Mountbatten replied, *what difference w mﬂdf:f make? T:f I"..,1-.01'uu::h

Ejixdn.t answered “Why then you wall suceeed where all others hase

Warell's faure, which paved the way for Mountbatren's success, was
cerranly not hus faulr The task that he was set was 2 well-nigh impossible
one, almost comparable to the hopeless task assigned 1o am 23 2 malitary
communder to stem the Japanese advance in South-Fast Asa, and he was

hampered throughout by the mndecision and weakness of hus masters the
Brnuh Government Neverthelashe cames CTy near to suceess, and 1e1sag

leasr areus? 1o that of be had been gnen 2 freer hand or o the Bonsh
Government had followed hus adnce and acted with the firmness and

F IS lha-jm,mﬂmﬂﬂrdfﬂm&m,mﬂg} P 201
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deciston that he advocated, the transfer of power could have been effected
without the disasters that actually accompanied 1t
The polincal problem occupied Was ell's 1rund from the first moment
of his appomtment as Viceroy, and durmg hus last ewo years of office 1t
came to domunate all else But there were many other daunting problems
that he had to cope with. At the very outset he was confronted with a
famume m Bengal and thereafter, nght to the end, 2mud all hus other carcs
he had to mect repeated threats of fanune and chrome shortages of food,
cloth, coal, and other essenttals As soon as the war ended, there was, as he
had foreseen, a renewal of political agitation and the fomenting of popular
discontent, and ths was followed by mutines, stnkes, outbreaks of dis-
order, both anti-government and communal, and the threat of rebellion
and civil war Wan ell sought to forestall and counteract this turbulence by
pushung ahead plans for post-war devclopment and by attempting at the
Sinla Conference of 1945 to form a Congress-League coalition govern-
ment before the war ended This wise and statesmanlihe move, which the
Briish Government delayed and obstructed, did not succeed m ats object,
but 1n the judgement of the Congress President, Maulana Abul Kalam
Azad, 1t marked the beginming of a dectsive and favourable change
Indo-Brtish relations, and 1t probably helped to keep in check the extrem-
15t wing of the Congress duning the enswing dangerous months
It will be found from Wavell's fournal and the documents mentioned
1 1t that anud all bus difficulties and disappointments he never accepted
defeat and was never for long at a loss what to do, but that, on the con-
trary, he was almost mvarably in advance of the Britsh Government
prompting and proposing courses of action, and that he was always look-
ing ahead and devising ways of meeting contingencies that they had not
begun to think of The policy of scuttle that has been artnbuted to hrm was
one that he strongly advised should be avoided He foresaw that unless
there was a complete reversal of pohcy and a firm decision was taken to
remam m India for another fifteen to twenty years, Botish control could
not be effectively mamtamned for very long He therefore urged the
British Government to fix a date for wathdrawal and to make timely
arrangements to beat an orderly retreat, and when he found that they
preferred just to hope for the best and to scuttle 1f these hopes were not
rcghz.:d’ he PIE'SSEd his adwvice upoL them with a blunt msistence that was,
no doubt, partly responsible for hus distmassal In the end the Bnush
Govemment agreed to fix a date and took the credit for this *bold and
courageous move that he had for months been vanly advocating
Indtans of all political parties recogmzed that during hus term of office
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Wavell worked tirelessly, smeerely, and with great ability for the good of
India, for the reconalation of thewr mternal differences, and for the
peaceful transfer of power to Indun hands He showed himself to be
straightforward, just, energetic, firm, and decisive These were the
qualities that Induans assoctated with the Baush at their best, and they

were pleased to find them m the Viceroy These qualtes are clearly
revealed i the Journal,

The reasons that prompted Wavell to keep a Journal are explaned
the followng short note that he wrote mside the cover of the first volume

I have never kept a dry or any record of my life other than a small
book i which I set down m what part of the world T am in each month.

Since thus war began and [ have become mvolved in great events I have
regretted that I have not kept a note of certamn happenings and conversa-
tions Now that [ have been appointed Viceroy I think I wall try to put

down at the time some note of matters and impressions which may be of
interest from the personal or historical pomt of view

In accordance with this resolve he kept a regular record of his activities

and 1mpressions throughout hus term as Viceroy "When he was in Delht or
it Stmla or en a visit to London ke made entries 1n the Journal almost
every day, when he went on tour to different parts of India he usually
wrote up the Journal on s recurn to headquarters The labour of this
wriang after a heavy day's work must have been considerable The portion
of 1t covering the penod of his Viceroyalty fills eleven volumies and runs
to over 260 000 words It 1s written m hus clear regular handwriting wath
scarcely an erasure

References n the Journal to personal and famuly matters are nfrequent,
some of them have been omutted There 15 also comparatively hetle
reference to world or national affairs, and considenng the large part that
he had played as a mulitary commander from 1939 to 1943, there 13 not
much comment on the progress of the war or on mlitary operations
other than those that directly affected India The great bulk of the entries

tn the Journal are concerned wath his activities as head of the Government
of India and wzth the events of his Viceroyalty

Inevitably substantial cuts have had to be made and readers may wish
to know the nature of these cuts Apart from the onussion, already
mentioned, of a few of the references ta personal matters, some of the
entries regarding the Viceroy s routine day-to-day work, and socal
engagements wncludig some huppy references to members of hus staff
connection with social and sportimg events, have been omutted But
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enough have been retamned to give the reader an idea of the wide range of

matters which required the Vieeroy’s personal attentron, and to serve as
2 reminder of his heavy social obhgations Stmularly some of the detailed
accounts that Wavell wrote of hus tours have been omutted or greatly

curtarled, but the more interestung or amusing of them have been given

n full or with only shight abbreviation

A number of entries regarding the general problems of the Princely
States have been curtatled, and references to happenings in individual
States that had no scrious repercusstons il the rest of Indn, eg the
deposition of the Maharaja of Rewa, have ustally been omutted altogether.
There 15 also one whole subject, the treatment of Indians 1n South Afnca,

almost all references to which have been cut out Thus was a subject that
mn the years 1943~5 bulked large mn the deliberations of Wavell's Executive
Counal, but 1t 1s quute divorced from the main themes of lus Viceroyalty,
and the Council’s debates and decisions on 1t have not much histoncal
stgmficance, for no action that India mght take against South Africa could

deflect the Government of that country from 1ts basic policies Wavell
sympathized with the feelings of the Tndian members of his Council
regarding the treatment of Indans 1n South Afnca and did whatever he

could to help As a result of his years of ¢

had rather a spccul relation with Smuts, an
bam the strength of Induan feeling and the

g his Counctl from mtemperate
d 2 conference, but Smuts, who had his own difhi-

culties, thought that this would be premature The references to ths

Sﬂbjﬂct in the Jnurm.l are E'url}f numerous but most of them are ﬁ:ag—

mentary and would be deﬁCl.ﬂt o underst:md without a gnncl deal of
d best not to distract the reader by

supplementary notng It has seeme
<de 1ssue, and so, except for one self-explanatory

gether
on individuals that mught be

[l living have been onutted, but most of

embarrassing to persons St
> P t:vourable, have been allowed

such comments, both favourable and un

t te the risk of giving offence to Induan readers none
0, stand, and SespIE wrote of Mr Gandhi have been, altered

of the hard things that Wavell
Or Gnutt;::l, for ﬂgfavcﬂls very unfavuurabli: Judgcmcnt of him 15 of some

historical interest

Occasionally Wavell mcluded 1n hus ]num:a.l + brief record of hus inter-
views with leading Indian rans, more often he dictated separate
notes of such mmterviews an m 1n his Jﬂumal, sOometimes

pnhttc
1 referred to the
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addmg the words ‘copy cnclosed’ Some of these separate notes have
been reproduced either mn full or abbreviated, but, to make for easter
readmp, exiraces from some of them have been worked mto the texe af
the Journal, as though they were part of 1t
Apart from the omissions that have been indicated and thus incorpora-
ton 1n the text of portions of the mterview notes,* the Journal stands a5
Wavell wrote it Hss spellmg of Indtan names and his punctuanon, at
times somewhat erratic, have been left unaltered
The early volumes of the Journal are comparatively gay, buoyant, and
light-hearted 1n tone, but later especually after the Sumla Conference m
July 1945, as the outlook tn India became more gloomy and threateming
and the work piled up and the strain and stress grew more intense, there
15 less hght relief, the Journal 1s more and more concentrated on the
political scene and towards the end becomes sombre and pesstmustic 1n
tone It 1s clear that by this time, though Wavell stll looked cheerful and
continued to be energetic and, as his letters show, still denived some amuse-
ment from the manaeuvres of the politicians, he was really very tired 1t15
probable that unknown to hum and to hss doctors, hus health had already
been undermumed by continuous stramn and overwork, and he was cerramly

depressed by the httle supportor constructive help that he got from HM G
The Journal ends on 2 rather sad, dispmited note

* In one mstance on p 22 a portion of a separate note on a Cabinet meeting has been
mserted ut the text of the Joumal

Note The lettets ICS or IP have been added in footnotes or i the
Index after the names of persons who were members of the Indian Crval
Service or the Indmn Palice, bue detals of honours and titdes have not

been gaven,



1
APPOINTMENT AS VICEROY

Jine 23, 1943
It may be of interest if I set down wlnle the events and impressions are
fresh in my mund the hustory of my appomtment as Viceroy from my
point of view—rather a detached one up to the climax

When [ came home from India in Apnl,? [ had of coursc no idea
whatever that the post mught be offered to me, but T was naturally
mterested to know on whom the choice would fall sinee I should have to
work with him as C-in-C India The last time 1 spoke to the Viceroy
(Lord Linhithgow] before I left India he sard he had no 1dea who his suc-
cessor would be and did not seem inclined to discuss posstbalities (we had
been through them at an eather date before hus extension was announced)
I had heard one or rwo people suggest my name but they were not
respensible persons and the suggestion merely annoyed me I had seen
enough of the busmess of the government of India by siting on the
Executive Counctl, discussions with the Viceroy and others, to convince
me that I had no inchination or czpaaity for that sort of work, and [
puivately thanked heaven there was no chance of my having to do 1t, and
made up my mmd to refuse any Governorshup if one was offered me after
the war

The P M ’s greeting to me when [ first met um on return home was
far from cordial, and he was very crtical and even mlpl-:asant 2bout the
Arakan? operations, though I pomred out 1o the War Cabinet therr
limited scope, that they would never have been undertaken at all 1f T had
had shipping available for a direct assault on Akyab and that T had at least
kept the Japanese busy for a whole campaigning season wathout much
encouragement from home and entiely on my own imtiative, whle the
Chinese, who according to Snlwell would advance 1n force on March 1,

1 Wavell, 25 Commander m-Chief Indiz was in mud Aprl sumnmoned to Exgland by
the Chuefs of Staff for consulrations along with the Maval and Awrr Commanders-in-Chaef
m the india region He reached England on 2z April

3 At the end of 1942 the 14th Indian Iiwvsion advanced mto the Arakan prownce of
Burma with the object of recaptuning the port of Akyab After some inmal progress the
advance was held vp and although another Divinion was thrown in a Japanese counter-
stroke compelled the British-Indian forces to withdraw again to the frontier with some foss

of men equpment and morale
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had never moved at all Sulwell? had only informed me that they did not
mntend 1o advance 1w February This seemed to go down well vath the
War Cabinet, but the PM did not look pleased This was on Apnl 29

[ had dined with the P M the nught before {Antony Eden and Admural
Somerville the only two others)—P M quite pleasant but not much
busmness talked except that I said I thought we ought to go to Washmgton
since Sulwell and Chennaunlt were there and PM sad he did not think
he would trust me to discuss plans alone wath the Amencans he or Chuefs
of Staff or both should go also Isatd I was sure someone ought to go, now
that 1t had been decaded that the plan agreed with the Amenicans in Indiz
in February for Burma could not be carnied out mn full

Dunng the next few days 1t was decided that the P M, Chaefs of Staff,
the three Service Commanders from India {Somerwille, Peirse and
myself} and a large deleganion should go to US A on Queen Mary,
leaving London on the mght of May 4 On some day before I lefe I had
a message that Eden would bike to see me at the Foreign Ofhice Later
I had 2 message that Amery would Like to see me at the India Office before
I went to the FO When [ saw Amery he told me that the PM  was
pressing Eden to become Viceroy and that Eden wanted to discuss 1t with
me Amery urged me to do what I could to persuade Eden to go to India
as he thought he was the best choice I heartily agreed asIlike Eden and
thought he would be good to waork with, When [ went avertathe FQ,
Eden told me that he was being pressed by the P M but was 1in two munds,
becanse the mtention was that he should be recommended to HM to
succeed Winston as P M if anything should happen to W He obviously
feared that the break of fixe years in hus pohtical career mught put hum out
of ninmingas PM  at the same ume he was attracted by the 1dea of bemng
Viceroy Hesaid PM had agreed to hus gomg as 2 Commoner as a special
case and not taking a peerage 1 asked whoe would surceed fum at the
FO and he sud Cranbome Eden wanted to know whether I thought
that anything 1n the way of great poheteal progress i India was possible
at the present time I replied that I was doubtful whether the deadlock
could be easily solved during the war lus appomtment would obviously
arouse great hopes which he might not be able to fulfil, hut I hoped that he

would take the Viceroyalty for which he was so well quabfied. He asked
e a few questions about whether the present pomp and cerernony could

not be greatly reduced. [ sad that I thought 1t certainly could We talked

P It -Gen. Joseph W Stilwell 2 U'S General popularly known as VinegarJoe He was

ghmt'-ﬂf—SuLﬂ' to Chiang Karshek and commanded U S, apd Clonese fuﬁn{n Indiz and
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for about half-an-hour and he remamed undecided, though [ thought he
was inclinung to acceptance He said he would have to give a reply when
the PM returned from US A
Cn the Queen Mary on the way to New York, the PM  discussed the
Viceroy's successor with me once, and said, rather to OTY SUCPILISC 1N VIEW
of my talk with Eden, that he had come to the conclusion that Eden could
not be spared, and that he thought Oliver Lyttleton would be hus chorce
This was the last occasion on which he spoke to me about the successor
to the Viceroy tll he offered me the post 2 month later
Durning the voyage the P M continued his erttical attitude of the Arakan
operattons, and 1n a note by him wlhich was wadely distnibuted to most
of the staff of the Musston he used the expressions ‘complete falure” and
‘deep disgrace’ in connection with some remarks on them This made me
furious, and I wrote a letter to him to the effect that, if he considered the
operations such a falure and disgraceful, he could remove me from my
command, but that as long as he continued to entrust 1t to me I would not
have such remarks cireulated to juruor officers, some of whom were on
my staff It was rather a good letter, but [ then decided to sleep on 1t and
to consuft Alan Brooke {CIGS) in the mommng He adwised apamst
sending the letter, and said that such remarks were ‘common form” with
the P M , that those who worked with hun had become hardened to themt
and disregarded them, and he asked me not to give the P M any possible
chance to remove me from India So I did not send the letter, but when
Isawthe P M alone that day I tackled him aboue it He professed complete
confidence 1n me and satd he had never intended that his remarks should
have such wade circulation Later, he called 1 all copies of his note, and
amended the offendmg paragraph, thereby really calling more attention
to it
He found another subject for entiosm m the loyalty of the Indun
Army Amery had sent a paper to the War Cabinet callmg attention to
obvious dangers arising from the expansion of the Indian Army It was
the result of some papers I had had sent home as C -m-C 'We realised the
dangers in India, were keeping a close watch on them, but were not in the
least alarmed and convinced of the general soundness of the Indizn Army
The P M, howeser, chose to read mto Amery's note the impression that
the Indian Army was biable to rise at any moment, and he accused me of
creating 2 Feankenstewn hy puting modern weapons 1 the hands of
sepoys, spoke of 1857, and was really almost chuldish about 1t I tried to
re-assure fum, both verbally and by a wmtten note, but he has a curtous
complex about India and 15 always loth to hear good of it and apt to
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believe the worst He has sull at heart his eavalry subaliem s sdea of Indua,
just as lus puhitary tacttes are mclined to date from the Boer War
He alco rased on the voyage the question of the Eastern Command
He gave me two papers one from the Awr Minuster on the separanon of
the are m India from the C-in C's control the other by Amery on the
creation of 2 new Comnuand to control all operattonsin S E - Asta separare
from C-in C India wrote out my comments on both of these and sent
them to PM I pomnted out the constitunonal difficulucs of having 2
sepaate air command 1n India quite apart from the nulicary disadvantages
and the difficulues of working with the Amenicans 1f we have an entrely
dufferent set up to therrs [ strongly advocated a Jont Anglo-Amencan
command on the lines of Eisenhowers command i North Afna or
MacArthur’s in Australn The P M sent no reply to these papers which
were actually sent to htm after we got to Washington nor referred to

them 1n any way I showed Parse the paper on the Combined Command
and he agreed generally
I &id not see much of the P M m Washington and he was not very
cordial when I did At a tuncheon at the Whate House 1 the Prosident s
study at which there were only the PM  the Prestdent Harry Hopkans
and mysclf the P M took occaston to make some rather caustic references
both to the Arakan operations and to the Indian Army which annoyed
me as the Presid nt was being very pleasant and had not raised erther
topic Tignored the Arakan remarks but defended the Induan Army with
some heat, and the P M siid no more A day or two later he sent the CIGS
a memo asking some questrons on the Arakan operations and referming to
them in most seathing terms using the expressions ‘discreditable” and dis-
graceful Isent the CIGS an mdignant reply but 1 don t know how much
of 1t he passed on to the P M He again said that those who worked closely
with him became hardened to such nunutes and took little notice of them
I wanted to go practcally serarghe back to Inda from Washington but
the CIGS rold me that the P M svanted mc to stay 10 England ull he counld
discuss the set up of Command 1n India with me The ﬁ,M confirmed
thus just betore we left Washington I could not quite understand why we
did not rasse and discuss the Jomt Anglo-Amertcan command in Washing-
ton but I sensed that there was SDmEt]ung ‘wg[k_mg mthe PM 3 mind

which hie was not prepared 1o discuss or mention to me 3t present Alan
Brooke swore that he did not know 1 the Jeast w hatwasmthe PM s
head about the Command

S0 when we lefr Washington on May 26 1 resigned myself to waiting
a week of more in London till the PM returned from™North Africa and
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scttled up the Command Alan Brooke went to Africa with PM  The
PM had sard he would discuss the Indian Command on his return The
DCIGS and CIGS {on his return) accepted my views practically wrthout
amendment, and later the Chuels of Staff, afeer some discussion put
forward thesc views as a CO'S paper, recommending a Jomt Anglo-
Amenican Command, with 2 Supteme Commander Without vanuty,
[ could consider that I was the obvious choice for Supreme Commander,
but I was also quite certain that the P M, for some reason did not want
me there 1asked Aln Brooke if he knew how his nund was working
He said he had no tdea except that PM  had mentioned that he thought
he would like to appont a good young Corps commander from North
Africa such as Oliver Lecse, to take charge of the operations from India
{ warned the CIGS that 1f operations were removed from C-in-C India,
and placed under a comparatively junior commander, the PM could
hardly expect me to remamn as C-in-C India merely to admnuster the
Indian Army CIGS said there was no question of that, 1f that happened
Auchinlek would be C-n-C 1

This must have been about June ¢ {the P M and CIGS had retumed on
June 6) Thad noidea what wasin the wind or that there was any question
at all of appomntmg me Viceroy, and spent 2 good deal of my tume visiting
military and Aur Force establishments in vanous parts of England when
[ was not dealing with matters concerning the Army m India at the War
Office or India Office | considered rather vaguely the possibility that
the P M mught intend to bring me home to take charge of the Forces for
the invasion of the Continent but thought this improbable as 1t would
be a waste of my Eastern expenience i fact I did not quate see how the
PM could avord the conclusion that a Joint Command and a Supreme
Commander was the nght solution for the East Asian theatre or that I
was the obvious choice as 2 Supreme Commander ButIthought he might
have broached this to the President at Washmgton and met objections
owing to the way the Arakan operations had beent musrepresented—
largely by himself—as a complete faldure and their 1mportance exag-
gerated Iwas also quite certamn that the Air Force were tryng hard behind
the scenes erther to get complete mdependence from the control of a
soldser or to get an Arrman appomnted as Supreme Commander On the
whole however I felt pretty confident that I should go back to India and
be appomted Supreme Commander 1f that went through

I asked someone (I think Amery) after [ got back from Washington 1t

1 General (later Freld Marshal) Sir Claede Auchileck became Commander-in-Cluef
Indiy when Wavell was made Viceroy
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1t was true that Eden had definicely decided agatnst the Viceroyalty, and
was told he was stll constdermg 1t. Since the PM showned no sign of hife
as far as I was concerned, 1 went anay for the wech-end on Saturday
June 12 I concluded that the PM was still making up his mind about
the question of the higher Command i Indi and wished he would get
on with 1t. 1 mntended to go to my sisters 1 the New Forest for the week-
end, but Amery had asked me several nmes to go to the house that Lord
Moyne had lent lum near Chichester and 1 had always refused, so |
thought I would propose myselt for a mght and then motor on to my
sisters and return to London on Tuesday (Monday was Whit-Monday)
Amery asked me to motor lum down on Saturday everung The whole
way down he talked Indun politics 1 took a langmd, even somnolent,
interest. | do not much hike aalking 1 a air, Amery 15 2 httle deafand so
am I and I had made up my mind that whatever happened to me I should
not be bothered with Indun polincs much more If | was appomted
Supreme Commander in SE A, I should be dealing manly with
operations and semeonce else would be C-m-C Indua, presumably Auchin-
Jeck If someone else was made Supreme Commander, CIGS had said
that there was no imtention of keeping me on as C-in-C Indna to run the
Indian Army Solam afratd that I didnot histen to Amery's monologucon
future appomntments to the Viceroy's Counal and other marters wath the
attenuon that I rmght have done had T had any inkhing of what was i store
Next mormung Sunday, I went for an hour or so s walk with Amery
We agan talked mainly of India, but I alked entirely from the miheany
angle 13tked Amery if the Viceroy had yet been chosen he said ‘not vet
but it had reached the ser finalstage [ did not ask the nzmes of the semu-
finalists as he did not sound inclined for discussion (he of course knew the
P M sdeason, and wasbeangvery discreet) Soonafter wegot back to the

howe the P M 3 Seererany telephoned and asked me to go 2nd dme with
the PM on Monday mght. This was rather uresome as 1t made my stay

with my sisters a very short one § had promised to lunch wath the Head-
master of Winchoster on Mondsy and had mtended to retumn to my sisters
for Monday rmght now ! should have to go straicht on to London from
Wanchester 1 imazined dur the P M had come to sante deaision on the
3 E Asan Command and wanted to discass 1t with me but thought that
having kept me wainng so leng he might now have warted tifl Tuesday
l moroted on to Ringwood on Sunday afrernoon. 1 semember wonder-
inf: for 3 moment why the P M should send for me at such short notice,
a1d the thoueht did crom 1y mund that Amen’s attitude o me had
" Y 2 rather o propo-tin shade than before, was 1t concenable
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that the P M meant to sound me on the matter of the Viceroyalty? [ dis-
mussed the 1dea at once and concentrated on putting together a few 1deas
to deliver to the School at Winchester next day When I got to Little
Somborne, my sisters ¢a1d Lord Cranborne had rung up and was very
anxtous I should go over and sec lum 1 knew the Duff-Coopers were
there, 1 had offeced myself to Lady Diana or lunch on Sunday at her
farm and she had told me they were to be at Cranbome, and had asked
me to come over there to see them, 50 1 imagined she was partly res ponsible
for the mvitatton My sisters and | motored over there after tea Bobbety
Cranbomne’s greeting to me was “Well. are we to congratulate you? 1 said
*What on earth for? and he sard "Oh, 1 thought they mght have offered
you a new appomtment, I'm sorry [ spoke’ or something like that There
were about 8 or 10 people with the Cranborncs, and I thought the atmo-
sphere seemed rather constrained Lady Diana looked at me so fixedly that

I asked her whether she had anythung on her nund about me, but she sud
no (I have smce realised that probably everyone 1in the room, except
myself and my sisters knew +hat the chotce for Viceroy had fallen on me})
Next day | motored to Winchester with my sisters, spoke to the School
and hinched with the Headmaster It was not antil after tea (whach I had
i Stxth Chamber 1 College with the School Officers), when I was
motorng up to London that Bobbery’s greeting at Cranborne came back
to me and I really started thunking about 1t It then occurred to me that he

was unhkely to know abouta fresh mulitary appointment, such as Supreme
Commander in S E Asia but might well know about the selection of

a Viceroy, n fact almost certamly would For the first ume, durmg that
drive to London, I really began serrously to constder the possibility of the
Viceroyalty bemng afered to me, and to wonder what I should do about
it As I have said I had made up my mind some ume before that I had no
taste for the cares of Govemorship and that I should refuse any offer of
such when my rmbitary career ended. 1 saw, however, that 1t might be

rather difficult to refuse the Viceroyalty offered to me as a war appoint-

ment It would mean that Eden had finally declined, and that the PM

had dectded that I would be of more value to the side as Viceroy than as
Supreme Commander of SE Asta which was the post 1 had hoped for
I had always gone where 1 was rold during the war without protest, and
had deaaded to make none f the PM wished to remove me from the
Command mn Inda to some other mlitary command ot to put me on the
shelf I thought I was pusnblj,r 15 suttable as one or WO of the candidates
for the Viceroyalry 1 had heard mentioned Anyway, I have the bad (or
good?) habit of never worrying much about my fences tll I come to
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them If the P M was seniously considering me for the Viceroyalty he
would presumably give me time to think 1t over as he had the others So 1
did not reflect very long or deeply about 1t all beyond wondermg what
my wife would say, she would obviousty make an excellent Vice-Rene
I changed 1nto untform and went td 10 Downing Strect at 30 pm on
June 14 1 was kept warting about quarter of an hour 1n the basement
where the PM dines duning the war I noticed the table was laid for two
only I employed the waiting trme looking at the P M ’s library 1 the
sitting room When the PM came 1n, he went straight to the point He
sud something like this {I cannot recall the exact words) T have decided
that vou will have 1o give up your appomtment as C-n-C India, but
when you hear what I have to propose to you I am sure you will agree
I propose that you should be Viceroy How does that strike you®' I said
that 1t was a surprise to me, that I was very honoured by hus considermg
me fit for such a post but that I should have prﬂfsrr-::-;:i to remain in a
mulitary appomtment He made some complimentary femarks, seemed
to assume that T should accept, sard that he had obtamed His Majesty’s
approval on 2 signed document before H M went to North Afnica as he
wished to mzke the announcement at once He smd  You will have to
become 2 avilian and put off unuform’, and after the ¢onversation had
only lasted a few munutes said “We wall now go and have dmner’” He was
very pleasant during dinner and talked about India and the proposed
set-up of Command etc, a5 1f I bad already accepted Towards the end of
dinner, he asked me ‘May [ assume that you accept? {ssd “Well, Imust
at Jeast ask my wafe, she has a heavy task to shoulder also” He sad
‘Certanly, send a telegram tomght, T wall get Pug Ismay over to send 1t
for you', and he forthwith rang for his Secrctary and told hum to get
Ismay over 1fcleT was being rushed Ismay came over shd the P M said
goodnight shortly afterwards I wrote out a telegram to Queeme and
gave 1t to Ismay T had snpulated that she shauld he fown home at once,
if T accepted, and the PM said ‘Of course” Incrdentally, he sud I should

have to take a peerage He also sard 1t would probably be a war appomt-
ment only and that he would make a political appointment after the war,
he indrcated three years as the linut of my tenure

My wife’s reply came two days later, and 1 then wyote 10 the P M
formally accepting the post
July 3

Not very much to tecord, T'yve lunched and dined with 2 lot of people,
worhed 2 good deal at the India Office, mostly answenng letters and seemg



24 JUNL-§ JULY 1943 0

various people, and have attended one or two Cabinet meeungs 1 had
a tryme day on Junc 22 when ['had a Press mecting and had to make my
first public pronouncement, naturally an mmportant occaston 1 have a
weakness that I can seldom bring myself to do anything tl] the last possible
moment Though I had far warning of this Press Conference and had
meant to write out my address durnng the previous W cehend, 1 did some-
thing clse less important, and actually only wrote it late at night the day
before the Conference It was quite good and went down well, but I
suppose 1t mught have been better 1f 1 had done 1t earlier and piven more
time to 1t I must try to cure thas w cakness but  have done the same thing
ali my life and perhaps 1t 15 ey sitable and 1t scems to work well on the
whole
On Fnday July 3 there was a speal Cabmet on Palestine, due to a
pesstmustic report by the Munsster of Statc on mereased Arab-Jewsh
tension on the approach of Apnl 1944 when by the Whte Paper of 1939
Jewrsh immigration becomes dependent on Arabsanction Tknew Winston
was a confirmed Zionst, but had never quutc realised the lengths to w hich
he was prepared to go, speech at any rate, OF the strenoth of the pro-
Jewish feeling mn the Cabinet No-one scemed prepared to sav anything
at all on the Arab side So at last I spoke up, and sa1d that no-one ever
seemed to remember the second part of the Balfour Declaration or the
other pledges given to the Arabs I sa1d everyone spoke of protecung the
Jews, but that 1f Arabs and Jews were left to fight 1t cutin Palestine wath-
out outside mnterference [ had no doubt that the Jews would win, and that
it was the Arabs who reqmrr:d protection The PM had talked of all we
had done for the Arabs We had done a good deal for the Jews i ntro-
ducing half a muliton 1nto a country whose ithabitants did not want them
The P M sud the Arabs had done nothing to help usin the war Isaid that
Ibn Saud’s friendship had been nvaluable and that hus enmuty might have
done us much harm, after all the Jews, as a 13cc, had not helped us The
PM took my remarks better than I expected

July 5
I saw Mormson {(Home Secretary) and Cripps! 1n the mommyg Mortisen
spoke of India, about which he really knew little His 1dea seemed to be

to encourage the masses agawmst the classes by factory leguslation spread of
education and mechamisatron of farmung on the Soviet madel, but he ‘hnd

hittle 1dea of the problem, and thought the ‘depressed classes’ and "un-
touchables” were merely another name for the poor, and seemed hardly

I Sir Stafford Croipps was at this tyme Mmster of Aircraft Production
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to have heard of the caste system 1 ponted out the differences from Russta
where all at least spoke 2 commen language and had a common rehigion
(or lack of religmon) He 1s a quce lLintle man, and ke him, but I hope that
the Labour Party generally know more of India

Cripps also spoke of social leguslatton to counteract political agitation
He does at Jeast realsse the difficultses of the Indian problem

jrlf}-' 0

Meeting with Amery and Mudaltar,? to hear M 's views on constitutional
PIOEICSS
M. said, 1n effect

Gandh and Congress will not retract August resoluton,? though there
1s considerable revolt made Congress aganst G s negattve policy
G rejected the Copps offer because he thought Japan would win and
his policy of non-violence was mconsistent wath support of war
Best possibilities for Govemnment are to do something t0 remote sensc
of trustration of politcal India, and w encaurage reacuon agamnst Gandhs
No posstbility during war of such Consatuttonal change as removing
Viceroy's powers as was suggested dunng Cripps’ negotations It would
hand over Inda to wresponsible oligarchy
M himself 15 convinced of HAM G's mtentions but India stll lacked
confidence in them We agreed that some preparatory work on designing
a Constitution for India nught be undertaken, and sonte ]:JDd)f nPPﬂmt:d
1o consider vanous forms of Federation fee Swiss US A, Domnion)
This body winch should be acadernc rather than polieal in composition,
could define Pakistan and consider ats effects on defence, finance, com-
nmrcaions etc
M then spoke of Indumsation of Counal 1¢ present critcasm that ail
key posts (Home Fimance Communications) are held by Briish He
thought unnecessary to have Counal completely Indian provided
prnciple established that keyposts could be held by tnduns He thought

there was no dufhiculty about communal feeling f Indran appomnted Home
Member and that Hindus would accept Moslem Home Member

Lunched wath Ehbank and then went ta College of Arms about my
title [wanted to be Viscount Wavell of Winchester and the Middle East’
but Garter King at Arms raised objections to both I pomnted out my

family s long connection with Winchester and that I was bemg mnade a

t Sir A Ramaswamt Mudalar at thes tme Member for Suppl}" Governor-General £
Exemonve Connend

* The Quit India resolution thar Jed (o the rebellion of 1942
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freeman of the aity and he gave way on that, but after a long discussion
[ 2ccepted Cyrenaica in place of Middle East So [am gomg to be ‘Viscount
Wavell of Cyrenatea and of Winchiester 1n the Cowity of Southarmpton’.

July 14
Q ! ammved 1 England early morning with Feliciey 2

July 15

Mass for Sikorskr at Westiunster Cathedral 13} hours of usual RC
flummery and ceremomal, (taking on and off a vast bishop’s mutre,
ighting and blowing out of candles, processions genuflexions ete) not at
all impressive or very well done, but Polish troops were good, steady,
rigid, tough-looking T would prefer not to be burted by any priest even
of my own relimion {except for one or two hike McKew or Thom) and
would like to be put away as simply as possible and with no ceremony or
mourning, nor n a cemetery, if there 1s an unhallowed hillside somewhere
available If the Abbey were cver suggested, Ishould ike my ashes to be
near Allenby's, but do not feel worthy of either Abbey or Allenby

However, | shan’t really be interested m what happens to my vile corpse

July 16
A man called Thompson came to see me Author, professor of economucs
in Bengal for many years, hastortan, fellow of Ornel College, good soldier
in last war with 7th Indian division, left-winger friend of Nehru well
acquainted wiath Gandhi  Quute interesting but httle knowledge of

politrcal dufficudties of government 3

July 2:
Lunched at Buckmgham Palace with King and Queen No party, only
Their Majesties and my wife and self, and no ceremony HM complamed
about the length of the Viceroy's telegrams and hoped I would keep them

shorter
Joan and Simon* arrived tlus everung from Indiz in quite good trim

Lady Wavell
2 Wavell 5 second daugheer fow Lady Fehaty Longmore

: About a year later Edward Thompson sent some books to Lord Wavell with the
tequest that he would pass them on to INehru who was then in gaol Wavell, who as
Commander in Chief had met Nehru once forwarded them to hum wnth 2 private letter
and having learnt froml Thompson that poctry was one of Nehru s cluef intecests be en~
closed 2 copy of hus own anthology Other Men 5 Flowers {London 1¢44)

+ Wavell 5 thard daughter Joan mamed Captain the Hon § N Astley 7th Hussare i

1043
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nly 22
G-;. ernment lunch for me to meet some Amernicans Anthony Eden took
chair and proposed my health I ashed him the day before w hat he pro-
posed to say and what he wanted me to say He wrote in cffect o politics,
talk about Indua’s past war cffort, be polite about American assistance, and
pay compliment to Mudahar Then after hunch he got up and smd 'F M
Was ell will now talk to you about hus future policy i India't 1 protested
loudly and spoke on his ongmal hines 1 have no intenuon of declaning
a pohicy to anyone at present, and Eden must have known quate w eli that
[ couldn’t Tmsht, for all he knew, have embarrassed the Gosemment by
setung out a policy quute at varance with thewr aums

Court Cucular announced that “Viscount” Wavell had had audience
with HM so began to use title mstead of Sir Archubald’

July 24
Lunched with Arthur Wauchope * That cunious persen Hugh Dow ding?
was there He has now taken up spiritwalism and has written a book on 1t
Has no doubt about there bemng a future Iife, but secins to have no cvi-
dence that such a life 1s worth while there s nothing in thes ltfe so mncredibly
dull as the glimpses of future bife that sprrualists produce Hugh Dowding
sa1d he was never really military 1n hus outlook and that the only reason
he went to Army Class at Winchester was to avoid beng taught Greek—

a curious confesston for one who has acquired a peerage by mulitary (awr
force) talent

July 27

Cabinet at 6 p m on Lease-Lend problems mainly 1t gave P M opportu

nity to hold forth for nearly an hour and a half with intervals on the
scandal of the fact that we already owed Indin £800 rmilion He hates
Indsa and everything to do withat, and as Amiery said 1 a note he pushed
across to me knows as much of the Indun problem as George I did of
the Amencan colontes Winston drew h:trmwmg picture of Bntish
workmen 1n rags strugghing to pay nch Indean mill-owners, and wanted
to charge India the equvalent of our debt to her for saving her from
Japanese mnvasion He was i his most intractable form Amery stood up to
him very well and ponted our how 1t stood from the Indian pomt of view

T General Sir Arthur Wauychope High Commussioner Palestme 19118 He was one of
Wavell s closest frends Wavell succeeded Fum as Colonel of the Black Watch

* Awr Cluef Marshal Lord Prowding who was head of Fighter Command duning the
Battle of Britan
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When Winston’s firew orks were over, Cabinet quictly agreed to Chancel-
lot's proposals about Lease-Lend My only contribution to discusston was
to point out that India had dcfended us 1n the Middle East in the first two
years of the war rather than we defend India

July 28

Took my scat i House of Lords Trenchard and Lee of Farcham were my
supporters It all went off quite smoothly and was not rcally a very alarm-
INg Ceremony

Dined at Grays Inn with the legal profession The Lord Chancellor
[Stmon] was there and Amery and Brendan Bracken Lord Greenwood
Caldecote {Inskrp that was) Winston came i 2 hittle late and was seated
opposite me He was 1n good form and held forth during and after dinner
on a varety of subjccts—post-wart democracy, the Battle of Brtam,
expected surrender of Italy, financial settlement after Jast war, necessity
for strong Poland He 1s 2 good and mteresting talker He left early for
a Cabinet meetme at 10 30 pm , and unfortunately had a bright 1dea that
I should attend 1t, so poodbye to a quict cvening talk with the Dills whach
I had arranged

The Cabiet meeting lasted nearly 23 hours mn a hot and stuffy room
It was after midmght before we got to the subject I was mnzerested 1,
operations from India Auchnleck had asked for more to take Akyab than
I ever had and had put off date The outlook for Easterm campaign 1
gloomy and 1t looks like rows ahead with Amertca and Cluna

July 32, Bathffscourt

Walked with Amery for 13 hours in mormng We talked of Indian
affairs Amery thought I should ‘build up’ prestige of present Viceroy's
Council by good publicity, thought that Russian village system maght be
worth study as model for Indian local government, and said that a nucleus
of the three Supreme Court judges (one of whom 1s Zafarullah? Khan)
mught be 2 «uttable nucleus for a fact-finding body for Indian Constitu-
tion He said Halifax and Eden both favoured Bajpai? bemg given diplo-
matc status as Indian representative in Washington, but Viceroy was

opposed so mattcr had been dropped

1 §r Muhammad Fafrulla Khan later Forecign Mrmster of Pakastan

z Sir GH'JEI Chanlkar B:Eljp:!.l ICS ﬂgtﬂt—GtﬂEI‘.ll for I.I'.ldla, w:u.hmgtnn 19417 After
Independence he became Secretary-Gencral Minustry of External Affaurs
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August 1

During another watk with Amery, we talked of Roman evacuation of
Britain— propos of eventual Bnush evacuation of India This led to the
Arthuran legend, which Amery thought arose from some Romanised
matl<had Brtons holding the Saxon 1nvaders at bay for a spell, and then
to the lepend of Troy We then went on to speak of our failure to mix
with the people of India, Amery thought that mntermarriage might have
been no bad thing, and that the ban we put on the Indian Pnnces marrying
Enghsh women was wrong Ismd that perhaps it was the marmage customs
of the Hmdus and Moslems rather than the colour question that had
prevented intermarnage, and the difference of sehgon Amery Gnished
up oo the Lords debate on insemunatton He has usually an interesting and
up-to-date point of view on any questton, and 1s always well-mnformed.
He 1 certamly not the obstmate Tory die-hard that Indian, and some

Bntish, papers and politcaans are fond of depicting He has usually very
liberal views about India

Angust 4-17
I spent this fortught 1n Scotland at St Andrews and Dalmeny

August 20

Woke up at about 3 a m. with some 1deas about possible procedure mn
India and feehng wakeful wrote them out Q approved them next

mormng but I doubt whether officral optmuon will or whether my 1deas
are really practicable

This oniginal, of somewhat naie note, u hich 1s gwven in full at Appendix 1,
was the genesis of the proposal put foruard m September to the Cabmet
Cotmmttee on India, for formmg a Coalition Government of Congress and
Mushm League leaders The note  as addressed to Mr E M (later Sir Evan)

Jenkins, as Private Secretary to the 1) icerey Designate (PSV (D))
Mr Jenkins advised that the chances u ere five to one agaimnst the success of such

a meeting of Indian political leaders as Lord YWa ell had suggested, but was not
opposed to attempting 1t

i Evan Jenkans was an outstanding member of the Indian Civtl Service,
who had been Chief Commussioner of Delln 193740, and Secretary, Depart-
ment of Supply, 1940-3, before bewny selected to be TWavell's Private Secretary

Went to see Halifax, got nothing particularly fresh from him. He did
not tind Gandhi a practical person to deal with when he was Viceroy and
thinks he 15 probably worse now but he sasd his expenence was that he did
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keep farth over frank conversations ‘off the record” He had no great
opimuont of Nehru He said Bagpat was doing good work and approved

the 1dea of his bemng made Indian Miuster with U § A, to which Viceroy
had obyjected

.AH_EHSI‘ 23, 1043
Cabinet meeting with 2nd XI present, practically all 1st XI being sull in
Canada Proposal to appomnt Mountbatten to the SE Asia Command,
with Stilwell as Deputy, and Giffard! as commander of Land Forces was
announced There was sonte cnticism but general feching was that appomnt-
ment should be aceepted since Chiefs of Staff and Amencans approve

PM 1 sull m Quebec, T hear that Wingate? has apparently “sold him-
self” well there and his 1dcas are to have 2 good run Texpect PM wnll
now claim hum as hus discov ery and 1gnore the fact that T have twace used
Wingate mn this war for unorthedox campaipns and that but for me he
would probably never have been heard of I gather they are at lase realssing
the difficulty of communications 1n Assam and Burma which T have been
rymg to impress on P M for nearly two years

Avigust 26

Amery came up from Bailiffscourt and I had half an hour with lum
Viceroy 15 thinking of moving Jack Herbert? from Bengal, he has appar-
ently had difficulties lately wich hes Mimistry and the food problem cte.
I suggested to Amery that :f he did he should try to get Lumley* back to
India to replace im Mountbatten as Supreme Commander was Amery's
own tdea 1t appears [ chnk 1t should be good if ke has a level headed
CGS to check any wild tdeas, I think a hitle boldness was badly needed
m planming from Indiz I could never get James Somerville to back any-
thing that wasn't 100% safc and Rachard Peirse and the Air always seemed
to me to want a large safety margin I pomnted out many times that the
Japanese would never have invaded Malaya or got anywhere if they had

planned on our conservanve hnes

Aungust 31
Saw Lows Mountbatten and heard about Quebec Conference which
seems to have gone quite well Tadvised him to take an Amernican as Chref

I Genera! Sir George Guiffard who became Commander m-Chuef of 11th Army Group

m South East Asia
¢ Bripadier {temporacy May -Gen ) Orde Wingare who commanded the Chindits —the
pame given to troops flown mto Burma to operate behund the Japanese lines

3 Sir John Herbert Governoer of Bengal 1939-43
¢+ Sir Roper Lumley later Earl of Scarbrough Governor of Bombay 1037 13

D 140 C
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Admumstratine Officer, m spite of anything the QMG mught object,
Wheeler! would do lum quite well, and 1t wall make 1t easter to get thigs
ftom USA

September 1

Jack Herbert 15111, appenduc and internal ulcer Viceroy has decded 1 any
event to replace lim Amery approached Lumley but he refused quite
definitely to consider gomg out agan The P M. bemg away, Amery
spoke to Attlee about a successor and put forward some suggestions
Artlee sud 1t must be a Labour man, as the other Governors were Con-
servatives Absurd that Politics should enter mnto 1t at all, we want best

nosssble man Amery asked Attlee whom he proposed A sard he would
think 1t over

September 6

Holday now over and I have almost unending lunches dmners, speeches,
discusstons and such like functions from now tll I go out I have done

hardly anythmg of what [ intended to do m August I have not read the
books, drafted the speeches, written the arncles or thought out the plans
that I purposed to do, T shall be dnven as usual to umprovise at short
notice

Amery told me Attlee had mentoned Jack Lawson? as possibility for
Bengal He was best of that Parhamentary Mission that went to Chma,

but he 1s 62 and I wonder »f he 15 good enough for Bengal which seems

to be 1 an awful mess Nothing will be decided, I 1mapne, ull PM
comes back and that may not be for another fortnight

September 8
Two strenuous days of functions

Teoday, after several interviews at India Office lunch with Thirty Club
(Press Management), about 90 people, another speech Amery there and
spoke well about Indw’s future He has the qualines for success, perhaps
tn greater measure than Winston—abihty, well-arranged and accurate
knowledge, great courage, commuand of words But he has an wnampres-
stve personahity, and 1s too much of a gentleman for the rough and tumble
of lugh. power politics

Found 1t mmpossible to buy a tooth-brush today, even from 2 very
friendly chemst.

! Mayen (1183 Bawnond, L Ipalan v thenpe 14 4 Yarge 1nomfoer o8 fotrraum
mamtenance services m Indn, Wavell ¢ adwnies was taken and General Wheeler was a great
success 3 J J Lewion, MLP  Secretary of State for War 19456
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September 10

A pretty full day, starting wath a visit to Letchworth to see Indian Bevin
boys which entarled walking round machinery for a couple of hours and
a short address to Indians Then lunch in Cuty to meet Lord Catto,
formerly a Calcutta merchant, now financial adviser to the Treasury He
did not seem particularly alarmed by present rise of Indian sterhng balance

After lunch, meeung with § of S, Munster ¥ Monteath,3 & Co , about
future policy 1n Indin  Amery prepared to talk for an hour or so on
Indiamsation of Council, powers of Federal Court, ete, and I rather threw
a spanner mto works by demandmg first of all a clear-cut policy on
constituttonal progress, was I or was [ not to make an effort to get polincal
leaders into the Government? After 13 hours talk general opinion seemed
to be that 1t was rather tiresome of mc to be so direct, but that perhaps we
should make the effort, though it was most unlikely that the Indian leaders
would accept Jenkans, who supported me well 15 to draft a paper for War
Cabinet

E Grigps then came to see me over my second volume of Allenby of
whuch he has asked to sce the proof He was rather perturbed at crticism
he thought 1t maght cause in Conservative circles Idon’t think I mund 1f 1t
does 1am not very much m sympathy wich the right-wang Conservative,
and 1 doubt if Gngg 15 a very good judge of public opinion

September 14

Discussion agam on policy 1 Indiz Jenkins had drafted a very good
memorandum for Cabmet Commuttee to considder Amery obviously
1s rather for sitting tight and carrying on with present Executive Council,
while making some acaderuc exploration into possible future Constitu-
tions Iam sure this will not resolve present deadlock. If the end of the war
finds us wath no further progress and another year or two of frustration
i polittcal India, we shall be m a poor posihon We decided to put the
amended draft up to a Cabinet Sub-Commmuttee on Friday

The draft memorandum was lengthy and underwent several revisions In the
fornt s which 1t reached the Cabiet Comuttee on India 1t recommended

(1} that HM G’s immediate aun of pohcy i India should be the establish-
ment of a Coalition Government of party leaders at the Centre, working
under the existing Constitution and unlling to support the war effort,

1 Farl of Munster Parhamentary Under-Secretary of State for Inda 1943 4
3 Sr Dawvid Monteath Undes-Secretary of State for India 194147
t S Bdward Gngg M P {later Lord Alttimmgliam)
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(11} that the method of establishing such @ Government should be by mviting
sclected political leaders to a mecting to discuss the matter,

() that 1t should be left o the Viceroy's udgement to decide when to make
a ot e and scue imvitations

September 16

Lunch with the Pilgrims Society, a considerable ordeal Nearly 300
present and most of them distingmshed. 1 have no 1dea how my speech
got across, | think the matter of 1t was reasonable and I did not forget my

words, but 1 have a very great deal to Ieam about the techmque of pubhe
speaking I doubt whether I ever shall learn 1t

September 20

On Fnday 17th ©had the last of my Press Iunches, with the Foreign Press
representatives [ sat between a Russian and a Swede I had got so bored
with specches that I prepared nothing and trusted to the mspration of the
moment Actually the Charrman (Russian) gave me a handle by saying n
his mtroductory speech that if the Indian political problem were solved,
hundreds of thousands more Indians would join the Army 1 confuted thus
nonsense and told them something of the Indian Army Not a very cffec-
tive address, but 1t appeared to mrerest them.

Then to a Cabinet sub-Comnuttee on my paper about policy 1n Indua
Attlee presided and the others were Amery, Halifax, P | Gngg, Sir John
Andcrson and Simon Amery and Halifax supported my proposals with-
out much enthustasm, P J Gngg! said that no progress was possible nll
Gandht dicd, John Anderson® and Stmon opposed Nothing very con-
clusive came out of the discussion, which ended with an instruction to us
1o make some amendments 1o the note and re-submoar it What 1 want s

some definite policy, and net to go on making promuses to India wath no
really sincere mtention of trying to fulfil them

September 21

At a receprion given by the East Inda Society, which was one of my

engagements it much too full a day, Amery spoke and said that the
sagacious elephant always tested the swength of 2 bndge before he crossed

it :!ﬂld, when [ spoke, that ‘this sagaciouns elephant has first to find a
bndgc!

1 Sur James Gngg Seorctary of State for War and Sir Tohn Anderson, Lord President of
the Council, were both origmally flome Cavil Smmtiﬁ{:fl'r!:t:ﬂ r i ';rzr.‘w.!z.

had sereed m Indis Grgg 23 Fuoance bMomber, Gﬂvmﬂ—ﬁm&?: Exccutrve Council,
19)4~9 and Andcnon as Governor of Bengal 19127
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Sepfumber 23

Another long day Motored down to Winchester for presentation of
freedom~—one speech at presentation of freedom one at lunch The first
prepared the second short and impromptu Darectly after lunch back to
London 1 time for reception of Empire Societies

September 24

India Office 1n morning till 12 30 then to Buckingham Palace to be sworn
of the Privy Councal a shghtly complicated ceremony but a silent one
on the part of the PC Q and I lunched wich King and Queen H.M
presented her with insignia of Crown of India and sclf with G C.ST and
GCIE and gave us their portraits We lunched alone with King and
Queen nothung very much smd H.M agan referred to undue length of
Viceroy s telegrams and told me to make them shorter

After lunch went to Cabinet meeting on food for Indtam P M s room
at House of Commons PM spoke scathingly of India s economic 1n-
efherency which made it necessary to supply 1t with food which otherwise
mught not be needed 100 000 tons of barley from Iraq had been arranged
and 50 000 tons of wheat from Mediterrancan but more could not be
provided without taking 1t from Egypt and Middle East where reserve
was being accumulated for Greece and Balkans Apparently 1t 15 more
important to save the Greeks and hiberated countries from starvation than
the Indians and there 15 reluctance either to provide shupping or to reduce
stocks 1n this country [ pointed out military considerations and that
practically the whole of Inda outside the rural districts was more or less
engaged on war effort and that 1t was imposstble to differentiate and feed
only those actmlly fighting or making mumtions or working some
particular rarlways as P M had suggested Ileft Amery still battlng for
more wheat and motored very fast down to Aldershot to mspect Canadian

Black Watch—a fine looking lot Tea wath officers and then motored on
to Wmnchester to stay rught with H T Baker the Warden

September 23
Ad Portas ceremony Latin speech by Prefect of Hall and my reply mn
Latin Went to service in Winchester Cathedral for Land Gurls in Hamp-
shire and read lesson Motored on toRingwood Soendsa pretey strenuous
week,

September 27
Saw Amery 1 morning Cabmnet on Frniday resulted m about 200 ooo
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rons bemg allotted for India up to end of year, further supphes bemng left
for consideration later Amery thought we might get my paper on Indran
policy through Cabmet to extent of getng permussion to explore
possibilities, he said Mountbatten had read and approved my paper

September 20

Started at 10 am with Cabmet Sub-Commtree on Indian policy to
reconsider my paper as amended Attlee Cnipps, Amery Sumon John
Anderson P ] Gnigg Support for my proposals was very limited other-
wise attitude was negative or oppased. After a good deal of rather de-
sultory discussion I read out my onginal sketch! for a conference of Indian
leaders out of which the paper had developed. It was decided to submut
vroposal to Cabmet for mstruction to Viceroy to ‘explore avenues

Rather a depressing experience 1do not believe these men face therr fences

honestly, they profess anxtety to give India self-government but will take
no risk to make 1t possible

The fernmmfﬂéﬂhﬂm made w1 the paper fnr the Cabmnet Commitiee oft
India (see p 17) were transformed 1nto @ more vague recommendation It was
propased that the Viceray-Desigunate shonld be qiven general authonty fo study
the possibility of attempting to break the present deadlock i some such 1way as
he had suggested and io approach the polincal leaders in India as and when
he eonsidered 1t desirable, !5:! that he shinfd' consult the War Cabet first

September 30

Another Jong day Lord Lyttons spent half an hour telling me that from
the pomt of view of the Governor of Bengal 1t was inconsiderate 1f the
Viceroy always made his visit to Calcutta about Xmas time and stole the
hmelight from the Governor just at the time of all the big social events (he
said Readmg was very mconsiderate about thos) 1 don’t hke hmelight or
Calcutta or big soctal events as far as 1 am concerned the new Governor
can have them. He then went on 1o expound at some length that 11 was

a good thing for the Viceroy to see the Agents of the States and 1o hold
conferences of the Governors and keep them in the picture These are
things I should have done 1n any case as far as practicable

Then a deputanion of three shipping magnates who explaned to me the
tmportance of British shipping and the necessity to see that no sort of
discrimunation was made m Indnia against Batish shipping T asked them
whether if India should become 2 Dominion they agreed that she would

T Appendix [ 3 Govemnor of Bengal 19227
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have the nght to regulate her coastal shipping as other Donurnons such as
Australia have They agreed somewhat reluctantly I fancy their 1dea of
no discrimination 15 really special privileges

Phullipst the Amertcan then came in charmung as cver He says the
President does not propose to send hum back to India unless I say I want
him He was complimentary about my Palgnim speech and sad Amencan
opinton and the Prestdent are very anxious to sce another attempt] by
us to solve the deadlock even 3f 1t farls Mountbatten followed him He
and the Clucfs of Staff have been having 1 gather a very difficule tme
with the PM over plans for Eastern campaign and the PM has been
trywng to play him off against Chiefs of Staff He had seen my paper on
Induan policy and supported 1t warmly He was full of dynamc energy
and optinusm as usual 1 fear he wall find some shoeks in India He said
P M had a blind spot about Indiz and was most unreasonable and nding
tor 2 fall over 1t

October 4

After two days shooting at Melton Constable—my last holiday—got
back to London on Monday night

Meeting of the Sub-Comnuttee on India at 4.30 pm at which we gor
a submussion to the Cabinet on policy passed 1n reasonable shape I would
have preferred something more definite but Amery thought we had done
well P J Goge 1s at least honest and whole-hearted m his opposttion
I'vish I could think the others were as honest and wholehearted 1n support

Oxtober 5

Gave Lady Oxford {Margot Asquuth) tea at my Club She 15 stll very
mtense and intelhgent Her chuef theme was what a poor Government
Winston had got and how bad hus Home policy was I had only met her
once before she 1s sull vatal ar exghty odd, and nothing to spend her
vitality on Great pathetic restless a woman who has played a great part
and asprred to play a greater Nothung short of being Queen Elizabeth
would really have satisfied her and God help her Essex But I am glad to
have met her She said Winston always wrote lus speeches and learnt them
by heart she used to hear lum when he stayed with her husband reciting
them loudly in bis bedroom at any bour on the other hand she remembers

as a g 1l Joe Chamberlain (whom she did not like) saying that he nsed to

practise has speeches i front of a mirror but gave 1t up because he looked

such a fool
Williar Phillips Ametican represettat ve iz Indiz 1942 3
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October 6

Government farewell dinner to me at Clandges P M very angry about

the paper on Indan policy (I behieve he almost refused to come to the
dinner} and told me he could not posstbly accept 1t He was how-

ever, quite fanly pleasant at dinner and smd nice things about me 1

hus speech About India he eulogised what the Brinsh had done and
said he was unfashionable enough not to belheve 1m the present policy

My speech went down well with some, T thmk not well with the
Conservatives

October 7

Paper on India seems to have caused sorme flutter P M , Lord Croft! and

P J Gngg have put in condemnatory notes, the supporters of the Indma
Sub-Comumuttee are Iukewarm and I shall obviously have a rough passage
in the Cabinet this afternoon. Talked to Amery about 1t, he will sup-

port me

Cabinet at 6 p m. on India worse even than 1 had expected, not because
of oppositon but becanse of spmelessness lack of interest, opportunism
Amery did hus best but talked too long and allowed himself to get tied up
on pomts of detal hy PM P M managed the discussion well from his
point of view, as he drew each speaker away from princaples onto matters
of detal and waved the bogey of Gandhy at everyone Anderson and
Attlee gave rather lukewarm support Gnige stood pat on hus diehard
paper Smuts and others spoke on the thesis "Quieta non movere’ [I said
that to put the whole constitunonal and polrtical bustness into cold storage
so long as the war lasted, as recommended by Gngg was a perfectly
logical and understandable palicy wath considerable short-term advanta ges
but 1f we proposed to adopt 11, I thought we should say so cleatly and
definttely I did not agree with ths pohicy becaunse thought that 1t would
land us m considerable diffrculttes at the end of the war [ constdered that
if 1t was possible to make political progress during the war, we should most

certainly make a stncere attempt to do so 1n sprte of the difficuleres I said
that T had no intention
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new Viceroyalty was still present J' Mornison and Bevin were fnghtened
over the Gandht bogey and talked vaguely of soctal progress and sctung
the poor agawnst the nch, Eden also spoke as 1f [ was proposing to enthrone
Gandhi Semewhere about here the P M worked htmself up to 2 nrade
agamst Congress and all 1ts works and then digressed nto the dangers of
the Indian army beconung politically munded and anti-British It ended
with the PM pronusing to draft a directive for me to be discussed
tomorrow Something face-saving will be produced designed to carry
them on and get me out there but with every mtention of blocking any
progress The more I'sce of poliicians the less 1 respect them or s Lady
Oxford night i considering this 2 contemptible Cabinet?

October 8

Had short discussion with S of § o cconomic progress Meanwhle
Winston had cancelled 3 pm Cabmet on India and prnpmcd to See e
alone at 3 pm e had produced a farmula for a directive which was
mostly meamingless ¢ g it exhorted me to get on with the war 1o 1m-
prove the lot of the Indun to make peace between Moslem and Hindu
and mdicated night at the end that political progress duning the war was
not barred Amery on reading it sad  you are wafted to India on a wave
of hot asr P M was menacing and unpleasant when I saw lhumat 3 pm
accused me practically ot playing to the gallery s represented what T had
proposed and indicated that only over hus dead body would any approach
to Gandh1 take place [ rescnted this and Tam afraid rather replied 1n Land
I think what 1t really amounts to 15 that he fears a sphit 1 the Conservative
Party and trouble 1n Parliament over any fresh political advance 1n India
<0 15 determined to block it as lony as he 1s 1 power In the end we Partcd
on an outwardly fnendly note Lut he has always really dishked me and
mstrusted me and probably now regrets having appomnted me He will
do his best to discredit me when I have gone He told me Simon had
come to him after the last Cabinet and entirely withdrawn hus support for
my proposals 1just held my tongue and reframed from saymg So Ishould
have expected I never counted Stmon a supporter he 1s 2 man of straw
of legal abihity but no character On the whole I am sure | was right to
raise the issue I have discovered that the Cabinet 15 not honest in 1ts
expressed desire tO make progress in India and that very few of them have
any foresight or polincal courage I put down Cranborne as the best
courageous and <ensible but he lacks ambition and dnive 1 think.

t ‘The port on Withun sqUate brackets 15 taken from a separate note that Wavell recorded
of this Cabinet meeting and 1s not part of the Journal.
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When I went to say goodbye to the girls who had done all my typing
work at the India Office, one of them sard *Do you mind of we guls give
you a piece of advice? Trust your own Judgernent and don’t worry too

much about Whitchall',

October 12 (in plane between Gibralar and Cairo)

On Sunday eveung (10th) there was a phone all from 10 Downing
Strect to ask me to go and see Smuts on Monday 1had an hous with hum,
he had come up from Chequers, and had as Thad expected, beent turned
on by the PM to remforce hus views about Indiz and to counter mune.
He repeated, very pleasantly, what the P M had sad to me rather un-
pleasantly on Friday 1exposed my pornt of view about Jooking ahead to
the end of the war, and rerunded Smuts that he should surely be the man
to sce the virtue of 2 penerous settlement, such as was made afeer the
South African war, 1f posaible, and spoke of what had happened in Egypt
at the end of the last war and Allenby’s solution I told him he could
assure the P M that I was not gomg to act hastly or start negotistions
with Gandhu 2s soon as [ arrned [ think Smuts was speaking on a brief
from the P M rather than from his own convictions He came out at the
end with what 1s veally the touth, that the P M 1 not thunkaing beyond the
end of the war—about Indu, or [ believe anythung clse—and 1s alarmed
lest by rassing the Induan 1ssue 1 should spht the Comservatine Parry and
Parliament and cause hum trouble He 12 2 great war leader, but otherwise
thinks 1n terms of politrcs not statesmanstup Here 15 the main problem,
to try to do my best for a future settlement of India without embarrassing
our war leader 1n the present

Lookmg back on the 3 or 4 months since I was appomnted Viceroy,
during which Thave been through 2 faicly testing tume for one quute unused
to public or political life, 1 think I have come out of it fairly well, though
[ have made nustakes and might have used my time better I thunk [ spent
too much time on detssl on seeng comparattvely unimportant people
and on socual engagements and left myself too little ttme for constructive
thinking However people like seetng one and being seen, and Like having
therr letters answered, and I lke seeing fresh people And I am lazy
mentally and don ¢ care about thinking untl T have to [ don't fatter
myself that my speeches were impressive, 1 know they weren't, but L hope
they left some impresuon of & reasonably clear and honest Tand  re-

member two comments on them which I got second-hand an American
after an address T made in Washington on operations apamst Japanese and

P
the Indian army remarked The Briush always wilf tell the truth’—and
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Ball Astor sad of my talk to some M Ps "We hear quute cnough people
in Parhament who can speak, and 1t 1s refrestung to hear someone who
has no pretence to be an orator’

 ought to have rassed the 1ssue of policy 1n Indua rather earler, I think,
and perhaps been less provocative about 1t, but onc has to deal wath
matters farly forably with the P M oronc simply gets browbcaten Jam

sure the decision to raise the wssue was the nght one
We had quute a party to sc¢ Us off ;n the afternoon HM and P M

represented, of Government Amery, John Anderson, Crnipps, Sunon,
Cranborne {all wath W1ves), Devonshire, Selborne, Leathers, Croft,

Munster, Creedy, the Ranganadhans and others

Lord Wavell swas accompanted by Lady Wavell, Fehaty Wavell (s
second daughter) and the follonng members of his personal staff

Sir Evan Jenkms Private Secretary
Major Peter Coats (‘Peter’) Comptroller

Captain the Earl of Enston
Captam the Hon Simon Asﬂe‘y‘ ADCs

Other members of his personal staff who jowed kim i India uhen he
assumed office were

Mr G E B (later Sir George) Abell (‘Gfarge'} Deputy Private Secretary
ILt-Col A F W Humphrys ('anru', Military Secretary
marnied to Lord Wavell's eldest danghter,
Pamela)

Captan W Henderson ]

Captain G Crookshank ADCs

Captain B Fortune

Randolph Churchil was at Gibraltar on way home after bemng with
Commando at Salerno I always find hum pleasant and mntelhgent to talk
with and do not see the unpleasant traits he 1s credited with by most
people He said T went to India with one great advantage over the last few
Viceroys they had to deade whether and when to lock up Gandht I

should find hum already locked up

Cairo, October 15
Landed 1n Carro zbout 3 am on October 13 Stopped with Jumbo
Wikson! at Maad: Found Antony Eden and Pug Ismay on their way to
Moscow, nerther looking forward to 1t especially Saw Indian troops at

1 Field Marshal Lord Wilson of Libya it this time Eumnundcmn-ﬂhlef
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Mena one mommg They all seem m good heart and were pleased at
my ‘usitmg them Catro hss not altered much Nor has Jumbo, he 1s
imperturbable as ever

Talked with Caser) Minsster of Staze, about food siwarion m Middle

East, since 1t concerns India Casey pessimnstc about general world food
sttiation, says Australia has had very bad harvest and has hetle surplus,
Canada cans do no more than supply US AL and G B deficiencies, and
that Argenunc bumt her surplus of 2 000 000 tons of wheat as fuel on

railways since she could not cet coal, of which there also secms to be
a world shortare

* R. G Casey, Liter Lord Cawy, an Auwstralan was Mmnuszer of Sute in the Mxldle

East and Member ofthe War Cabinet 15413, Governor of Dengal 1944-6, and Gorernor-
Genenad of Australia, 19645
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Except for one short break early mn 1942 u hen he nas Supreme Allied
Command.r i South-East Assa, Lord Wavell as Commander-m~Chucf, India,

had been a Memtber of the Viceroy's Executive Counctl sinee July 1041 and so
1 as fully cons ersant wsth the current Iudian sttnation He had been tn Dlhe in

March 1942 when Sir Stafford Cripps flew out to India with an offer of
complete mdependence at the end of the war under a constitution of Indid’s oton
makimg The Congress had rejected this offer mamly because, with the
Japanese threatening wvasion the whole ontlock seemed nmeertam and becanse
the Britush 1 ere vins thlng to make any immediate constetutional ehanges, but
also partly because the offer gase ndidiual Provinces the nght to stand out
of the projected Indian Untots and to frame constitutions for themselves This
s a concession fo Mushm opmion but the Mushm League also rejected the
offcr on the ground that the demand for Pakastan had not been fully conceded
Followsmg their rejection of the Cripps offer the Congress had lannched n
Angust 1942 the ‘Qut India rebellion, thereby seriously disnupting Wavell s
plans for the defence of India aganst Japanese attack In consequience of this
vebellion all the Congress leaders had been put w gaol and so u hen Wavell
became Viceroy, Gandht, as Randolph Churchill remarked, presented for the
moment no problem, smce he was already locked up There uas a ball 1
politizal agitation and most of the country was happily engaged in makmg
money ont of the war final victory i which seened by tius time to be assured
The temporary echpse of Congress had left the political field open to Jrinal
and the Mushm League and they made good nise of this opportunuty fo vilify and
discredit Congress and to rally all Mushms fo the League’s support Jinnah
represented the "Quitt Tudia® rebellion as an msidious plot to coerce the British
to surrender India to Congress, guite regardless of Muslin interests, and he
claimed that the League was the Mushms sole defence aganst Congress i €

Hindn domnation wn the future
Jinnah and tus prm?pa! tenchmen 11 the League powtedly reframed from

any achive assistance ¢ the twar effort, but, unhke the Congress leaders, they
did not positvely obstruct and Jinnah permsted the Mushm League and

Mushm Leagsie Coalition Minstries which now thanks partly to the absence
m gaol existed m five out of the eleven Provinces, to co-

operate fully u all measures requited for winning the war
The Provinces of India had been granted by the Government of India Act of

1935 what was wirtually parhamentary self-government Minusters responsible
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to the Provincssl legislatures w accordance with the Bruuh parliamentary
system were to form the governments of these Provinas The Governors siere
to be 11 the man ‘constututienal’ Gouernors, accepting the advice of ther
Mimisters, howes er nmpalatable st might be to them But for certan specific
plrposes, ¢ ¢ (o prevent any graré mendce to the peace of the Provinee, 1o
protect the legitimate mterests of mnonties, and to ::5/5 ward the statutory nights
of avsl sers ants, the Governors u ere empowered, 1f they thought necessary, to
set aside the ad e o f their Mintsters and act in accordanee with their wnd vdital
qudgement They were also authorized 11 the event of farlure of constitutional
machwnery to assume to themselves all the pouers of the Provincal Govern-
ment The Section of the Act wwlich gave them this anthority was Sectront 93,
and it 15 frequently refesved to i the foumal Its first clause ran as follou s

‘If at any time the Governor of a Province s satisfied that a situation has
ansen in u{u:h the govemment of the Province cannot be carned on in accord-
ance unth the provisions of this Adt, ke may by Proclamation {a) declare that
his functions sﬁaﬂ, fo such extent as may be speaified i the Proclamation, be
exercised by hint 1n bus duseretion, (b} assumie to hunself all or any of the pov ers
vested in or exerasable by any Provincial body or authonty

The need to mvoke Section 93 had arisen shortly after the outbreak of World
IWar IT when the Congress Mimstries holding office 1 sevent of the eleren
Provinces resigned no other Muustries could be formed uhuh u onld
command magorities s the leqislatures In these Section 93 Provinces, as they
were called, the Governors tarned on the government ynth the aid of offiral
I'C S Advisers and constututional goi ernment remained i abeyance However
in ene of the Congress Provinces Orissa, seven Congress members of the
Assembly changed thewr alleguance 1n 1941 and jomed the anti-Congress group
i formng a Coalition Mimistry, and 1n Afay 1943 1t proved possible to form
a Muslhm League Aimstry in the NIV.F.P So uhen Wavell became
Viceroy Minustries responsible to the legislatures were v office 1n six Pro-
vinces viz Bengal Pumab, Sind, Assamt Onissq and N IV.EP , ulnle in the
rematning five Provinces the Governors s ere in full control under Section 93

The names of the Governors 1 October 1943 and also of the Premuers in
Provintes in which Mimistries were functiomng are given below

Governor Premurer
Bengal ~ Sir Thomas Rutherford  Sir Nazimmddus (Musitm Leagne)
ICS (acting)
Purgab  Sir Bertrand Glancy, Sir Khnzar Hyat Tinana {Uniomst-
ICS AMushm League)

* A Congress Coalition Mumustry . an erphth P gl but 1t
praved possible to form another Minustry llﬂfcr . Mfgs?‘ht;ccpmﬁsum resigned  bu
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Governor Premuer
Smd Sir Hugh Dow, JC S Sir Gluslam Hussamn Hidayatullah
(Muslim League)

Assam Sir Andrews Clows, ¢ir AMuhammad Saadullah (.M sl
ICS Lm_gu:)

Orissa Sir Hatthorne Leitas, Maharaa of Parlabimed:  {ants
ICS Congress)

NWEP SirGeorpe Cunmnghan, Sardar Aurangzeb Khan (Mushm
ICS Leagtic)

Bombay  Sir John Col 1lle Sectiont 93

Madras S Artlur Hope "

United Sir Maurice Hallett, ’

Provinces ICS
Bihar Sir Frank Mudie, IC S ’

{acting)
Central Str Henry Twynam, "

Provinces ICS

When the 1935 Act was drawn up, 18 was hoped that the Provinces and
Princely States of tndia would be brought together i a Federation, but owing
to the hesitations of the Prinices it had proved smpossible to navgurate the
Federation and bring into operation the federal part of the Aat by the outbreak
of war, and thereafter efforts to do so were suspended Conscquently the Central
Government and Central Leguslature of Brutish India, constitnted 1n accordance
with the provistons of an earlier Act of 1919, continsied substantially unchanged
The Governor-General (Viceroy) and the members of his Counctl were the
Executive Government The Covernor-General had power (o overnde hs
Counal, but m practice this power emained i the background and the Councsl

functioned much like a Cabinet Iftherewasa difference of opimion the apinon

of the majority }Jrewufed
The Counal was not responsible to the Legislature Though not un-

nfluenced by uts views, it was not dependent ots tf, and arcy Bill which the
Covemor-Ceneral considered essential 1 the nterests of India and which the
Legislature rejected, conld be ‘certified’ by hm and 1pso facto became law The
annual finance bill had frequently to be passed by certifuation

The Legislature consssted of two chambers the Legislative Assembly and the
Counal of State, 1 both of which elected members predomnated, and so the
Covernor-General and Ius Counal, despute the presence of a nuimber of offictal
1] nomnated non-official members, could not always count oft @ majorty i

the Legislature but they endeavoured so far as possible to avod defeat
From 1921 untl 1939 the Governor-General's Executive Counci{ 1was

generally composed of seven members wddeion to lamself, four of them
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Britsh, wcluding the Comny ma‘lr—m-Cfm{l: and three of them Indiant No
immediite change was made on the ontbreak of war, but 1 1941 and agawn 1n
1942 the Counal was enlarged by the appomtment of additional Indran
members, and when Warell took office 1t consisted of fourteen members, of
whom ten were Indian and four British The ndians uere all non-offirals

Many of them had pretiously been Munsters in Provincial Gorerments and
some of them were promment pohtictans—one of them had been Congress
Prenuier of the Central Provinces—Dbtit not one of them w as at thns date sepre-
sentatve of either of the two mayor political paries, the Congress and the
Muslm League Of the fonr Brtish members one was the Commander-in-
Cluef, General Asuchulick, tuo were IC S offiewals, and the fourth, Sir

Edward Benthall, a businessman  ‘The Members of the Excentive Council are

constantly referred to by name m the Journal ‘Those holding office i October
1943 are listed below

Members of the Governor-General’s Executin e Councyl

Genesal (later Field Marshaly Sir Clmde Auchinleck, Commander-un-Chuef
Sir Reginald Maxnell, IC 8, Home Member

Sir Jeremy Rawsman, I C S, Finance Member

Sir Ramaswamy Mudaliar, Member for Industry and Cond Supplies

Sir Sultan Ahmed, Member for Information and Broadcasting
Sir Firoz Khan Noon, Defence Member

Sir Edu ard Benthall, Member for War Transport
Sir Muhammad Usman, Member for Posts and Air

Dr B R Ambedkar (representsng the Depressed Classes), AMewsher for Labour
Sir J P Snvastara Member for Food

Sir Jogendra Singh, Member for Educatron, Health, and Lands
Sir Aziz-ul-Haque, Member for Commerce

Dr N B Kiare (at one time Congress Premer of the Central Provinees),
Member for Commonu ealth Relafions

Sir Asoka Roy, Law AMember

At the ttme of Lord Wavell's Viceroyalty the population of India was gust
over 4o0 mllion and was nsing at the rate of 45 million a year Nearly 1o
nudlion were Mushms, almost all the rest were Hindus 'The Sikhs, 11 ongin
a reformist sect of Hindus, manbered abouit 6 vullion and were mamly con-
centrated in the Punyab

Afore than a fifth of the population were whabitants of the Princely States
thirch over 500 vt mumber and scattered over the country, covered fwo—fifths of
the total area The great mdjonly ﬁf these were little more than peity €sfaies,

only about 15 of them w ete of sguficant area and populaton, but the largest,
Hyderabad swas about the size of Italy wnth a population of 16 million

About 8o per cent of India’s population Irved in villages and 1 ere dependent,



1943 it

directly or mlirectly, on agnculture AMost of them were entrely sllterate,
extremely poor, and compwratively umntcrested »m polities The total annnal
revenses of British India were equwvalent to less than ten slallings per head of
population and of this only about tenpence 1 ere spent on healths mn{ edug ion,
The Britssh kad never suppled more than a small fraction of the officsals
requtred for the adnumistration of this huge country The overu helmng
majority of them had alu ays been Indians, and after World 1War I Indians had
been freely admmited 1o the ughest ranls of the services In Wavell s tune there
uas only a tmy handful of British officials serving i India—about 500 1 the
Indiant Cinil Service, about 200 1 the Indian Police, and much smaller numbers
i Medical, Engueening, Forest, and other Services The British v ere wholly
dependent on Indian co-operation for the Government of the country
The smmedrate problem that faced Lord Wat ll and Ins Counail s hen he
tool. office was econome Though the war was bringmg prospenty to the
peasantry, large profits to traders and businessmen and fuller fmpﬁiymmr to all
classes, there 1 as a farmng 1n Bengal For some years before the ontbreak of war
India had ceased to be self-sufficient wn foodgrams, a small exportable surplus
of wheat being more than offset by smports of nice, mamly frovt Burma The
anttial overall defiait, quite small 1n relation to total consumption, averaged
rather over onte muilion tons Some regions of the country, for wnstance the
Pungab and Sind, had considerable surpluses, others were wmore or less self-
sufficrent, while others, siotably Bombay, Madras, the States of Travancore and
Coclun, and Bengal u ere defieat
With the ocenpation of Burma by the Japanese wnports of rce from that
country were cut off nor conld they readily be made good from elsewhere as the
Japanese now controlled all the rice-growing areas of Soutii-East Asta Thus
twas the basic canse of the Bengal famme The overall shortage was relatively
so small that it should have been possible to avoid actual starvation i any area
But a number of factors combmed to aggravate the shortage Quing to full
employment and war-time prospenity large classes of the population somewhat
tncreased their consumption of foodgramns to extend rationuing to the whole
rural population was impracticable, it had to be more or less confined to nrban
areas, surplus Provinces were reluctant to submit to any ratiening at all for the

benefit of defiait areas or to release thewr surpluses except at high prices
procurement by Government of the surplus grams of wmumerable small
cultiwators was wot easy to orgamze, and lack of confidence and greed led fo
hoarding In spite of these difficulties all the defiait Provinces and States, except
Beﬂgaf rere able b_}r' admnstrative action to avert disaster rhmggh tfi-fre ti+is
a good' dear’ of dbtrery b Bl e swafhvant wmd pridahlp commp Al
League Mimstr and an adnumstration that compared with that of other
Provinices was for a vanety of reasons rather weak failed to grapple with the
problem There was a delay mrrmfuc:itﬁq rattonmg in Caleutta and 1n
arranging for the movement of supplies to defiast rural areas Large numbers of

Ik 169 I
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destitutes, mamly old men, women, and children {f'f}ﬁfd from the villages wto
Caloutta, where there was madeguate provision for givng them food and
shelter, and they began to die like flies from stars atton and disease

Wavell rfahznjg at once that the most energetic action was required 10
retrieve the sunation Withm six days of assummg office he personally visited
Bengal and tnduced the Muwstry to agree to move the destitutes out of Caloutta
tnto camps, o accept assstanice from the Army for the movement of foodgrams
to deficrt rural areas, and to briug nto eperation a ratonung scheme for Calentta
His prompt personal wntert ention made a great smpression at the tyme and
undoubtedly mitigated the disaster, and thereafter huis dogged persistence 1
extracting foodgrams from an imdifferent Briish Government, though less
widely knouwn, twas largely responsible for prevensing its repetition More than
a million people are beheved o have died 1 this Bengal fommne Wavell was
determned that st should not happen agamn As the Journal reveals, the threat
of a shortage was a tonstant anxety thronghout his term as Viceroy

Another step that he took within six days of assummng office was to call
a conference of Governors, mamly to discuss the food problem and post-war
reconstmiction. Such a conference had not been held for many years, partly
because, after the mtroduction of Provincial self-government i 1937 1t was
thought that a gathening of “constitutional’ Governors might attract entirsm

But 1with nearly half the Provinces under Section g3 regumes thas objection had
less force All the Governors welcomed the conference

The Jonrnal contans occastonal references to Wavell s personal staff A hist

of the more umpottant of them at the time that he assumed office has been given
onp 25

October 19 Viceroy's House, New Delh;

Amved at Karachu on Sunday evemng October 17 From now on red
carpet and ceremomal tll I leave India again, I suppose

Lunched at Jodhpur on way to Delhy yesterday The Maharaja 1s » nace

httle rnan but has little to say for humself Comparattvely quiet arrrval at
Delh1 but two guards of honour—one at airfield, one at Viceroy'’s House

Q and I dined alone with Viceroy and Lady Linlithgow, and after dinner

I talked wath lnm umtil 1 3 m. Following are main pomts of our conversa-
t1on so far as I remember them

Linhthgow does not like Wmston but agreed that he was a magmficent
war leader and that our strategy had been good

He was pleased at having recently had arrested one of the prmapal
Congress agItators stall at hxgﬂ, Jar Prakesh Naram &

U &, Compmen tde fvvm Wiken <f vorireviews and 2 Tous Sare adicted to vidlence

Hehad a considerable following AfterIndependence he became 2 sin¢ere believer in Gandh 5
creed of pon-violenee,
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He spokc at length of the possibilities of the political situation, at my
request He showed me Gandha's final letter to him and hus reply He does
not believe any real progress 15 possible while G hves, and believes we
shall have to continue responsibility for India for at least another 30 years
We could not for the peace of the world allow chaos in Indra He referred
me to Jus talk with G and Jinnah in August 1940 when he tried to induce
them to join a Nanonal Government He sad the fundamental difficulty
was that they all regarded representation 1 such a Government as pre-
Judgmg the final constitutional settlement, and therefore would not play
except each on their own terms which were irreconailable He said the
problem of removing Brtish control from Indita was that of getung 2
three legged stool (Hindu, Moslem, British) to remam stable with one leg
removed He doubted whether 1t was advisable to make another effort tll
Burma had been reconquered, because of the danger of arousing com-
mumal dissension which nught affect the Indian Army

He sa1d we must be careful that swe did not get into a posstion when we
could not get out of India because of the chaos it would cause but were
unable to contrel and adnunster 1t 1f we remamed It was essentizl to
mamtam the morzle of the ICS and Police, whose fimancial future
should be gnaranteed whatever happened He thought st might be possible
to make a fresh appeal m say 6 months tine before the mfluence of the
new Viceroyalty was lost, but 1t would require very careful consideration
and would not be likely ta succeed The chuef factors of the problem of
Indian political progress were the stupidity of the Indian and the dishonesty
of the Bntish we should not be able to get away with 1t much longer

He told me that before the Cripps proposals were made the Bntish
Government suggested that the National Defence Council? should become
the Constitunon-making body and should also assist to run the war
Linlithgow sard he would resign rather than accept this, and the Cripps
proposals followed He sad that Cripps did not play straight over the
questton of the Viceroy's veto and Cabmet responsibility and did make
some offer to Congress through the Amencan Lows Johnson 2 He sad
Cnpps was crooked when up against 1t

Linlithgow s view of Amery was the same as mne, he admired his
qualitres but said he was quite unable to get his stoff across n Cabinet,
or I think in Parhament

I The National Defence Councl (N D C.} was formed in October 1947 a3 a consultative
body on defence and consisted of tinrty pertons nomunated by the Viceroy representative
of both British India and the States

1+ Colonel Louis Johnson President Roosevelt s personal representative 1n India at the

time of the Cripps Musston-
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On nulary situation he thought Mountbatten (‘the Boy Champion’
he called him) would have some rude shocks to his optimusm Linhithgow
does not believe the Chinese mean to fight seriously Nordo I

Of the food problem Lmhthgow says chief factor morale In July he
expected that deaths 1n Bengal msght be up to 1,000 coo or 13 muthon,
and that we Jooked Iike getting off betrer than he had thought possible

He advsed agamst further Indianisation of the Council, and agreed that
Maxwell st health would not stand an extension, and thought that
Twynam? should be appointed. He sand Mudahar was not runnmng strarght,
which 15 disappointing 1had hoped he could be trusted

Other matters Linhithgow spoke of were Gandhi s fast and how glucose
was admmistered as soon as 1t was obious that Linhthgow meant to stand
firm and the election of 2 new Chancellor of the Chamber of Princes
Linlithgow thought Bhopal was bkely to be clected, and acknowledged
his abihty but said he was somettmes ke a muschnevous boy with 2
catapuls

Linhthgow sad he proposed to stand outside politics for 2 ttme when he
got home and oy to educate opison on the Indan question

I have the greatest admuration for Linlithgow, he 15 2 wise strong man
and very human really I wish we had had seyeral days together and that
I had been better prepared for this talk. It s an unsansfactory tahe-over,
this one talk late at night However, one can only really take over a job by

domg 1t I can't say that L ’s exposition of the sttuation was encouraging

after 74 years expertence hus opmon of Indwun efficiency and reasonable-
ness 1s certanly not high.

October 2o

Sworn n as Viceroy Ceremony went off all night

Oxctober 21

Saw Hutchings abour food he 1s 2 good man sensible and resolute and

should help to produce a solution 1f anyone can He says Snvastavat s
domg quute well

Ratsman® next, he 13 good and sound Anxtous to know about his

T ::r Regmald Maxwell, LC S. Home Member Governor-Generat s Executive Councl,
193344

* 3 Heary Twyvam 1 C S, Guvernor of the Central Provinces, 19406
' Sir Robert Hutchings {C S Secretary to Government of Inda Food Dept 19436
* 3ir} P 3Snvastava Member for Food, Governor-General s Executive Couneil.

¥ 5ir Jeremy Rarsman, 1 C.S,, Frunce Member Governor-Ceneral Execuive Counnl,
191945 Later Chairman of Lloyds Bank.
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future whether he 15 likely to be extended and wants several months
leave home of he 1s

Wyliwe! talked about the man problems of the Princes He agrecs with
e that the Prnces cannot ressst reform pressure if we are firm  therr only

card 15 that the fath of the British Crown 1s involved 1t honouring their
treatics

October 22

Masses of paper and interviews all day Saw Somervell head of Supply
Branch US Army about the waran § W Paafic and the problem of
developing the capaaity of the Assam railways to take increased Amenican
a1d to China and to support large scale operations into Burma which the
Americans claim can be done if US A take over railway and eliminate
Indtan incfficiency

I talked to Maxwell Home Member about the political sstuation He
agrees we should make progress if possible and hopes there may be a break
away from Gandht s leadership T doubt 1f this 15 probable

Ortober 29

Returned from 3 days at Calcutta mn the course of which I saw all the
Minssters a number of officials and non-ofhcuals went round the streets of
Caleutta by mght to sce how the destitutes were sleeping and by day to see
them beng fed and spent one day in the Contar distnret of Midnapore
which 15 supposed to be one of the areas worst affected by the famine
I found things on the whole much as [ had expected from what I had read
and heard—widespread distress and suffering not as grucsome as the
Congress papers would make out but gnm enough to make offcial
complacency surprising I don ¢ think anyone really knows the whole
situation or what 1s going on m some of the outlymg areas but obviously
we have got to get to immediate grips or 1t may get out of hand al
together Isaw all the Mimisters vesterday eveming told them they must
get the destitutes out of Calcutta mto camps which should have been
done long ago got them to accept 2 Major General and staff to help with
the transport of supplies and the assistance of the Army generally 1 also
urged them to get on with their rationtng schemes and put betore them
the proposal to take Calcura out of the Bengal food problem and feed
it from outside Thus last proposal seemed to meet wath some doubts but

Sir Francs Wybe 1CS Governor of the Cen ral Proviness 1938 40 Polit cal
Adwiser to the Crown Representative 19405 Govwernor of the Um od Provinces 19457
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I am advised 1t s the only possible solution that will restore confidence in
the rural areas and bring prices down

Three pretty hecthic and dustressing days | wonder 1if my mtervenuon
will do any good The Minstry 1s obviously a very weak one, and the
actng Governor (Rutherford) rather disappomted me—no fire m im

November 3

Three days with National Defence Counal just fimshed They went off
all nght

Hance, the Director General, Indian Medical Service, came to see me
on Nov 1 I asked hum about the drug postion ;. Bengal, he sud wath
an arr of conscious rectitude ‘T am gomg down there on Nov 8 to see for
myself”, I sad “and why not on Nov 2 or Nov 37 he was somewhat
taken aback and said “But I have to go ro Simla for a meenng of the
Sanatorium Commuttee” At that I gave him to understand m very clear
terms that sanatoriums at Simla could wait but the Bengal famine would

not He would go to the A O C in C at once, I told hun and get the first
possible plane to Caloutta

November 7

A heavy routine week last week, with nothing very special. Thas afternoon
Mayne, G O C-in~-C Eastern Command, was brought to me by C-1n-C
about sttuation 1n Bengal Army has got down to it well and has already
mncreased outflow of foodgrans from Calcurta to rural distacts from goo
to 2,000 tons pd. But Mayne was very depressing about the medscal
situation, and says cholera epidemic 15 most senions Hance, DGIM S,
whom I sent down there 4 or 5 days ago, has apparently done a very good
job of work, bur has found a very great deal to be done, as T suspected.
Mayne also sad that palfening and misappropriation of foodstuffs on way

to population 1n need 1s very widespread and Courts are inflicting only
tnfing fines on offenders

November 10

Ordinary routmne business for last 2 or 3 days, except for an emergency
meeting of Counal on November 8 over a resolunon in the Assembly
asking for an Enquiry or Royal Commussion on the Food question,
wluch it Jooked as 1f we should have the whole Assembly against us if we
opposed Iwas qute clear that it would be disastrous to have any Enqury
now, and that we shotild hang an awkward millstone round our neck {and
cembarrass HM G probably) if we gave any undertaking for an enquury
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m future I had no difficulty with Counal over the question of an 1m-
medute enqury —exeept Firoz Khan Noon who delivered one of the
outbursts without thinking which he sometimes gives tongue to—but the
myorty, incudimg Auchinleck and Benthall, were for some sort of
pledge on a future enquiry, We agrecd that Food Member should accept
an Enquiry in prineiple but refuse to comumut Government on form, date
Or scope Next day the difhiculty was postponed temporanily by the
motion being dropped on constderation of an extra day for food debate
But the demand for an Enquury will certainly be made i the debate

November 14

Plenty of work but nothing 1n parbicular last weck But on Samrday
evening Mountbatten came to tell me about proposed meeting of the
Four Great Ones in Caro He then spohe of the future plans of SE A

Command, and indicated, as pohtely as he could, that the general atntude
of the Indian Government wwas obstructive, and that India would really
have no difficulty 1n fulfilling alf his fresh demands 1f she took a more
realistic atticude to the war I did somcthung to try and duabuse hum of
this 1dea, and to pomt our some of Indw's economic difficulzes He
mentioned a requirement of eleven large new awrfields 1n the Calcutta area

which the Amernicans had put forward He asked me for help over a large

tncrease of supply dropping parachutes to be manufactured 1n India

November 17
M B came agun ou 15th to tell me about the Caro meeting {Sextant) and
that Chiang Kas-Shek and Madame proposed to pass through Indra under
Amencan auspices without 2 word to me or the Government of Inda,
stopping a night at Agra It scems to me the height of international bad
manners on the part of both Amencans and Chinese, but smce HM G has
not seen fit to mform me that a conference ts taking place at all, on matters
which vitally concern India, I can hardly complan M B also mentioned
mntelligence pompng to the possibility of a Japanese sea-bome raid on
India We also spoke of the parachute demand, he stdl seems to think that
to double the detand (from 100 000 10 200,000 [per month), the original
demand having been 15 000} 15 2 mere tnfle for ndia, 2s 1t only meant
erving up 2% of total cloth I pomted out that 2% of Indw’s population
was 8,000,000 which was quite a large number to go short of clothes

Wmgate left today after convalescing here for 2 week. He a lutle
remmds me of T E Lawrence but lacks hus sense of humour and wide
knowledge, 1s more limited but with greater driving power
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November 18, 1943 {Thus would have beenn my father’s 10oth birthday)

Having had an almost contnuous sertes of mterviews with Members and
thetr Secretaries, T think I have now heard most of their pet schentes, some
o1y mteresting, some practical, some unpracucal

Now enther 21

Finished yesterday a two-day conference with the eleven Govemnors
I think 1t was valuable and that they enjoyed st (no conference of Governors
had been held since 1930), and 1t gave me a good chance to size up my
Governors

Arthur Hope (Madras) I found surprismgly good, but I suppose Madras
s comparatively easy Colville (Bombay) 1s attracttve and sensible but
knows lirtle of India yet, he should be very good. I was confirmed m my
view that Rutherford {acting for Bengal), a good enough admnstrator
in normal times, 1s no use now for rough stuff Maurice Hallett (UP ) 13
thoroughly sound, wise and courageous, but conservative and perhaps
a bir dsdivsioned Glancy {Punjab) knows hus job but lacks dnve 1 have
not quute sized up Twynam (CP) of wwhom I had been grven so hgh
a character, he 1s certanly able Mudie {actng for Bihar) 1s quuet and
sensthle George Cunningham (N W FP) very good where he 1s and
entirely rehable Lewns (Omnssa) walling but not first—class Dow (Sind)
knows his provinces to the finger-tips and has 1t well m hand, he made
more telling and pertment observations than any of the others, but was
provocatrve at ttmes Clow (Assam) remunds me of the remark of a very
celebrated golfer on one of s weaker professional brethren “a mice lutle
golfer Sir, a mee httle golfer—vyou know what I mean”

We had a whole day on the Foed problem, and half 2 day on Post-War
reconstruction At the end I gave them my general mind on the polincal
situation, and they gase me theirs Nothmg very constructive or encourag-
mg emerged They were all for penod:cal conferences of Governors, and
I am sare the meetmg has done good

[ got Pandit Kunzru' to come and see me smce he had been tourning
Bengal and expressing lumsclf strongly on the famme He used to be on
my Delenee Commattee when I was Can-C, and T have always liked the
httle man though he 1san uncompromising criucand opponent of Govern-

ment, he 15 camest and stncere He was obviously very upsct at the condi-
uons 1 Bengal and also at the lack of avie spaint of hus countrymen 1n

Bengal and the incthaency of the Bengal Government, who are stll more
! Pandt H N Kunrru, a bughly respected moderate Nationalist polinaan,
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concerned i thesr political rivalnes than wath the famine {I really behieve
there 15 more anxiety and sympathy about the Bengal famine in England
than anywhere 1n India)

Not cmber 23-30

Vistt to Punjab and N W FP My mawm object m Punjab was to get
Munssters to agree to statutory price control of food and rattonmg They
liked neither, and had comnutted themselves to their Assembly not to
accept them I made clear the necessity for both, and that I was determmed
to enforce them, and 1n the end I think the price was the only real difficulry
Iefta price of Rs 9 4 as maximum for next rabt crop for them to consider
I think Hutchings, the Food Sccretary, had rather quecred the prtch by
giving the Chief Minsster the 1dea that he would accept the corrent price
{about 10 8) as the maxamum {when [ got back to Delhithe Food Member,
Stivastava, indicated politely that he thought Rs 9 4 was much too ugh
and that he hoped to get prices down to 7-8) 1 doubt 1f any of these
‘EXP{’:IT.E —Snvastava, Gregory,! Rasman or Hutchmgs—rtally khow
how prices will go or whether statutory price control walf work. [ Iiked
Khizar,2 the Punjab Cluef Minster, attractive, straight and courageous,
Ishould say Rest of the Ministry of no great account, but Chhotu Ram?
1s quute a personality though not very wise, I suspect

I enjoyed visit to N'W F P, I have always hked Peshawar since T was
statoned there nearly 40 years ago All they want at present 15 a really

stout Governor, which they have got at present They are just beginnung
to play at politics and I suppose will before long be as political as anyone

December 1
A very trying day At Council meeting Braund, Regionzl [Food] Com-
mussioner, gave a very depressing account of the sitwation mn Bengal
admumstratron—apathy, mefhciency and lack of public spint—mn the
matter of food, this only confirms what I already knew or suspected, we
want a new Governor and some new men at top but how to galvanise
the corpse of Bengal admumstration will be a problem for the best man

Tust before lunch Mountbatten came to see me about results of Cairo
conference He was more twwed and depressed than I have seen him He
had had a difficelt ime at Cairo with PM and with Generalissimo and
they had not got much settled M B said there was little mentron of India

t §r Theodor Gregory Economuc Adviser to the Government of [ndia 1038 46.

2 § r Khuzar Hyat Khan Tiwana Premiuee of the Punjab 19427
5 Sir Chhotu Ram the most pronunent Hindu member of the Unionist Party and for

many years a Minsster i the Pumab
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and her economics and he did not show PM my memorandum on
India’s capacity, but he did (rather unwasely, I think) touch on the political
problem and the P M blew up and damned not only lum but me and all
my works

Otherwise 1t was paper, paper all the day A cunous old thing called
Sir Fric Terchman! dined, he looked as 1f he twas all falling to bits, but had
come from Chungking via Chinese Turkestan and Russion Turkestan
(some 7000 or 8ooo miles), looking at supply route tnto Chuna He made
one quite good remark. I sad ‘Chinese economy 1s very rocky, wsn't %
He rephed “You don't rock much when you are sitting on the bottom.’

Dccember 2

Started morning wrth Counal on Punjab announcement about price-
control and rattoning It went quite well and Council supported me on the

0 4 price agamst the Food Member's desire to wait in hope of fixing a
much lower price

Dcecember 7

M B dined and we had a cnema—Casablanea 2 typreal film story of the
sentinental-thnller type The others seemed to like 1t but ¥ was nesther
touched nor thrilled and sard 50 to MB afterwards He 15 2 great film fan
and was hormiied He apparently has one most mghts—'so much easter
and quucker than reading a novel” he urged, ‘But I seldom read nowels’
I'said "But what do you read then for relaxation, from your writing 1t 1s
obvious that you do read sometimes” Ireplied that I read biographtes and
poetry rather than novels ‘But don't you like mustcal films?* ‘I fear I am
not musical ‘But you don’t need to be musical to enjoy musical films,
with just cheerful songs and danang” He 1s sull youthful and [ am afraid
recened the impression that I was a cheerless kill-joy not to hike films

Dicember 10

There 1s too much routine work, interviews etc. to give the Viceroy nme
for constructive thuinking or the relaxation which 1s essential to a lazy man
hke myself Today was an awful diy, mterviews, conferences papers

visitors to all meals ctc hicerally from 10 am 10 1o pm. and my only
relaxation was 2 nde 7 30-8 30 a.m What a life I have been strugehng

for the last 48 hours 10 find even 2 short space to compese the speech
I have got to make at Calcutna

' Travellked extenuively m China and Central Ana. Onguually m the Consulap Servace in
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PS We held a paradc of the Viceregal Servants the other day, some
150 of thern were there and 1t represented only just over half. They mostly
come from the UP apparently.

December 22

Got back yesterday from 1o-day tour of Orssa, Assam and Bengal It was
very strenuous and we had little or no let-up Onissa 1s rather an attractive,
friendly, backward province, full of malana and other diseases, hable to
flooding, proud of 15 0ld history, and of the Onya tradinons, bor with
hittle future, unless the contiguous Eastern States, which are reported to be
full of coal and mmerals, join up and provide industrial wealth Even so,
I doubt whether the populatton would have energy enough to take
advantage of 1t, There has been considerable distress in parts which seems
to have been tackled quite well on the whole Lewss, the Governor, ts a
pleasant sincere personality, I think he runs his province quute well He
had much to do wath Gandhi at one time and has no great opimon of him.
The Chief Mimster, the Maharaja of Parlakimeds, has not very lugh-
powered bramns but seermns honest He 1s at odds wath the next bigpest
landowner of the province, the Raja of Kallikote {a member of ND C ),
who was burning to pour into my ear all his nival’s rugqutzes

We went on to Assam and spent three days at Shillong, probably the
most attractive hill station m India but very out of the way, 1t takes five
hours 1nt 2 car to reach a rattway or aufield Isaw all the Assam Minsters
and chief officials not 2 very impressive lot, except the chief minister, who
15 a shrewd and competent pohitician, though how he would do 1n better
company [ am not sure Assam s 2 small province which seems to rub
along all nght but 1t 15 not 1 any way go-ahead. The native Assamese
are lazy and likely to be ousted by more pushung but less attractive
Bengali Moslems The chief political problem 1s the desire of the Moslem
Ministers to increase this immagration mto the uncultivated Government
lands under the slogan of 'Grow more food’, but what they are really after

1s ‘prow more Moslems’

We flew from Assam to Dacca and spent 2 might there——an unpleasant
place I thought but I do not ke Bengal Dacca District has suffered badly
m the famine and 1s stlf suffermg much from disease Little sign of
Govemment energy or of confidence m Government, but the troops are
runmng a good show

We arnved m Calcutia on Sunday mommg (19th) and went to a
Memonal Service for Jack Herbert
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Spent the afternoon w mnterviews, and early part of the next moming
Then went to make my first important public speech as Viceroy at the
Chambers of Commerce As tisual, though I had known of the speech for
two months [ had put off wrtmg 1t nll the last moment, and was stil] 1
labour wath 1t the evening before My staff had wanted 1t fimshed, vetted
by Departments, prnted and ready for wsue to the Press before 1 left
Delht on the 11th, but I can’t do things that way, and 1t seems absurd that
a speech should become public property days before at 15 deltvered 1 think
1t wasn'ta badspeech, gaven the conditions n India Ithashad onthewhale
a good Press, but has naturally disappomnted the political elements, who

care little for the ecanonne condintons of the country esceptas it Pruﬂdﬁ
maternal to attack the Government

At the conclusion of this speech TWat ell sard that ke had mad. ne wention ‘of
the constitntional or pohtical problems of India not because they are wot
constantly m my mund, not becanse I has e not the fullest sympargy 1 1th the
aspirations of India tou ards Self~Government, not becanse I consuder pﬂhﬂfﬂf
progress impossible dunng the course of the war , but because I do niot
belier e that I ean make thewr solution any easier by talking about them pust af

present* The speech was mamnly devoted to the problems of food, coal, mflatron,
and Post-1Var Reconstritction

In the aftemoon visited the 24 Parganas Distnict South of Calcutta—
hospreals, food kitchens, camps for destitutes etc, It looked a bit better
than Dacca but pretty gnm The Army 15 domg a fine show On retum
I saw the principal Bengal Ministers and spoke to them pretty strarght
about the statc of Bengal, the delay i rationing Caleurta etc They sud
httle, even Suhrawardy ! I don't think they have any mtention really to
get down to things, or the ability 1o do so 1f they had the mntention And
Rutherford has no longer the will to drive them, and 15 only thikwing of
getting away on leave Bengal 1s most depressing, and I sent a strong
telegramto S of S on return, they have wasted at least vw o eritical months
in appomting a Gosernor, and do not seem even now to have any sense of
urgﬂlcy

On the way back to Delhs yesterday 1 landed at Asansol and went down
a coal-mine, had about 5 mules walk underground Mme was only bang
worked at half capacity owng to shortage of labour The conditions

above ground in the way of housing and amenttres were thoroughly bad
and I do not wonder that mines find 1t difficult to keep labour

' Ra LS Sedbmumiwnly wpetmceern 'Wittlum "Leapuer 3% frus Time Tood Munsar wad
l;:ﬂﬂ Chyef Mmister Bengal After Independonce he weas for 2 time Pone Muuster of
in.
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A very hectic tour and I was glad to get back to Dellhy *Be it ever so
humble there s no place like home’

Discussed food and coal problems at Exccutive Counail this momung
Both present urgent and difficolt problenss, The problems 1bour eeal
include where to procure more labour how to induce mine-owners to
work munes to capacity (some of them are undoubtedly pomg slow
because of Excess Profits Tax) how to prevent bribery and dishonesty

the distnibution of the available coal which mdustries to put on short
rations and many others

D cember 23

Since [ returned from tour the spate of paper has been unending and [ have
had not a moment for constructive thinking for any work outade the
ordinary routine private correspondence or recreition In fact the whole
pace of these first two months of my Viceroyalty has been much too hot
and [ sec Iittle prospect of 1ts slowing down

[had a talk to M B and C -in-C There scem to be six or seven Japanese
divisions m Burma now An attack on Jap posttions i the Chin halis faued
as my attacks on Donbaik and Rathedaung did last winter M B says no
Japanese entrenched position has yet been taken by assault and that the
Jap position mm New Gunea and elsewhere in S W Pacific were blasted
out of existence by weight of metal rather than taken by assault T wonder
if this 15 correct 1t 1s as regards Indma though I suil think we should have
succeeded at Donbatk with 6th Bugade if the attack had been carrred out
as [ intended and duected

December 26

Work continued all over Xmas
Food and coal situations continue unsatisfactory and no rain has yet

fallen 1n the Punjab Casey s appomntment as Governor of Bengal has been
announced but there 1s no immediate prospect of his amrival and now
Mrs C 15 scriousty I

December 29

Bernard Fergusson® nurned up unexpectedly yesterday evening for a mght
and I had a talk wich hum about his experiences with 77 Bde 1n Burma
He says the venture was well worth while and that Wingate s theores

1 Br pacher Sar Betnard Ferpgusson (now Lord Ballantrae}] Govemor-General of New
Zealand 19627 Served with the Wingate exped ¢ ons into Burma 1044 § ADC to
Wavell ar Aldershot 1935-7 Au bor of Beyond the Chindw n (Londor 1p45) and of
Wavell Portra t of 2 Sold ¢r (London 1061) and other books
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are right, though the troops did not do all that Wingate claimed that they
did He said Wingate was, and 15, extremely dafficult—impossible at imes
~-and he had many rows with him, but he sull beheves in hus ideas He was
apprehensive about his forthcoming role, tf he had to go tn and come out
again as he did not feel we could abandon the Burmans who helped us to
the vengeance of the Japanese a second tume

The Executive Council this mornmg has as 1ts only 1tem the weekly
Food summary, but 1t was made the occasion by practically every member
present to propose that the Central Government should make mself
responsible entirely, or in a greater degree, for the food problem i Bengal,
and the majority obviously favoured Section 93 Government They were
all Hindus, except Mohammed Usman, who would not be sorry to see the
fall of a Moslem League Minsstry, but Uthunk their chief fechng was that
the Central Government would be held responstble anyhow if things went
wrong 1n Bengal, so that we maght as well take the bull by the homs

{ alrcady had the constitutional problem vnder examinaton and the
possibility of having to take over But the S of § seems by hus last tele-
gram to have got cold feet over Section 93 Government 1n Bengal, and
the Govemor and s chief officials are at present a weak mnstrument
I shall probably have to get assistance from the Army It's a musfortune
that they have delayed so long at home over the appointment of Casey

December 31

A long day but mamnly routine Interviews all morming a Raja to lunch,

meeting of War Commuttee on coal in the afternoon A fauly typical
end to 1943

Stummary of 1643
It has been a hectic, and surprising, year for me I think an unmented
share ot opprobrium was cast on me for the Arakan operations, which
were quite unsupparted by the ‘War Cabnet, msunderstood, and rus-
represented by the P M, partly owing to lus pro-Amenican bias {and there
1s no doubt that Stidwell and the Amenicans m India did their best to
malign me to Washington—partly to cover their own failure to maove the
Chmese), and partly because he has never liked me So that my multtary
carecr ended under the shadow of fulure

A very cuntous cham of carcumstances then forced on hum my appomt-

ment as Viceroy as the only way out of a difficult place, he was pleased to
find 1t well recerved, and then homnfied to Gnd 1 had hberal views about
India and was prepared to express them.
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[ accepted the Viceroyalty in the spint of a mubtary appomtment—
one gocs where one 1s told 1n time of war without making condtuions or
asking questions I think I ought to have treated 1t n a political spint and
found out what the policy to Indna really was to be and I think I could
have made my own conditions, for I thimk. Winston was really hard put
to12 to find someone How cver, here I am and I must do my best, though
I am frankly appalled at the prospect of five ycars—hard to the mund and
soft to the body.

I certanly do not look forward to 1944 and 3ts problems The food, coal
and inflation problems do not lock any lighter, there seems Iikely to be
httle progress in the war on the Burnna front, and I see no prospect of
any advancement i the polineal field

Note Almost the last, if not the last, book read 1n 1943 was Phoenix,
by Mr H G Wells, which a rather mtellectual young officer gave me
He stayed m the house and was full of 1deas about the welfare of soldiers
i this war and of the world at large after the war Tam afrard I found most
of Wells’ book sheer nonsense. The trouble with most of these intellectuals
1s that they have litle knowledge of ordimary human naturc and no
expenence of government and adminustration They are apt to regard the
mass of human beings, not only 1n their own country, but 1nt all lands, as
sensible people moved by reason instead of 1gnorant people swayed by
prejudice and sentiment Intellectuals have often started a revolution by
their theories, but have never yet 1n history been able to control 1t, so far
as my study poes, and I am pretty surc that the discrples of Mr Wells wnll
not His scheme of life, as set forthn this book, seems to me like a magnifi-
cently equipped and fitted up Rolls-Royee, for which the motive power,
petrol—human nature—is lacking. I believe the world will continue to go
on in 1ts rattle-trap patched up old Ford which wall un Whata wondezful
teller of stories Wells was, 1t 15 11 2 way 2 pity he took to maccurate hustory

and unpractical soctal theories
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THE FIGHT
AGAINST FAMINE

January 1, 1944
[ remember 2 Latin couplet from my schooldays

Perturbabantur Constantinopolitant
Innumerabilibus sollicigudintbus?

I feel the same way as the citizens of Constantinople at the dawn of this
New Year But I am not gong to make any new-year resolutions about
it 1shall carry on tn my rather haphazard, opportunust, almost Mrcaw ber-
Like way, working on certain guding principles which have by some
surprising good {7} fortune brought me to tins high position

January 5
The food problem, coal ensis and inflanonary threat contmue to be our
mam anxsetics The Food Department and my staff urge me towards
dismussing the Bengal Minsstry as wncapable of dealing wath the food
question, and going mto Section 93 { want to be convanced first chat the
Munistry s really mncapable, imder the firm direction (so I hope) of Casey
when he arnves, 1o deal with the problem, and secondly that a Section 93
regime could make certain of putung things nght Isent my DPSV,
Abell, down to Calcutta yesterday to put these questions to the Governor
Casey has cabled to say that he hopes to be m Dells by the 16th
I hase sent a strongly worded telegram to S of S about imperts of
food grans, to ask for a definute guarantee of 3,000,000 tons dunng 1044
Nothing very much otherwise Thave concocted my first letter to HM
the King, made a short and faurly bight-hearted speech {'notiong enough or
dull enough fora Viceroy’ was P S V s comment on the draft) to open the
Indian Science Congress, and presented 2 V C s at a parade outude Delh
Fort—quure an impresaive ceremony 1n a fine setting. with 2 good crowd
Mountbatten scemed a bit overworked and depressed when I saw im
base. His tesources 2re gradually, or not even gradmally, bemp 1aken away

' *The people of Constantinoply were beset by countlets anxacties *
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and he sees little prospect of accomplishung much of what he had planned

this wanter

Janury 6

Discussed wath Jenkins and Abell result of Iatter’s vint to Calcutta, and
approved despatch of telegram to S of § recommending Section 93
admurustration for Bengal It 1s agamst my principles to take over from
an Indian Government when they are 1n difficudtzes, they will never leam
to rule themselves 1f they are not compelled to face therr responsibilities
and difficulties But this Goscmmment has been given a good run, and too
much 1s at stake ¥ think they mipht have been all nght with a Governor
who was prepared to take a stronger ine wath them two months ago,
when they were thoroughly frightened, but Rutherford has not done so,
cither through weakness of character or ill-health {Thome,! who knows
him well, says he has always been dusinclined for firm acuon) He also
professes scruples over Section 93, he remarked to Abell that the late
Viceroy was inchined to be too meticulous about the Constitution but that
the present one scemed too prone to duregard 1t

January ¢
Cabsnet have tumed down my proposal to appoint an Indian as Finance
Member 2 I gather from § of S that John Anderson and Winston
torpedoed 1t Cabinet also obviously very perturbed over my recom-
mendanon to go into Section 93 1t Bengal They are considermg 1t on
Tuesday (Jan 11), T also am a bit wornied over 1t but am sure 1t 15 nght

In a private telegram to the Secretary of State dated 7 Jan Wavell sard
that he was prepared to awat Casey's arnval, if the latter felt that nmediate
actron would embarrass hum

January 10
1 saw Nazunuddin 3 the Bengal Premuer and told him I was dissatisfied
with the state of Bengal He said thungs would be all nght 1f lus Mimnistry

was grven a chance and supported agawnst hus pohitical enertes 1rather like
hum and think he 1s stratght but mncapable 1have little opimon of his Food

1 Sir John Thome ICS  Secrctary to the Governor-General {Public) 1938-44 He
oficiated as Home Member of the Executive Counal on the retirement of Sir Reginald
Maxwell i1 1944 and held the post agaun 2 IQ4S

2 To replace Sir Jeremy Raisman who was due to retire Owing to difficulry m selecting
a3 successor Raisman was g vem 4 year $ oxtension tdl Apnl 1945

3 Sir Nazimuddin who was later Governor-General (1945 51) and Prime Mouaster {1951~

1} of Pakistan

™ 180 E
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Muuster Suhrawardy, who 1s also 1n Delhiand was melined at first, to be
truculent 1n an mterview with Jenkms

In the afienoon made a tour of some willages round Delht to see
medical and vetermary establishments, cattle, schools consclidation
projects (the process of stmplifying land tenure) ctc I walked through one

willage and 1t scemed farly clean and prosperous N W India 15 a much
better propositton than Bengal

January 12

I have decided to alter the method of busmness At present I spend my
whole momings i mterviews some of which are interesting and valuable
but 11 many of which time 15 wasted, since I think that Indian Members
of Counall with an interview feel that they must fill in therr whole time,
whether they have any real business or not And the mormng 1s far my
best tume for constructive work. So in future I shall see Members only
once a fortmght as a routine interviesv 1 the afternoon but shall en
courage them to ask for special appomtments in the moming whenever
they have anything of importance to discuss

At Counal I rassed the question of a Commussion of Enquury into the
Bengal famine Majonty were in favour of early enquiry Icabled S of S
accordingly

In afternoon visited Dellu University of which I am Chancellor Sir
Maurice Gwyer? 1s an enthusiast and has done much work on the project—
a group of colleges on the site of the old Viceregal Lodge Ithink education
1s probably the thing we have done worst in India  both from our own
point of vien and that of the Indians 'We have aflowed 2 bad system of
advanced education to grow up—unpractical ne development of charac-
ter concentration on exarunations (which are often very dishonestly run)

The Delln project should be good 1f ever carrted througlh, and so long
as 2 good man hke Gwyer 15 in charge

Jamuary 13

The War Cabinet has turned down my proposal for Section 93 1 Bengal,
they say Casey must be given a chancee to press Minustry mto adequate
action [ do not think they are capable of taking 1t or of restoning con-
fidence and reasonable honesty mto the Province 1 cabled S of S pointing

! Sir Maiunce Gwyer Chuef Jast ce of India and Preaident of the Federal Court 1937-41
snce the Fedenal Pant of the Art of 1935 was never brovght mto opcrat on, he had hrtle

judicial work and 3o devoted hus time to Delly University  of w huch be way Vice-Chancellor
from 1938 to 1950



To-10 JANUARY 1044 49

out that Cabimet had now twice disregirded my advice and that [ hoped
they would not do so agun on the demand for imports

First day of National Defence Council meeting The diseussion on food
showed, I think, that we should have had public opmion very largely
behind us in taking a strong line in Bengal

Janswiry 16

The Nauonal Defence Counal went off ruch as usual The food problem
was the onc which aroused most interest, and one and all urged strong
action on the Centre

War Cabinet have proposed an unknown, young and apparently, from
the descipuion gnven by § of S, tactless and ambiuous Canadian as
Finance Member, having tummed down my recommendation for an Indian
on the plea that they must have someone really outstanding I cabled a
strong protest.

Waiell conveyed his “strong protest’ both sn cables and in a lester, and said
i1 the cotrse of them

Cubnet’s lack of imagination m dcalurg with India ss sometumnes astomshing
They tumed down my recommendation Yﬁ:r apporatrens of art Indrar on plea
that they must appoint man of ““acknou ledged and outstanding qualifications”
Pcrson now proposed 1s certamly not ths Surely you cannot suppose that
selection of young and alinost unknoien Canadian, w liose name does not appear
tn any book of reference and who has no experience of Tndia, will be easy 1o
defend Your colleagiies must stop trymg to have everythng both ways Cabinet
should esther find me a really ontstanding man from UK or reconsider my
recommendation’

Jamna Das Mchta® stayed for the Nanonal Defence Counci meeting
Obviowsly very flattered Peter went to see him to enquire whether he
was comfortably housed He complaned that there had been a rat 1n Jus
rOOIL durmg the mght Peter rose to the occasion ‘Ah a rat sir, those are
for our most disingushed guests, the others only get nuce’

M B tells followmg story A propagandist of S € Bose 52 army on
the Arakan front shouted across the lines We shall be m Delht 1 ten
days’ A sepoy, recently returned from leave, shouted back Not on these

ruddy railways you won't

! A former member of Congress and ex Mayor of Bombay

i Subhas Chaadru Baose an cxtremust Eﬂl}g‘fﬂi leader from B.:"ﬂg;-}, ﬂ:gpﬁd from:
detention afier the outbreak of war and made lus way to Germany and thence t 1943 to
Japan The Japanese made hura Commander 1n-Chief of an Indian National Army (1IN A )
that they formed from such of the Indian prisoners of war as they could induce to jow The

1 raok part somewhat wglorously i the Japanese operations against Eastern India
mtiig i Etfhh;u Chandra Bose was killed m an 21r crash in 1045
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January 17

My first visitor this moming was M N Roy, the Social Democratic
leader Has been a Bengal terrorist a worker for Germany Indian repre-
sentative of the Commtern expelled from France, imprisoned m India,
and 15 now trying to form a People’s Party in India to oppose Congress
Has apparently rather got round Home Member who actually sugpested
tlus stormy petrel as a candidate for a seat on my Executive Councl He
impressed me quite favourably, rather more to hum than most Indman
pohtictans, more independence more gurs perhaps But I doubt whether
he has much following or 1s hkely to have much

Saw the Service Chiefs—Auchinleck, M B, Peirse I talked to Can-C
about Finance Membership, he entircly agrees wath me that 1t ought to
be an Indan Peirse agreed wath me about the necessity to give Indrans
participation m any Empire atr crews on impertal routes 2nd saw no reason
why they should not make good

Jannary 30
Got back last maght from a tour of U P, Bembay and Udaipur—strenuous
but mterestng
The UP 15 well ran Maunce Hallett, i spite of hus rather vague
demeanour, 15 a first-class admarstrator and a firm one, and gets things
done without fuss or friction or eyewash I went to Gorakhpur {(first time
a Viceroy had visited 1t, they said) and saw the Gurkha headquarters and
recrmting depot an tnteresting and well-run show, and a big Labour
Depot where labour gangs were recruited for the nunes, docks etc The
scheme, which seemed to be working very well 1s due to an enthustast,
one Moss, formerly a soldier now in I C S, very fat and like some fat men
full of energy and drive
At Lucknow there were the uswal interviews a garden party, dinner
partics luncheon parties which ate inevitable 1 suppose but do not lead
to much business for one like mysclf who 1s slow of thought and sparing
of speech. I made the acquamtance of two promunent Liberals and ‘elder
statesmen’ 51z Tey Bahadur Sapru! and Sy Maharay Singh 2 Both full of
culrure and pleasant to meet but to my mind of hetle wesphe as pohiacal
leaders I did not talk polittes wath Sapru, only Boy Scouts of which he 1s

t Sir Tey Dahadur Sapru Advocate and Zemmndary (landlord) at one ime 2 member of
the Al Ind a Conpreis Commmttee Law Member of the Viceroy s Executive Council
19103 Prendemt ot Indiy Iiberal Federtion

* Tapa §$ ¢ Mahara) Smgh, an Indun Christan and duiempished retired Government
oficul who had been Apent General for Indis in South Afnca 1933~$ Presdent of the

E-I;;.:;I Liberal Foderaton 1943 ¢, and afier Independence was Governor of Bambay



17-310 JANUARY 1944 51

head (I thunk he was disappomnted that I did not talk politics, but 1t scemed
to me 1t would have been of Little ?JIUE) 1"*-111'1:11‘:!_] Smgh admutted all the
nustakes of the Congress leaders but merely adjured me 1o release them
His wafe enincised violently all that we had done or were domg mn a talk to
me after dinner but had agamn no constructive solutton I mer another of
these old Liberals, Jayakar,? in Bombay and he gave me much the same
mnpresston I feel that the cause of Indra’s pohizeal troubles may be our
fartlute 1n the past to make more of these Liberals and to take them into
our confidence and give them responsibility many years ago wath the
result that they mustrusted our sincerity and honesty, and the leadershup
passed mta 1rresponsible unpractical hands Now they realise the funhty
with which they have been led but with the sensitiveness of Indians can
see nothrag but the msult’ of therr chosen leaders” bewng i detentron and
will not emibark on a more practical policy, even 1f they had the power to
command a followmg The only hope now seems to be in getting younger
and more vigorous men to co-operate, I have only scen two possibilities
50 far—Sir Chhotn Ram 1n the Punjab and M N Roy the ex-terronist—
excluding Khizar the Punjab premier who mught be very good 1f he has
the spur to enter all-India politics

Generally the political situation i the UP 1s I think, back to some
Years ago, twenty or more Officals and police seemed well on top of
therr work, they all said U P would remam perfectly peaceful provided
Gandh: and Working Comumttee of Congress were kept behind bars

I thought poorly of the Talukdars of Oudh a degenerate lot of absentee
landlords hving 1 the aty mstead of on their estates and askang Govern-
metnt to rase therr rents Buc I may be unfaie to them or to some of them
I daresay a collection of our country gentlemen might make a2 poor
mpression on a progressive foreigner

In Lucknow I saw the ratronmng scheme wihuch seemed to be working
well and an Indian mulitary hospital quite good 1 take some credit to
myself for the improvement I made mn mulitary hospitals and medical
arrangements n India dunng the two years I was Cm C They would
have improved anyhow in the natural course of progress but I pushed
thf:m Ol fa.ster th::n thE.' Mf.‘dlfill PEDPI& or staff wuuld I]E.’FE dnnc b)’
themselves

And so to Bombay (January 22 to 27} We started with an hour or so at
the races—a proper Maharaja’s day they won I think, 6 of the 8 races

I met the Bombay adﬂﬂm—hmght Bristow and Collins and asked

Mr Jayaksr a leadng lawyer and polt cun from Bombay Judge Federal Coun
Indi3, 1937-9
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Bristow about the main political prisoners He said Gandhi seemed quite
content to remam where he was, the Working Commuttee was still under
his influence, they would never co-operate 1saw the Foa d Commzttee—
Bombay 15 very proud of the way 1t has handled 1ts food problem—they
msssted on the necessity of tmports to form a reserve
The other two days in Bombay included the usual mterviews parties,
visits to ration offices [ also paid a completely surprise vistt to the poorer
parts of Bombay, saw a City Police Station and went round the docks
1 saw Brelw of the Bombay Chronicle, one of the most violent of the
Congress papers, he 1s not 2 bad little man he tried to persuade me to allow
Devadas Gandh! to talk politics to tus father when he vistted hus mother?
who s very1ll Sir Franas Low3 of the Times of India was mteresting about
a conversation he had had with Rajagopalachanart who 1s getting very
tred of the present situatson and wants to start something on hus own 1f
Gandhi won't, and has asked how to approach Jinnah with a wiew to
Jnnah and Gandht gettng together T doubt whether Jumah wall play
I did not get on very well with young Tata with whom I had a shore talk
after dinner, a pity as I think he 15 able and mfluentral about Indun
business, but he secmed to me conceited and unhelpful, T expect I didn’t
take hum the nght way
From Bombay we flew to Belgaum on 25th, and spent the day locking
into Dustrict adpunistration system and saw a Forestry Depot We
motored 200 mules to and through the Byapur Distnict over rather bumpy
and dusty roads on a hotush day 1 was garlanded 45 tumes, had larpe
numbers of people presented to me, and altogether was pretty busy from
8 2 m., when we left Belgaum tll 7 30 p m. when we got into a tramn at
Sholapur Buyapur s 2 histone old aity with many fine runs and I should
have bked more time to sce 1t 1 visited a village a few miles out who put
up 3 very good reception and entertatnment but [ thirk that the talent had

been largely imported 1n fact I was almost reminded of Cathenne the
Great's tour of Russia when Potemkan, her favourite and chief Mruster,
had a tounng company of arustes complete wath effects and scenery, to
represent happy villagers wherever Her Majesty went

Casey had turned up on the 19th (at Lucknow) and I had an evenmng
with lum he scemed tn good heart and not depressed by the somew hat
gloomy picture I panted to hum. He sard no one m Cabinet except Amery

supported mv proposal about Section 93 1 Bengal
' Ganvdtu ¢ fourth sonm

¥ A Gandhy had elected to share her husband s confincment
b Ld ror of the Times of Iudia 1932412

* L Hanpopalachan ex Premucr of Madm
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 had a telegeam from Wanston a couple of days ago (first commumca-
tion from fum since I left U K ) thanking me for a New Year letter I sent
him to congratulate hum on Jus recovery He expressed approval of what
I'was doing, smd Casey would be most useful to me, and expressed him-
self optinnstically about the new battle on Italian front

Febsuary 2

Two long days 1n office A senes of interviews and two big conferences
One on 15t with C«in-C and Benthall on Calcutta Port orgamusation and
military control of Assam ralways Amencans are a Inttle dufficult in these
matters, if anything 15 not to thetr ldang, mstead of discussing 1t wich
authortties on the spot they are inclined to send a lngh-power telegram to
Washington demanding action from Chuefs of Staff Calcutta Port 1s
rather 2 mess but 1t 15 at least partly due to Amernicans failing to fulfil their
pronuses about maternals, and I don't feel hke dismussing tned officnals
stmply because the Amencans don't like them Butthe Port certainly wants
reorganusation I smd we would get up Elderton, the Port Commussioner,
the man the Amencans dishke, to discuss 1t ¥ accepted the proposal for
rileary control over ralway movenient

On 2nd we had a long Counci mamly on a proposal to rase rulway
fares in the Budget, Members didn’t like 1t much but accepted 1¢ by 2 small
majonty provided the proceeds were earmarled to improve passenger
amenttes I think they may go back on 1t when the Budget proposals as
a whole are discussed on Saturday

Febritary 7

The Council meetings on the Budget on Saturday evenung and Sunday
mormning went off quite well on the whele Thad to begin by reading the
riot act on the matter of secrecy smcee I was informed on unimpeachable
evidence that the result of the meeting on ravbway fares and the way
mndniadumal members spoke was known to the Press almost at once Al-
though Indians cannot keep their mouths shut, I am not sure that New
Delhi 1s very much more mdiscreet than Whitehall Raisman was very
good, explamned his proposals clearly, was patient and tactful 1 meeting
opposition and concthatory Mudaliar let oft fireworks and a lot of not
very well considered opposition to the proposals but quetened down after
Raisman’s convincng but quute tactfud refutation of hus arpuments

Srivastava was very concerned about his dividends but on the whole glad

to get off lighter than he expected (he 1s 2 very rnich man), Ambedkar,

always a it muddle-headed suggested that we should stop inflanon by
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the simple process of 1ssung no more currency, old Jogendra Smgh
wanted reconstruction to be financed as well as the war without ncreasing,
taxaton The chief oppostuon was to the taxes on tea, coffec and betel nu,
because 1t was realised that they would be wnpopular and would be
cnticssed as taxing the poor man’s bittle luxurtes But Raisman justfied
broadening the basis of taxation m preparation for post-war reconstruc-
tion, and hus proposals went through wath enly a few munor concessions
Twao conferences this afternoon one on wages of Indian seamen, 2
thorny problem we have discussed before Indran seamen get about £
a month, Chmnese about £15, and British £22 10 o The lsberal man says
‘thas 15 racial disenmunation, why should men domg the same work be
pard differently because of the colour of thewr skins’ Actually to pay 2
lascar at anything approaching even Chmese rates would throw the whale
Indian wage scale out of gear We agreed on a moderate mcrease, since
shipping compantes were hkely to grant it in any case, or lascars were

likely to strike

At other conference we got agreement on hew organsations for Calcutta
port and Assam L of C, no mezn achrevement m view of Amencan

attttude I take some credit to myself for refusing to dectde organsations

purely on paper and msisting on getting up Elderton, the Chawrman of
Port Commissioners from Calcutta

February ¢

Flew to Lalutpur, near junction of UP and CP to see Archue John! and
2nd Battahon? traiming there i jungle warfare Talked to them extempore
for about § hour and then had miente lunch, which we had brought, with

officers

Archie John, C O and officers all say 1t will be very difficult to mamntain
morale unless battalion has a go at the Jap this cold weather
Got back to find telegram to say Cabmet seemed to be taking an un-

favourable vew of my request for gram imports so sent strongly worded
telegrtam to S of S andto P M

It the course of Ins telegram Wavell smid

"Bengal fanune was one of the greatest disasters that has befallen any people
tinder Brstish rule and damage to our reputation here both among Indians and

ﬁbrﬂg:erf i Inda 1s incaleulable You are better able to judge effect at home and
abroa

' Mator A.J A Waveell the Black Watch Wavell 5 only son
3 The Black Warch Lord Wavell 5 regimnent
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‘Attempe by His Aagesty’s Gorcrmment to prove on the basis of admuttedly
defective statistics that we ean do v sthont the help demanded 1 ould be regarded
[ ere by all opimton British and Indian as wtterly mdefensible Please u am your
cof u'fugﬂﬁ' once more that nq:d statistical apprﬂarﬁ s futrle and that my tieus
are based on personal discussions v ith all Gos ernors and visits to seven of the
elesens Prot inces

‘I wam His Magesty s Govcrmment st all seriousness that of they refuse
our demands they are nsling a eatastrophe of far greater dimensions thas
Bengal famune They must etther trust the opmion of the man they have

appointed to adyise ¢f em o Indian affases or replace ke

Fe 5nmr;-’ 10

Flew to Jullundur and spent day dnving a hundred odd mules round that
part of Punjab to see work going on in Sewalik hills and Hoshrarpur
dustrice against soil erosion

My Military Secretary tells me I have flown over 10 000 nules 1n the
DC3 sinee landing at Karachi in October, as well as 400 by tramn and 1000
by car duning tours—total average 3000 mules a month touring

Febryary 14

During week-end held mvestiture 1n Durbar Hall cleared off arrears of
paper work finished draft of my speech for the Leguslature and started
sittmg to Symon Elwes for a portrait Had a letter from M N Roy the
Radical Democratic leader whom 1 saw lately pracucally demanding
seats for humself and some of his party on the Executive Council and
a subsidy my comment to P SV svas that T was Viceroy and did not
propose to be vice-Roy Brelvt editor of the Bombay Chromicle has been
making persistent efforts to draw me on the release of the leaders by
a manifesto signed by all the natonalise editors 1told them they must wart
for my speech on 17th That speech will please no-one of the politictans

but 1t 15 the best I can say 1n present carcumstances I think 1t has been
passed by S of § at home wiath only textnal emendation

F bruary 16

I found some of my colleagues on the Executive Counail rather shaken by
my remarks the other day about disclosures to the Press and anxious to
explain thexr own clear constience

Lord Knollys come out on behalf of BOAC adopted the official
BOAC attitude on Indan participation in Empire air route across Indea
1 e that Indians in crew would not enjoy confidence of public and would
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prejudice BOAC competition with Dutch air hines I disabused ham of
1dea that BOAC would get away with an Empire arr line across India 1n
w hich Indians had no share

Today, I had to spend 2 good deal of the day dealing with 2 telegram
telling me the Cabinet had turned down flat my demand for food imports
in 1944 T concocted a somewhat spinted nposte warmng HM G of the
consequences, and got C-n-C and Mountbatten, whom I called 1nto
conference, to back 1t It wall be interesting to see result

In the course of his ‘spinted nposte’ Wavell said that he regarded 1t as a

practical cestamty that there wonld be large-seale disaster m India if imports
were refused

Counal meeting was fortunately short but meantime boxes and boxes
of papers came 1, and [ was up till midmeht dealing wath them

February 17

My address to the Leguslature On the whole I think 1t went as well as
could be expected, though T shall have a2 bad press with the pohnerans
Srivastava and Mohammed Usman sent congratulations and Dr Khare
whom I saw 1n the evenung seemed genumely to Iike 1t

I this speech Wavell stressed that India was a natural 1ot swesthin whch the
tu o great comminties must deade how to liv e together, as commumbties differing
we eniltrire or seligion had contrived to do elsetwhere He rf:yfﬁrmrd the Cripps
:Erﬁi*r, te full self-povernment at the end of the war snder a constitutron formed

y Indians themselves and meanwhile co-operation 1 the Government of
India under the existing constitution He regretted that one important element,
tthich contamed “much abibty and high-mndedness”, was standing aloof He
nonld Iike “to have the co-operation of this element in solving the present and
the future problems of India’ But he saw no reasen to release those responsible
Jor the Quut India rebellion nutil he was convinced that the policy of non-
co-operation and obstruction had been ‘withdrawn—not s sachcloth and ashes,

that helps no otte—but i recopmtion of a mastaken and snprofitable policy”

Hutclungs the Food Secretary came back from Bengal in rather more
optimustsic mood He thinks mam part of erop 15 stll in hands of cultivators
and has not yct got mto hands of speculators Rationung 1n Calcutta 1 not
going 00 badly Crux 1s to get stocks of food into districts 1 time He
spent much tme with Subrawardy and found hum rather more co-
operative than before He says Casey 1s a great sutecess but Jooks a sick man

He thoroughly approved of my telegram home yesterday abour food
1MPOTTS
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March 3
Returned yesterday from tour to Madms and CP Madras vaset lasted
from February 18 to 25 T saw the Collectors of all 23 Districts of Madras
Province and had the usual large numbers of interviews with more or less
promutient persons, so I got a fauwrly good but hasty impression of the
whole Presidency
Of interviews the most important was three-quarters of an hour with
Rajagopalachariar He certandy does not eave the impression of a foraible
character—very fow Indians do~—but was pleasant and intelligent He said
he had read my speech and saw 1n 1t some desire to make progress He
admutted previous mustakes of Congress and asked what sort of progress
T had 11 mund a5 a possibility I satd that to speak quute frankly and off the
record, what seemed to me requred at the moment was a Counci of *All
the Talents’, of men chosen for their crminence who would be recognised
as tepresentative of the best elements m India who would work out
India’s problems under the present Constitution without payme attention
to communal pohitics but 1n the mterest of India as a whole I'said I would
not accept a ‘National Government’ with so0 many nomunees of Congress
and so many of Muslim League, who took their orders from outside I had
expected R to ask for permussion to vasit Gandhy, but he said 1t was no use
his doing so wnnl he had a defmite proposal He satd G was useless as an
admumstrator but as a politrcian was more capable of compronmuse than
the Working Commttee We parted on quate good terms and he asked
lfhﬂ could come and {ee e In DEHLI hllt I doubt WhEEhEI he rﬂﬂﬂ.}? has

much mfluence or the leadership to command 2 following All these
Indian leaders scem to me to want everything handed to them on a plate
and their hands held

I also saw an ex-Congress Minister Subbarayan really more mterested
i ¢ricket than polines He admutted that the Brtish were situng pretty and
could get all the co-operauon they requited to end the war, without
makmg any Pﬂhtlcal move, and 1t was this Lmawlf:dge and fear thar
Brtish would use 1t that was causing such frustration and bitterness 1n
Indian polincal curcles

I had a long day at Coimbatore on February 22 full of surprises and
Prublgmg Thg ngrm:mne dld not at alk prepate me fﬂ-]f 21]. that WwWas
comung One does not expect to find a naval guard of honour drawn up for
one on an aerodrome several hundred mules from thesea ThenThad shartly
afterwards to remark on the pomts of the village stud bull, to grasp the
rationing system of a village to see the village dispensary  Immediately
afterwards 1 had to interview the Collectors of § Districts, each much
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larger than an English county, and learn 1n a few nunutes some of the
particular problems of each, to recerve a deputation of plantersrepresentmg
rubber, coffee and tea and n ten mnutes hear the grievances of the three
vﬂdely dlﬂénng interests, to listen to an unpassmned tirade agamnst
Brahmuns by an old bearded gentleman with a rather sketchy knowledge
of English, and to deal wath one or two telegrams Then a quick change
mnto uniform to lunch with the Traming Centse of the Madras Regument
(50 officers and some 60 V C O s to shake hands with and say something
soliteto) On the retum journey visit a village and inspect 2 village temple
—oranges and lemons bemg handed one by the priest, whilea drum andtwo
horns represented the bells of St. Clements—followed by the explanation
of an imgation scheme by a nervous and not very lucid engineer
Then an hour's *rest’, during which P S V produced a box of papers,
after whach the programme called stmply for a drive through Cormbatore
Actually this mvelved dnving through all the streets of the town lined
apparently by the whole population of C {problem, does one wave one's
hat or one’s hand or nothing to a large stohid crowd lmng streets to Jook
at one?) We stopped at a ranoning centre where the rattonmg scheme was
explained at some length, at the Town Counal where 32 Councillors
wete presented, a garland hung round my neck and 2 speech of welcome
made, at an Agncultural College where the Principal would gladly have
talked agniculmure for hours, and then, suddenly, at a Refugee Settlement,
of refugees from Malta, Burma and other portons of the Batish Empre,
where one had 2 most loyal reception, and had to mspect Boy Scouts,
a canteen, a living quarter etc and to histen to another speech of welcome
Back to the Collector’s bungalow just in tume for a small party i which
one had to talk or listen to more planters, another rabid anti-Brahnun, an
ultra-loyahst Indian, a mill-owner, etc. Who says that the Viceroy doesn’t
earn hus salacy?
So on to Nagpur and CP on Feb 25 Much the usual programme
CP seems an attractive Province and getting on all nght Twynam has
produced an apprecation of the political situation, which he handed m
Just as we left. It suggests leaving Congress to stew 1n their own jusce and
backing the Muslim League and Rajgopalacharar Hardly practical
polittcs, I think.

The wsual franuc effort since to catch up on papers, hampered by a
number of mretviews and a luncheon party and necessity to deal wath
food suuation Whale [ was on tour HM G agan refused to send any

tmports of food and after discussion with Hutchings, Cen-C, and
Mountbatten I sent off yet another telegram.
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Birla ! the mullionawre supporter of Congress, came to sec me this morning
We had quite an interestng talk on mdustrial and agrnicultural develop-
ment of India. He recommended a Member of Council for Development
(did he see himself s that role?} He ouly touched on poliucs at the end
and admutted the nustakes of Congress but sud the problem was mamly
psychologreal and that my predecessor wath all hus qualities had lacked the
personal touch

Archue John was flown in, having been laid up with tick typhus, not
looking well but wall soon recover, I hope

March ¢

The tide of paper steadily rose against me on 8th, on evening of whach we
had Jong Council of 24 hours mamly on the veved matter of the micrease
of rallway fares Counal always dishiked 1t, knowing it would be un-
popular and having had an adverse vote in the Assembly are now all for
dropping 1t

Afarch 10

On March 3 I sent another telegram home emphasising my urgent need
of 1mports and recording offer by C-n-C and M B to give up part of
their imports of mulitary stores i favour of food I said that as this was not
nearly encugh I proposed to ask M B to get Amenicans to do the same

This drew two mmmedate telegrams from S of S and PM that on no
account was I to approach Amencans until War Cabinet had further
considered matter

Afarch 11

H M G’s only reaction so far to my last telegram about food imports
15 2 proposal that I should expors 25 000 tons of rice per month to Ceylon
m return for 3 simlar quantity of wheat and flour several months later

I sent back a quick and stuffy one Ireally think they are erazy at White-
hall or else they never trouble to read one’s telegrams

March 16

Back from a short visit to Sind, two days at Karachi a day and a halfin
Upper Sind The wsnal sort of programme  There was hardly halfan hour
that was not occupied Interviews I find trymg—to see 2 succession of

1 (3 D Burla a highly successful finanaer and industriabist who contributed liberally to
Congress funds and m mterviews with successive Viceroys often conveyed to them the
Congress thinking o vanous matters
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people for ten minutes cach and to try and ger any real nformation ou of
them or to raise thewr morale 1s not the sort of thing for which a rather
slow-w orking bram hike mine 1s adapted

Generally speaking, Sind prospers It 15 an agniculrural country, withno
food problem, 2nd the only anxicry of the Zermindars 1s that their opposite
numbers in the Punyab may be making more moncey stll out of the hugh
prices of gran, since the Sind Governor has managed to keep prices down
to 2 reasonable level Though there s 2 Minstry, Dow the Governor
exerauses a very strong personal control He knows Sind and all the ericks
and corruptions of his Minssters—which probably aze no worse than
those of Enghsh polincians 100 years ago

Meanwhile Government has had three defeats in the Assembly on the
budget, and I wonder what sort of heart I shall find my Counail 1n

March 18

Saw both M B, and Henry Pownall! and talked to them of situation on
Burma frontier It shows the respect they have for the Japanese tactics and
fighting that though they hav e something Like twice the Japanese strength
available on the Clun Fulls-Chindwin-Mamipur front and have known
for months that the enemy were about to atrack, they are both feeling
rather apprehensive of the result, and have taken awrcraft off the ferry
route to China to fly mto Mampur another division from Arakan The
17th Division 15 being pulled back from Tiddim area by Japanese action
against their commumcations, although in numbers we must be supertor
How does the Jap do 1t? The umple answer 15 that we have a very ponder-
ous L of C and the Jap has practically none at all, we fight with the 1dea
of ulnmate survaval, the Jap scems to fight wath the 1dea of ulimate death
and contempt for 1t, when he has done as much harm as possible The
flymg 1n of Wingate's two brigades seems to have been a remackable
performance after an iuwal set-back m wiach there were about 150
casualtres from crashed or lost ghders But so far the Jap appears to have
tzken no notice of this force in hs rear, hus independence of communica-
tions 15 remarkable
M B 15 prepared to back me up on food problem and agrees that
Amencans must be told the situatton. offically 1f HHM G wnil not find

AMpOTts
The apprehensions of Moyntbarten and Pownall were well pustified The
Japanese advanced with amazing boldness and skill through wooded and

! Tt -Gen. Sir I“ICI].['_"" Poerall at thit pme l[:]'_'.]ﬂr nf S ra T ard Mook ran
BAary =i SAEvrvsal I ADY
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almost trackliss mountams to the platean of Imphal, and by the end of March
they had cut the road from Imphal to Kohma leading to the rathway at
Dumapur, tere threaterung to break through at Kohnna and to cut the rathway
stself, and had hemmed into a narrow ared around the toun of Imphal the three
Britush-Indar divssons that were orsginally holding thus front and a fourth that
was flown i as a remforcement from Arakan For iy weeks the position v as
eritieal The large British-Indian force at Imphal had to be suppled by arr
which, unth the onset :}f the monsoon became exceedingly difficult But the

enlties, ::g?fr much hard fighting they were held at

Japanese uere also 1 diff
Kohima and they failed to break the resistance at Enphal and to capture the

stores there swuth 1t Inch to support themselves At the end of June casualties
exhaustion, and lack of supplies compelled them to withdraw therr fammshed
Jorces to Burma—a disastrous defeat fgr them, as recorded i the Journal entry

for 14 Augnst

Afarch 19

A comparatively quet Sunday I drafted a reply to the letter sent me by
Mr Gandh, but shall probably not be allowed to send anything so direct
and open [ don't, however se¢ why I should refer home at all Perhaps

[ 2m nnwise to enter mto correspondence with Mr G, but I have not
orovoked it, and I must <end somc answer to his letter, and do not like the

sort of grandmotherly seuff the Home Department produccs Political
India 15 a very tiresome dolescent but the 1O Home Department and

others stll persist 1n treatng 1€ 3 2 naughty child

The nature of this correspondenice with Gandhs 1s explamed on p 73

March 24

I had another food telegram from 11 M G after another Cabinet meeting,
they now offer me 250 000 tons for 1944 and again repeat their suggestion
of exporting 150 00O tons of rice 1 exchange for 150 000 tons of wheat

S of S even makes the suggestion +hat I should announce the import of
400 000 tons wheat and conceal for the tume bemg the export of 150 ooo
thing sO dishonest or stupzd And I shall
not let I M G think they have <olved India’s food problem for 1944 by

250 000 tons when I have told them atl :ﬂﬂﬂg that 1 000 co0 1s the mini-
resign to bring the situation home to them

They refuse t aach the Amencans for shipping
F?rcwellﬂd;rlfzz +he Maxwells in the exenung, he made a witty speech

He will be a considerable Joss to the Council
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March 23

Conference with Caroe! and Gould? on NE frontier Prnhlcn:s#aﬂ
three of us Old Wykehamusts We discussed Gould's visit to Tabet and

possibthty of suffeming up Tibesans to resist any Chinese encroachment,
and also pushing up to McMahon ke on northern fronuer of Assam

March 23

Last day or two comparauvely quuet, usual mterviews and papers, but
I have actually managed to find a httle ume to work on the despatch
I ought to have wntten as C-in-C last year

Gnffiths,* M L A , Who has just returned from U K., where he has been
lectuning and talking about India, spoke to me for some time on the
poliical situation He found, as I did, that there 1s a very general wish at
home to grant India self-government at once but no conception of the
difficulnies, Muslim League case 1 hardly known at home, only Gandht

and the Congress Gnffiths’ main point m this country was the dufficulry of
persuading Indians that we really did mean to give them self-government,

and were honest 1n our professions He said an unequivocal declaration
by the PM nmught convince them.

Rowlands* 1s just off home, sent by Supreme Commander to ratse

questions of crvil supplies for Burma, and Political Warfare 1briefed lum

on food 1mports and mfation, I think he 15 sound on these though the
Food Member seems to doubt 1¢

Firoz Khan Noon came to say poodbye hefore leavings for U K.
I briefed hum as well as I could He expressed some zpprehension that

Khizar rught quit politics now his father was dead, and that he was fight-
myg a losing battle againse Jinnah and the League for control of the Punjab

ovemment,

The Budget was defeated by one vote, the Congress leader of the
Assernbly, {Bhulabha} Desay, turned up to speak after 33 years absence,

a measure of their apprehension, I think, of Congress bemng side tracked.
The C-n-C spoke of the fighting on the Assam border where the Japs
seem to be making headway Large numbers of our troops are bemng

? Sir Olaf Caroe 1C.5, Secretary, External Affairs Dept , 1939-48 Governor North-
West Frontier Provincee, 19467

2 %ir Baul Gould, LC § , Polinaal Officer m Sikkum and for Bhutan and Tibet 1935-45
3 %ir Peraival Grithehs retured from the I C.S 1n 1937, went wnro business in India
became a2 member of the Central Lepislature

* Sir Archibald Rowhlands 2 Home Cinl Servant came out to Todia w 1943 as Adyser
tothe Vieceroy on War Admumstration  He had previously beenm India (1917—9) as Frnanoal

Adviser Military Finance He was Iater Finance Member of the Executive Councyl {194 5-6}
5 Ta be Indur Pepresentataye at the War Cabmer
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concentrated m Assam, mcluding I think 2nd Division, this will throw
a very heavy strain on communications
Was told later i the morming that Wingate was mussing from an air

tnp over Burma [ heard later that he had almost certamnly been killed 1n
an air crash between Imphal and Silchar

March 29

Counctl meeting 1 evening showed, I think, effect on members of
Assembly being mn session Hindu members, led by Srivastava, attacked
food policy of Bengal Government Tam told that tlus may be the effect
of lobbyimmg by Hindu members of the Legislature from Bengal some of
whom would go to any lengths, even nisk of another fanune, to defeat
present Muslim League Government in Bengal

Meanwhile Jinnah's pressure on the Punjab has obviously shaken
Khizar, and I gather that Juutah regards me as an encmy of the Muslin
League and 1s determined to be as much of a nwsance as he ean He does
not really represent solid steady Moslem opmion (in fact J hamself s
hardly a Mushim) but he can sway opmion, and no one seems to have the
character to oppose im

Khizar Hyat, like Ins predecessor, Str Sikander Hyat-Khan, and many
Mushms of the Untonist Party—a provinaal party, representing agricultural
tterests, with Auslon and Hindu members—was at heart opposed to the
demand for Pakistan, and he was unwilling to accept Jinnal's directves n
regard to the conduct of the Punjab Government Jimnah clamed that as the
Muslims, who constituted the magonty of the Untomist Party, were also
members of the Muslm League, the Punjab Government was a ‘League
Government and subject to his control as President of the League Khizar
retorted that his Government u as a coalition government with Hindu and Sikh
members, and not a League Government Khizar, 1:1th many muisgimgs,
resisted Jinnal's attempts fo dictate (o hun and was dismussed from the League
w1 the middle of 1944 The Muslm members of the Unionust Party were then
forced to choose between loyalty to Khuzar and the Unsomist Party and loyalty

to Jinnah and the League

March 30
Assembly 1s discussing Baluchistan today, anxious to give it modern
democratic goverrmrere mstead ol i preserre oid wond feod! e Foor
Baluchistan I suppose 1t will have to “passer par la comme les autres’
some day but 1t will not be yer The Government proposal T gather 1s
to have one nomnated member from Baluchistan in the Council of State,
D 100 F
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the trouble 1s to find one who can speak and understand Enghish, but at 1s
ureed that this dacs not really matter!

Dickie Mountbatten came to dinner and was n very good form, vital
and amusme M B asked me what I thought about is fiying mto Burma
to see the Wmngate columns 1 sad I was all for Commanders getung as
far forward as possible, but he had no business to take serrous nisks unless
there was really somethmg to be gained—discussion of a change of plan,
estimate on the spot of the state of morale or possibilinies of an operation

Ialso remunded fum that if anything happened to lum, Joe Stibwell* would

be left 1n command

March 31

Debate i Council on the vexed questton of merease 1n radways fares

Fmance Member proposed 1239, nstead of 25%, We had bare majonty
m Counal for this, but majonty of Indian members were obviously
agamst it and to the diseust of the Finance Member [ sud we would drop
the proposal. Firoz Khan Noon sent me a note directly afterwards “The
Perstans have a proverb “the bow that can bend shoots the arrow a long
way” ¥ E has shot a long arrow toraght’. 1 think T was wrong really mn
letting the onginal proposal go through

Apnil 13

Returned yesterday from twelve days m Bihar and Bengal These tours
are interesting but Governors are mechned to fit m rather too much It 1s
the number of 10-mmute mterviews to 2 succession of persons whach 1s
killing Some of them are just ‘courresy’ visits by local notables, but some
are officials or non-officials who mght have a tale to tell if one could
establish real contact, which 15 beyond me 1n a short time I may with
expenenice acquire the knack, or I may manage to alter the system

I had a Council Meeting immediately on return and re-assured Members

on the Bengal situation, or at least persuaded them that mterference by the
Centre would not help

Apnl 14]15

Out nding at 7 am this morung the dhak tree (lame of the forest) was
in full bloom n the jungle on the Ridge and the green parrots were n full
bloom on the dhak trees for which they seem to have a great taste It was
a beautiful sight, but betokens the comung of the hot weather

 Hebad been zppowmted Depury Supreme Commznder, South-East Aoz m August 1043
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Heard 1 the evening of an explosion in Bombay Dock, which sounds
a very bad show but have no detals yet !

Mountbatten came to dinner I don't gather from him or from Henry
Pownall whom T saw this morning that the Assam battle 1s really goung
very well—at least the mtative stdl seems very defimtely wath the Japs,
and M B thinks that at best 1t will take them § or 6 weeks to clear the
Japanese out

He told the story of the visit of the Maharaja of Benares to Rampur.
The Maharaja 1s an ultra-orthodox Hindu and concerves 1t necessary for
his spintual health that a cow shonld be the first object he sces every
morning At Rampur the guest rooms are on an upper-foor, but Rampur
got a crane from a sugar factory and ngged up a pltform on whch
a rather astomshed cow was clevated every moming to His Highness'
bedroom window.

Mountbatten was attractive as usual but he 1s having a hard passage,
what wath the Japs, the P.M and the Americans, and has lost that first fine
careless confidence that caused my predecessor to all ham the Boy
Champion

Fire at Bombay has put two docks out of action, lost us 2 number of

ships and 50,000 tons of food, a bad business but a litle hetter than it
looked at onc tme

April 16

I got momentanly up-to-date with my work and had time to write a few
letters Even Jenkmns ran out of papers and took an afecernoon off He sent
me a formal little note ‘If Your Excellency approves, I wall take the
afternoon off” I wrote on 1t the informal and undignified comment
‘Hooray, hooray, when the cat’s away the mice will play’, and went off
to the golf hnks

Iwrote a Jetter to H M the Xing, and drafted one to Amery on relations
with the Princes

April 17
We started a sesston of the National Defence Council but 1t only lasted
about § hour because Benthall who should have dealt with two subjects
wae stall an Bombey—and Jexave Das Mehea wos absene Larer she Food
¢ Fire had broken out on a shup lymg in Bombay docks leaded wath cotton, tumber, and

ammurution and caused an explosion m which 500 people were killed, 2 noo mjured and
large amounts of shippmg food, and stores destroyed
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Member came to sce me, rather depressed He had been badly heckled at
Bombay over food imports, and was even more worried by attacks on
him from the Bengal Mushm side, evidently due, as he satd, to a2 leakage
about what had been sad m Council on March 20 I tried to comfort hum,
thus leakage from Counetl s disturbing but 1s no new thing Jenkans heard
from India Office that Rowlands failed to make any impression on the
Committee on feod 1mports

Mookerjee, a Calcutta business man and member of the Nanonal
Defence Council held forth to me at lunch on the behaviour of American

troops in Caleutta, and smplied almost that India was begtnming to regard
the Bntish as comparatively crvihised

April 18

National Defence Councl went along well The Food Department
actually had quute a lot of bouquets thrown at1t, 1n contrast to the heckhing
of the last meeting The only grouses were about black market prices,
mainly by Kunzru, but st was apparent that the real rrouble 1s that so many

of the public wall pay blackmarket prices if they want something and not
take zctron to report the offender

Apnl 19

National Defence Council ended very quetly—rather a dull session, and
absence of Jamna Das Mchta probably meant 2 or 3 hours less ralk
Member for Sind, being furthest from any operations, was most bellicose

and talked of the high morale i Stnd and 1t desire to supply recruits—
1t has supphied less than any other Province

Apnl 20

A busy day In the mormung sat to Stmon Flwes again, and then a large
number of Interviews, ending with Sir Ardeshir Dalall of Tatas, one of the
authors of the 10,000 crore scheme,? which had been debated that after-
noon with members of the Government, the discussion seemed to have
been satssfactory I offered hum the post of Member of Council for Re-
construction He said he must ask Tatas and Dellu did not swug hus health,
Finally a Council meeting, only about half numbers 2nd quick decisions

¢ Afrer 3 duungushed career n the Indian Civil Service Sir Ardeshur Dalal became 2
Director of Tatas

2 Known as the Bombay Plan®, an ambinous outhpe plan for economic development
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A Sikh landowrer, Sic Datac Singh,? was rather grudmngly allowed by
my staff to scc me this morming, wath the mtimauon that he didn't
amount to much 1 found lum most mteresting on the subject of cattle-
breeding, much above the usual run of my ‘courtesy’ visitors, intelligent
and talked clearly and well Young Tata came to lunch When I met him
down at Bombay [ found lum rather a supercihious and tiresome young
man, but pot on with hum mther better today Sir Ardeshur Dalal had
spoken to Jum about the offer I made him yesterday T think Tata was
pleased that the offer had been made but was doubtful whether the firm
could spare htm Snvastava, whom I told about my intention to have
a Development Member last might, 15 obviously rather upset, he has been
Vice-President of the Reconstruction Commuttee of Councal up till now,
and thmks it a reflection on lum He 15 very sensttive to cniticismn. Both [
and P SV have explumed to hum no reflection on hum 1s mtended but
that Reconstruction has become a full tme job

Apnl 25

Returned from a short tip to Bombay to see damage to docks and go
down area caused by recent explosion and fire On the whole Bombay has
come well out of 1t Damage may amount to £ 50,000,000 or more, we
have lost about 70,000 tons of shipping, 40,000 tons of food and a great
guantity of valuable stores But 1t mught have been very much worse If
posttion had not been taken 1n hand effictently, and if wind had not been
favourable, we mught have lost the prinapal dock, Alexandra Dock, or
the ol tanks mught have caught fire or a large part of the aty nught have
beenn burnt Morale 15 good, and Bombay 1s fecling rather proud of 1tself
Civil and malitary worked 1n well together Fire brigade and AR P did
well, and all Services co-operated whole-heartedly Relef of homeless and
sufferers was well organused, and Bombay rather feels that 1t can *take 1t’
All the authonties ate however concernted on che question of who wall
pay for the damage, there 1s no doubt that safety precautions were broken
for war reasons, and that explosives ought not to have been unloaded
where they were The liabibty of the Insurance Compantes and therr
capacity to pay 1s doubtful We got the prinaiple of an Enqury, wath the
Chief Justice of Bombay as President, provisionally agrecd, and can
probably announce this almost at once

} He established z reputation as an guthority oo cartle-breeding and later both before and
after Independence, held vanous posts m the Munustry of Agnculture
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Got back late in evenmg to find 2 message from Govemnor Punjab to
say that Kluzar had decidid to stand up to Jinnah, and asking leave to
disrmiss Shaukat from the Minastry Shaukat 1s Sikander’s (the late Prermer)

son, and has been a great disappomntment *' 1 told Governor I approved
the disrrssal and wounld support um

April 26

Rowlands came m the afternoon, he had not made much impression 1
London on the Cabmet Commuttee on Indiz food gramns—lictle wonder
when he told me the composition that old menace, the Professor (Cher-
well), Leathers, an interested party, only concerned to hang on to hus
shipping, P ] Gngg, who 1s always muscluer ous about Inda, and Llew el-
lyn, the Food Minuster, who knows nothmg of India and 1s concerned to
preserve his food supplics at home Atutude sumply 1s that there 1s no
shupping and Amenicans can't be asked to supply sotne 1 case they do so
but deduct 1t from allotment for UK Gngg and Cherwell said the
remedy was to lock up all gram merchants Chaefs of Staff are sympathetzc
but can not move War Cabmet. The conclusions arnived at by the
Commuttee on Apnl 6, after heaning Rowlands, were that the courses opent
were (2) to supply the shippmg, (b) to ask the Amenicans for it (c) to rell
the Viceroy to supply the Army’s needs and let the Induan people starve of
necessary, and that the War Cabmet must dearde I wonder what has
happened since then 1thnk they would 2dopt course {¢} 1f they had any

teal hope that the Viceroy would consent to carry 1t out I expect the
P M 1s regretung that he ever appotnted me

The Caseys arnived, he looks better

Apnl 27

Another longish day 1n office An hour with Snvastava, who was very
worried about personal cnticism of himself, especially 1n Bmyi [ don't
thank he and Casey had had a very successful interview He was also upset
by my deasion to appomnt a Reconstruction Member, and thought 1t
implied falure of humself T got hum to talk of his previous career and
achievements in stience business, and polinics, and 1 think thes cheered
him up He dishkes democracy and Congress, and adjured me to get id of
thus headeounting busmess as quite unsuntable for India So 15 Bur will
authonty ever really have the courage to say so? I hke Snivastava, he has

soine character and courage and mdependence, though I think hus busmess
1s always at the top of s muind

T He dud not stand by Khazat an bus stroggle warh Jinnah bat sided wath the Latter
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Apnil 28

Woke up feeling rather theumatic, and then had a fall off my horse on to
my bacl, so have been rather suff and lame all day Sat to Siumon Elwes,
who 15 making a good picture, I think, but rather deliberatcly Then a
very long day in the office Jogendra Singh came in the morming and gave
most of his favourite hares a run  He finally suggested, as he left, that the
Viceroy should see more of his Council informally and discuss general
questions with them, I think this was complimentary and meant to
mndicate that they constder me sympathetic and liberal and that my views
carry some weight I must think 1t over Bombay reported some concern
about the health of Gandht whose blood pressure has suddenly dropped,

and I found a hittle to my surpnse that we have no real policy for action
if the old man gets dangerously 11l or should hand m his checks

Aprid 30
Abell came 1in with a telegram in the evening, giving the text of a very
good letter from P M to President asking for help for India in shipping
for imports of wheat It ought to ning the bell He has put India’s nieeds at
1,000,000 tons This represents a considerable success for my persistency
I had 1n the mormung sent off a letter to the P M on the general state of
India, the first I have written to hun

May 1

A long day in the office Mohammed Usman as usual had nothing to say
about hus Department, but dehvered himself of political views that even
a hardened Tory mught regard as reactionary— God never meant India
to be mdependent’ and so forth. Next visitor was Mr Pothan Joseph
(which sounds slightly remuniscent of Egypt m the bad ofd Bibheal days),
the editor of Dawn a cheerful ruffizn He has mamnly worked for Congress
papers 1s now Muslim League and s actually by religton 2 Christian He
cross-examned me on the difference between awvil and mulitary responst~
bihty, and I said there wasn’t much difference but that the civilan,
politician or statesman, was always on active service and the soldier only
occastonally Idon’t think he understood what I meant ‘Then the Finance
Member who 1s off home shortly Finally a conference on the Bombay
enquiry, but as evervhody had agreed beforehand 1t did not take long

May 8
I got back yesterday from a short tour to Sikkim A long days travel on
May 2, left Delhi 6 2 m, landed Hassimara about noon and then had to
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cross a niver by elephants, 2 flood having taken the bridge Then a long
motor dnive to Gangtok where we armved at 9 pm

The only offical ceremony lad on durng my stay was 2 vistt to the
gurls school bemng bl in memory of the Maharaja's eldest son who was
Lalled wiile serving 1n the T A F. The programme called for a simple visie
to the school, but I found that Gangtok had lud iself out to produce some

ceremony I was met by 2 guard of warnors m old Bhutanese costumse,
fray cn]gured sﬂks, WO sy ﬂrds Aprece, Ehlﬂds nfrhmnctrﬂs hldf.‘, Uld Etﬂ'ﬂ'l
helmets of roundhead patrern, 2 band and dancer 1o icad thems Then a
monastery band greeted me, with monks in silk robes, long 12-foot horns,
chanters, conches and other strange mstruments, and a display of banners
carrying prayers prnted on them There was also the Maharaja's retnue
1n the preturesque Lepcha costume, and another band, and then a moderm
police guard, and a parade of boy-scouts, and the school-girls stnging
The actual mspection of the school did not take long as 1t 1s only halt-buit,
and then we sat under a dragon-embroidered shamianah and drank tea
and watched a Lepcha dance (treading out the hanvest) and a Tibetan
dance {slow and solemn) and a Nepalese dance (rather nbald} A pictur-
esque and fnendly performance
On the morning of May 4 Gandhi mterrupted the pezce George Abell
brought me a tclegram at 2 30 am to say that the doctors {Roy and the
Bombay surgeon-general Candy} thought very poorly of his health and
that he mught die at any moment Bombay Govemment, Home Depart-
mcnt and most of the Govemors recommended 1mmediate release and
P SV wanted my approval to a telegram to S of § to say that we proposed
to release hum 24 hours later Personally, I could not see that we ganed
much credit by releasing hum at the point of death, and 1f he was not at
the pomnt of death there was no need of such hurry 1dad not entarely trust
the medical opiuons However, 1t was dafhicult to disregard thent, and
Thormne’s opinson was very strongly in favour of relcase And Jenkins was
not tkely to make a pame proposal, and said that doctors views mndicated
that G would not be a factor m active politics again On the other hand,
I should have hked to consult my Counal and should certainly have done
so had I been 1n Delhu. I talked 1t over wnth Abell for about an hour before
cabling consent
Ilef: Gangtok on May 6th and few to Sylhet in Assam 1 spent the mght

at Sylhet and viswed H.Q  31d Indian Division—the headquarters of what
were Wingate's rading columms, now Lentugne’s T Lentugne 1s good

* My Gen Lentugme  sncceeded Wingate i command of the ‘Chundits and afer
Independence became Commandant of the Indian Seaff College
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[think, motc orthodox and less lughly strung than Wingate, who possibly
was killed at the nght monent both for his own fime and the safety of
the division But he was 2 remarkable man and T am glad that T was
responsible for giving him hus chanee and encouraging him My dealings
with hum, i three campaigns, were almost entirely officral and I never
knew him well enough as a man to like or dislike hum

I had hoped to sec Archie John but he had flown mto Burma a weck
before Tired of waiting for vacancy n the Black Watch he had taken one
m the South Staffords. I beheve the column he has jomed 1s likely to be
Hown out soon, but I expect Archic John will try to stay on with his own
repiment or some other colunin I hope hus health wall stand 1t T saw
Bemnard Fergusson, complete wath bushy beard whose brigade had just
been flown out He was well, but a httle upset by hus faglure to win has
first preched battle, at Indaw agamst the Jap airficld He had had a hard
ttme marching down from Ledo through the jungle, sad 1t was surely the
only recorded mstance of a brigade marching 250 mules i single file

We had a long fly back, nearly 7 hours, as we were in a slow machine,
and did not reach Delhs ti] nearly 7 45 pm

ﬂfﬂf 12

May 10 was long day m office and May 11 much longer, work seemed to
be accumulating all the tme At Counctlon May 10 some of my colleagues
were rather upset that [ had not consulted them over Gandhu's release
they all agreed that it was the nght thing to do but resented that the credit
of the release should all be given m the Press to the Viceroy and not to the
G of I, they had had the odium of putting him 1n pnison but no kudos for
releasing hum, Fortunately I had taken the mnative by explaming to them
what had happened before they raised the pont [ think they were fairly
happy in the end Amery unfortunately had saxd that he left the decision
to Lord Wavell” mstead of ‘to the Government of Indm’
Reports on Gandht's health seem to show that he s really illand PS V
seems to think that his memory and headpiece may be affected
Had long talk with Bemard about lus Operations 1n Burma He had
obviously been considerably tired and strained by this second expedinon
mto Burma and said he had not reahised how much the first expedition had
taken out of him He said no one over 40 stood up to 1t [1magme Bemard
does not spare humself, but the physical effort of carrying at least 50 Ibs
contriuously m heat and jungle must be great I hope Archie John will
stand up to 1t
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May 17
I asked Dr Khare yesterday what he thought of Gandht’s health and his
view was he was duping us, or the doctors were, and that he would
recover My own bet 15 that the old man 1s sull pretty 1ll Coal labour i
sull causing much tronble, odd that the amount of coal we can get vanes
mversely with the goodness of the rice Last one was a bumper crop, so the
muners left the mines to cultivate thewr fields

May 23
Matnly visitors and interviews and one short Counal George Giffard
came to see me on May 2oth He has fallen out with MB who 1s going to
replace hum 1am very sorry, George 1s a good sotdier He says the baule
1s gomg well but slowly

Thome, Home Member, was very strongly aganst Gandhy's request to
see Governor of Bombay being granted We also discussed the publhication
of Gandhr’s correspondence, and agreed that 1if we took the 1mnattve m
publication we should give G due warming of our intention.

May 29{31
Got back today from a shert holiday at Naint Tal wath the Halletts to
which I had heen much looking forward

We have at last got out the settlement for the Bombay drsaster, after
some prolonged negotianons with the Insurance companies It has taken
just a month, since [ came back from Bombay

Had a telegram from P M to acknowledge my letter of Apnl 29 It was
irendly and complimentary but fimshed up wath a diambe against

Gandhy, he 15 obviously disturbed by the 1dea that I may start negonating
with hum.

May 31

For the first nme since 1 became Viceroy I was almost short of work thus
mormng but ths afternoon a long telegram from Casey about hus Minustry
which he fears may collapse over the Educanon Ball, Fis Chief Manster
has not the energy or courage to force a difficult matter through and the
Speaker of the Assembly secems defimtely to have stded wath the Oppost-

tion Bengal politics are bitter and dury It looks as 1f Casey may be forced
wto the Section 93 regume which I recommended six months 2go

June 12

I don't feel aftogether happy about the Assam and North Burma opera-
ttons There 15 not much progress betng made anywhere, especally in the
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vital task of reopenung the Kohima-Imphal road Meanwlhule the supply
by atr to Imphal and to the 3rd Division columns i North Burma 1s

causing anxiety
Inside Burma our rading columns seem to be getting into difficultes

I hope Archic John 15 all nght

June 4
The President has turned down flat the P M s request for shapping for
food for India so [ sent home yct another telegram This 1s disappomnting,
after waiting 5 or 6 wecks for a reply I'had eathered from a letter [ had
from Jack Dill that the request was likely to be favourably considered

June 7
Work has been much less the last few days and there has not been much
of mnterest Sir Ardeshir Dalal! came to sec me yesterday he has very firm
‘deas of what he wants and I can foresce some rows ahead with Council

Members some of whose work and staff he will want to appropnate
How ever, I must back him even if 1t means trouble but I warned him not
to go too fast He seemed sensible about the political situation and India’s

needs He sud the Bombay damage settlement had been very well
recerved He thinks Gandhu still a sick man Hydan? talked about the
politzcal situation he said no progress was possible nll both Gandh and

Jinnah were underground first trme I have heard an Induan say so but [

expect a good many of the sensible ones thank 1t
A short Counal meeting today with few members The Gandlu corre-

spondence did not cause much dscussion We deaded the best tactics
would be to publish the whole of the political correspondence 1if G wished

to publish any of 1t

Gandht i a long argumentafive Lotier had shown that he still stood by the
Quut Indha resolution Wavell i a contteots reply sard that whle he absolved

the Congress of any deliberate wish to aid the Japanese, he felt that they must
have been aware that the Qust India’ resolution would hamper the prosecution

of the war and that n his view the greatest contribution that Congress could
now make towards Indias welfare was fo abandon the polcy of non-
co-operation In the course of some urther correspondence IWavell said that
if on reflection Gandii Lad some ntore construciive policy to offer he would

gladly consider 1t

* He had accepted the post of Me

20 Apnl (see p 66
3 Elv:;r A{khaf H;.fd}:.-n [CS Secretary Industnes and Civil Supphes 1943 5 Member of

the Executive Councill 1945—6 Governor of Assam I947-0

mber of Councl for Development offered to um on
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June 10

Came up to Simlz yesterday It 1s always a wearisome drive up from
Kalka, and the twists do not st Her Ex.! I had a talk with Glancy thus
morning, he scemed a bit harassed, he had a very difficult ttme putting
enough backbone mto Khzar and s Minsters to stand up to Jmnah

Although Jinnah 1s a most vnorthodox Moslem (to say the least of 1t} he
seems to be able to wave the banner of religion and frighten them all to
heel with it We shall have more trouble wath J and lus private army, the
Moslem Nanonal Guards I went round some of the houses being used
ont the Viceregal Fstate for a soldiers’ leave camp A very mice lot of men
anud they seem happy and appreclative

junf iz

Had 2 telegram this moming to say that Archie John was seniously
womnded, no detarls His column was last reported south of Mogaung
I am afrard that there 1s no air stp avalable and that evacuation may be
very difficult 1am not even sure whether they have a doctor with those
forward columns

Went to dine with Glancys at Bames Court On return had more

optimustic news which showed they were hopeful of getung A ] out by
plane at early date

June 13

News this moming that A J has lost a hand, but 15 not considered 1o be
danger We will go down to Delhz today and fly to Assam tomorrow to
whetever he 1s

Had a long talk with Khizar, the Punjab Prenuer, and tned 1o hearten
him up for his confliet wath Jinnah He is very apprehensive of two things,
Jmnah’s pnivate army and the maulvis? which he says | 15 bnnging 1n
from outside to preach and str up communal feeling

Left Sumla about 1 p mand teached Delhuaboat 6 p m. Decrded to geton
eatly next moming to Dinjan to which Archie John may be flown out

June 19

Retumed tlus everung from expedinon to N E Assam to collect Archue
John We stayed with Gregory, a tea-planter, a muce person who treated
Viceroys as human beings, and there was no ceremony of any kind, a

' Lord Wavell referred to Lady Wavell 1 ks Journal as Her Fx more m fun than m
TRy it atver wrtae Yot BEretlencey

* "Leatned men , an hononfic title applied to those believed to be learned m rel gion and
Muhanunadan law
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welcome change. It rained almost the whole time, and we had some
trytng rather monotonous days of waiting A ] was not flown out till
17th, partly owing to weather, mamly owing to his own refusal to be
evacuated till all cases he considered more sertous had gone In spite of an
amputated left hand and shightly damaged night hand, he seems to have
kept on hus legs and carnied on helping 1n the adnunistrative wotk, He 1s
in remarkably good shape and heart, considenng hus injury
I only got a very hnuted amount of work from Delly, from a letter
from the § of §, I gather they have definstely refused shipping for food
imports, and will make fatous suggestions that we reduce the Indmn
Army (as if that would help) or import food 1nstead of military stores
But the offic1al telegram from the War Cabinet has not yet armved, and
from a private telegram it looks as if the Chiefs of Staff had seen the
absurdity of the War Cabimnet proposals, and were considering means to
tind the shipping Meanwhile these discussions have been gomg on for six
months, with deliberate obstruction on the part of certamn members of the
Government Casey 1s still in trouble over Bengal politics and recogruses
the possibility that he may have to go mto Section g3 Gandhihas published
his correspondence with me, or rather he gave the Press typed copies and
they insisted on publishing 1t So we are publshing the whole of the
Gandhi correspondence I don’t think it wall do us any harm or G any
good 1t scems to me to show hum as verbose, petty-nunded, and qute
devord of any constructive statesmanship, bent only on his own self-
justification

June 21
Two farrly quiet days I had a letter from Mr Gandhi asking to see the
Working Commuttee and to see me I am replymng that as our recent
correspondence has shown radically different pomts of view, I'see no value
n our meetimg or m fus meetmg the Working Comumuttee, unti he has
something more constructive than Quut India to propose

June 23
Two quet days So many reports have reached me that a member of my

Council 15 disclosing financial mformation gamed i Counal to his friends
for busttiess purposes that I thought 1t better to warn hum when saw hum
yesterday that hus name was being connected with disclosures He took 1t
quetly, sard 1t was a great surprise, but did not protest lus innocence with
any vehemence

1 Thus had been considered before See entry for 10 March, p 9
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The Indza Office or the F O or both are being maddeningly slow over
decldmg on gwving Bajpat, India’s representatrve 1t U S A, ministenal
status, w hich I thought was pracucally decrded more than six months ago,
and are also bemng pedantic about allowing our representative it China
the appellation of ‘Honourable Mr’

Simon Elwes asked for a final sitting * as he was unhappy about my
hands He got them to hus liking at last He has put a thundercloud behind
my head, I asked whether 1t was symbolical He said partly techntcal to
put the left side of my face in shadow and partly symbolical of the storms
that might burst over my Viceroyalty They surely wall

June 24

I wired two days ago 10 S of S 1o say that I must really have a decision
about food imports and that I must send a personal wire to PM 1f no
decision was yet reached From reply today 1t 1s evident that they are still
fiddling and procrastmating, so I sent the P M a personal appeal, drafted
by Jenkins but pepped up by myself

[ had 2 talk with George Giffard about the Assam war Jap ressstance
on the Imphal road collapsed quckly i the end and they got 1t open
quicher than expected It has been bloody fighting on the E Frontier Qur
casualties m some six months 1 Arakan and Assam approach 2§ 000,
while the Jap losses are estmated at 30000 to 35 000, with a very high
proportion of killed

George 1s feeling very sore at the American attitude of constant eriticism
and demgration of the Butsh effort We agreed that no other nation
would take so calmly and good humouredly the American msults 2nd
ity on co-operating with them on friendly terms, and that we were
% VeIy great mation greater than the American, and would remaim so

June 26

I have won another round over food withHMG A telegram yesterday
promsed to ship another 200 000 tons 1 the next 3 months and to re-
consider our further needs 1n Aungust and then agam m November Thas
tclegram crossed my telegram to the P M , Which Tndia Office suggested

need not now be delivered T wired back that 1t should be and that I did
not consider the situation satisfactory yer §

' The portrait now hangs Rashtrapat: Bhavan (formerly the V Honzse) in Delh
together with the portrans of other Viceroys (formerly ey }
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Carton de Wiart! came and spent a mght, mamly, 1 beheve, to tell my
son how well he had managed without a hand He 15 a charnung person

Jrne 29

A lot of wvisttors the last few days Henry Pownall came from home,
Mountbatten and some of bis staff from Ceylon, and Casey from Calcutta,
the larter to discuss the political situation After six months expenience of
Bengal polines and admunistration, he 1s burning to take over the Province
under Section 93 It 15 a cunious reversal of form Six months ago 1 advo-
cated a Section 93 Government for Bengal and was turmed down by
HM G, I think largely because Casey, who was then at home, wanted to
have a chance of making a success of Minsterial Government When
Cascy armnved i India about the muddle of January and I saw hum in
Lucknow, I painted hum rather a gloomy but [ think realstic picture of
Bengal affawrs, but he was full of hope Nosw he 1s aghast at the virulence
and corruption of Bengal politics and the mefficiency of the admuniseration,
and wants to nm the Province under Section 93 Six months ago, when
famme and disease were raging in Bengal, we should have had, I think,
almost the whole of public opinion behind us in taking over the Provinee.
Now we should be cincised from every quarter I don'’t worry much
about public opion, but we shall never get on m India 1f we take over
from Indians every time they get into trouble Six months ago the lives
of many hundred thousands of Indians were at stake, and in the hope of
saving them I was prepared to neglect or overnde constitutional forms
But today there 15 no immediate prospect of famune 1n Bengal, and 1 am
trymg to get Indians to leam to ride the horse before we hand him over
We agreed that Casey should keep hus present Mumistry in office of possible,
that no alternattve Minstry was posstble, and that I would prepare the
ground 1n London for the possibility of Section 93 What a nice fellow
Casey 1s 2nd a very good and keen admunustrator

June 30
A lot of files but hothing much 1n them. The Nationalist papers are making
a great play over my refusal to see Gandhi, and the News Chromele
correspondent Gelder, 1s trymng to advertise lumself by seeking an inter-
s wask e ro persiede e tosee Gandhe Trchused rosee bum Now hove
I any intention of seeing Gandht unless he shows some unnmustakable sign
of a great change of heart, which seems unltkely

t Lt -Gen Sir Adman Carton de Waart, V C, special military representative wath
General Chuang Kashek 19436
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July 1
A quet day Since Gandhe was employing his usual techmaque of putting
out such portions of correspondence as suted hum, I gave orders for the
publication of our recent exchange of letters?
It has been very hot indeed the last few days and the monsoon seems
late and hight so far, 1 hope 1t 1s not gomg to fal us

July 4

A comparatively quict trme recently Thome tells me our assuc of the
Gandh cotrespondence has become a best-seller, and that a further edition
1s bemg called for Congress supporters are obviously very annojed that
their plan of publishing such portions of the correspondence as suired them
has been upset by our prompt publication of the whole They were doing
the same with the last two letters, and the Hindustan Standard had an
angry leader today because I had publshed them mn full.

July 5

Isent P S V anote yesterday on preparations for the possibility of the war
ending within a year 1think we must have a plan polittcal and otherwise,
1 case there 15 a sudden collapse of our enemues After all, no one mn July
1918 believed for a moment that the war would be over i1n November

At the moment we seem somewhat stuck 1n Normandy and [ fancy the
flymg bombs are being rather more of a menace than we have admutted

However, the Rusnans seem to be sweeping on fast

Winston sent me a peevish telegram to ask why Gandh hadn’t died yet!
He has never answered my telegram about food

July 11
The cortespondence beteeen Jionah and Rapgopalachanar publiched

yesterday 15 cuntous so are the vanious mterpretations put on 1t by the
Press and the vanous pohtical parnies Jinnah 1s 2 mass of vamty and no

¢ Scc entry for 21 Juhe, p 75
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statesman, but he 1 much too wary to accept the rather vague proposals
put fornard by R wathout more definttion It 15 not quite clear how far
Gandh: hisselt 1s comnutted to these proposals, but the Hindustan Times
scems to constder they have hus full approval We are undoubtedly in for
a petiod of polttical manoeuvning which may lead to trouble I wonder if
we shall ever have anmy chance of a solunon ull the three intransipent,

obstinate, uncompromusing prinapals are out of the way Gandh (just on
75), Jinnah (68}, Winston {nearmg 70)

Rajagopalachars put fornard a “formula® which, he sad, Gandlu was
prepared to secommend to Congress, sf Jinnah would aceept st Under thue
Jormula ‘contignous distniets' 1 the North-West and East of India i which
Musliuns swere 1 en absolute mayorty were to be demarcated and these would
constrtute Pakistan  Arrengements sere to be made by mmtual agreement
between Palustan and the sest of India to safeguard defence and commerce, and
commumecations, and for other essential purposes Jinnah rephed that he could
rot accept the ‘formula’ on bis own sesponsibilisy and st onld have to refer st to
the Muslm League, w hich he would be ready to do, 1f Gandlu wonld deal with
funs direct Later he arranged to meet Gandhy but be denounced the formula as
offering only a maimed, mutilated, moth-eaten Pakistant It u as the Pakistan
which 1 the end he had to accept

Old Jogendra Smgh came tn yesterday in tremendous form, full of
grantude to me for backing his agrculturl schemes and saying st had
given him a new lease of ife He's a nice old boy, though woolly-pated

1 read the proceedings of the Dommuon Premiers conference m May
You would hardly know from them that India exasted or had any 1m-
portance at all Iraq and Persia recerved more metizon Curtous that
nexther Australian nor South African Premiers seem to take any interest
11 a country whose future must greatly influence their own problems

July 14
Came up to Sumla yesterday for a fortmght, unless Mr Gandhu should
necessitate my return He 1s putung forth a sentes of statements to the
Press and seems determmned to raise a poliical turmon] if he can

July 17
A farly quet ume up here so far On Saturday (15th) I saw Sir Chhotu
Ram?® stzl] rather susprcious of the Government of India and all therr works
but more friendly I think, and less suspicions than when 1 first met him

t S Chhotu Ram d ed six months [ater a severe foss to Khuzar and the Uniomst Party
Iy 143 M
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it the Panyab some six months ago Punjab are now, I fancy, Tather proud
of having “seen Jmnah off”, and more confident of the eventual 1ssue

Her Ex has had a busy time with Red Cross work. She had a Commuttee
meeting today, mormng and afternoon, and seems to have managed 1t
very cleverly

The leave camp here 1 the Viceregal grounds, the 1dea of Her Ex and
arranged by Peter Coats, seems to be a great success

July 10
Chuef business i the last day or so has been drafung telegrams to § of S.
about Mr Gandht’s actrvities There 1s likely to be a debate on India
House of Commons on July 26, and Amery 1s Iikely to have a rough
passage, especially 1n explaming why Gandht should not be allowed to sce
the Working Commuttee | have tsed to gave hum amsmunthion but [ am
afra1d that nothing he says goes down very well. It would 1n any event be
difficult to convince a large section of the House that Gandhy's motive 13
not really for a settlement but to secure the release of the Working
Comnuttee as 2 prelude to further political agitation

I am a bit bothered about the monsoon, 1t 1s late and weak so far, I hope
it 15 going to play the game

Woodhead,! President of the Fapune Commussion, arrived One of hus
members seems to be runneng out slready Thad the arrangements for this
Comnussion started 1n January, as a result of 2 resolution passed in the
Legulature in November, with the 1dea of getting 1t started n March' It
will be lucky 1f 1t does any business before mad-Augusy, 1 think the delay
this time has been mainly at the Whitehall end, and from my expenience
of the last year or so I'should say that on the whole Wiatehall 15 slower at
getting anything done and more verbose even than New Delhs

July 22

[ was told today of a secret conference on Palestine held in Cairo last May
The subject was the deciston by HM G to partition Palestine and the
prﬂbablc nuht:tq repercusstons I bear thae with one exception everyenc
there, avil and nulitary, expressed themselw s in very strong terms agamst
the Parnnon proposal. I wonder 1f the views of the men on the spot wall
have any wfluence on HM G

It will be noticed that, though Indi has over go millions of Moslems,

many of whom feel very strongly about Palesane, HM G did not even
think fit 10 wform me of ths conference

! Sir John Woodhead, LCS {retd ) He had served i Bengal,
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July 23
[ have had another letter from Gandhi, to which 1 replied calling
Mr Gandhi's attention to my statement m my previous Jetter thae [
was willing to consider a defimte and constructive proposal if 1t were
submtted to me

I saw a letter from Kueby! our Food Controller, who 1s at home,
describing 1n pessimustic terms the way in which Indun affairs are treated
i the Cabmet and especally our requests for food imports, and the
complete failure of the India Office to make theie w caight felt The Com-
muttee on food 1mpotts 1s a packed commuttce headed by that old fraud
and menace, the Professor, seconded of course by Leathers

July 24
A very busy day for my last m Simla Many wvisitors, and finally Khuzar,
Punyab Premuer, who was 1n much better heart than last trme I saw hum,
and advocated a Centre Party but did not explam how it was to be formed
[ ike Khizar very much but he 15 not a strong character any more than his
predecessor Sikander Hyat Khan was Odd that these big Punjab landlords
should be so domuated by a down—country lawyer like Jinnah

July 26

At Council meeting this mornung I informed my colleagues of my recent
letter from Gandhy and my reply and discussed G's statements and my
attitude to them Counal unammously supported my attitude, and no
one had a good word to say for Gandht Council was anxious that § of S
1n speaking to Parliament should make G of T responsible for any refusal
or acceptance of negotations with Gandht and not merely the Viceroy

July 31
[ had an hour wath Bhopal in the morning listenmg to the grievances of
the Princes Bhopal humself s modern and shrewd but he s only a
Princeling really, and 1t no posttion to call the tune for the Princes as
2 whole, who are for the most part concerned mamly with mamtainng
all their privileges, position and prestige antouched, and whose attitude
1s mchined to be the British Crown must esther continue to protect us ot
cease mnterference with our affairs

In the aftemoon I had the C-n-C, then Md Usman, then Rowlands,
and finally Mudie, the new Home Member, with a draft reply 1o Gandhi's

W H Kiby Asnstant Secretary Board of Trade loaned by the Bnitish Government
2s rationing adviser to the Government of India
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last letter which I must take time to constder I am Guite sure that he 1s
keepmg one objectrve 1 mund as hus immeduate arm, to secure the release
of the Working Commuttee I doubt if he 15 really one wiit nearer
compronuse on s 1dea of a Congress Ra;

In this lester Gandlu said that as a constructive proposal he 1 as prepared to
advise the Working Comnuttee that Mass Cunl Disobedience as conternplated
by the resolution of Augsst 1932 conld not be offesed and that Congress shonld
giwe full co-operation n the war effort, sf India was unmedrately declared
mdependent and a National Government formed responsible fo the Central
Assembly, subject to the proviso that military operations should contitiue inder
British control, but without muolvmg any financial burden on India Tins
proposal, as Gandht well knew, was totally unacceptable A similar proposal

had been put forward at the time of the Cripps Mission 1 1942 and had been
rejected

Angust 2

I have been busy the last day or two i wrniting a quarterly letter to H M
and 1n drafting a reply to Mr Gandh's latest, which has now been cabled

home for approval—rather reluctantly on my part, T dushke thns reference
to Whatchall on every detal

Auguist 4

One of my Departments told me the other day that I had reduced the
number and length of telegrams by 50%, I wish I could think it was true
Srivastava came 1 this morning, ostensibly to discuss the food problem,
really to talk about politics I hke Stivastava, and usually manage to send
him away m quite a cheerful mood, but I thunk he s harassed at home (hus
wife 15 quite a strong Nationalist) and has a difficult time, since he feels
that 1f anything goes wrong with food he will have to bear the brunt,
and he 15 very sensitive to enticism

The PM wired me that the Cabmnet was very perturbed that I had
entered into negonation with Gandhi, who should be dead—at least
polically—according to the medical reports cabled home I fortunately
remembered his directive of last October,! and wired back that [ was not
negotmatmng with G, merely informing him that negotation on his basis
was impossible, that I had carned out the injunctions of his dircetave, and
that the only provision of his directive which 1 had been unable to carry
out wis “to diert shipping to carry food grams’, smee HM G w ould
gIve e nettner smpping nor 1ood grans

* Secp 23 entry for § October
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Got back this afternoon from a short tour to Mampur and Assam to see
some of the troops and the recent battleficlds 1 was *back to the Army
agan’ for some days, which was pleasant, but 1t was quite strenvous

I flew to Calcutta on the sth and stopped a night there Had about 2 or
3 hours talk with Casey He 1s now very sct on Sectwon 93, and regrets that
my recommendation of last January was not accepted

On the 6th I flew to Imphal and did a heavy programme of mspection of
mulitary and R.A F umts

[ stopped the two mghts at Imphal with Gimson,! he stll had not had
his bathroom window repared (brohen m May 1942), his wireless sull
gave forth unntelligible sounds, and hus cat had had kittens In fact he
was as cheerfully inefficient as ever {(When my predecessor, Linhthgow,
stopped there, he always claimed that a cat dropped on hus bed from the
celing duning the ght My M S mentioned thus story to Gimson, who
satd quite unconcernedly ‘I don’t think 1t can have been a cat, qutce
probably a rat, though')

On the 8th I motored up the Dimapur road and saw representatives of
6th Bngade and 2nd Division, both of which T formerly commanded
I presented some decorations and made a short speech to them { then went
on to Kohtma

I was told that 15 or 20 Napas would come to meet me at Koluma,
actually 200 to 300 tumed up, a picturesque sturdy looking people They
brought gfts of spears and headdresses and woven cloths and chickens and
eggs 1 had brought rum and aigarettes for them burt there werce a great
many more than we had expected The Nagas did us extraordinanly well
in the recent fighting

After a prcmc Tunch I motored on to Dimapur and found another
longish programme which was not finshed tull 7 pm

I had been 12 hours continuously at 1t and had motored over 150 mules
Rather to my horror I found that 1 was booked to go to an Ensa entertain-
ment after dinner It was not very good and went on till after 11 pm.
During 1t 2 bag amved, so that I had to attend to one or two letters and
telegrams before going to bed

Next mormung the pth, we were booked to take off from the ground
at 6 am We got back to Dellnat 3 pm

My apprefiensions at referning my reply to Gandhi fiome were fully
justified I got back a revased drafe exactly the same m prmeiple but

mtransigent and discourteous m tone It scems to me one of our great
t Mr C Gunson [ C.S, Political Agent in Manipur
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mustakes n this country 1s not to have realtsed the importance to the Indsan
mind of good manners and an appearance at least of consideratron 1

drafted a cable back, proposing reviston of the Cabinet’s draft PM will
be furious

Wavell's draft reply to Gandl's letter, afier testating the proposals that
Gandhs had made, contmued as follow s

2 Smce your letter was wrnitten you must have studied the statement
made by Mr Amery 1n the House of Commons on 28th July, and will
know that this proposal 1s not acceptable to His Majesty’s Government as
a basis for discussion It 15 very sumular to the proposal made by Maulana
Kalam Azad to Sir Stafford Cnpps o April 3942, and His Majesty's
Government s reasons for rejecting 1t are the same as they were then

3 Although His Majesty’s Government cannot accept your present
proposal, and T do not think that we should make progress 1f we met 1n
order to discuss tt, I must assure you that they are most anxious for 2
settlement of the Indian problem The war 1s now moving fast, and unless
we can reach agreement on lines satisfactory to all paruies, India can hardly
take her proper place at the Peace Conference, and our plans for post-war
economuc and soctal development will be hampered

4 Tdonotwish toprejudge any proposals that may later be made to me,
but if the leaders of the Hhindus, Mushms and other important mnonties
were willing to co-operate n a transittonal government which would be
established and would work within the framework of the present Consti-
tution without imodification by convention or otherwise, I belteve we
could make progress It1s qute clear that until the war 1s over the respons:-
bility for Defence and Malitary operations cannot be separated from the
other responsthilities of Government and that untd the new Constitution
takes shape His Majesty’s Government and the Governor-General must
retain their responsibility over the entire field If the transittonal govemn-

ment 1s to succeed there must, I thik, be agreement before 1t 1s formed
between Hmdus and Muslims and the other umportant minorities as to

the general basis of the new constitution and as to the method by which 1t
should be framed This agreement seems to me a matter primanly for the
Indian leaders I should be glad to help them to acleve 1t 1f T thought I
could do anything to help, but I doubt 1f I can do anything unti! they have
come closer together than they are now I beg you to remember that
mmonty problems are not easy They exast iz many countrnes and have
caused much unhappiness and even civil war Tt 1s a rustake to say that the
mintonity problems in India have becn created by the British, they are real

and can be solved only by patience and generosity The peried after the
war 15 over for which the transittonal povernment would last would
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depend on the speed wath which the pew Constitution could be framed
I see no reason why work on the Constitution should not bepin as soon
as the transitional government takes office, and 1f the partres had arrived
at a genumne agreement as to the method of framung it, I do not think the
period need be very long

5 You and Mr Jinnah have my goad wishes for your approachng
discussion

Thus draft reply was friendly in tone and evinced very clearly a desire to
opert the door to negotiations, whereas the Cabimet’s draft gave the impression
of a desire to Leep st closed TWavell's draft was, i the Cabunet’s view, ‘much
too forthcommg and concilatory’, and they deaded to “suffen us tone” They
ctit out, ﬂ:ergfgre, all friendly and gracious touches, for instance paragraph s,
and they introduced a new paragmpf te hiuch by stressing the conditions attachn
to the ‘offer of Hn.i'rm;‘}ﬁrd Jreedom after the eessation of hostihities’, paﬁm.-.’arg
the need to safcouard the nterests of racial and religions munonties and the

.D?Jﬂ;‘ﬂfd' Classes, seemed fo suggest that freedom mght fe postponed
mdefinstely

Angist 10

A long day of files and visitors with little to show for it

In the everung had a letter from S of § i wiluch he said that the P M
‘stormed incoherently for about an hour’ over my letter from Gandhu
I wonder what he will do when he gets my come back.

[ have just read rather an mterestng book “The Bear of Britarn” by 2
man called Frankland ! which gives a reahstic and savage version of the
Arthurian legend, much nearer the truth of course than Malory’s Kmghts
I have been tryang to find ont something abont the Roman evacnation of
Britain and the state of the country afterwards, but nothimg much seems
to be known

Angust 11

Patiala came to sec me and stayed to lunch.

Out of the long hist of subjects which Pohtical Department suggested
H.H. might wish to discuss, only one was rased by him he wanted 2 war
medal, for which hehadn’t qualified, but other more fortunate Princes had?

Aegust 12
My telegram home about Gandh letter has perturbed the poor S of S
Winston himself seems to have drafted the Cabinet version n a very
' Edward Frankland, The Bear pof Britgm {London, Ingd)
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stormy meetng, and now Winston s mn Iraly S of S wanted me to 1ssue
a short reply of ‘nothing domg’ 1 have stuck to my guns and said I am

quite prepared to 1ssue my draft and meur Winston™s displeasure 1 wonder
what they will do now

August 14

1 had a long talk with George Giffard on the war in Burma He thinks the
Japanese will have a very difficult job to reform therr Army and to rein-
force They have practically given up using Rangoon, owmg to the threat
of our air force 2nd 1t 15 reckoned that they can only bring 1n a drvision
a month over the Bangkok raiway They will require at least 75 coo
remforcements to reform thew shattered drnstons, they have lost pracucally
all the artillery of three divisions and almost the whole of therr Tank
reciment George hopes to get Kalewa before the end of the monsoon

1 wonder what will happen to George himself, 1t will be a hittle difheult

for them to remove hum after such a great victory, on the other hand there
15 Lirtle hope of the Amenicans consenting to serve under hum.

Augist 15

HMG or at least, Minstry of War Transport 1s furtous at the Bombay

Explosion Enquiry Report and has sent us 2 very mtemperate statement
on 1t

The Cabinet refused to play over the Gandht letter except for one small
amendment, so | have sent therr drafe, as 1t 15 not 2 big enough 1ssue for
a head-on collision, which I think 1s bound to come sometime, if the
Cabinet continue their negligent and hostile attitude to the affairs of India

The Secretary of State had urged Wavell not to issue hus own draft and mcur
Churchill’s displeasure, as this would myelve a head-on collisson which would
not be yustified by a mere difference about wordng Wavell ageeed that “this

occasion 15 not one for a head~on collision’, but he expressed his dissatisfaction
to the Secretary of State in strong terms

I feel that many of enr troubles i India, both admumistranive and political,

are due to wgnorance and prepudice among your colleaguies It 1s discottraging
work to serve an obviously hostile Cabinet, who seem to have nio confidence in

ty judgement on any matter They have nou tunted down my recommenda-
tions for (a) Indian Finance Munster, () Section 93 1 Bengal at the beginmng
of the year, (¢} Bappar’s status, (d) the formt of mty reply ta Mr Gandin, and

(e} nty requests for food smports, of wich my great persistence has produeed an
inadequate amount
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He was also sntensely annoyed at the attiude of the Musustry of War Transport

to the findutgs of the Commussion of Engrury tto the Bombay exploston The
Munstry vwanted to male ﬁmf:sh and ‘:H—tﬂnpfred attack o1 the Com-
missiont, thuch had been headed by the Chief Justice of Bombay wuth a dis-
tinginshed Admral as @ mewmber “The Monstry,” he wrote, 15 hardly on a
good wicket vt trymg to defend a very mmmor official by unpugning the yn-
parisality of tio very distingrushed Gorernment offictals

‘His Mayesty’s Gor emment must really give tip tryng to treat the Govern-
ment of India as a naughty and tiresome ehild whose bottom they can smack
1henever they feel hle w’

{ am sure that the G-] mecting wall resudt in a demand for the release of
the Working Commuttee, but I doubt whether st wall have any other

result

Followmng his correspondence unth Rajagopalachan, Jimnah announced that
fe had ﬂfrfﬂf to meet Gandht  After several postponements they et on
9 September

Auguist 16

Quiet Counal meeting I'read out the reply to Gandht and there was httle
comment. Firoz Khan Noon signalled his retum by a charactenistic out-
burst of eloquence i favour of lugh prices for food grains to support the
facmers with hus usual disregard for accurate facts and the exact tssue
under discussion

August 22

The resule of the Cabinet’s amendment of my reply to Gandhi's letter has
been as I warned them The reactions have been virulent and have con-
centrated on the tone of the letter-——"rude’ and “arrogant’ 1t was called—

on the dragging m of the Depressed Classes and the apparent additional
conditions above the Cripps Offer hefore a transitonal Government was
formed and on the fact that the letter was publshed immediately on 1ts
receipt by Gandl—all of which were due to the Cabmet’s amendments
and would not have been vulnerable 1n my onginal version In fact
Cabinet has destroyed at one blow my reputation for famess and good
temper 1 my correspondence with Gandhi and has thus weakened my

usefulness mn any eventual dealings with Congress This was probably the

P M stentton It has also increased the likelihood of a Congress-League

coalition agamst 11s
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I have just finished reading Dorothy Sayers ‘Man Born to be King',?
very well done and very interesting Curious to thunk that 1f Gandhy were
a samt, instead of a very shrewd and rather malignant polincran (which 1s
possibly how the Sanhedrn thought of Jesus at the tme), or became
transformed 1nto a sant by history, and if he died on my hands, as he
might well do, if he fasts agam, I mught go down to the readers of 2000
years hence with the same reputation as Pontws Palate, my Council would
play the part of the Sanhedrin, and perhaps one of the Prnces could be
cast for Herod

[ was amused to see that smce the Amenicans took over the Assam
Railways, there have been 33 derailments and 6 colliszons, whereas dunng

the Congpress troubles 1 1942 all attempts at sabotage caused only 6
derailments -

August 31

Governors’ conference for Jast 3 days, which means a pretty hectic tune,
since ordimary rounne wotk does not stop We discussed food problem,
post-war development, war allowances for civl servants, and the pohtical
situation  Perhaps the chief feature of the food discussion was the desice
for central control, both now and after the war In post-war development,
Bombay, Madras and U P are well ahead wath their schemes, but I doubt
whether others have done very much

The discussion on the political situation was interesting I made a short
statement of my views, 1 ¢, that we could quite easily hold the present
sttuation till the end of the war if necessary, but that if nothing was done
before the end of the war, we shall find curselves 1n a very dangerous
position, and that an opportumty might occur for a move at the end of
the European War and should be taken Governors were unammeous 1n
supporting me 1 this, though there was some difference on the form

of approach. On the question of progress in 93 Provinees, no one favoured
the summonng of the Legislatures, but Madras was qute anxous to have
non-ofhictal adwvisers, and Bombay and UP did not object Rutherford
even thought he might be able to form a Mmnustry in Bthar, but he was
woolly about 1t as wsmual

Qutside the Conference I had talks wath all the Governors

Casey agreed rather reluctantly that he must try o keep a Mumustry
gowmg m Bengal and forego the delights of Sccnon 93 He told me
Nazimuddm had got bacl several followers, one by typical Bengal
methods

t D I Sayvers The Aan Born To Be King {London, 1943}
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These Govemors meetings are valuable, but have aroused the wrath of
the Congress Press, and the Hindustan Times had a cartoon of me as an
octopus stretching my tentacles (the Governor's head at the end of ¢ach
tentacle} all over India Firoz Khan Noon too, mn hus usual slap-dash way,
wrote suggesting I was trenching on Exccutive Council s work and by-
passing 1t I‘I.l'.‘: was easily pacified

September 7

Mountbatten came up to Sumla today, but as he only arnved just before
midday and departed at § pm, our talk was rather hurried Hesad P M
aas as mtractable as cver about Indja seemed to regard sending food to
India merely as ‘2ppeasement’ of Congress, and 1t was only the efforts of
the Cluefs of Stafi, who realised the necessity for feeding India 1f 1t was
to be 2 stable base for operanons, which produced any food at all My
umpression was confirmed that there was really plenty of shipping but that
Leathers would not part, and that the Indian Food Imports Commuttee
was a packed body PM was qute funious about Gandhi's release and
subsequent activities and i fact quite imposuble about Indra Leo Amery,
who does stand up to hum had accused PM of 2 Hutler Like attirude” to
India, and had got a first—lass rocket

We discussed welfare and nurses and medical help and all the other
amenties for whick India has been asking and has been dented for years,
now Press and Parliament have tumed their eyes East and are shouting to
high heaven at the scandalous meficency of India for not having all these
things They will be sent now, but nothing wall ever be said of all that
India has dene wath the scanty resources allotted to her

September 15

Got back to Delhy from Simla yesterday evenmg I saw Raisman the
evemng before I left S1mla and heard about the Bretton Woods conference

sterling balances problem etc He agreed that the raiing of pay and allow-
ances for the troops in the East would have very senous repercussions on
India 5 finances and that it was monstrons that we had not been consulted

(I had already sent an indignant telegram to S of S}

HMG suddenly intimated that the pay and allowances of Britvsh forces
serving m the East were to be increased Despite the fact that under the defence
expenditure settlement the cost of the mereases wonld mamly fall on India and
would almost mevitably mvolve corresponding mereases m the pay of Indian
fotces, the Government of India was not consulted—a typical example of
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H M G's cavalier treatment of India to which Wavell was always objecting
The War Department of the Government of India sent a vigorous prodest
One of Wavell's private telegrams of protest to the Secretary of State was
unproperly allowed to come to the notice of Churcull and, as will be seen,
roused lis wrath

Septeruber 16 %

Two days discussions with the Princes went quite well Bhopal pur his
pomts clearly and temperately, and the rest hardly spoke atall Isada few
wortds at the end about the necessity to face changes after the war, and the
1dea of a umted India They received these remarks 1n silence and I don't

think that anyone of them hke the 1dea of change
I had a talk with C-in-C yesterday, he approved 108 my proposal to

make a poliical move, and even said he was prepared to work under an
Indian Defence Mimster

September 13

Some tume ago ] asked Caroe’s ‘Brans Trust’! to produce 3 companson
between India and China as future Great Powers, e g 1n matertal re-

sources, man power, political stabihty, orgamzatnon They produced an
iteresting paper which I read today The general concluston was that
there was not much mn 1t, bur thar China was tougher and had been
through the fire both of internal revolunon and of external nvasion, whale

Indta had not and was softer Cunously enough, Dalal, whom I asked thas
afrernoon what he thought about the furure of the two countres, said at
once that he thoaght India was too soft and would have to go through
the fire before she was able to be as fit for future power as Chma

September 21

Igotoffto S of S yesterday my proposal? for a politcal move Ihaveno
idea what the reactions of the PM and HM G wall be—whoally un-

favourable, [ imagine Its desparch comaded with the arnival of a sigu-
larly stupsd letter from Gandin 1o the PM  he had apparenty wntten 1t

some ume back and practcally accused us of suppressing the ongmal

T A small study proup, com mamly of Bn roblems
PP t ﬂudupm_ th:pﬂscd mas w{; tlt:.L tish officoals that studied vanous prob

* Thus proposal was for the formation of a Pronsional Government at the Centre repre-
sentatve of the mam pohincal parties and for the calling of 3 small conference of polical
ieaiiers with ths object n vicw The reasons for making such a move well before the end of

the War were very cogently stated and were Later
given more bnefly in a ketrer to che Prutie
Miuster dared 24 October 1944 which 1t reproduced on FP 949 d
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(I should thunk lus sceretary or followers had probably not sent at, realis-
ing how sdly 1t was) * I think it shows that Gandlu’s mental powers are
fating, and 1 will not unprove the prospects of the PM approsing any
negotiations

In the afternoon I'saw Sir Henry French {Permanent Sceretary, Ministry
of Food in UK.} who having toured India for six weeks now realises
that our vicly of India’s food problems and requirements s justified and
that Whatchall s 1deas of them are all wrong 1 suppose they will listen to
hum, after having refused to listen to the Viceroy for 9 months So perhaps
we shall now get our Food import problem settled on reasonable lines

September 30

The Gandht-Jmnah tatks ended on 2 note of complete futihty I must say
I expected something better T did not expecet statesmanship or a practical
solutton, but I did think the two would have got down to something if
only the best way to embarrass the G of I Anything so barren as their
exchange of letters 15 a deplorable expostre of Indian leadershtp The two
great mountams have miet and fiot even a ndiculous mouse has emerged
This surely must blast Gandht's reputation as a leader Jinnah had an easy
task, he mercly had to keep on tellmg Gandhi he was talking nonsense,
which was true, and he did so rather rudely, without having to disclose
anty of the weaknesses of hus own positon, or define hus Pakistan 1 any
way Isuppose 1t may increase hus prestige with hus followers, but it cannot
add to his reputation with reasonable men I wonder what the effect on
H.M G will be, 1 am afrard 2t will increase thesr dishike of any attempr at
a move

Gandh offered Jinnah the mauned, mutilated Pakstan of the Rayagopalachar
Sformmula, but vithout real sincensty or conviction Jinnah rejected the offer and

bluntly told Gandly that the dinsion of Indra was cnly on lus hips and did ot

conne from fus heart
Moreover Gandhi nsisted that any dwision of India could only take place

after the British had left, which was in lime wath the general Congress aim of
wresting control from the Bntish first and settling wnth the Mushims, Princes,

1 Gandha § letter was as follows

Dear Pome Minster, ¥ou are reported to have the desire to crush the "naked fag r’, as
you are sud to have descnbed me I have been Jong trying to be a faqir and that naked—
2 more difficult task. I therefore regard the expression as 4 comphment, though wintended
I approach you then as such and ask you ta trust and use me for the sake of your people
and mune and through chem chase of the world

Your smcere fnend M K Gandha
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el :;ﬁerurdrds Jinnak behered that once the Britssh had gone, the Hmdus
would never agree to the division of India and that the Muslims would have to

fight a avid war to get eten a mutilated Pakustan

October 4

Mostly routine business The P M sent me rather an msultipg telegram,
becatse tn a private telegram to § of § I had m protesting agamst India
not bemg consulted on the pay mcreases, sad that Council nught take the
view that 1f the Briash Government had to bribe the Bntish soldier to
frght m the East, Inda shonld not be saddled with the cost Unfortunately
the telegram wwas seen by the P M who seized the opportumty to get at
me of which he 1s always glad, and wrred what amounggd to an accusation
aganst me of msulting the British soldier Iwired back an explanation, and
added that I thought my record of service might have saved me from hus
mstnuation § am afraid this exchange will not improve hus views on India
or the relations between us {Qctober 6 —Rather to my surprise he cabled
me a polite acknowledzement )

Ocrober 11

For the first ume for something hike 10 years Ihave been in bed for2 or 3
days with a fever Ifelt rotten on Saturday, had a temperature of over 102
and a head—chill on the tummy 1 think Was all nght by Monday, but
left first two days of N D C to C-n~C and only presided at final session
this morung We discussed food, Snivastava had been well brnefed by
Hutchings and was quite good We had got the day before telegram from
5 of S giving us 300 000 tons for last quarter and Srivastava was able to
announce this After rune months hard strugegle I have got 700,000 tons
for Indua after HM G had twice said no imports were possible ag all (no
mean achievermnent for India I think)

Had leng telegram from S of S urging every possible objection and
dificuley agamnst my proposed politzcal move, all of which [ had of course
censidered before making 1t He miakes a fatuous counter-proposal which

Linhthgow turned down with a bang nearly three years ago 1 thought
they would refuse to face 1t

The Secretary of State suggested that the National Defence Connal should
be utthzed for discussing the basis of a futnre constuution for India and franung
Propasals IVarell rephed thar this suas qute smpracticable and 11 onld Jead

nouhere Gandhs and Jinnal held the Leys of the situanion and could not be
bypasced
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October 20

For the last week T have been up and downstatrs and 1n and out of bed,
running hagh temperatures for a short time, having headaches and indsi-
gestion, never very bad but enough to make work difhicult and life
dcpn:ssmg Tam ff:t:hng better tﬂda,}r and hnp{: [amall nght I have, how-
ever, cancelled my towrs to Baluchistan and N W F P,

We had a difficult and unfortunate Council meeting on 18th over the
application to Indta of the War Service pay and Japanese campugn pay
which HM G sprang on us without consultation or warmng The resuts
have been disastrous The C-an-C denuanded sumtlar benefits for Indian
troops mcluding the indefensible allotment of Japanese campaign pay to
Indian troops serving in India If 1 had been fit and had more time, I would
certatnly have stopped this C-in-C said he would not be responsible for
the morale or dsaphne of the Indian army unless the nereases were
granted and all the Indian members of Councl naturally supported um
C-in-C also demanded pay rises for Indian Comimussioned Officers and
this was akso passed He admuts privately that Japanese pay inside India 1s
lopcal, and that so also really 1s the extra pay for I C Os But once the
1ssue of racal discnmination 1s raised, 1t 13 not possible to restramn Indian
members FM came to mie next day and practically theew his hand i

I have been Viceroy a year today, the hardest year's work [ have done
In some ways I have donc reasonably well, the food problem and getting
some sort of a2 move on post-war development. I have found HM G ’s
attitude to India neghpent, hostile and contemptuous to a degree I had not
anticapated, or [ think I mught have done more. Stil the more one sces of
the pohinical problem and of the Indians, the more one realises that there
are very datk days ahead for India, unless more wisdom and good wall
are shown, and I think they will have to begin from the top, from
Whatehall

[ have made some mustakes Idon’t think the refease of Gandhe was one,
though I always mustrusted the medical opintons on whach he was released
I wish I had been firmer with the Can-C over mcreases of pay though
1 thunk most of them have been jusnfied.

Rowlands came m on return from UK, He says the forcible tone of
some of my telegrams has made P M funous and made 1t difficudt for
other members of Cabinet to help, on the other hand 1f they had not been
forcable P M would have taken 10 notice General Election 1s apparently
mevitable i spring, on structly parry lines, and the 1ssue doubtful I have
proposed Rowlands for Finance Member of the Executive Counal and
sounded him tlus evemng
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October 25

I have answered S of S objections to my proposal for a polical mose,
saying that I fully realised the difficulties and risks but that we should never
get on unless we faced them He has now wired proposing that I should
consult Gevernors, he 15 obviously 1n a dither at the 1dea of having to put
my proposals up to the Cabinet Meanttme I have wrtten a letter to the
PM on the occasson of my completing a year as Vicetoy, staing my

views on India, and have taken as text his directive to me of a year ago—
but the P M <won't hike 1t

With approval from home I offered Rowlands the job of F M |, he asked
for tume to consider but did not defoutely tum it down

On 24th I presented 4 V Cs and a G C on quite an imipressive parade
just oueside Delln Fort, and yesterday we had 500 Indsan soldiers to tea
(the V Cs and their relauves and the men of the Guards of Honour and
other troops on parade), quite 3 good party—Her Ex’s idea

The letter to the Prune Muuster wih the onussion of a few paragraphs
manly about the background of conditions s Indha, 1s reproduced below

24th October 1944
My dear Prime Minuster,

I have now completed one year i the hugh 2nd responsible office for
which you did me the great honour of recommending me to His Majesty,
and I feel [ should wnte and pive you some account of my stewardship
and of the views I have formed on the present and future of India

I propose to wrte entirely freelyand frankly, 2s 1 know vou would
wish I have served you now for over five years and we should know one
another reasonably well Iknow you have often found me a difficult and
troublesome subordmate T have not always found you an easy master to

serve But I thunk you realise that I have always served loyally—and I may
say with unqualified admiration for your courage and your strategy—
and that I have always told you the truth as I saw 1t without fear of
consequences [ propose to do 0 now

I will begin by saying that my primary reason for writing 1s that I feel
very strongly that the future of India 1s the prablem on which the British
Commonwealth and the Bratssh reputation will stand or fall in the post-
war period To my mind our strategic securtty, our name in the world for
statesmanship and farrdealmg and much of our economic well-bemng wall
depend on the settlement we make 1n India Qur restige and prospects in
Burma Malxya, China and the Far Bast generally are entrely subrecr to
what hap]_:hf:ni iz India If we can secure India 15 3 ﬁjgn.:ﬂ}r‘ pariner i1 the
British Commonwezlth our predomnant mfluence m these countries wall,
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I thunk, be assured, wath a lost and hostile Indiz, we are Iikely to be reduced
in the East to the position of commercal bag-men

And yet I am bound to say that after a year's experience in my present
office I fecl that the wital problems of India are beng trcat::cf Ey His
Majesty’s Government with neglect, even somenmes with hostlnty and
contempt. I entirely admut the difficulty of the problems, [ know the wital
preoccupations of ic European war [agreein the maun with what [ thunk
is your conviction, that in a2 mustaken view of Indian conditions and 1n an
entirely nusplaced sentimental hberalism we took the wrong turn wath
Indiz 25 or 30 years ago, but we cannot put back the clock and must deal
with exxsung conditions and pledges, and I am clear that our present
attitnde 15 aggravating the nusduefg

May I give you a few mnstances of what scem to me a neglectful or
unfriendly attitude to India and her problems

I read the proceedings of the meetings of the Domunion Premyers India,
one of the most vital problems of the Commonw ealth, was hardly men-
uoned, etther from the strategic or polincal pomnt of view.

At the last big debate on India 1n the House of Commons, I am told
that there were hardly ever more than 40 members present

In spite of the lesson of the Bengal famune, I have had during the last
mne months hiterally to fight with all the words I could command, some-
tmes almost mtemperate, to secure food imports, without which we
should undounbtedly be 1n the throes of another famine, and probably of
uncontrolled mnflation, smnce without these imports I could Eardl}f have
held food prices from soaring as they did last year

The recent ncrease of soldiers’ pay, whichhave added some £ 50 000 000
to our inflationary postion already precarious and a considerable part
of this sum to the Indian tax payer's burden, were introduced wathout
any consultation of Jndia at all, or even warrung, though we could have
suggested means of easing the burden both for the Brtish and Indan tax-
payer, and Indian Members of Counal would have felt no tesentinent of
they had been consuited in advance

The obloquy now bemng heaped on Indsa for the lack of amemes for
soldrers 1s mamly due to disregard of repeated requests dunng the past
three years or more for dogtors, nurses medical comforts and goods of
all kinds

Having got that off my chest 1 will try to give you a picture of the
Indian problem as I see 1t

I wall take 25 2 text the directive you gave me on October 8th last year,
before I left for India This directive required me, 1n bref

(1} to secure the defence of India agawmst the Japanese,

(1) to rally all classes to the support of the war effort,
D 189 H
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(1) to estabhish and mamtain the best possible standard of lving for the
largest number of people,

(1v} to appease comumunal differences, and
(v) to make proposals for political advance as occasion warranted, subject

to the demands of {1} and {u) above

. On the first two tasks given i your directive, I have carned on my
predecessor’s work, to meet the development of the campaign The
SE A C has been firmly established, and Mountbatten has expressed his
cnmpl:te satisfaction at the SUpport 1 men and material glven 1o the I4th
Army during the recent operattons on the Eastern frontier, and 1n the pre-
parations made for future plans Transportation 1s perhaps our most SCnous
smgle problem, and we also need spectal help to improve the welfare of
Briush troops The stramn on Indian economy generally 1s sertous, an
addational burdens wathout relief 1n other directions wall risk 2 breakdown
The thurd task m your directive concerned standards of hving, and 15 2
most difficult and complicated problem The Bengal famine of 1943 was
a very serious disaster, and disclosed the weaknesses m our food admm-
stration. These weaknesses are due partly to an absolute shortage m 2
country which s Ptrmam:ntl}' under-nourshed, and parﬂ}' to the human
?uahtu:s of fear, selfishness, greed, and provincualism My chuef aums 1n
ood admimstration durmg the past year have been to restore confidence,
to 1mprove the procurement amf dustribution of faod, to extend ratroning,
and to get more food grown It was absolutely essential to secure food
imports on a large scale, and I am afraid I had to be importunate about
thys, simce my first requests were recewved wath much the same astonished
mncredulity as Oltver Twist encountered on a well-known occaston [ have
ttied to break down provincialisin, both by personal vasits vo all Provances,
and asscussions wath those concerned 1 food admnstration, and by
conferences of all the Governors I think I can clasm a certain measure of
success, for example, I induced the Punjab to aceept both ratiorung and
price control after therr Minsters had publicly announced that 1n no
arcumstances would they do anything of the kind And there 1s certamnly
a great deal more confidence throughout the country than there was 2
Kmr ago, with a very wholesome effect on prices With the help now
emg accorded by His Majesty’s Government, we should be able to hold
the food position, but only just ‘We are, and shall remain, on 2 knufe-edge
until normal trade conditions are restored The danger areas are at present
Bengal, parts of Madras, the Travancore and Cochin States, and the
Bombay Deccan, at the moment the Travancore and Coghin States and
tne Malabar district of Madras form the most urgent problem. The
difficulty, almost impossibility, of persuading the nce-eating South to eat
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the hard Northemn grams will be well known to you, and you wall realise

how 1t comphicates the problem

Apart from the food problem, I have endeavoured to stimulate planning
for post-war development over the whole admunistrative field, both m
mdustry and agniculture, so as to secure a better standard of living for the
Indian people, and I have appomted a special additional Member of
Council to deal with the problem This 15 an 1mmense task, perhaps
impossible of 2eccomplishment under the present Government ﬂg [nda
Success will require erther complete autocracy on the Russian model, or
effort and self-demaal of a kind only possible under imagmative and popu-
lar leaderstup Indians have not so far shown themselves any keener LEan
other people on austenty and lugh taxes But I think I can claim that the
Government of India s stimulating 1deas 1 the direction of development
as far as possible

The fourth and fifch tasks you gave me together constitute the pohitical
problem I cannot claim to have made any progress wath them, but they
are of vita] ymportance The following seem to me to be the essential

factors of the problem —

{1) When we started, 20 or 30 years ago, on the polincal reform of
India, we laid down a course from which we cannot now wathdraw It
may have been a mustaken course, and 1t would probably have been better
to have prescribed econormuic devclopment first, but I 2m afrad 1t 1s too
Jate to reverse the policy now And the general policy, of giving India self-
government at an early date, was o ed not Jong ago m the Cripps
offer

() Nor do I thmk that in any case we can hold India down by force
Indtans are a doale people, and a comparatively small amount of force
ruthlessly used mught be sufficient, but 1t seems to me clear that the Britush
people will not consent to be associated with a policy of repression, nor
will world opinion approve it, nor will Batish soldrers wish to stay here
1 large numﬁm after the war to hold the country down There must be
acquescence 1n the British connection 1f we are to continue to keep Indra

within the Commonwealth

(12) India will never, wathin any time that we can foresee, be an efficient
country, arganssed and governed on western lines In her development to
self-oovernment we have got to be prepared to accept a degree of m-
efficiency comparable to that in China, Irag, or Egypt We must do our
best to maintain the standards of effictency we have tnied to inculeate, but
we cannot contmue to resist reform because it will make the admmistra-
tion less efhcent

(1v) The present Government of India cannot continue indefinttely, or
even for long Though ultimate responstbdity still rests with His Majesty’s
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Government, His Majesty's Gosenment has no Jonger the power to take
effective action We shall doft increasingly mto sinations—finanaal,
cconomuc, or polincal—for which Indra herself wall be responsible but for
which His Majesty’s Government will get the discredit We are already
i the position that Indian Members of Cotmcil have a controlling voice,
and are increasingly aware of their power The Bntish Civil Services, on
which the good government of the country has up till now depended,
mught almost be desenbed as monbund, seruor members are tired and

disheartened, and 1t wall be extremely dufficult after the war to secure
good recTuts

(v} I€ our aum 1s to retamn India as » willng member of the Brtsh
Commonwealth, we must make some imaginative and constructive move
without delay 'We have every reason to mustrust and disltke Gandh and
Jinnah, and therr followers But the Congress and the League are the
donunant parties in Hindu and Muslim Indiz, and will remamn so They
control the Press, the electoral machme, the money bags, and have the
prestige of established parties Even 1f Gandhi and Jmnah disappeared
tomorcow {and 1 do not think that Gandh today would be descrbed by
Insurance companues as a good life) I can see no prospect of our having

morte reasonable people to deal wath We have had to negonate with
sitmilar rebels before, € g, De Valera and Zaghlul

(vi) When we should make any fresh move 1s a difficult problem. [ am
quite clear that it should be made some considerable time before the end
of the Japanese war When the Japanese war ends, we shall have to release
our poliical prisoners They will find Indta unsettled and drscontented
Food walt snil be short, demobihsatton and the closing down of the war
factories, and overgrown clenical establishments, will throw many people
out of employment They wnll find a fesuile field for apttation, unless we
have previously diverted their energies into some more profitable channel,
1e, mto dealing with the admumistrative problems of Inda and wto
trying to solve the constitutioral preblemn We cannot move without
taking serious nisks, but the most senious risk of all 1s that Indra after the
war will become a runming sore which will sap the strength of the Britsh

Emprre Ithink 1t 15 stall possible to keep India wathun the Comnionwealth,
though I do not thunk 1t wall be easy to do so If we farl to make any effort

now we may hold India down uneasily for some years, but in the end she

will pass umto chaos and probably mto other hands

(vir) To be effective any move we make must be such as to capture the
Indian imagmation 1f India 1s not to be ruled by force, 1t must be ruled by
the heart rather than by the head Our move must be sincere and friendly,

and our outlook towards India must change accordmgly 1am prepar ed 1o
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put up proposals for a move, which will involve risks, but which I think
constitute ri': best chance of making progress

What I have 1n tind 15 a provisional political Government, of the type
suggested 1n the Cripps declaration, withm the present constitution,
coupled with an camest but not necessarily simultaneous attempt to devase
means to reach a constitutional settlement Amery knows my views, and
I drafted a paper for the Cabinet, which [ have asked hum to wathhold for
the present

But the real essential 1s a change of spint, a change which wall convince
the average educated Indian that the British Government 15 sincere 1n 1ts
intentsons and 18 friendly towards India, It will not be easy 1o do, there
15 very deep-rooted feeling of susptcion to overcome, but certam steps
could be mlE:n which would help to reduce the mustrust and enmicy now
generally felt In fact, 1f we want India as a Domuuon after the war, we
miust begin treating her much more Itke 2 Dominion now If certan
measures, which I would suggest, were taken by His Majesty’s Govern-
ment, and I were permutted within a policy approved by His Majesty’s
Government to try and convince India of Batish sympathy, I believe 1t
would be possible to effect 2 considerable improvement

I should like to add that the view that somethimg must be done before
long 15 not merely my opmmon It 1s the considered opmion of the Com-
mander-in-Chief, of all eleven Governors of the Provinces of Brtish
India, and of all the semor members of the Services with whom [ have
discussed the question I do not think His Majesty’s Government can
afford to 1gnore the entere weight of Britsh official opimnton out here

If the Cabinet 15 opposed m prnaple to any move during the war, I
thunk a clear statement to that effect should be made so that we may all
know where we stand But 1f 1t 15 2 matter of uming and of method my
advice 1s ennitled to due weight 1 think the failure of the Gandiu-Jinnah
talks has created a favourable moment for a move by His Majesty’s
Government

It 1s easy to condemn any plan for betterment of the Indran situation on
the ground of sk or probable fadure If we are to make any progress we
must take risks and be prepared for fatlure, but a move made generously
and honestly, even 1f 1t failed, would do good

I have, as you know, no axe to gnnd I did not seek this appontment
or wish 1t, but since I have been placed 1n a positon of such 1mmense
responstbility for the future of the Brish Commonwealth wiich we

serve. I am hound to place v views n frone of you. “without nartizlity.
favour or affection’

[592/9] Yours sincerely,
WAVELL
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October 29

Simon {Astley) left for home thrs morning after 2} years as ADC He s
about the quickest witted and most efficient ADC I have had, and has in
many ways an attractive personality

I got Maunce Halletz and Colwille up here to discuss the proposal for
2 pohtical move, and sent George Abell to Lahore to consult Glancy
Hallett and Colwlle entirely support me, Glancy taking a Provincial view,
is afraid that move may affect Punjab Minsstry and Unuonsst Party and
strengthen League

November ¢

Back to-day from a short tour to the Punjab As usuzl, 2 pretty strenuous
performance There were interviews with all the Mmasters and some of

the officuals, a reception of zbout 150 or so people, and nspections and
tours

Meanwhile T had o deal with the usual spate of offical papers from
Delli and to keep abreast of the discusstons gomng on between Snivastava,
the Food Member, who had come to Lahore to try to smooth out differ-
ences on food prices etc. with the Punjab Mimsters These seem to have
gone fairly well but there are still some difficule problems Punjab want
panty of rice prices with U P and pnonty of movement for their surplus
grain and one or two other things

On my way to the plane this mornmg I paid 2 surpnise visit to the
Lahore Gaol

On retumn | had a long interview with C-mm C On the 1ssue of Japanese
Campaign pay to Indian troops in Indta, which the § of S wants re-
considered m council, I found Anchinleck very stubbom } don ¢ mund
the financal effect, but I don’t want at thus juncrure to be turned down by
H.M G on an 1ssue on which we ate in the wrong and have not a leg

to stand on logcally

November 11

A long day wrth lots of files and 2 very difficult conference with C-in C
and Fnance Member over Japanese campaign pay which lasted for an
hour and a half T got C-n C just a hetle more accommodanng We are

sending telegram to § of § to eluadate certain matters and C-m-C's
final attitude wall depend on his reply

No reaction from P M yet about my letter, but S of § has cabled that
1t has arnved. Rowlands has accepred Finance membership provisionally,
askang for certain condittons which are quite acceptable
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November 13

Lunch party today included two Mirustry of Information officials (Redman
and Bamford) and 1 tried to impress on them how to get over Batsh
propaganda m India which Bamford adnutted the M O 1 was unable to
do My theme on propaganda to India was this the M of I approach 1s
to boost Britsh achuevements ctc , with the implication that India 15 very
lucky to be able to belong to the Bntish Commonwealth I said that
the approach must be to boost Indian acluevements with the implica-
tion that the Briish Commonwealth 1s very lucky to have so valuable
a mermber

November 16

Bulabhai Desa1 Jeader of the Congress party in the Assembly came 1o
se¢ me yesterday evenung—I had asked to sce him Rather an attractive
person with a pleasant voice He was all sweet reasonableness 1 hus
proposals for measures to ease the present situation 1n fact hus 1deas seem
to bear a distinct resemblance to the recommendations I have made to
H M G He wanted a National Government under the present constitution
formed of members drawn from the exisung legtslature—and of course
the release of the Working Commuttee and replacement of Section 93
Governments

November 20

A moderately quet weekend but any number of files T have to make 4 or
5 speeches shortly—to the Chamber of Princes to the Naval training shap
at Bombay (Dufferin) to the Chamber of Commerce at Calcutta at
Cawnpore and posubly when I visit the Army at Imphal. T am not very
good at speeches I hate being hurned over them but seldom finish them
it good tume

Sapru s proposed Commuttee announced thus mommg will be hailed
with delight by HM G as an excuse to postpone consideration of my
proposals T have told PSV to drafta ware to S of § to ask that my
proposals may be considered even if'they have eventually to be postponed
till Sapru s Commmuttee has reported

At Gandhe s prompting the veteran Liberal poliician Sir Tey Bahadur
Sapru was wnd iced to set up a Commitiee ﬂf Hf:s Non-Party Cﬂﬂﬁrence—-
a moribund politieal body—to study the constitutional problem and attempt
a soltition njf:r Nothmg tmportant came cgf this
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Noevember 26

I think Indsan ‘polincal cxrcles” have guessed that there 1s something afoot,
or ought to be G D Burla, Jinnah and Mirza Ismail! have all been around
taking soundings Birla had a long talk with Jenkins, who gave nothing
away It all really amounted to the fact that they are most anxious 1n all
polttical parties for HM G to mave, and I think prepared ta accept some-
thing on the hines of my proposal to HM G T don’t think there can have
been a leakage, but 1t does look as 1f they knew or guessed something

November 28

The house has been full of Governors’ wives and others for WV § and
Red Cross conferences, run by Her Ex. who must be having a frightful

time There has also been a conference of Rulway managers, all of whom
came to Junch.

Meanwhile T have been strugglng with six speeches winch I have to
dehiver 1 the first half of next month, the one to the Chambers of Com-
merce at Calcutta beng the important one

The routine work too has been heavy

The P M has acknow ledged receipt of my letter m a telegram which
1 am sure mdicates his determination to do nothing whatever nll the

war 1s over I shall obviously have to make some very deternuned move
if India 15 to have consideration 1n the near future

November 30

Srivastava 10 a discussion with me today told me that after the Congress
success at the polls and assumptions of office in U P 1n 1937, the leading
industnalists—all I thmk Hindu—got together and decided to finance
Jinnah and the Mushm League and also the Mahasabha, as the extreme
Communal parties to oppose Congress who they feared mreht threaten
thewr fmancual profits I said I constdered 1t a most 1immoral proceeding
and Sovastava merely sad  bur polities are immoral’

[ have been speech bound for the last 10 days trying to wnite my

specches for the forthconung tour especally the Caleutta speech but am
snll practically speech-less

December 3

Work has been heavy but nothung sensatonal

On the matter of evtra pay for Japanese campasgn S of § has sent 2
senies of most confused and 1llogical telegrams I could make nesther head

¥ 3 r Mirza bnail, Dewnan of Mysore 1076~41 Prime Minuster of Ja 19426 Prime
Mumster of Hyderzbad, 19467 Jupur 19
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nor tai] of them but P S V has managed to interpret theiwr meanmg The
result 15 even more illogical than before and wall really satisfy nobody

H.H. of Bhopal came to see me this momng just before a meeting of
the Standing Commuttee of the Princes He expressed humself disappointed
at the answer I had sent to their representations at the September mecung
He came agam at 2 30 pm sad his Standing Commuttee meeting had
lasted tll 1 20 p m and that they wished to restgn 1sard he must have had
a difficult meeting, that 1t was titesome for him to lose his Commuttee at
this time, and that [ must awast the receipt of their formal resignation

Later, at dmner ime I got the formal resignation of the Chanecllor,
Pro-Chancellor and whele Standing Commuttee I wonder what the next
move ts

The Septenmber meeting with the Princes, which 1s briefly referred to in the
jotirnal entry Ifﬂr 16 September, had apparently passed off without any particular
diffienslty  The Prices sere mamly appreliensive about schemes that spere
beg put forward for gronpmg smaller States together for admumstrative
prrposes or for attachuny ther to larger States One such attachment scherme’
in Kathiau ar had been put into force, despate objections by some of the Rulers
but had later been keld by the Courts to be illegal, therenpon the illegality
twas summantly eured by Act of Parliament without the Princes bewng consulted
They were upset and alarmed by this procedure

A letter was deafted and approved by the Secretary of State, dealng itk
representations that they had made on this and other matters at the September
meetitg  Though 1t was conctlatory 1 tone ond said that the Kathiawar
Attachment Scheme would not be repeated, 1t did not grant the Princes any
special concession Thewr disappowntment at this letter was the pretest for the
resignation of the Standmg Committee

Decetitber 5

The resignation of the Prmces has of course made a sensation Tt will be
exploited by the Nationalist Press and enemy propaganda and 1s a qre-
some affawr, but 1t 15 surely a blunder from the Princes” pomnt of view and
I think they wall soon realise 1t

We had a big party from 7 to 9 pm for the Princes Wyhe tells me he
has good mformation that the “criss’ was the work of Bhopal and the
Jam Sahib who forced or bluffed the rest of the Standing Commnurtee 1nto

Algng

December 6

A very long day I had an mnterview with Bhopal who gave a2 most dis-
ingenuous account of the resignation of the Standing Commuttee It1s now
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clear that he and the Jam Sahtb deliberately engineered the ‘crisis’, and
forced the Standing Commttee to resign, without even tellng them the
result of tus interview with me or of the contents of the Political Depart-
ment’s reply to their representations, or anyway giving them time to
digest 1t 1 discovered that when he saw me at 2 30 p m on December 3,
and professed humself unable to control hus Standmg Commutree, he had
already had in hus pocket the resignation document which he had himself
signed and forced the others o stgn [ told hum that I thought the Princes
had made a very serious blunder, and had shown grave discourtesy to the
Crown, and had done themselves no good by bnnging their affairs into
public discusston He was obviously 11l at ease, and professed himself
willing to do anything to retneve lus blunder

I had an hour's talk with Jinnah He showed hus attractive side and was
friendly and sensible He professed himself walling to come mto any
Provisional Government under the present Constrtunen, although he

satd he could convince me that Pakistan was necessary and desirable He
1s certamnly intelligent

December 16

Got back from tour this evening A strenuous affarr ' We went to Bombay
on 7th, 2 long day 6 a m.—11 p m. Next mornmg I went down to the
Docks to see the repawrs after the explosion, very well done, and about
mrdday took off for Hyderabad
We spent December 8~13 10 Hyderabad It was very strenuous but i
some ways easief than I had expected The Nizam, of whose eccentnaty
and personal habats I had heard so much, was 1n some ways an agreeable
surprise We had a long dove together from the airfield to the Falaknuma
Palace where we were quartered This pretty well exhausted my small
talk, for HEH was not very helpful Then we paid one another State
visits and this mvolved sitting side by side on ceremontal chairs wath our
stafis 1n long and silent lines on etther side and making formal conversa-
tion for 10 or 15 minutes We managed quite fauly well, but I had to do
practically all the conversation, and 1t does not come easy to me
Three long days of official engagements followed, and on Tuesday, the
12th, the Nizam had a long talk He began with a very fast yorker, as he
said that since all the requests he had to make were m a punted “yellow
book’ which he had sent to me, he need not go into them 1n detarl I had
to say that though I was aware generally of H.E H’s hopes, I knew nothing
of a yellow book. {Wylte of whom I hastily enquured later had akso no
1dea what HLE H. meant but concluded thar he referred to a document of
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several years back) However, the Nizam did not press the subject, and
then went on to enquire about the dispute with the Pninces and resignation
of the Standmg Comtmuttee, on which he was obviously well informed
I told hin frankly my view of the Princes’ action He then went on to ask
about my mterview with Jinnah and the general political situation He 1
no fool and shrewd m a self-interested vay The Nawab of Chhatant who
followed himn obviousty spoke to a brief gaven to hin by HE H on the
great ments of Hyderabad's war effort and the need to reward them
substantially

There were some rather comic madents One was HEH and the
champagne Before the visit the Nizam had wntten to the Resident
expatiating on the high price of champagne and enquinng whether ]
expected 1t to be served to me I told the Resident to relieve H E H's mund
by telling hum that I thought champagne was out of place 1n war tme
However, on this fast mght the major-domo came to me shortly after
dmner began and said the Nizam wished me to dnink champagne with
hinm A champagne glass was placed before me, but no champagne
followed and I heard agitated colloquues of the servants with HLEH on
my left It turned out that the first bottle opened was flat or corked, and 1t
took some courage to suggest to the Nizam that a second bottle should
be broached This too proved flat and there was constermation Finally
someone was found hardy enough to suggest the opentg of a thard bottle
and the Nizam regretfully agreed But that too was wrong and champagne
was given up, the Nizam explaimuing to Her Ex. and myself the high price
the champagne had cost him and the sorrowful waste of hus money ({The
major-domo, a European, explained to me later the H E H. had bought
the champagne years ago and had Lepe 1t standing upright wach fatal
Tesults

Tlm)vmt was rather an ordeal Allsorts ofuresome questions ofetiquette
cropped up, and the Nizam rather delighted in being awkward about
them I hate these problems 1t 15 dificult to steer berween the Scylla of
bemng pompous and the Charybdis of letting down the dignity of the
office Another problem 1s the matter of gifts The Nizam sent some round
shortly before we left There was his photograph and a book of his own
poems but there was also a necklace of problematical value for Her Ex
There does not seen any very strict guude about these presents, I was told
that the practice was to accept them and place them 1n a sort of public
treasure chest, whence they were sold and proceeds used to purchase gafts

which Viceroy had to present
Hyderabad 15 a freakish place, a cunous muxture of modern and
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meduaeval, of progress and of stagnation, under the despotic rule, except
so far as Bntish mfluence restrans hum, of an odd personality But the
Nizam was less odd, more shrewd and less physically debilstated than T
had been led to expecr

We got to Calcutta in the early afternoon of the 13th Casey seemed to
have fewer problems than usual He has an ‘embarras de nee’ at the

moment and would very gladly part with large quanties 1f we could
guarantee to replace st in the second half of 1945 I like the Caseys very

much and they are domng 2 great job of work mn Bengal and actually seem
to hike Bengalis

Next day T mspected the Calcutra Light Horse before breakfast, and
made my speech to the Chambers of Commerce at 11 2 m. On the 15th
[ flew to Imphal and krughted Sm Chnsnson Scoones and Stopford

Mountbatten Leese and Browning were there

On December 16 we flew back to Delhs stopping at Cawnpore on the
way to open the Hallett hospital quute a good building

December 20

I had a long talk to Wyhe on 18th He

success and that Her Ex 1 especral created 2 great mmpression He per-
suaded me, rather against my own Judgement to cancel the visit to Bhopal

My mstmet was to carry 1t out despite all Bhopal’s tiresorneness It looks

as 1t T might be 1 for a show~down, with the Princes, and I am not quute
sire that T am ready for it

Strvastava was very grateful for my
on the work of the Food Department

says vistt to Hyderabad was 2

rematks m the Calcutta speech

December 22
The usual routme for the last few days The meeting with C-in-C and
FM over the

Japanese Campaign Pay went better than T hzd expected
We all agreed that the S of S s halforate proposals were quite 1llogteal
and unacceptable and that either all ranks of the Indian Army should

receive at full rates i India or none Batish or Indian ‘We all agreed that
cveryone should recerve them east of a certam Ime

Detcember 25

Nothing of great importance late]
. that the War Cabinet wouyld

homic and advocated 1 myself’ From Ins telegrant 1t was obvious that they
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would much sooner I didn’t hurry, and he used the Sapru Commattee as
an excuse for delay and suggested that I should vwaie till that had reported
I think the sooncr I go the better But I shall think 1t over for a day or so,
I can’t go before the end of January because of the visit to Nepal

December 31

A quet weck, one of the quietest I have had smee I became Viceroy, but

all the same my trays were never really empty

I have cabled § of S, proposing to go home about January 25 for a
fortmghte

So ends 1944 On the whele not a bad year for India I have kept her on
a farrly cven kecl, and can claim credit for some successes [ think 1t was
quite an achicvement to get 1,000,000 tons of food almost, after HM G
had twice at least dechined flatly to send any more And I have had some
progress made with post-war economic development, though not nearly
as much as 1s required or as I had hoped The machine 15 desperately slow
and cumbrous, and few of the personnel are really first—class 1don’t know
whether T could have done more to improve the coal situation, I did
realise the necd for action at once and tried my best to remedy the defects
1n organtzation and to increase production

I think I did well in getting a quick and generous financeal settlement
after the Bombay explosion

On the polittcal side we have made no progress, and T have undoubtedly
disappointed the hopes of political India which were rased by Gandlu s
release

I think s rclease was correct, though I am still not quite sure that he
would have got out so easily f Thad been m Delhy, I should certamly have
msisted on another medical OPIIIOn [ believe hus refease has done gnc}d orn
the whole I am sure I have been right not to see ham until he could show
some reasonable proposal, and anyway HLM G would never have allowed

1t T think I have been nght to back vp Khizar 1 the Punjab aganst
Jinnah s attempt to duisrupt the Umonist Ministry

I have now at least put a defimte proposal to HM G and have made
them take notice of 1t 1945 will show whether [ can pet 1t across with
them, and if I can, whether I can get 1t across wath the Indians, and in the

unlikely event of these two improbabilittes happenmg, whether T can
make 1t work and set India on the night road Tam afraid that the hopes
are slender, I have less opmon than ever of Indun capacity for leader-
shup and statesmanstup and commonsense, nor do I thnk that I have

a strong enough personality to put through the almost superhuman task of
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persuading Indra to be a nation I concerve that my rwo mamn objects must
be first to try and Persuade Indians that thE}' have 1t 1n them to be a great
nation, and secondly to persuade Whitehall of the paramount importance
to Bniush prestige, Brish secunty and Bntish prospenty to secure a
satisfactory but generous settlement of the Indian problem

The trouble about the first 15 that there 1s hardly any sense at all of
nattonhood 1n India or of leadership likely to produce st few of them see
beyond therr own personal or sectional mterests There 1s no greatness
about India yet I wonder if there ever will be Even the Pninces have nc
leaders nor dreamers of dreams, they too seem to be thiking only of
personal pomp and prestige or personal gain Has India 2 great future or
1s her great future zlready behind her?

In Whutehall there 15 1ignorance and prejudice to overcome, it 1s curious
how little they seem to know or to care about India and her problems
Officaal carcles still treat Induz as a2 naughty child, whereas she has reached
the more tiresome age of adolescence—I am speaking m regard to British
rule—and will leave the parental protecting home of the Batish Comnton-
wealth and perhaps go wrong altogether unless gven a Jatch-key,
sympathy and 2 good desl of freedom.

Even it I manage to hold down this job for my full five years, I could
make httle impression on the siation, but the above are the general
prmaiples I should like to work on

Evan Jenkins has been a great matnstay, and I have leaned heawily on

him His extraordmary eapacity for work, clear-headedness and detaled
knowledge have been invaluable, and I could not have got on with-

out him

It 15 hard to say how we have done on the socal side, all nght I hope
Her Ex 15 of course an outstanding success as Vicereine I think the
atmosphere 1 the Viceroy s House 1s friendly without loss of dignity, and
the Staff have done their work well I have heard a good deal of tesimony

to the way the AD Cs look after guests But 1t 15 hard work and very
easy to make a bad mistake we may have made some already

Someone {was it Dr Johnson?) defined golf as the art of drecting a
small ball into 2 hole with instruments singularly 1ll-adapted to the
purpose It would serve as quite a good description of Indian politics
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January 2
1945 has opened quietly Practically the only discusston in Council today
was on the ghit of rice in Bengal and measures hecessary to get 1t tumned
over and prevent 1ts deterjoration

January 5
Little Menon! spoke of an interview he had had wath Sapru, who was
apparently of the opiruon that [ was completely opposed to progress
Menon said he satisfied him that 1 was not, and Sapru sard that a move by
HMG would be welcome even 1f lus Commuttee had not reported

January 7
S of S has wired that War Cabmnet wall not have time to see me at home
before March owing to meeting between the Big Three They obviously
want to delay as long as possible the moment when they have to take
a dectsion about India 1 suspect they will find other reasons for delay by
March

January 11
We had 2 National Defence Councyd on the 8th oth and 1oth Rather a
tame affair, even little famnadas Mehra had fietle to say and the proceedings
were rather dull

Counail fasted all mornng today It looks as 1f Bengal mght have to
export 200 000 tOns of nce 1 order to tum over the stocks thﬂj,r have
accumulated, but I am not sure that they will have the nerve to do 1t Old
Jogendra Singh gave Ius free-trade hare 115 usual run, and Aziz-ul-Haque
chased 1t as usual

Jannary 13
We had another Council meeting yesterday on the status of our High
Commussioner m South Afnca,

! Rao Bahadur V P Menon Reforms Commussioner 1942~7, an Indian officul of

outstandmg abiliey who played a leading role mn the fina] Transfer of Power and mn the
subsequent Integration of the States
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Meanwlile PSV was seeing Bulabhar Desar, the Congress Leader
of the Assembly, who represented that be had the agreement of both
Gandhi and Jinnzh to propose a Coalthion Government at the Centre, and
simalar Governments 1 the Provinces under the cxastimg Constatutton as
a war ime measure, 1n fact hus proposals are very near what I have put to
HM G Thave cabled to H M G that I propose to see Diesat on my returmn

from tour, and that this approach cannot be disregarded. They wall be
convinced that I have engincered 1t, to force their hand, since I have scen
both Desat and Jinnah recently I think 1t may be an advantage 1n some

ways that the approach has come from the Indian nde But T shall hasve
some Lively passages wvath HM G

January 19

Got bacl this evening from five days camp 1n Nepal Tera: with Maharaja.
The party shot twelve tagers and six thino It was good fun and a very
pleasant change 1n an attractive part of the country

We were very comfortable and the atmosphere was very fniendly The
old Maharaja (Joodha} was very well and m good form, I hled hum.
There was a ceremony (spring festival) on the mornmg of the 18th, at
which HH. and his family wore their gorgeous headdresses sohid wath
diamonds, pearls, emeralds and rubies and topped wath birds of paradise,
and H.H and swte came 1 after dinner on last evenmg to make a short

speech and propose my health to which I repled and proposed the
Maharapa’s otherwise there were no soctal contacts and we hved m
separate camps

A huge pile of work on retumn War cabinet v ery annoyed at my seeing
Desu tomorrow—I had refused to cancel the appomtment made before
1 went on tour—but gave a grudging consent

Janniary 20

I had two important interviews this mornmg  with Khuzar and Desa
Khizar was 1n good beart 1n spue of Chhate Ram’s death, he warned me
aganst the machmatrons both of Congress and the League In fact K 18

really quite content with things 25 they are, and has really no great wish
to sever the Batish connection

L had 45 minutes with Desas mainly asking fum gueshions about his
proposals to ascertain exactly what he had 1n mind and what real supporr

he had. He was all sweet reasonableness m his answers to my questions
and seemed frank and friendly but how much backing he really has

cannot say, 1 wired home a summary of my talk and said thas T must sce
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Jnnah 1f HM G ate prepared to go further with the proposal 1 doubt
whether they are, but they may find it a hitele difficult to say so

Meanwhile I have to cope with a cunous (Stafford Cripps called 1t
‘starthing’, Amery says) proposal which S of § has evolved and put to
War Cabmnet It practically amounts to giving India Dormumon status
under present Constirution and present Executive Councl It seems to me
quite unworkable, both for constitutional and psychological reasons
S of § has 2 cunous capaaty for getting hold of the nght stick but
practically always the wrong end of 1t

January 25

Thus afternoon I saw Jogendra Singh charmung and rather woolly as usual

He 15 the most attractive character of my Executive Counail I think, and
has the nght 1deas but not a very practical grasp of realites Hydan on the
other hand who was my next visitor 1s a very practical young man and
I thunk on the whole more ‘Enghsh’ in hus outlook than any offical
Indan T have met Ronald Adam A G at the War Ofhice, turned up in
the evening he was as full of gossip as ever and told me of the next
meeting-place of the Big Three and approximate date PM will ben 4
much less dominating position than at previous conferences both Presi-
dent and Stalm have realised their superior strength—of their national
power for the ttme bemg T mean I wonder if P M, who 1s the biggest
man of the threc will still be able to assert his domunant personality A
great triumph 1f he can, the oldest man of the three with the weakest hand

to play

Jannary 28

Returned this evenung from a weekend at Bikaner The usual sand grouse
shoot small duck shoot and bustard shoot

H.H asked for my help on a few private matters, and then menttoned
the resipnation of the Standing Comumittee, though I think he had not
ongnally mtended to do so I think they all realise now that they made a
bad blunder and want to get out of 1t with as little loss of face as possible

On return ] found the usual mass of files and two 1mportant telegrams
from Cabinet on the Desa1 proposals mamly raising petty and unimagina-
¢tve objections of detad' but they are drarg ar ¢ poopossl 2l dle sunme

January 30
I sent three telegrams to the Cabmet yesterday on the Desa proposals
answering the two they had sent me The first two were drafted by PS V
I 160 I
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and dealt succmetly and effectively wath the pomts they had raised, the
third was a personal message drafted by myself to the effect that they had
the best chance they have had for a long time, or were bikely to have, to
make a moderate advance mn the Indtan problem and that they had better

take 1t at once and not worry too much about details or compansons with
the Cripps offer, etc.

January 31
Counal meeting this morming The only subject that aroused much dis-
cussion was Ambedkar’s proposal to re-tmpose the ban on women work-
mg m the mmes by a fixed date All members except Srivastava professed
sympathy with the proposal but agreed that in view of the coal situation
and the war we could not tmpose the ban within any foreseen perod.
Srivastava said frankly that he thought the women would resent the re-
imposition of the ban, that he saw no reason agamst their working mn the
munes 1f they wanted to, and that he thought they should be allowed to as
long as they liked (Atan early stage m the proceedings Srvastava caused

some amusement by complatning that Shankar, the Hindustan Times

cartoontst always drew hum wath no clothes on except a towel, because
he had once met lum m 2 Turkish bath)

February 17

Came back this evening from 2 foramght’s tour to Mysore Travancore
and Cochin Very strenyous a usual and on the whole rather less interest=
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get hus own way How good the State adnumistration really 1s belund 1ts
impresstve facade 1t 15 hard 1o say

On February 15 we motored on to Coclun and spent the next two days
there Cochin has a very close affinity to Travancore, bur 1s more old-
fashtoned and less well advertised The Maharaja 15 an old gentlemnan of
nearly 8o with a very hmuted corumand of Englsh His prospective suc-
cessor 1s over 7§, and owing to the working of the matriarchal system of
successton—and [ suppose the philoprogetutiveness of the Cochin Royal
family —there arc tome 200 i the succession line now alive, and hittle
prospect of a Ruler succeeding much under the age of 7o for any fore-
sceable period ahead This matriarchal methed of succession 15 peculiar to
Travancore and Cochin—and I believe the Malabar coast—but no one
seems able to explan 1ts ongin—even Frazer's Golden Bough 15 silent and
the Encyclopaedia Britanmica vague, but T imagine that 1t must denive
from a practice of polyandey Its present operation seems to result i the
Maharajas being only figureheads and the power resting with Dewans—
posstbly no bad thing, if they are wisely chosen

Just before I started on tour, § of S sent another long telegram of
Cabunet hesteations, doubts and objections on the Desaz propasals I cabled
that I would see Jinnah and Desat on return, to which HM G had given
a grudging consent, and then report results, but that T must know earliest
date when HM G could see me, as a long iterval might be fatal

February 20

As usual on my return from a tour I have been busy cleanng off arrears of
work and getting up to date with events Except for mercy petitions from
murderers of which I must have dealt with at least $0 i the last few days,
the accumulations of work were not heavy, but there have been two
Council meetings and the ordinary routine has been quute heavy

The two Council Meetings, yesterday evenmg and this evenmng, were
on the Budget praposals A proposal to mntroduce a Death Duttes Bill and
to make a motion for its exrculation arcused a good deal of fechng, though
Dalal pointed out that fresh sources of taxation must be found if any soctal
progress was to be made But feelings were too heated, so I broke off the
meeting and said we would meet agam this evenmg

When the Courrcrl met thus evenng all went like clackwoark, Finance
Member agreed simply to introduce the Bull and to make no motton for
circulation This would avoid opposition i the Assembly, as a monion to
mtroduce 1s never opposed Otherwise the Budget proposals, which were
not i any way drastic, had an easy nide
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February 26

Bhopal has wrntten on behalf of the Princes after therr Bombay conference
to request me to hold bye-clections to re-constitute the Chamber I wrote
back and suggested that tt would be much simpler if they withdrew thetr
resignations [don tknow how they will recetve this Ithink they wall prefer
to show the firmness of their front by getting themsclves all re—clected
On the political side I found Jinnah was in Bombay and not hikely to
come to Dellu for some time so I got Colwille to see lum and ask hunt his
attitude to the Desa1 proposals He disclumed all knowledge of Lizquat 51
talks with Desat an obvious falsehood T am sure but suid that he was
prepared to cousider an offer and would be wn Delht on March 6 He 1
playing hs usual shppery game in fact Meanwhile the Sind Government
seems to be revolung from League control the N W FP Government
likely to fall and the Umomst Minstry m the Pungab consoldatng eself

Bhulabhar Desar claymed that i wformal talls with Liaquat Al Khan tl e
latter hiad agreed to Ius proposals for a Congress=League Cﬂa?mﬂn Goi ernment
at it e Centre and for similar Governments i the Provinces Later Liaguat
detied this i the Asseinbly but told D sar prisately that he was ::M:fﬂf fo

deny ¢ for polttical reasons Jimah uas beheved to have been annoyed u it
hsm for havw ¢ talks wath Desas

Fibrisary 28

1 had three quarters of an hour with Sapru who came to lunch and he told
me of the progress of lus Comnuttee I doubt whether he really expects
anything approachung a solution from it He ended by saymg that if
Indins fnl to agree, H M G must impose a solution 1 asked whether he
expeeted us to force 2 Umited India on the Moslems if that was our
solution or Paksstan on the Sikhs ifwe deaded to divide India He merely
sud that we were the men in possession and that it was up to us to find the
wWay out

Leathers has declined to find shipping for more than 40 000 tons of
wheat 2 month about half whnt we need and 1 looks as if we maxy 500N

be back at the old struggle for food

March 3

Longsh Councll mecting this evening mamly on the question of the
safeguards i the Consutution to protect Bntish business Everyonc 1s

Nawabzada Liaquat Al Khan the de f fo lead r of the Mushn League 1n the Central
Assernbly and Jnnah s No 2 He was later Pnime Munuster of Pakistan
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agreed they should go, and HM G has promused that they wall not be
meluded 1n a fresh Constitution It was a question of tacties to be adopted
in an Assembly debite tomorrow which demands immediate action by the
G of I to get the safe-guard Sectnions removed and for the appomntment
of 2 Commuttee of the Leguslature to exanune the question § of § has
warned us that HM G would not agree to remove the Sections unal a
new Constitution was made and that any attempt on our part to do so
would be most unpopular and meet with a rebuff, while 2 Comnnttee
would be Iikely ta embarrass both ourselves and HM G So our problem
was to show our full agreement with the House but to avoid becoming
commutted cither to tmmediuate demand for their repeal or to a Com-

mittee I think we got 2 fanly satsfactory dectsion 1n the end  but what
will happen in the actual debate today 1s a hittle doubtful

March 3

I presented five V Cs to Indan soldiers or their widows this momng,
and we gave tea to about 500 or 600 Indian servicemen who had provided
the guards on the parade, this aftemoon How smart and well-turned-out
the Indian soldier always 1s, compared wath the rather casual Bntsh.

A Counal meetng on Japanese Campaign Pay went well, and we
settled at last this controversial 1ssue Rather surprnisingly, the telegram
conveying HLM G ’s deciston began with three paragraphs of apology
for the way G of I was treated by the ongmal decision bemng taken with-
out consultation Ialmost believe I am beginning to put India on the map

of Whitehall

Panala and Bilaspur were staymg for the V C parade, since two of the
recipients came from their States A cunous contrast of all the present
Princes I suppose Patiala looks most like a Maharaja, and Balaspur least like
a Raja 1 rather Ike Patiala though I would never trust um very far, and
he 15 1n his rather arrogant way, a magmficent loocking man Bilaspur
dresses and looks like an msignificant looking trader or attorney, and has
rather Urtah-Heep-like manners bute I fancy he 1s shrewd

March 10

Jinnah who was to have seet me on March 71s sick Tam told that he has
a touch of pleurisy and may be laid up for some ume Meanwhile I cannot
get a date from HM G for my visit home, I don’t thunk the PM wants
me at all and will procrastinate as long as possible I don’t mtend to let
them use Desat and Juinah as reasons for delay After all, the prinaple of
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my gomp home for a discusston was accepted long before Desar’s pro-
posals came up, and 1t 15 the mind of HM G that I want to know

rather than the munds of Desat and Jinnah Ishallsend S of § 2 cable this
weekend

My Govemnment continue to be beaten 1 the Assembly, and are [ think
getting a hittle rattled Desa1 and Liaquat are obviously out to show me
that 1 had better get nd of my Executive Council and give them the
loaves and fishes I am told that Desar has been offesmg portfohios to his
friends That sort of thing 1s not the best way to do business wrth me
I have made up my mund not to see Desar again before I go home

March 13

Counal thts everung on Sargent’s' Educanion report Not a very satis-
factory performance, the Communal Spinit being given full play Firoz
Khan Noon having as usual read none of the papers, dehivered a most
forctble denuncration of the Report from the point of views of Mushims in
ceneral and the Panjabn parnenlar, whach be said would never aceept the
prinaples of 1t He was only momentanly disconcerted when 11 was
pomted out to hum that the Report was signed by the Punjab Munster of
Education and another Punjab representative, and that the Punjab
Government as a whole had since then accepted the principles of the
Report Firoz Khan Noon said he would have to speak to Khizar about
this Ambedkar of course delivered a harangue 1in favour of the Depressed
Classes and also of the Conmunal Tnbes Snivastava was discumively remu-
niscent of hts days as Educatton Mimster an the U P, Anz ul Huque, who
likes talking prartled along for some time on nothmg mn parteular, 2nd
only Dalal really got back to bustness I had to ask the Member, Jogendra

Smgh, to put up another Summary gving Counail some really definie
potnts for decision 1n order to get the Fducation business started But
obviously feeling 15 going to run hieh.

Vareh 14

S of § sull caznnot get date for my viar from P M but 15 gowng ahead
with arrangements ¢ g the officul announcement The proposed word-
g suggests that 1t 15 a sudden deastion by HM G I am: msisung that st
should be made clear thae the suggestion was made by me six months ago,
otherwise 1t will appear as 1€ 4t was duc 10 Daar s move

! Suir John Sarpent Lduauons! Advuer ta the Covernment of India
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March 15

S of § cabled this morming that as Attlee would be busy with the San
Franaisco conference they must postpone my wisit till June I cabled an
mndignant protest but shall not get any change The discourtesy of the
thing annoys me No apology, no explanation, yust a contemptuous
wave of the hand—"Tel] Indux o wart il st’s nrore convencent’

Two Mushm League Governments have been in trouble, Sind and
NWEP In Sind Hidayatullah has managed to emerge sull in charge,
after a most unsavoury exhubition of disloyalty and mtrigue by all con-
cerned In N W EBP Aurangzeb was defeated, he 15 Iess adrort a politician
than Hidayatullah Congress under Dr Khan Salub has taken office, I
wonder how long that wall last,

March 17

HMG came back queckly on my cable and said that since I felt strongly
on the matter I had better come home at once and that a plane would be
at Karachi ready to take me on the mormung of the 21st

March 20

We are off home this afternoon  All rather a rush I informed Councl
yesterday evening I believe that Desat has made them believe that T am
pledged to hum and that T am gomg to put Congress strarght into power
on my return which 15 certamly the last thung Iintend I wonder whether
I shall get any policy atall out £ HM G

Colwille arnved about midday to act for me while I am home and I put
him 1nto the picture as far as possible

Cairo-—rLarch 21

Left Dellu 2 pm yesterday and ammved Karachi about 7 p m.

Dow was as caustic as usual about Smd Polittes and Sindlus 1 general
Hidayatullah the Premier whom I think he trusted to a certamn extent
doubfe-crossed him and lus own colleagues durning the recent cnisis whch
has made Dow even more eymical and disillusioned than vsual He said the
Ministry had appomted an anti-corruption officer but that s chuef job
was to keep an eye on the few honest ones and see that they did not give
trouble He spoke of the general wearmess of the Furopean side of the
admimistration and the general subserviency of the Provinetal administra-
tion to the Minsters smce the Province was so small that the Mimsters

1 This wasthe first Congress Minustry to take othee after all of them had resigned 1n 1939
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conld, and did, put thar fingers i every pie. Dow 15 very provinctal atd
does not take a wide outlook, but he knows his Sind pretty well

In Cairo Miles Lampson (Killearn) at the Embassy seemed 1n v ery good
form and put us up to date with the latest Cairo gossip I asked him about
Palestine and he told me that HHM G had proposed partitton last August,
very secretly, but that everyone on the spot had objected He agreed that

1t was scandalous that India with go mulhon Mushms should never even
have been mformed of tlus proposal

March 23

Amved Poole 230 pm., Amery, Linlithoow, and others met us at

Victoria and we went to Dorchester where a swte had been booked
for us

March 24

Talked with Linhthgow for an howr m the morming He was as usual very
sensible and practical on Indian affairs but a bt dry and cynucal I think
his trouble i Indsa was that he 1s too wedded to efficiency to male allow -

ance for Indian mefficiency, and never grasped that the Indian thinks and
acts a great deal more with his heart than hus head He said that he had kept
entirely clear of pohucs and any expression of views on Inda since he
came home {except for the address to a Parllamentary body which he sent
me), he thought 1t was the duty of any ex-Viceroy to do thss, 1n justice to
hus successar He asked whether T would caze to tell ham anything of my
1deas, and I showed hum my letter to Winston He approved of 1t as 2
statement of the case but sard he thought [ was rather too optimisne in my
esumate of the posstbihities of makang progress He then detaded the
obvious risks and objections, which T had already considered, and fimshed
by asking 1n an indireer way whether I was prepared to go to the lengths
of resignation 1f the PM proved intractable, and had I considered the
possible damage to the war cffort and general position that such action
mught cause He spoke of the interests of big busiess in mantainng some-
thing like the status quo in India He was friendly as always and I lthe lam’
In the afternoon I had an hour and a half with Amery I fele that we had
‘great argument zbout 1t and abaut but evermore came out by the same
doorasm wewent’ 1don’t think there was anythung fresh that came out
We fimished by an almost heated argument about Palestine, he upholding

the Zionsst powt of view, | arpuing the interest of the Indiin Mushms m
the problem and the Anab case
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March 26

Two hours with Cabmet Commuttee on India this moming  Attlee,
Amery, Cnpps, John Anderson, Simon, Gagg, R A B 1 Butler, Gilbert
Laithwaite? as Sccrctary, Listowel? mn attendance 1 made a statement on
situatzon in Indta and outlined my proposals 1was then cross~questioned

mamly on personalittes and matters of detat], and on the risks volved

The atmosphere generally was friendly, no one seemed to have any
alternative proposals though they stressed the dangers and difficulties of
making any move After two hours, they decided to thuk it all over and
hive another mecting at 1030 pm tomorrow Simon, who had been
making a lot of legalistic and constitutional points which had really not
very much bearing on the question at 1ssue took me aside afterwards and

satd that he was really only trying to be helpful and sympathetie, but was
apprehensive of the nisks mvolved 1 told him that no one realised them
more than I did but that one could get nowhere wathout taking risks He
asked about wathdrawal of Quut India resolution and Isaad that I considered
that dead but that to try and bury the corpse mipht revive it He asked
what I proposcd to do about a pledge to forward the war and I said I pro-
posed to get 2 new Councal if one was formed to 1ssue a statement that
they would fully support the war
Fiished day by seemng Grelgud’s Hamlet, a very fine performance

March 27
Spent the mormng at India Office S of S sard he thought yesterday’s

meeting went very well

We had another meeting of the India Commuttec at 10 30 pm It got
us little, of any further after 1} hours discussion What 1t comes to 1s that
they none of them bke my proposal and see and rase all the obvious
objections But none of them seem to have an alternative Simon as usual
rased lawyer hike and constitutional points of detail, John Anderson spoke
of the responsibility of the House of Commons wiich my proposals do
not alter and of the sins of Congress generally, Attlee inveighed against
my proposals as un-democratic, I pomted out that the body I proposed
was certamly more democratic so far as any demtocracy at all existed 1
India than the present Executive Council There was alot of indeternunate

1 Wavell always wrote R A B Butler (for R A Butler) because he was familarly
known as Rab Butler

2 51t Gilbert Lanthwaite an India Office off c1a! who had been Prnivate Secretary to Lord
Linkhithgow when he was Viceroy

3 Earl of Listowe]l Pathamentary Under Secretary of State for India, 1044 § Secretary
of State for India 1047
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skirrmshing between Cnpps and Attlee and Grgg, and nothing very
defimte However, we are perhaps making progress of a sort in allowing
everyone to get the posttion clear It was finally deaded that anyone who

wished should put up an alternative solutton, and that we would meet
agam after Faster I drove R. A B Butler back to the Dorchester, and he
saxd that on the whole I was getting on well and having 2 comparatvely

calm passage

March 28

Quiet mormmg at India Office Went to see HM at Buckingham Palace
at 1 p m. He had, 1 thmk, been told by PM that [ was casting spanner mto
works over [ndia but did not press lus questions on 1t very far, and then
went into general conversation. Q and I lanched afterwards wath the
King Queen and the younger Princess They all seemed mn very good heart,
and they make one feel at home especually the Queen, she takes a great
interest mn the Regmment The King told me before lunch that he had
wanted to vistt the troops in Indua this last wanter but that the PM had
not wished it.
Went to see Laurence Olivier’s Richard I, 2 marvellous piece of acting

March 29

After lunch 1 went to Downing St and had an hour and a quarter wath
P M He began by apologising for not seemng me earlier and explamed he
had been at the Front and had then had to prepare a funeral oration for
Lloyd George He satd he had had no time to consider India but eulogssed
the India Commuttee as a very strong and representative body who would
advise him, He then sad  you must have mercy on us', and proceeded to
state all the problems they had to consider, and the reasons for delay m
constdering Indiz which he thought could be kept on 1ce He mentioned
probability of early General Election. I said quite firmly that Incha was
very urgent and very unportant, that the problems would be just as
difficult 1 all parts of the world at the end of the war as now, and that
I could see no reason to postpone the 1ssue The P M then launched into
a long jerermad about India whach lasted for about 40 munutes He seems
to favour pastition mto Pakwtan Findustan, Princestan et , has very old-
fashsoned 1deas about the problem, and seems to see no ray of hope He
talked as2f I was proposing to Quur India’, change the Constitution, and
hand over India night away and 1'had to mzerrupt him a number of imes
He was fnendly on the whole but I thought he seemed depressed and
lacking 1n fire
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Then I'went back t01 O and saw Cripps He sad the whole India Com-
mittee were now m favour of making some move, except Ssmon They
were however afraid i my proposal that the Exccutive Council meght be
too much swayed by party caucuses John Anderson was puttng up a
proposal for an Advssory Council elected from the Central and Provincial
legrslatures, out of which the Viceroy would select his Executive Council
Isa:d we should obviously have to constder such a proposal Cripps scemed
to think prospects were considerably brighter than they had been before
I came home

Next 1 had 45 munutes with Leathers We talked first of the PM s
health, then he spoke of all the shupping and transport dificderes He satd
there was sufficency of wheat but that transport was lacking to get the
wheat to the ports and from the ports to destination He said India’s foed
requirements and § E A C 's nulitary requirements could not both be met
and that there would have to be a cutin the Eastern shippmg Tasked where
all the ships were, and the answer seemed to be, mamly m the Paalfic,
where 6 to 7 rullion tons 1s absorbed m slupping used sumply as store-
houses T impressed on him the necessity for 1 000 000 tons of wheat per
annum for India I then asked for more passages to India to emable the
Civil Service to get home for leave before the post-war period He seemed
a little more hopeful about this—after VE Day

I finally mentioned Indun shipping and its post-war aspirations

Apnl 4
Cabinct meeting 1n the evenmg Smuts, Forde and Evatt (Australia) Peter
Fraser {the N Z Prime Munister) and Firoz Khan Noon were there besides
the ordmary attendants The P M spoke of the difficult and unfriendly
attitude of Russia since the Yalta conference of the mughty muilitary
power of the U S A, and hence the need for Empire umty Each of the
Domimon representatives then made a hetle speech begmmng with
Stmuts who stressed the possibilittes of India as a great Eastern power and
the need to keep het in the Empare Then the P M surpnsed me by asking
me to say a few words and prefacing 1t by a eulogy of my mulitary achieve-
ments 1 spoke shortly about the services of India to the War effort her
importance to the Empire’s secunty and welfare and the need for solving
the Indun problena Fuoz Khan Noon sud. rather oprmnastvcally dhox
everyone 1n India was united in wishing to remam n the Empire
I then went to dme wnth Amery and found Attlee there We had about
an hour and a half after dinner on the Indian problem The India Com-
muttee walits to make a move but wants me to artive on my new Counctl
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by a complicated method of election 1 pointed out the difficulties—the
ume 1t would take, the release of all political prisoners which 1t would
mvolve as a preliminary, the danger of getting an entirely unswtable body
out of which to make a selection the difficulty of armving at the numbers
to be elected by each Province etc Istressed the advantages of my proposal
as being quicker and grving more scope for private negotiation as agamst
public discussion mn the Press I don't think Atelee was convinced but he
realsed the difficulties of lus proposal, T think, Amery proposed that I
showld have Indian members for Defence (instead of C 1 C ) and External
Affarrs, neither of which appealed to me, and produced one or two other
red herrings
At s pm there was a Cabinet Commattee on Food for Indiz A new
crisis has ansen in Indra and we want a substanttal quantity of wheat at
once The discussion showed what T suspected was the value of Leathers’
professed friendliness last week, re ml He declared limself unable to
find any shepping and seemed mdifferent to the possibihty of famne m
India The Committee, on the basis of Cherwell’s fatuous calculations,
simply tricd to show that we already had enough food 1n India, whereas
it turned out that we had i fact for some months past been getting only
half of what we should have had, which again was only half of our
requirements An unsatisfactory meeting Wentstraichtontosee Gielgud's
Midsuminer Night's Dream, a fine performance

April 5
Indin Commuttee this momumg at which an extraordinanly woolly
proposal was put up as the Commnttee’s 1dea I don’t think anyone ever
really believed in 1t It proposed quite unnecessary constitutional changes
and an absued Grand Counctl of India with very nebulous ongins and
responstbilittes I stated all the objechions and 1n the end we were back
much where we started From therr ¢niticisms both of my proposals
and of my draft broadcast 1t was obvious that some members of the
committee had not read the papers I had put up, or had forgotten them
I suppose these discussions are essential steps towards progress, but we
scernt to me to be gomg round 1n 3 circle

Conference at IO at 6 pm. with Amery Crpps and all the 1O
officials T thought we were only gomng to talk about techncal questions,
1e amendments to the 1935 Act necessitated by my proposals and those
of Indua Commuttee, but they re-opened this morming’s discusston, so

I stuck very bluntly to my pomt and refused to budge 1am sure these are
the night tactics
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Apnfﬂ

Started the mornng by siting to Epstemn for a bust He 1s an odd, untidy,
rather aggressin g, seif-opironated fittle man whom 1 found attractive and
mtelligent His method of wortking intrigued me, I imagined that a
sculptor would start with a lump of clay and mould 1t to shape, but he
starts from nothing and butlds up the head outwards, sketching all the
time, 50 1o speak. Wentonto 10O S of § seemed to think pohines] salks
were gomg quute well but was all for compromusing on the principle of
some method of electton for my council, 1 order to appease Attlee’s
democratic ideas I stuck quute fiemly by my own rdeas and sristanced the
precedent of the Cripps Mussion, when no one suggested that the Jeaders
with whom Cripps negotiated (nor the Council, if the proposal had been
accepted) should be subject to any form of elecnon I am not gomg to
budge from my posinon 1f I can help 1t

Another food cnisis seems to be blowing up in Indis, and I'shall obviously
have to have at Leathers agamn

Apnil g .

Even Evan 1s rather depressed today and thinks we are heading for an
impasse m the dscussions with the Inda Commuttee, Nothmg ar all
happened about 1t all day except that Sir John Anderson asked me to come
and see hum thus afternoen He explained that what bothered humn was that
m practice the G G ’s powers were bound 10 be curraled by the exastence
of a political Executive Council, and that therefore 1t would be better to
adrmit it at once by legislating for less power or by admutting 1n a statement
it Paclument that the power would be weakened 1 trted to get hun to
see that this would make my task more difficult sice 1t would mean
pressure on me, and that until at was certan that I could form a political
Executive Counct 1t would be folly to give away anythumg He said 1t
would make 1t much easier to get a scheme through the Commuttee 1f I
agreed to hus proposal I left unconvinced but rather unhappy.

A dull Cabmet, but 1t brought home to e the very different atttude
towards feeding a starving population when the starvation 1s m Furope
In this case 1t 15 Holland which needs food, and ships will of course be
avaslable, quute a different answer to the one we get whenever we ask for
ships to brang food 1o Indu

April 10-11

No progress at all
Flew over to Germany to Monry’s headguarters 1n a schloss east of
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Osnabruck Had about s hours with Monty during which he talked pretty

continuously

Apnl 12

Nothing much domg 1n the mommng India Commuttee still preserving a
deep mernas and silence

Cabinet meeting on War crumtnals

Had half an hour wath S of § afterwards mostly on some minoy pomnts
but I rmpressed on him that I must be kept mformed on Palesine He
seemed to think the discussions wath the India Commuttee were going all
rght They met agamn this eveming but did not mvite me

Apni 14

Amery told me that the India Commuttee had produced a scheme which
he thought not too bad considenng all the difficultes He showed 1 me
later and I think that subject to my bemng allowed freedom of action on

certam pomts ¢g when to release pohtical prisoners and method of
selecting new Counal 1t may he acceptable

Apnl 15

Took a walk wath Leo 1n momng and had some general discussion He s
hopeful of proposed solution and thinks 1t may be the beginming of 2
reasonable settlement of Indian affairs But 1t 15 the first step that counts

and that 1s gomg to be a very difficult one I think perhaps more difficult

than Leo realises However we have got the India Commuttee a long step
on the road

Apnl 16

Went to the Treasury with Amery to talk to Sic§ Anderson about sterling
balances St ] A drew the picture of our financal situation Our overseas
Itabihities are £ 3000 million and may nse to £ 5000 We owe India L1000
malhon which may nise 10 £13500 Amery entered 1nto a rather lengthy
techmical disquisition I simply emphasised the polincal and psychological
factors m India and asked that India should at least be treated sympa

thetically as one of the family I said a statemene about the balances te

that we would not repudiate them and an carly discussion with Induan
representatives were desirable

Then discussed India Commuttees draft solutton with Jenkmns and
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Menon, who thought poorly of it, and went along to S of S who was
discussing complacently munor textual amendments with his officials
I stated my objections, briefly but cogently, and we fixed a meeting for
Ioam tomorrow I then dictated 2 note statung my views, to be ready
for tomorrow’s meenng

The fudia Commuttee’s *scheme’ or ‘draft solutwon’, referred to 1 the Journal
entries of 14 and 16 Apnil, seems to have consisted of proposals for modifymng
Wavell's plan 1 two unportant respects

1 Intorder to provide more ‘democratic’ backing for the new Executns e Cotnetl
it was proposed that its members should be selected from a panel chosen by
the Provincial and Central Legishatures

2 Smce the appowtment of an Executis e Connal representative of the mam
Indran political parties would make 3¢ 1 practice (thongh not in constitu-
tronal theory) much more difficnlt for the Governor-General to overnde fus
Council, 1t was proposed that this should be plawmly recogmzed and the
_)Effds defined m 1 uch the Got ernor-General ronld disregard the advee of

15 Councl

Wavell realized that to both these proposals there s ere considerable obyectyons,
and hus reluctance to accept them was confintied by the advice of Jenkins and
Menon The first proposal would bring no tangible g and would lead
tmmediately to the dewmared {toluch conld hardly be resisted) for the release af all
Members of the Legislatures under detention so as to enable them to take par
i1 choosing the panel It was not desirable at the outset of negotiatrons, 1 huch
mught come to nothing, fo be forced to make this concessson Aforeover, 1t was
likely that persons partienlarly well-fitted to be Members of Counal, e ¢
Rajagopalachan, the ex-Premier of Madras, who was temporarily wn disfavour,
ttmuﬁ not be included 11 the panel

The obections to the second proposal were even stronger A change in the
Governor-General’s powers as contemplated would mvolve complicated
legslation and consequent delay, would at once provoke controversy, as the
Congress would demand that the Governor-General s powers should be
whittled away altogether, wonld alarm and ahenate the Musluns and other
minonttres who looked on the Governor-General's powers as a protection for
themselves, and, once agam, would give something away before negotiations
started The desire of poltisans in England to advertise the fact that the
apporntment of a ‘political’ Executive Cotinal would 1in practice mean a
Dot o tha Crveman-Cavanells qouene and henen, vlomatddy, o
Parliamentary Control, was due to a fear that Parliament wonld later complain
that the position had not been properly explamed to 1t From the pont zjf:f:fu
of Delhe the supposed need to protect Patliament from sts own mperaipience
was far outweighed by other considerations
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Apnl 17

Meeting with § of § and officials at 1oa m My note was accepted with
little discusston and wall go to Commuttee Jenks later m the afternoon was
gloomy about the whole thing and says [ shall have a very rough passage

u the Commiuttee tomorrow, fixed for 930am and a stidl rougher one

11t the Cabmet

Aprif 18

Meeting of India Commuttee, to consider my objecttons to the proposed
draft statement Most unfavourable Attlee started attacking me at once,

complaining that T had rejected therr whole scheme out of hand John

Anderson complaned that I would not admat that I was making a radical
change 1n the Consttution Cnpps was absent, Gngg and Simon were
definitely hostile and Butler very unhelpful Leo Amery supported me
manfully and quite shilfully, and T stuck ro my guns, in fact kept on firing
them. An hour and 2 half of desultory and rather acimontous discussion

got us nowhere, but Amery at the end thought we had not done too
badly Iwish I could agree wath him, T fel depressed and ruffled

Apni 10

Evan depressed thas morning and thinks we have faded, but S of § sull
optrmustic. Evan says IO officals are against my proposal and do not

support therr own S of § properly They are a poor lot anyhow I thunk,

April 2325

On 23rd 13 hours with India Commuttee, with Sunon in the chair mstead
of Attlee who had gone to San Franaisco An wnndy, uncontrolled dis-

cussion which led nowhere, hut Leo Amery seems to regard such methods
as inevitable, and leading gradually 1n the neht directon
Cnpps and self met, with Luthwaite, I O
officials and Jenkins and Menon, and proceeded to produce yet another
draft for the Commuttee On the whole sansfactory, and we agreed that
if we three stood pat on thus, 1t would be difficult for India Commuttee or
Cabinet to overnde us, but there will be some difficult passages still.

On 2s5th the India Commyttee met, but without me, they find my
presence troublesome apparently and prefer to come to deasrons wathout

me Then they get annoyed 1f I raise objections to their work later on
However, [ hope Amery and Cripps stood pat




%3
3

i -

) 2R

M

%

J"l’-

“_,.5"'"
! $
H:é <y
15'

3
4
[+
1
hn

Jo

5

i

5

8

A

Y

Hg b

v

1

dr

e

Il

¢

v

a

| 54

d

.

Lo




A
FMLE T {:
A 3
g Toe
ma . |
I{"'Iﬂ- ) - Ttb
L-JJE AN AN we A, -nu—(i( ﬂhzm(}*
; " vy - N Wafmf *
- | T) ) S J:"‘"’"’;[;_"? '/(IE,
13 o ts. “\1 mm '
& %\ - n{“}d ﬂ;«" mm(;j
tYvn f(‘ ‘ ‘ mmm u *
J i‘f 3%“?“ ”b(} E [ﬂ; Lm/'rt fz
ﬂ-ﬂf -y (et m7h\/!m7 : [W
‘I’M.Al Aﬁ'smntz. ;nﬂ:j—uﬂ AEU?M 441';”1‘ mr(i
lu‘i“w{lm[d mﬂl{ jﬂri[at km,ﬂ&:’zf ..LEH?{
[Is e PR N ! {
uti[u \T nn, ; } _ Eﬂ
| S . ﬂ“;e‘ Eh\lem
;EEL fwﬁff& oA
s w{ IE ‘
| tn
J e

i J
h— -

f
1q
our
's ]
Haiel

d

Lor

frons

dge

Ap



17~30 APRIL 1044 12%

April 26

Another frintless tiresome day, so far as business went Leo told me the
results of yesterday’s meettng Cripps and John Anderson were absent for
the first hour and he had to face alone the attacks of Simon, Grgg and
Buatler, all of whom want to do nothing When the other two arrived,
I gather that the draft statement was mote or less approved, except that
the Commuttee msisted on mncludmg Forergn Affairs [1 ¢ m the subjects to
be handed over to an Indun member| and that John Anderson put
some phrase about the lumitation of the Governor-General's powers

Sumon will now apparently draft the report of the Commutree and send
it to the Cabinet, § thinkh without letting me sec 1t I am gettung ured of
being treated as an Untouchable in the presence of Brahmuns, and shall
say so shortly Gngg wants to drag 1n somethmg about the Indianisation
of the Army, I believe

April 27

Saudi Ambian Minuster called i the momng to give me an nvitation
from King Ibn Saud to wisit hum at Ryadh on my retum joumey, if
possible Ishall try to do so

Lunched with R. A B Butler at the Oriental and had 40 mmutes wath
him afterwards on my proposals He raised the usual objections, negona-
tons with Congress, alienation of our fniends, wouldn’t 1t be better to do
nothing for a while, etc { don’t know how far I succecded 1n countering
his objections but he said T had stated my case verv clearly

Apnil 29
A quet rather depressing weekend 1 feel T have failled to make HM G
realise the importance and urgency of the Indian problem or the real facts
of the posinon We have been talkmg for 5 weeks, 1n a very disconnected
way The matter could have been settled 1n a week 1f they had really taken
it sertously and wanted to Now I thuink we have mussed the bus m any
case The sudden complete collapse of the Germans, and the approaching
reoccupation of the whole of Burma will make Indian polincians much

less accommodating than a fesww months age If I got my own way now,
I feel 1t would be too late

April 30
Another wasted day so far as India 1s concemed. The Cabinet 15 meeting

on India at 1o pm torught but don’t want me I have not even been
D 169 £
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allowed to sec Simon’s report of the India Commuttee’s conclusions Isaw
Leo this mormumng, stll optimistic What a gallant, loyal, straight Iittle man

he 15, but a Ittle detached from reahitres and more occupred wath 1deas and
theories than persons and facts

May 1
A Iittle routme work m mornmg Saw S of § 1 afternoon who told me

they had talked in Cabimet for 2} hours last ught wathout result.

A Cabmet Comnuttee meeting on food, 1t was proceeding on the usual
Iines of Leathers having no shupping, Cherwell saying that India had plenty
of food if they only managed their affairs properly, and everybody sug-
gesting avenues to be explored and stones unturned at considerable
lessure, when I thought 1t was time to ginger them up So I told them
I bad saved them from a farmne last year by my importumty of which
they complamed, and that they would have one this year 1f they didn't do
something about 1t They didn’t hike this transgression of the usual polite

prolxities and postponements of official debate, but I think 1t wall do no
harm I am ured of Leathers’ smooth evasions and false promuises

May 2

Spent morning readmg Cabmet papers on Palestine In afternoon went to
se¢e HM the Kimg He had obwviously been studying the papers of the

India Comumttee discussions and seemed to consider it settled that my
scheme would go through.

May 4

Had a talk with Auchinleck who arrived yesterday Things quet m Inda

but the long delay 1s not improving the prospects of political settlement

He approves the draft now before the Cabmet Food prospects 1 India
seem to be a httle bnighter

May 8 (V E Day)

Saw Leo Amery 1n afternoon and blew off steam about the way I was
being kept hanging about He counselled patience, sud P M was very
busy domg Foreign Secretary (in Eden’s absence) 1n addition to other
business and also occupied with election prospects India Comrmuttee had

drscussed Dalal’s request for revision of Commercal clauses of 1935 Act,”
but had not even thought fit to ask views of Viceroy

T See entry for t March PP IL4 IS
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Linlithegow dmed with me, friendly but rather pessimestic and das-
lusioned as usual

Today had interview wath Dalal and told him not to get upset and
disheartened beeause he didn’t gee all he wanted at once—he complained

of an unsympathetic recepion by Leo Amery Went to House of Lords
to hear announcement of end of European war and to service m Abbey

afterw ards

Pcace 1n Europe 1s very welcome but has come too soon for my plans
mn India, or rather HHM G has been so slow that the opportunity has been

missed

May 11

Today I discovered the reason of Dalal's discontent Without even
infornung me, the India Commuttee had held a meetung on the proposals
Dalal had brought home and had shot them down at once What extra-
ordinary people they are! One would think that with the Viceroy at home
and available they would have asked hus opimion on an important matter
of great polittcal significance which had been approved by the Governor
General m Counal instead of contemptiously dismissing 1t without even
ttiformmyg him  Amery should have refused to aceept the dectsion withiout
my having been given an opportunity to express a view Instead, he simply
saw Dalal and told hum that there was nothing doing, which naturally
upset Dalal I have now put 1n a note to the Commuttce giving my views

and askmg that they should be given a hearing What a crew they are for
a pertlous voyage!

May 14

On Monday morning a mecting of the India Commuttee on the safe-
guarding Commercial clauses—my first official eontact with or com-
munication from the Commuttee for exactly three weeks Leathers was
there and Summers of Board of Trade, to remforce the opposition |
made a statement on the whole problem of India’s industrial development
and clatmed symgpathetic hearing and treatment for the Government of
India’s proposals Amery tried to make out that the hamperimg effect of
the safeguard clauses was hypothenczl and that we should wait all a
difficulty actually occurred He was prolix and unconvincing and was shot
down from all stdes Crpps produced his usual eoncthatory compronuse
draft, suggesung an announcement that whale legislanon was 1mpossible
HM G would give sympathetic considerathion to any special cases Grigg
then made 2 fiery statement condemmng the whole policy of Indian
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industralizanion as wrong fulnunating a_amst Brh & Co  and ulking
of betrayal of [ndun people etc Amery rephied at full length and as wswal

soon bored most of the Commuttee lic tool npearly 15 minutes to 13

what could have been satd more effectinely 1n § Then John Andenon

pracucally supported Gnge and saud that the proposals were not 1n the
intcrests of the Indian mases and that the Indun aim was really the

chimmation of Dntish business and Brsnh personnel Crpps spake sensibly

on th~ hustonizal and psychologeal aspects ponting out that 1t was not
for us to tell the Induns what they wanted Bunler merely renterated what
he has sa1d bef yre thatat would be much betrer to settle the Indian problem
as a whole and not precemeal and 1o want for a Constirutional agreement

(Of counse st would sf 1t were posuble burirunotand R A B Butler
knows 1t} Leathers then spoke from the potnt of view of hig business and
was of counse for mamntaming the chuses Summers for the Board of
Trade was more conalatory Iasked to be allowed to reply and sud that
to be tough with India and to continue to treat her as a Colony was 2
possible policy #f HL.M G was prepared to provide the foree to support tt

and to controvert or ignore public opimon m thrs country and abroad
but 1n the long run 1t would be diastrous The altemative was to treat
Indian asprirattons with sympathy 2nd good will we should have some
shocks constderable loss of efinency and perhaps temporary damage to
our wterests but i the long rum we should gun morally and matcrully

But at present we were professing a policy of freedom for India and i
practice opposing every suggestion for a step forward and such a mexeure
could only lead to trouble I pointed out that it was futde to talk of
protecung the Induan muasses agamnst the pohicy of idustnalization (as
Gngg and Anderson had) when improvement i the standard of hiving
and soctal services could only be paned by increased wealth and when
all vocal opimion in India was tn favour of 1t In the end the Crpps formula

was accepted and I suppose I have gained that much at lease. I ended by
pomtng out that the Comnuttee had completely tgnored me for three

weeks and that I had now been home for 61 wecks wathout any decision
Simon made a smooth but moperative reply

May 15

Lunched with S of S Crpps Dalal Rarsman Object of party was to
show Dalal that we were sympathenc to hus projects Cripps was good
and persuastve Leo very friendly and very prolix and I think Dalal
realised that the atmosphere was not unfriendly

Gave Bevin dinner at the Athenaeum and had a long talk wath hum He
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15 quite sympathetic about India, but not I think very knowledgeable, and
promused to help He satd he was held up with hiswork untll P M dearded
about election Labour Party had told P M they would continue Coalition
Government till end of present Parliament 1f he wished, but that P M

might decide for party reasons to have an election at once He said that he
thought Labour would get into office very soon and would then hold
power for 20 or 30 years He professed optimism about Labour's atntude,
about agreement with employers, about the standard of living, abolition
of unemployment ete, which many other knowledgeable people do not
share He sard that in § years of war we had only lost 43 mulhon working

days through strikes and absence—mamnly in the mines-——agamst some 28

mifhon an the Jast war I got hun to talk about his early carcer—he had

been agnicultural labourer, page boy, tram conductor, shop assistant and

in other employment before becomng a trade wmon official 1 asked him

wiuch of his professions had interested and amused him most, he gnnned

and said ‘agytation’ 1hked Bevan [ think he is genmne and quute shrewd,

though not I should say very clever I wonder whether he 1s straight and

courageous, I should thmk so

May 23
S of § told me this momung that Government had resigned He was still
however, hopeful of getting a solunion next week, though not even
knowing whether he would still be S of §

Food Commuttee m afternoon Woolton, Llewellin, Cherwell, Amery,
Leathers Listowel Atmosphere much more friendly to India than before,
only Leathers, as nsual hostile and making heavy weather But when they
talked of ‘concessions on both sides’ i the arrangement proposed, 1 had
to pomt out that all the concession was on Inda’s side, as she was getting
much Iess than the mummum asked for, and was being asked to supply nice
for Ceylon and groundnuts for this country

May 24
A long day but some movement at last or hope of movement I began the
day by wnung to the PM to point out that I had been 8 weeks at home,
that I had had nothmyg from Indta Comnuttee for 4 weeks or from hum-
self for 7 weeks and asking for a decasson After seemg S of S Itoned 1t
down a it He said that Antony Eden had sent him a message that the
P M was gomng to agree to the proposed draft statement 1n Parliament and
that now the question of dates arose as the statement would have to be
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made before Parlument dissolved on June 15 Colwille had wired that
Council expected to be consulted before the announcement was made,
and it worked out that I'should hav ¢ to leave England about 11 days before
the statement Eden had suggested June 8 for the statement 1 Parlament
which meant my leaving almost at once 1 protested strongly at thus, at
bemg hurned off ar short notice after beng kept waiting for 4 wecks—
especully as Q wasall Tarranged to sce Antony Eden in the ey ening on
the question of date
1 had 40 nunutes wath Birla i the mortung the industrialists® having at
last teached England He sasd they had had a good journcy and seemed
pleased at the friendly reception they had had from the Britsh busmess
assoctations they had met so far He then talked politics hard and mentioned
the views of ‘the man i the street” Tasked to what section of Induns he
apphied this term, and 1t turmned out that he really meant the educated
Hindu. He recommended a business Gosemment and more than hinted
that he was ready to assist me 1 formung one or indeed to take part in the
Government T said hie had better carry on with hus valuable mdustrial
nussion He tried to persuade me that Gandht was not anti-Brnsh and
very ready to compromuse, 1 satd 1 could only judge by lus actions and
speeches and found this assertion hard to believe Burla then tried to Justify
Gandhi s actions in 1942, and spoke of the bitterness crused by our action
I countered by giving some of the teasons for bitterness and maserust on
our stde, as I had no mreention of hus gettnge over on me thar Gandhr was
& saint or statesman I then said both sides would have to try and forget the
past 1f we were to progress m the future Birla 15 able but he obviously
would like to have a finger in the politrcal pie, and 1t would be of the
Jack Homer type He spoke shghaingly of Nehru whom he obviously
fears as left-wing
1 also saw Clande Auchinleck who starts back for India on Saturday He
told me that Beaverbrool, had asked to see him and that he had found
Brendan Bracken there too Beaverbrook obviously wanted to find out
how far Auctunleck was behind me 1 supporting my proposals Claude
left ham in no doubt about this, and sard that Beay crbrook seemed to agree
with the 1dea of a move, but thar Brendan Bracken was oby 1ously hostile
Had half-an hour with Antony Eden before dinner He was diung wath
the P M and scemed confident that he would accept the India proposals

and he promused to try and postpone statement in Parhament to June 12,

' The vis t of a group of Indun tndustrialists to Frgland had been planned carly in 1944
but for vanous reasons the vis ¢ had been delayed
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May 25
No defmite decision, but Leo sad I should make arrangements on as-
sumption that I should leave on June 1

Spent most of the momng trying to draft a broadeast for India on my
return, not very successfully

May 26

No word from PM or Eden or anyone

Went and stood 1n a queue outside 2 News Theatre with Pam and
Franas and the feeling was quate famuliar after all these weeks of wating
on Ministers Butr we did get mnto the theatre n the end, while I am still
1n the queue for a deciston on India,

Aay 28
Evan told me he had seen the Indi Commurtee’s report to the Cabinet,
which [ had not been allowed to see, Tumbull? tmagmed I had, so pave 1t
to lum Commuttee were agaast any move but said that 1f 2 move was
decrded my proposal was the best. Later i the mormng I had a very stuffy
reply to my letter to the P M He saad 10 cffect that he had not wanted me
home but that I had msisted on coming and they had done their best for
me He sad he would mive me Cabinet s decision by the end of the weck.
[saw $ of S m mormng and apam in the afternoon, and he said 1t was all
right, 1 could make all arrangements to start on Fnday So 1 sent off
telegrams to Colwille and to Mudaliar in Washington, giving former the
expected date of return and asking latter to try to get to Delhr by June 15

Saw Dalal in mormung, who had been, I think, a little tactless 1n giving
practically the whole of the Whute Paper on Indtan industrial development
to the F B [ and other business associations, and [ wamed him to go slow
and be as tactful as possible

I continued to make all arrangements to leave on June 1, but a2m sull
entrely without officaal mtumation.

In the afremoon Godfrey Nicholson MP and a man called Richter
came to see me about a proposal to held an extubition of Indian art at
Burlington House 1n 1947 1 sud I thought 1t an excellent 1des, but I was
a little perturbed to find that thewr proposal was to have a purely Brinsh
Comumiittes o run 16 it olirs counery and sard dhae Indizns niwse be on the

Commuttee
During the day I got most of the necessary drafts completed for the

't F F (later Sir Frank) Turnbull, an official of the India Office, at thus vme Prancipal
Private Secretary to the Secretary of State
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return to Indi, a letter to Goyernors, invitations to those concerned, cte.
I also got Leo’s amendments to my draft broadeast, some of them quute
senstble but very v erbose and1f adopted would have quute spoilt the whole
spinit of the broadcast which was direct and stmple Leo never can make
a pomnt and leave 1t at that, he always over-claborates We also discussed
at some length the relcase of the Working Commuttee prior to the

Conference of leaders and finally agreed to leay ¢ the point to be discussed
with my present Exccutive Council

Aay 30

A criical day The Cabinet met at 11 30 a m. on Indiz, but I was not
mvited to be present and had a1 1dle mMormne

Later went to IO and saw S of § He suid Cabinet mn morning had
agreed to my proposals after only 40 minutes discusston, but that P M
had telephoned 1n the aftermnoon that his conscience was troubled and
that he wanted the matter re-considered ata Cabinctat 630 pm [ sad

that P M could not expect me to return to India cmpty handed, and that
surely 1t would be unfortunate 1f fom 2n clectioneenng, pomt of view

Inda came into party politres, which could hardly be avorded 1f T was
turned down since Artlee, Cnpps and Bevin all knew of the proposals
Leo said he could hardly hold office af my proposals wcre rejected but was
obviously very worned.

Went off to Athenzeum to dine with Eden and hear result of Cabinet.
I got 2 message to say Antony E would be late, and waited 2l about
8 40pm when Leo Amery rang up, veny worried, and sasd Cabinet had
gone badly on India, but that they had decided to have another at 11 30
a1 tomorrow at which I should be called on to state 2 case Antony
turned up at 9 pm having been called down to the House about Syrta
and Lebanon which are in a proper mess He said we had deaded to take
over 1 Syma We then discussed India at length, and I cxpluned what
I proposed to do and corrected some nusapprehensions He sud that of
what I had told ham had heen put to Cabinet he thought 1t would have

gone through, but that Leo had not put the case well What had happened
m the momine was that the « hole decision had been taken when some-

one at the end remarked that hLe didn ¢ Like 1t but that since the Indiz
Commttee had recommended it he would xccept, whereupon certan
members of the Commuttee had sud they had not agreed wath the pro-
posed salutton He suid Winston was very tred and realised it humself

He had proposed possibity of Eden taking Defence Mimstry after the
clection and P M himself becorning Leader of the House
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May 31
I prepared a draft statement for the Cabmet and discussed 1t with Amery
whe approved it Cabmet began with a long polemical statement by P M
aganst my proposals He said I should lose a good Council and get a bad
one, there was no democratic foundation, the workers would be victim-
1sed by the capitalists, the agriculeurabists rizned by the moncy lenders,
the Untouchables would remam untouchable ctc etc He then mvited
me to make a statement [ began with the genesis of the proposals, my
Governors conference last August, the views of the C m C Home
Member, Polincal Adwaser ete, and why I had pressed to come home pow
The P M gave me a good run and did not interrupt There was not a great
deal of discussion 1t was almost a duclogue between the P M and myself
At the end Leo made 2 long statement on the ongin and nature of the
political deadlock—he never can leave well alone No one paid any
attention and the PM mterrupted and stopped lum before he had
finished The PM finsshed with a rather srrelevant dissertation on the
methods of officeting the Indizn Army He then said he was prepared to
agree to my proposals 1f the India Commuttee suitably amended the draft
stee 1t did not completely square with what I proposed to do It was
agreed that the Committec should meetat 3 15 PM was quite pleasant
to me, mdeed complimentary

The India Commurtee met at 3 x5 Only John Simon Oliver Stanley,
Leo Amery and P ] Gnge (Butler came in at the end} Simon produced
two additional paragraphs about the de facto limitation of the Viceroy’s
powers which after some constderable amendment were accepted 1 read
my broadcast which Sumon approved P ]| Gnigg sat rather glowering
apart and contributed a hate against Birla on the score of his being given
an official lunch but, as Simon pomnted out, this was hardly a matter
which came mto the amendment of the draft statement We fintshed at
430 pm Smnon gave mec a word of congratulation The amendments
were to come before a Cabmet before or after dinner

The chimax of my visit was an extraordinary one At the mecting of the
Cabimet at 10 30 pm the P M made just as fosable an address m favour
of my proposals as he had made mn their dammation this morning In
particular he cut out of the draft statement the two paragraphs about the
de facto lumtation of the Vicerov's powers on which John Anderson had
insisted and to whach I had always objected He made me read my draft
broadcast and approved 1t entirely with one or two munor exceptions, and
i fact exuded good wnll towards India and myselt at every pore He wll
change again but I suppose I can clam 1an the meanerme some sort of
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personal trumph. 1 thunk that what really happened was that he saw that
the logic of facts was agamnst hum {possibly Beaverbrook reported hus
conversation with Auchinleck) and that wath the Election loomung up he
could not posstbly nsk Indi2 becorung a party issue, and deaded 1o give
way with good grace What an extraordinary man he 15! And so at 11 30
pm I got my decsston, just twelve hours before my tram was scheduled
to leave Victorta It all ended i an atmosphere of good wall and con-
gratlations—only temporary, 1 fear

_ﬁmf 2 Carro

Not many to see us off yesterday, thank heaven, but old Lady Sumon

turned up and several times called down on me the blessing of St Patrick
and all the sawmts
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June 3 and 4 (Visie to King b Sand)

A very long but interesting day. Left Embassy at 3 30 am and flew to
Tiddah (about 4 hours), where the Minsster (Graffety-Smuth} met us and
one of the King's sons from Taif We breakfasted and changed into Arab
dress—long pyjama-ltke drawers, shirt, cloak, headdress—and then flew
on to a landmng ground near Ryadh, a bumpy fly of 33 hours. G Smithand
the King’s son came with us, and the King had sent his own plane to
escort us ‘The drive to Rujadh, to 2 palace 2 few mules the other side of 1t
took nearly 13 hours, though our Arab friends (two more of the King's
sons had met us) npunusnr::ﬂly called 1t 40 nunutes, an 1lusion n which
they unfortunately persisted next day for the retumn journey The reason
for the distance away of the landing was not that the ground was unsut-
able clsewhere—one could have landed practically anywhere nght up to

the town itselfi—but that the King did not wish to offend his subjects by
having an acroplane, still suspect as a CORTTIVATES of Eblr’s or unbelievers,

withun sight of hus capital
We reached Rujadh at about 3 pm The Crown Prince met me and we

had about 1o mnutes formal conversation, he was pleasant but looks
ctudious rather than forable and it seems doubtful whether he will be able
to hold together all hys father had won and to rule the many other sons,
some of whom probably have ambitions and backers After a large lunch
and a short rest we went to pay Ol first visit to the King
The King greeted me 1 a large chamber 1n his Palace. He 15 most
IMpressive 1 appearance 2nd manner, and 15 obviously a big man He was
very friendly but we only talked compliments and formal conversation
at this meetmg We went back to our residence and I had time for a bath
before gomng back agan to the Palace for the evenng meal This was m
he form of a feast Arab fashton, sittmng cross-legged on the ground,
everything lad out Lefore one, sheep roasted whole, eating with one'’s
fingers, etc 1 did not distnguish myself, [ sumply cannot sit cross-legged
with any comfort, did not very much like the food and was given too
much of it, and did not realise that the meal should be eaten at pace, trred
to make conversationl and kept everyone waiing at the end After the
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meal, the Kmg took us mside his private quarters for a few mmutes to
show them to us, and we then sat 1n an open-a1r hall on the roofand talked
for about an hour The King presented to me a large collectron of sons and
grandsons, [ think he has about 30 sons and 30 grandsons m all We talked
a brt about education, and agreed that 1t was the Turks who had rumed the
ongmal Arab reputation for science and learning, he spoke of the lack of
consumer goods 1n Arabu and asked whether I could help from Indun,
and a few other matters He did not mention the wroubles in Syma, or
Palestine, or politics at all At the end I asked him to tell me the story of
hus capture of Ryadh some 40 years ago, the fight wiich was the turming
point of his fortunes He did so and ordered one of his sons when we left
the Palace to show us the scene of the fight While T was undressmg for
bed, two of Ius sute armved wath his gifts—a sword, 2 dagger, several
swats of Arab clothes, two carpets, a very handsome present My rather
modest return gifts—two old well-bound hand-wntten coptes of the
Koran, 2 bound copy of ‘Allenby 1n Egypt’,* and my photograph m a
silver frame—are to go round next mormng I hope they will be a success
At frequent intervals throughous the day Arab bitter coffee was served
In tiny cups It 1s boiling hot but the nght thing 15 to drink at once tm one
gulp, whereupon a servant at once comes to refill i, the custom seems to

be to dnnk about 3 or 4 cups and when one has had enough to waggle the
cup when returnung 1t to the servant

June 6

We got to Karachi in the evening of June 4 and stayed the mght wath the
Dows at Government House

I heard on landing how Desar had been putung about that he had me n
his pocket and that I should at once send for him.

[ gave Dow the outhne of the plan and he approved He thought his
Premuer, Hidayatullah, wounld attend the conference and would be season-
able He was as usual caustic and amusing on polincs he said that 1f
Gandht Jmnah and Amery made 1dentical announcements the Nanonalrst

Press would term them respectively a clanon call a crazy outburst, and
impenabistic humbug

[ found John Colville at Delhin good heart, and having I think enjoyed
his tme as Viceroy

Met Counal in evenung and disclosed the proposals they met with a

very cold reception, and no one except Archie Rowlands fully supported
them, and hardly any Member had a good word to say for them Whatt

* Vol u (London, 1943} of Allenby, ¢ Study mr Creatness
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really amounts to 1s that, as at home, nobody really wants to move at all,
Some suggested clections at once, nearly all proposed the immediate
release of the Working Comnuttee, so as to get the Kudos for it Nobody
had any constructive suggestions Practically all were against any Members
of Counal attending the proposed conference A discouraging reception
I adjourned unnl this moming

Before the meening this mornmng all the Indian Members of Counci,
except Mohamed Usman and Roy, got tagether and produced a written
mdictment of the proposals, recommending Domnumon status at once
(without the foggest 1dex, as it tumed out, of what this really involved),
general elections at once, immediate release of polineal prisoners (only the
Working Comnuttee, they explaned later), and that the conference
should be confined to those supporting the war Of the members who had
not signed this document, Benthall was as usual rather prolix and woolly
and stressed all the obvious dangers and difficulttes, Mohamed Usman
sud he did not hike the proposal but would support HM G and muyself
to the end, Roy wanted an election at once, and Mudie and Rowlands
supported me [ broke off the mecting until thas everung and deaided to see
Sir Sultan Ahmed in the afternoon

[ saw Rowlands after the mecting He supports me and thmks my
proposals have a chance of success

I saw Mudie, Rowlands, and Benthall at 3 0 pm, larter stll a Jutle
unconvinced—but ready to support the proposals I then had a long talk
with Sir Sultan Ahmed on the proposals T asked him whether he did not
agree that any publicanon of the document he had given me must imvolve
the resignation of the members who had signed 1t He agreed mstantly and
heartaly and said the Membets had no intention of publishing 1t or of
resigning, and would support me i making the proposal though they did
not agree with 1t About an hour later I found that the Assocated Press
of India had put out a summary of discussions ;. Council thes moming
and of the proposals made by the seven members What an mmpossible

people to do business wath

I met Council agam at 6 0 pm and began by disclosing the leakage
[ think most of them were genunely horrified, and asked that steps should
be tahen to stop the A PI message and to discover the culprre (I thoughe
F X N looked a little embarrassed) 1then said that, subject to HM G s
agreement | proposed to continue the plan, and I think Councl were
genunely reheved that someone had taken a decision, and discussions
ended 1 2 friendly spint, but Ambedkar and Benthall had both to add
a little more wool to an already well-filled Woolsack.
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Iwas a little surprised at Councal's uncompromisig opposition, though
[ had cxpected difficulties But they have been subject to intense pressure
while I have been away, and Desat 1n particudar has been 4 nusance by

proclatming that the mative for a settlement came entirely from hum,
that he would be asked to forni 2 Government, ete 1 suppose I made a

mistake in sccing him at all last January when 1 had already put forw ard
my own proposals, but I thought I had better hear what he had to 51y,

and I was most careful not to commtt myself

June 7

A worrying day The Hindu members of Council—Ambedkar, Khare,
STIvastava—scnt In a wntten protest aganst the proposal to hnve equal
numbets of Hindus and Muslims on the Counail and later Ambedkar

St m a passtonate protest about the representation of the Depressed
Classes, and more than hinted at resignation

June 8

A long day, perhaps a little more encouraging It looks as if the attitude
of the Executive Councl and their imdiscretions had rather had the effect
of predisposing Nationalists to give them [the proposals] a chance 1began

by seeing Ambedkar who required at least two seats tn the new Council

for the Scheduled Castes and wanted this made clear in the announcement

of the new proposals otherwase he threatened that they would boycott
the whole scheme and even hante d vaguely at revolution I told hum there

was nothing in the proposals to prevent the Scheduled Castes geting two
or exen three scats on the Councall, but that I did not think that HM G

would be prepared to announce any number to be resernyed

Sandwiched 1n between my afternoon visitors came Servastava After
some talk of hus health he began to explam away the document signed by
the seven members and said the demand for Donmunion status was only

meant to brng to my notice the mmportance of the long term 1ssue, and

that the other matters-—general elections and release of PrisOncrs—w ere
powts on wlhich there mught be two Opinons

_ﬁmr: 11

Casey arnved this afternoon

for a short visit He scemed well and i good
heart He 15 dehighted wath

the Section 93" admumistration says 1t has
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enabled him to make a great difference m 2 short trme and 15 popular with
the people He says I was absolutely nght to recommend 1t at the begin.
ning of 1944 and wishes HM G had accepted 1t then He would Like to
keep 1t on till the end of the year and then have ¢lections

He read the Parlamentary announicement and my broadeast, approved
both and thinks that the move has a pood chance of success

Casey wants to go next year, 1n March for chowce, back to Australun
politics

June 12

Nothing very much on the pohtical front All the munonnes wire in and
ask for representation

I saw Khare, who tned to persuade me that the Mahasabha had sup-
ported the war effort on the curntous argument that 24 Hindus had got
V Cs, I saad that the present leader of the party, Dr Mookerjee, most
certainly had not supported the war

Jure 13

A comparatively quict day The Caseys went off 1n good heart Casey
having had an interview with Aziz ul Huque on the nakedness of Bengal
due to shortage of cloth but having hardly moved him a dhots, I gathered

Routine Counal meeting, with few attendants, most of my colleagues
having decided that as thetr time may be short they would be foalsh to
spend 1t 1n working at Delhu in the heat, and that 1t 15 wiser to ‘recess” 1n
the hulls, and certainly pleasanter

After Council I saw Ambedkar on the matter of Depressed Castes
representation at the Conference on which he was now quite reasonable

June 14
In the evening my broadcast on the polincal proposals Tt came through
gute well, I am told Afterwards I had to undergo the ordeal of repeating
the performance or most of 1t, for an Amencan cinema urut rather a hot
and trymng business under the scorching glare of powerful Iights PSV
meanwhile took a Press Conference and said 1t went quute well and that
they were not unfrrendly

In lus broadeast Wavell sad that he proposed to wmvite Indran poliscal
leaders to take counsel with hum with a view fo the formatson of a new Execii~
tive Caonnal more vepresextative of ergantzed politcal opinion and wiclwdinng
ann equal mimber of Caste Hindus and Muslims Except for the Viceroy and
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Commander-1n-Chief 1t would be an entirely Indian Cotned, and for the first
tine the ‘Home', "Finance’, and *Foreign Affaurs” portfolios u ould be mn Indian

hands

The Councl wonld worl, wsthin the framen ork of the exusting Constitution,
and one of its main tasks would be to prosccute the v ar agamnst Japan 1o «
sticcessful conclusion, but sts Members, when they thought it possible, wold
also have to consider the means by 1 huch agreement could be reached on a new
permancnt constitution H M G had not lost sight of the need for stich an

agreement and the prfsnr;pmpnmfs w ere intended to make ot easter to reachone
IWavell also announced that orders had been given for the immedsate release

of the members of the Worlung Commuttee of Congress who tiere stll
detention

And so 15 launched a fresh artempt to help India to pohtcal freedom,
which I inthated wath a note to HM G just 9 months ago I supposc 1t 15
something of an achievement to have got 1t thus far, but whether 1t will
crash on Indian intransigence, hike the Cnpps and other proposals, remans

to bc seen 1 have certainly got a very difficult time ahead, and I do not
pretend to be a diplomatist

June 16

Whale the proposals have had quite 3 favourable reception m the Press
Gandht and Jinnah are behaving hke very temperamental prima donnas
and the latter 1s publishing hus telegrams in the Press before I even recetve
them, Gandhi at least had the courtesy to ask whether I agrecd to publica-
tion. Jinnah wants me to explam my proposals in detal to hum and then
to have Conference postponed for a fortmght while he consults his
Working Commttee Gandhi mnsists on the ficton that he 1s not a member
of Congress and cannot represent them, he also objects to the term Caste
Hindus and wants me 1o revise my broadcast o include independence’
[ am replying as patiently and courteously as I can but whether I shall ever
get my Conference together, Lord knows Rajagopalochariar 15 about
the only immvitee, except the Furopean Iepresentative, who has sent 2
cordial and unequivocal acceptance

Thus 1s thirtieth anmversary of the fight at Bellewarde, in whach I lost

my eye I hope the one eye wall contimue to last me out 1t has done 50
fairly well up to date

June 18

The Prncipals Gandhi and Jinnah are sall engaged 1n manoeuvring for
posttion and I have sent them both telegrams refusing to be drawn mto
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prelmunary discussion and askmg for a defimte yes orno Evan comparcs
1t to trying to get mules into a ralway truck. It 1s 2 depressing business
and doesn’t augur very well for the success of the Conference ButIdoubt
whether 1t 15 tncreasing the reputation of ether Gandh1 or Jumah 1n the
eyes of any except their bigoted followers

June 19
Not much moving Gandhi's daily telepram threqtened to ban the Con-
ference unless the stpulation of panity between Hindus and Mushms was
removed, but at the same time said the way scemed now open for the
Conference I refused to be drawn and sent a short non-commuttal but
polite (I hope) answer Evan s rather depressed today and thinks we shall

not get the Conference assembled

jmn: 20

Bhopal arrtved 1n response to my mnvitation to discuss solution of Chamber
of Princes restgnations six months 2g0 The upshot of a long talk m the
course of which he said that he approved the political proposals was that
he would be prepared to advise the Standing Commuttee to withdraw
their resignations 1f I could write tum a face-saving letter to say that I was
quite open to further discussions on certain pomts There should be no
great difficulty about this

A Iull on the political front, pending the Congress meetng in Bombay
on the 21st It looks as if they would come up to Simla anyway unless

some last~-moment 1Ssuc arises

June 21

The lull on the political front continues, pending the Congress Meeting
i Bombay In the mormng I ta] 2 War Board meetmg on the coal
situation at which Benthall drew a very gloomy picture of the ralways
runnung out of coal altogether by the end of the year, unless practically all
coal to mdustry was stopped or drastically curtalled I think he 1s pessi-
mastic, at least I hope so

In the afternoon 1 had a long talk with Wyle He 1s off on leave m
2 week or two, and this was probably his last interview as Political
Adviser T He 1s wise and steady but possibly a little too drastc with the
Princes, anyway they don't bike bemg nidden on his rather tight remn and
with hus rather sharp spurs

' He was giving up this post to become Governor of the United Provinces
T 140 L
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June 23

Came up to Sumla yesterday Had difficult interviews this mormng with
Glancy and Khizar who are entirely opposed to the proposals Glancy has

ahways been completely provincal and has never taken a very broad view

He says that the Umonst Minsstry wall not last unless a Untomst Mushm
gets a seat on the Executive Council

Khizar was very upset and said he had the gravest misapprehensions
over what I was domg He spoke about the loyalty of the Punjab, that
there had always been a Punjab Mushm 1n the Executive Counal since
1919 and that my approach to Congress and the League was a slap 1n the
face for all co-operators He said I was handing over power to the enemy,
that my veto was ‘dead as mutton’, and prophesied chaos and disaster all
round But he had no practical alternative, like the objectors at home, had
no answer to my sayng that the difficulty had to be faced some day and
that to do nothig was merely to postpone 1t I believe that Xhrzar 1n his
heart of hearts would really Iike the Brush to stay on, for a long time
anyhow His only suggestion was that the present Conference should con-
sider the long-term solution before going to the intenim government

On the lighter side, 1 had a letter ths mormung from a Parsee at Karachy,
to ask me, now that L have been elected Chancellor of Aberdeen Untversity
(I have no information that I have), would I recommend for the Nobel

prize for ideabstic hiterature his work entitled “Can a Prostitute go to
Heaven ¥

June 24

A long trymmg day of mterviews with Azad,! Gandht and Jinmah Azad
came first m the mormng accompanted by Pant (Ex-Premmer UP ) as
mnterpreter (Azad understands English well but 15 shy of speaking 1t)
We had a talk of 13 hours, 1t would have been much longer, but I broke
1t oft at lunch time, as the conversation twas gerung well away from the
Conference It was quite friendly, and nothing onigmal was ramsed.

Aftrer lunch T had 13 hours wath Gandhy, the first ttme I had met hum He
was rather vague and discursive but on the whole gave his blessing to
the proposals I began by making a short statement on the ohjects of the
proposals of HM G, the spint in which they were conceived and the
sprat in which I hoped they would be accepted and worked Iemphastsed
the necessity for full support of the war, and that 1t was essential that
the polittcal parties should put m their very best men, determuned to

' Maulana Abul Kalam Azad was at this time Prevident of Congress
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concentrate on the economuc and other problems of India, and not merely
to enter the Government 1n 2 party spirt

Mr Gandhi then made a long, tortuous and prolix statement, which
dealt with the history of the Congress, Datish rule m Indi, Brrtsh
character, the qualiues of a good soldier, and many other more or less
relevant subjeces It lasted over half an hour, and ended with a sort of
general blessing on the proposals, which he said he had recommended to
the Working Commttee

He then went on, referning to some notes, to deal with certain other
pomts I thunk this was 2 list prepared for lumn as a result of the discussions
by Congress Working Commuttee The main pownts were as follows —

{a) That 1t would have been much better of I had ordered the release
of all the political prisoners and not merely the Working Commuttee

(b} That the term “Caste Hindus' should not have been used, as his
great aim was that there should be no question of caste mside Congress,
he would have preferred the term ‘Non-Scheduled Hindus'

(c) He then went on to the question of Coalittons m Provinces, obwi-
ously with the 1dea of trymg to establish that the Mmonues should be
represented by members of their body belonging to Congress

{d} He referred to the matter of panty, and sard he had been under
very severe pressure as regards thys, but that he was prepared to accept 1t
He mndicated that 1t would be open to Congress to put forward the names
of Muslims or Scheduled Castes, and [ agreed but said that the prinaple
of panty between non-Scheduled Hindus and Mushms must be mam-
tamned

{¢) He then digressed into a long story about members of the Indian
Army who had wished to see hum but had been compelled, like Nico-
demus, to come to hum by might and 1n muft: 1 said that the one thing
which was disastrous for any Government was if the Army became
volitteal, that the Indian Army had a Commander-in-Chief 1n whom they
had full trust, that their reputation never stood higher and that I could
assure hum that the Indian Army was on the whole a thoroughly con-
tented body He agreed to all these statements

(f) He then started on the question of the Indian States I sard that the
Conference deale encrrely with Braersh Indaa, and that I was not prepared
at thus stage to enter mto a discussion of the Indian States He agreed that

it had nothing 1o do with the Conference and was not appropnate for
discussion at the moment
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I asked Mr Gandhi at the end, whether he proposed to attend the
Conference in person He said that he represented nobody except humself,

and that though he would be prepared to attend the Conference if I

wished, and sit 1n a comer, he strongly advised me that hus presence at
the Conference was undesirable He sasd that he would hold hrmself at

my disposal for as long as I wished, bue that 1f T had nothing on which

I had to consult um he would propose to leave Simla tomomrow [ said
that I would let him know

The anterview was mainly a discursive monologue by Mr Gandhy,
interspersed by numerous digressions, such as a most graphuc description

of the death of his Private Secretary, and the relatton of his carrying down
the wounded General Woodgate from Spion Kop 1 1890 My general

tmpression of lum was that he was friendly for the time beng but

perfectly prepared to go b.ck at any time on anything he had said

A lile later [had 13 hours with Jinnah, who 15 much more direct than
Gandln but whose manners are far worse

Mr Jinnah began by saying that whatever happened the Mushms would
be in a mmonty I pownted ottt that he assumed, rather gratuttously, that
all the Minonuies would vote agamst the Muslims and that there was at
the back always the veto of the Viceroy He said that the Mmonues cg
Sikh and Scheduled Castes, would be Hindus and would vote with themn
2nd that the Viceroy would be extremely reluctant to exercise hus power
of veto I said that I could not agrec with these assumptions He then
proposed that 3f on any matter the majonty cf the Muslims were opposed
to 1t, 1t should not go by vote 1 sard that this was quttc unacceptable and
was contrary to all pnnaples of Government. I think he realised that this
was rather 2 forlorn try-on, and sard Litle more

He then went mto the matter of nomination of Members of the
Executve Counal and clatmed that the Mushm League had the night to

nonunate 2ll Mushm Members 1said thar ] could not accepr this propast-
tion. He then began a long history of all the by e-clections of the last two

years clamung that die Mislim Leapue candidate had always been suc-
censful and chat therefore the Mushm League represented the whole of the

Muwshms of Inda He seemed to think that 1 was thinking of nonunanon
of Mmslims by the Congress 1 satd that I had ako in nund the nomination

by the Unronst Party of the Punyab of 3 Mushim This led to 2 long dia-

tribe to the effect that the Umonist Party were traitors to the mterests of

the Muhiniye and that the fact that they had been able to run a coalieon
Miustry 1n the Punpb for so long was solely due to the sufferance of
Mr Jinah 1 mercly mameaned thae I would not give a pledpe before-
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hand that all the Mushims on the Exccutive Couneil should be nomunated
by the Mushm League.

He asked me whether Mr Gandhi was comitng to the Conference. I told
him that Mr Gandhu had sasd that he represented nobody and had advised
me that 1t would be better thar he should not attend the Conference.
Mr. Jmnah seemed rather upset at this and said 1t was another trck of
Gandhr's, he pretended not to belong to the Congress when 1t smted his
book, but when necessary appeared as the Dictator of Congress which
everyone knew he was.

Mr Jinnah said at the end that he would have to consulr his Working
Comrmttee, but gave no tndication that the Mushms would not attend the
Conference, 1n fact he seemed to assume that they would, but that there
would be ructions mside the Conference I think he ss probably having
a2 difficult rrde with his followers It struck me that Mr Jinnah was rather
depressed and not sure of his position

June 25
First day of the Conference On the whole I think it went pretty well,
though Jinnah was 2 litle difficult I think he has the hardest task of any
leader as he has certainly not got the grip on hus followers that Congress

has The level of discussion was not high, and I was rather appalled at the

quality round the table Jinnah has a good legal bram, so T think has
Rajagopalachartar  Of the rest, perhaps Kher for the Congress and
Saadullah for the League are the best, but they are second class The
remander are poor stuff, I think If we can build a self-governing India
on this sort of matersal, we shall have emulated the legendary rope-tnck,?

June 26
On the advice of Evan Jenkms, I put up to Conference? today the points

! These unflattermg remarks clearly do not represent Wavell's considered opmion He
already had considerable regard for Khizar Hyat Khan and Iater he formed a high opimion of
Liaquat Alx Khan

2 Lt of Delegates to the Sunla Conference

Manlana Abul Kalam Azad, Prenident of Congrress

Dr P N Banerjee Leader of Nationalist Party mn the Central Assembly

Bhulabhai Desar, Leader of the Congress Party in the Centrzl Assembly

M K Gandh (he did not attend the Conference on the ground that he was not a member of
e Cinnrreyy ey due be smsmend e Kool s o fe b erandidile Se sl

Sir Ghulam Hugsam Hidyatullah, Premaer of Sind

Hoaosrams Trmam, Leader of the Mushim League m the Counall of Srate

M. A Jimah

Dr Khan Satub, Premucr of N WTEFP

B G Eher, ex-Prenuer of Bombay
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for dectsion under two heads 1¢ —A 1fwe could reach agrecment on the
composition of the Council, were the general principles under which it

would work—programme outlined 1n my broadcast panty of Hindus and
Muslums present constitution etc —acceptable, B 1f above prmeiples

were acceptable could we reach agreement on composition of Council
and names to be recommended

This scheme was approved and we reached general agreement on A
The Conference then said they would like time for private consultation

and duscussion on B, and we adjourned untl tomorrow morning
Atmosphere today was friendly and debate on quite a good level, but B
1s of course the real crux of the whole matter Jinnah was 1n much better
mood today Press reactions on first day’s proceedings seem to be good

June 27

Not a frumful day I had heard uvr:m1ght that discussions between the

parttes were not going well, and 1t became obvious this morming that no
progress had been made After about three-quarters of an hour, during
which there was some skirmushing between League and Congress which
almost burst 1nto open conflict twice, we agreed to adjourn till Friday
FIOTIE 1o give parties an opportunity of private negotiation

In the afternoon Baldev Simgh! came to see me He has two of the

Congress (Kher and Sinha) staying with lum He sad the Punjab would

be quite satisfied 1f they had 1 Sikh and 1 Punjabt Mussulman tn the
Council

At s 30 pm Jimnah came, after having had tea with Q, and stayed ull

]
Nawabzada Liaquat Al Khan Deputy Leader of the Mushm League in the Central Assembly

G 5 Motla), Leader of the Congress Party m the Counal of State
Khwaja Sic Nanmuddin ex Preruer of Bengal

Pandit Govind Ballabh Panr ex Premueer of the United Provinces
Maharaja of Parlakimeds

¢x Premier of Origsa
C Rajagopalachan ex Premier of Madras

Sit Henry Richardson Leader of the European Group Central Assembly
S r Muhammad Saadulla Premier of Assarn

Rao Bahadur Siva Ry representative of the Scheduled Castes

Pandst R S Shukla, ex Premier of the Central Provinces
5n Krnishna Sinha ex Premier of Bihar

Master Tara Singh, representative of the Sikhs
Secretares

Sit Evan Jenkms PSSV

Kao Bahadur vV P Menon, Reforms Commuss oner



26=-27 JUNE 1945$ 149
715 pm I began by telling him that while I appreciated hus dufficultses,

I had to consider Provinces as well as parties, and was very conscious, as
no doubt he was, of the tmportance of the Punjab, which was supplymg
so large a proportion of the food and of the soldiers of India [, thercfore,
considered 1t essential that there should be a Punjab Mushm in the new
Executtve Counci, as indeed there always had been for some time past,
and T hoped that he agreed to the necessity for this What T had 1 mund
was someone who w ould represent the interests of the Punjab but without
strong party affiiations, erther to the League or to the Unionust Party

Mr Tmnah, who seemed rather wornied and 1]l at case, was a great deal
more prolix and less business-hke than usual He went off wnto a long
description of the 1940 offer, of the compostion of the Umontst Party m
the Punjab, of his own reception m the Punjab during hus yjourney down
from Kashmur as showing that he really commanded the allegiance of
practcally all Muslims in the Punjab, and so on

I finally got hum back to busmess by asking what the result of his
conversanons with Pant had been He said they had been completely
negative, that Congress had claimed the nght to nommate two Mushms
out of the Mushm quota to the Counal, and that they had got no further
than this

[ asked whether they had discussed the strength of the Counal [
gathered thar they had not done so 1 any deta] He said he wanted a
Councll of 14, with § Hmmdus, § Mushms, one Sikh, and one Scheduled
Caste T He said this was the only Council in which the Mushms would
stand a chance of not being out-voted on every 1ssue. 1 sard that he was
assuming that every vote would be taken on communal hnes, and that 1f
this was the spintt wath which the Muslim League would enter the Counail
the whole purpose of 1t falled 1 said that I had now had four years on the
Executive Council, and that I did not recall a single 1ssue which had been
scttled on purely communal lines On what sort of 1ssues did he expect
the Muslums to be out-voted? The only thing he mentioned was post-war
industrial development

I finally asked what was hts position regarding the nommmnation of the
Mushim Members to the Council He said that his posiion was that they
must all be nommated by the League and must all be Leaguers 1 said that,
as | had told him at our first meeting, this was entirely unacceptable to me,
and asked hum bluntly whether he proposed to wreck the whole Con-
ference on this tssue After considerable discussion I gathered his position
to be this that the Lesgue clatmed the night to nominate all Mushm

1 The Viceroy and Commander m-Chief would bning the number up to fourteen.
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Members to the Council and that they must be Leaguers, but that 1t T put
1t to lum that T would not accept this pomt of view and that out of the
Mushm guota 1 would allow the League only so many and would nom-

nate the others myself he would be prepared to put this position to hus
Working Commmttee

June 28

While the politrcal parties were consulting, T had a number of interviews
Firoz Khan Noon, who has really very few polincal prinerples, now

told me he supported the pohtical move He tries to trim betw een Jinnah
and Kluzar, and 15 I think trusted by neither

Parlakimed put before me Orssa’s problems and clatms, but really only
showed amimation when I spoke of the exploits of his horse Philanthropist
and discussed 1ts breeding and qualities and s hopes of winning the
King-Emperor’s andfor Viceroy’s Cup His heart 15 1n racing, not polncs

In the aftemoon ¥ saw Banerjee who spoke of Bengal's clasms Hewsan
educationalist and has really little 1dea of practical politzcs, but 15 an earnest
and w cll-meanng person

Next came Jogendra Smgh and Sargent on the Education report, dis-
cussion of which 1 began ;n Counal last March before going home
Colwille, for some reason did not continue the discussion, as I had mtended
and hoped, and nothing more has been done on this important and rather
controverstal subject 1 doubt whether 1 shall now get my present Counctl
to take any decision and meanwhile work 1s bemng held up Jopgt was as
charnung and woolly as ever

So far as I can hear, the discussions between Congress and the Eecague
are not gomg well and promase little result

June 29

When the Conlerence met this momung, 1t was obvious that the two

man parttes had faled entirely to agree I, therefore, proposed my own
alternative line of approach, 1 ¢ that party teaders should send in panchs of
names to me, and I should try to form an acceptable Counail from them.

After some discussion all agreed to do so, except Junah and Stva Ray who
satd they could not agree 1o subnut 2 list without consulung thewr Work-
ing Commurtees {Siva Raj came to see me afterwards and agreed to sub-

it a lst after consulung hus Commuttee) Congtess sud they must

consult the Working Commnurree before subnuttng names Jinnah was

very difficult and argumentauve, trying 1o comer me on some lawyer's

pomt and refusing to pive a straight answer at last T lad o say to hum
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‘Tam no dualceticaan and do not propose to argue, I have put you a stmple
proposai which everyone else scems to understand, are you or are you not
prepared to snbmur me a list of pames? He then asked for the proposal
i writing, which Thad sent to him m the simplest possible terms [am not
surc whether he means to break up the Conference but his aturude seems
to be hardenung

We dearded to adjourn ull July 14 I am not very hopeful of success,
unless there 1s a change of spirit One of the troubles 1s that none of the
principal leaders—Gandhy, Jinnah, Nehru, Liaquat, Patel—have any
admunistrative expertence, and they do not understand how the machunery
of Government works m practice, and think entirely on the lines of all
questions being decided by party votes

Jurie 30

I 52w two of my Council Ambedkar and Sultan Ahmed, this mormng
Both now profess to welcome and support the poliical move they op-
posed so hotly In fact not one of the ‘murnineers’ has had the courage to
adhere to his opposition, now that they have seen that the proposal has en
the whole been popular But1am told that they are gomng about in private,
clatmung that they were decetved and 1ll-used by me and that [ never gave
them any inkhng that my joumey home had any polittcal significance
This although I keld 2 special Counal® meeting before I went to inform
them that I was going to discuss the politrcal situation with HM G | feel
some sympathy with them, but they have played their cards badly, and
know 1t And I don’t feel that I have been crooked wath them

Ambedkar was bitter agamst Jinnah and the League, and said that 1f thas
faled he recommended Pakistan. He has the curtous theory that after a
few vears expenience of Pakistan, the Muslims would want to rejom
Hmdustan He then entered on a long diatzibe agamnst Congress and their
method of capturing Scheduled Caste seats He made 1t clear that what-
ever happens he would like to retain hus portfolto of Labour, and suggested
that an extra seat i the Councd should go to Stva Raj and should be
Education

Sultan Ahmed had not much to say, except to mveigh agamst Jinnah's
bad mauners and the absurdity of his claun to represent afll Mushims

July 1
Walked for about three hours today up in Catchment area, and had a
prcruc About the first real exercise I have had since I came to Simla that

I Sec entry for 20 March, p 117
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1s one of my chief reasons for dishking the place It was the first ime I had
been outside the grounds since I came up, and 1 found the first mile or so

stiff with Police and thought that the local authornities had been offictous
on my behalf, as they used to be 1 Dellu, however, 1t was not for me,
I found, but for the amival of Nehru. N ts coming to see me tomorrow,
Gandhi wrote and asked 1f I would see him, I meant to anyhow

(My son-in-law, Francis, who went to hear the announcement on India

m the House of Commons on June 14, tells me 1n a letter that there were

never more than about 30 members present, which shows the measure of
interest taken in the Indian problem at home)

July 2
[ had a long talk with Nehru, he rather ranged at large over econommucs

and history, and 1t was not easy to get him down to practucal politics,
though he was not quite so entirely unpractical as when I saw him three
years ago at the time of the Crnipps offer He said Congress would do their
best over the present offer although 1t was far short of necessities He was
quite friendly and pleasant, except at the end when I wamed him that
I could permut no victimization of public servants for action taken dunng

the disturbances of 1042 He stopped to tea with Q , Archie John and the
staff, and they all liked humn

July 4

A rather muixed dinner party ths evemng mcluded Jogendra and Lady Singh
(old Jog1 wasm greatform and told Q she had ‘a gracious motherly face’)

_qujr 4]

Two comparatively 1dle days Master Tara Singh came to inform me that
at the msistence of his Commuttee he had placed his own name at the head
of Sikh nominees for Council (the other two names are complete duds!)
This may be awkward, since Tara Singh would be a poot member of

Counal He also tmed to draw me on what my attitude would be 1if the

Mushm League refused to put forward names or to accept my proposals
for Council

July

I had 14 hours with Jinnah yesterday cvening which left us where we
began He spent practically the whole time trying to get me to agree that

none except himself as head of the Muslim League could nomunate the
Mushms on the New Cownal T refused 1o accept this, and he finally
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refused to grve me hus st of names, though he left himself a loophole at
the end by asking me to write to him, which I have done this mormng
He was obviously 1n a high state of nervous tenston, and said to me more
than once, 'l am at the end of my tether’, he also sad ‘T ask you not to
wreck the Leapue’ He 1s obviously i great difficulties, but they are
largely of lus own making by hss arrogance and mtransigence He fears
now to be made the scapegoat for the failure of the Conference, and yet
will not give up anything of his claim to represent all Muslims
The Congress [ist of 15 names 15 disappointing, a great proporuon of
them are ‘stooges’ for Congress from the nunonties, and Azad s covering
lettex 15 agpressive and speaks of ‘independence’ as the immediate goal
after the defeat of Japan. The lists sent in by Banerjee and Siva Raj are
unimportant Khizar hias been hanging i the wand wath hus list ol he
knew what the ML were doing He 1s brnging them personally this
afternoon  Altogether, the omens for success are unfavourable
Khuzar was friendly and seemed more confident and less upset than last
time [ saw him. He asked me the positton about the Mishm League and
I told hum that Jmnah had so fac refused to let me have names He satd that
the partics would be foolish indced to refuse *an offer so hiberal that 1t made
many of us shudder” He gave me his bist of 4 names, the leading one,
Sir Muhammad Usman Khan, Nawab of Kot, a leading Punjab land-
owter, who has been a soldier, may make quite a reasonable member
I then asked hum if he had any wviews about Sikh representation He
obviously knew all about Tara Singh's list, which he described as “Tara
Singh and two dummues” He satd Baldev Singh could not be spared from
the Punjab and that Datar Siigh though honest and capable, would not
be acceptable to the Sikhs as he belonged to a non-agncultural tribe and
was not an Akali ¥ Khizar seemed 1in good heart, and though he sud my
move would probably stir up 2 Iot of trouble I mught possibly have been
right to make 1t He remarked that the PO must be reaping a great
revenue from the Conference, to judge by the number of telegrams he
Was receIving
In the evening I got a letter from Jinnah definutely refusing to send m
names I cabled home my provisiona] selecnon (including four Mushm
Leaguers) for approval by the Cabmet, and 1f I get approval shall confront
the [eaders with them as a last effort to get agreement 1think 1t 15 unhkely
Bece s o s e dhiey meay fndd s a bvede pnvkeracd oo refase Fhope ohe
Cabinet will back me up and will not haver or delay

1 The Akalis were the rost powerful Sikh polinical party representing extreme Sikh
nationalism
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July 11

I fear I have to record the defirute falure of the Conference and so of this
fresh effort to make progress n Indsan self-Government I had a Cabunet
telegram yesterday evening giving general approval to my ‘shadow
Council if I could secure its acceptance by leaders 1, therefore, mw]umzth
thas momng, gave lnm the proposed composiuon of the Councl by
parties and commumties, the names of the four Mushm Leaguers I had
selected and of the Punjab Muslim with whom I proposed to make up the
Mislim quota He refused even to discuss names unless he could be given
the absolute night to select all Mushms and some guarantee that any
deasion which the Muslms opposed 1n Counail could only be passed by
a two-thirds majority—m fact a kind of communal veto [ said that these
conditions wwere entirely unaceeptable, and the mterview ended.

I saw Gandhi an hour later He took the news of the breakdown calmly,
but said that HM G would hax e to deaide sooner or later to accept exther
the Hindu or the Mushm pomt of view, smee they were wrreconcilable

So ends my attempt to introduce a fresh impetus and a fresh spint into
Indan polities 1am afraid that the result may be an increase in commun3l
bitterness and agrtation 1n Indsa T wonder what comes next I have asked
all Governars to meet me i Delln at the beginning of next month to
discuss the situation and the next move

_fuf}' 12
I saw Khizar this morung and explamed the posiion to hum He 1
obviously relieved on the whole that the proposals have failed, but he
said I had done my best and vindieated good mntentions of HM G, he
thought the problem was intractable and must be left to destmy and tzme!

Azad and Pant came 1n the afternoon and I explamed the position to
them They were obviously very disapponted 2nd inclined to be bitter,
they sard Congress had made greater sacnifices and pone farther than ever
before to reach agreement, and was one party always to block progress?
I had to remind them that the attitude and nustakes of Congress had
blocked progress on more than one occasion

July 13
In the afterncon I saw twa of the Congress—Dr Khan Sahub" and
' Dr Khan Sahub the Congress Premier of N W F T was the brother of Rhan Abdul

Ghaflar Khan, known as the Frontier Gandlu He had close ties with all Indiz Congress
Leaders bur was also on friendly terms wach many Enghih officaly
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Rajendra Prasadi—to make thar acquamtance Khan Salub secems a
pleasant sensible person, rather attractve Rajendra Prasad scems quute
ordtnary and friendly and not very formidable or outwardly batter

The Cabinet, by the way, has been very prompt in answering my cables
and giving approval to the course of action Thave recommended, and have
sent me two comphmentary messages

July 14
The final session of the Conference passed off more eastly and smoothly
than [ had expected Azad made quite 2 temperate statement, Rajago-
palacharar exhorted me to form a Government without the League, and
then Jinnah made a long exposition of the Leaguce point of v 1ew, 1ts clamms
to Pakistan and 1ts nmustrust of Congress, he secined at one ttme to rase has
claim to panity made the Counal wath alf ether parties combined 1fhe really
meant thr.s, it shows that he had never at any tinie an mniention of accept-
mg the offer, and 1t 15 difficult to sce why he came to Simla at all It 1s
possible that hus attitude hardened dunng the discussions

3o my efforts to bring better understanding between the parties have
faded and hate shown how wide 1s the gulf Whether I have done more
good or harm by trying, only time will show In the outude world
certainly Congress stock will go cven hugher and Jinnah’s stock wall go
down, I imagine Congress will clatm to have been all sweet reasonable-
ness But actually their Iist would have given complete dormination of the
Council by Congress, and [ very much doubt whether they would have
accepted my provisional list I thunk Jinnah made a tactical blunder m not
bringing the matter to an 1ssue Whether lus position with the Mushims
will be strengthened I am not sure, but Iimagine that st wall be Congress
will be encouraged to try and wimn over Muslums from the League by all
possible methods, and any elections will be bitterly fought

I had a long talk wath Nehru after lunch, I put to him that the only hope
for India to make best use of the opportunities before her, and to win self-
government without distuption or avil war was for the Hindus and
Mushims to make fnends He was quute friendly and reasonable, the theme
of his discourse was that Congress represented a modem nationalistic
pomt of view and the Leapue a narrow mediaeval conception, and that
the eventual cleavage when India’s freedom was secured would be
between classes rather than communities, between poor and nich, between

I Dr Rajendra Prasad, a member ofthe Congress Working Commuttee and fater President
of Indaa.



146 THE SIMLA CONFERENCE

peasant and landlord, between labourer and employer Nehru 1s honest
and sincere but a theonst and doctrinarre rather than 2 practical pohican

In hus final eddress to the Conferenice, announcing its fahire, Wavell said,
‘Tush to male ot clear that the responsibility for the fuliire ts muine The main
tdea underlying the Conference was mune If it had suceeeded, sts stceess v onld
have been attributed to me, and I cannot place the blame Jor 1ts farlure on any

of the parties 1 ask the party leaders ta accept this sient , and to do all they can
to ensure that there are no recrinunations *

Azad, Jimnah and other spealers all spolke appreciative! y of Lord o ell’s
efforts and sard that he had done hus best Gandhit in a letter to hum saud, " This

time you have taken the blame on your shoulders But the uorld will think
otherttise India certamly does *

The root cause of the falure u as, of course, Jinnah's intransigence and
obstinacy, but Warell recognized that this mtransigence ‘represents a real fear
on the part of the Muslhms meluding those u ho do not support Jinnah, of
Congress dommation, wheh they regard as equit alent to a Hindis Ray'

July 17

[ retumed to Dellun from Simla yesterday Delhias very sticky but I always

dusltke Stmba where I can get ittle exercuse and feel shut off It 1s good to
be able to get on a horse agamn

I discussed with Rowlands the possible re-construction of Counal, he

suggested the resignation of the whole Counail to enable me to get rid of
the unsaussfactory members

July 19
My old munsht from Peshawar Ahnmied Jan treated mic to a long harangue
—addressed he sard, to Lieut Wavell of 40 years ago not to the Viceroy
of today—condemning all politcians and adjuring me to use the big stick
to both Congress and League

As 2 footnote to the Conference I am told that both Bulabha Desa
and Rajagopalachariar got propetly told off by the Working Commuttee,
the former because he had not made his proposals dependent on the

release of the Working Commurttee the [attor apparently for having
nstigated Gandh to the discussions with Jinnah last avtumn

The Siumla Conference thouch 1t endcd 1 Jaslure, may be regarded in some

1 ays as the greatest achiet ement of IWavell's Frceroyalty The vdea of holding
1t wndoubtedly a nght one, y g entirely hus, and 1t u as Ins dogeed persistence
that overcame the

resistance of HM G Once he hat obtaned HM G 's

dfprmaf, he encountered Linle difficulty 11 assembling the Conference, and
skilfully got 1t off 1o an excellont start 1 a gencral atmosphere of goodu i,
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Jor s imtrative had been warmly welcomed in India, and he lnmself had made
a favourable mmpresston on some of the Congress leaders, notably on Abnl
Kalam Azad,who has recordedt that he was much struck by Wavell s frankness
and simcerity and his obviously gennme desire to open a new chapter 1 the
relations betn een Congress and the Govermuent
Nevertheless the Conference faled Although Wavell took responsibelity
for wts faslure, clearly the fault v as not really his Some erities have, however,
contended that by capitulating without a struggle to_Jinnah’s mtransigence and
abruptly bringing the Conference to an end, he needlessly abandoned a great
chance of setting India on the rond to wuited selfgovernment 2 This conclusion
intplies that 1f he had rgnored Jinnah and contmned negotiations wnth the other
parties, Jinnah would have had to give way, siice he could not afford to see a
new Cotinesl formed without the League, or, alternatively, that if he had still
refitsed to rome 1, he would have lost hus hold over the Mushms and wore
moderate leaders would have come to the fore
These were possibihities, but hardly much more, and if Wavell was to take
advantage of them, such as they were, he had to be prepared to accept, 1f
necessary, a Congress-dommnated Connarl Would this have been advisable?
One ﬂfi:u maitl ﬂfyfctwfs I trying rﬂﬁ}rm a new Counal was mﬁmhmre a
lonig—term solution of India’s constitntional problems by getting Congress and
the League to collaborate i the actnal task of governing India If he u ent
ahead without the League, this ofyective would have to be foregone, mdeed
the communal problent w as hikely to become even more antractable Apart from
this, the war with Japan uas sh it 11 progress and was expected to last at least
one or two years more In the prosecution of the war a Congress-donimnated
Council 1was hkely to be a grave embarrassment, perhaps even a positive
tenace Most of the Congress {eadets had only recently been released from
sprisonment on account of the 1942 rebellion and 1were still view ed w1th con-
siderable suspieron Wavell hesttated, therefore, to visk having to form a new
Councel without the partiespation of the League But he did not entirely rule 1t
out, and on 30 June, realtzing that Jinnah was likely to prove intransigent,
ke consulted all the Governtors by telegram on the advisability of gong ahead
without him The Governors 1 ere about equally divided i their views, but
among those who considercd that uf wonld be unvise fo forntanew Council with-
otit the League were the Govertiors ::-f the tmportant Muslini-magority Prownces
of Bengal and the Punjab 3 Ths tended to confirm Wavell's hesitations
Theve was auother important consideration Churelull, who was soll Prune
Musster, and many of his Minsters had only reluctantly consented to the Sumla
Canfererce betg held 2 Al Thep wonld bave bees ontraged of sts spshar had
ombay, 1959 10
: giii—lly‘:fjﬁ;ﬁf;: s[B'IT:n: Gfﬂﬂt%ljldfpuﬂn;?ﬂ 1966] p 126 where thus cnticism a8

dis
:mé;s;ihg ather hand the Governars of the srall Mushim itajoney Proviices of Smd and

NWEP both favoured disregarding Jmnah,
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been a proposal to form a Congress~dommated Counarl snbalanced by the
League Wavell was w ell aware that there would be small chance of H A G
agreeimg to stich a proposal, 1f he had decided to make 1t

In the aircumstances there was no way w which he could meet Jinnah's
obduracy except by persuasion, and so when he found that Jinnah would not
yield to persuaston, he was obliged to admit falure and bring the Cenfirence to
an end As Khizar put i, he had done Ins best and vindicated the good in-
tentions of the British Goternment He had also won the goodu tll of those
who attended the Conference In the next few difficult months when extrennst
elements m Congress u ere itching to repeat the 1942 rebellion, this goodunil
seemed to be largely dissipated, but the Congress President, Azad, retamed full
confidence 1 Wavell and consistently threw such wmfluence as he possessed on
the side of moderation He said later (in a letier to Lord Wavell) that by calling
the Stnla Conferenice Wavell had rendered India and Great Britan a service
which had few parallels m lustory and that the new possihilines of Indo-
British friendship u ere due to that step
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END OF THE WAR AND
SECOND VISIT TO LONDON

July 26

So there has been what 15 called for some reason *a landshide’ in favour of
Labour at the elections It was obvious by thus evenung that they would have
a majortty of about 200 It 1s too big T had hoped for something like
a balance between the two main parties, with a revaved Liberal party
holding the scales Iam afraid there wall be a Jot of foolish, inexpenenced
and rather wild legislators amongst the 400 odd of Labour However there
were very many stupid and tiresome Torses 1n the late Conscrvative
majority I thik Labour is likely to take more mterest m and be more
sympathetic towards India, but they will have some weird ideas about 1t

July 31
My Govermnors arnived today, all except Hope, whose plane broke down
or was delayed by weather, and I had interviews with some of them

I wrote a letter to Wmnston a couple of days ago I thanked lum for
having entrusted me wath such responsibilities and sud what a pnivilege
1t had been to serve under so great a man I have never quite known,
though, how he really considered me, sometimes I think more as a liability
than an asset He has certainly, as I know, often said some very biting and
critical things of me thoughnever, so far as I remember, to me Iam pretty
sure that when he appotnted me Viceray 1t was with the mtention and
expectation that I should sunply keep thuings quiet 1n India tull the war
was over [ should have saved myself a lot of trouble and should perhaps
have served my own interests best had I done so Then I could have
claimed to go back home at the end of the war, and to leave the political
imbroglio 1 India to some ambitious poliictan But I doubt whether
I could have accepted this role, my nstincts are for action and not to sit
still over a problem, and my tendencies are progressive I undoubtedly
shook Winston by my proposals, and I think there were tumes when he
wished he had appointed someone else However, thereits and I must go
on now and do my best for my new masters But how pleasant it would be
if I could look forward to demobilization at the end of the war

D 148 X
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I am told that HEH the Nizam’s reaction to the Brutish election
results was  how awful, I must now begm to economuse’

August 2

The Governors Conference went well on the whole No one produced

any ongnal 1deas as to the solunon of the problem but there was almost
unanmmity of recommendation as to the next moves Only one Governor
(Colwille) advocated by-passmg the League and forring a pohtical
Exceutive Council without 1t On the other hand only one favoured
reconstruction on an ‘efficiency’ basis, the others all thought I should
carry oo with my present Council with any changes I could make 1n the
ordmary course, nnless and untl [ conld get a polincal Council All
except Glancy, favoured Elections as soon as possible to the Central
Assembly, and all, agam except Glancy, wanted Provinaal elections this
winter, but pracnically all Governors of Provinces under Section 93
thought elections should precede the formation of Ministres, though they
agreed that should any leader come forward mesnwhile who could form
a stable government and give satisfactory assurances as regards support of
the war effort it would not be easy to debar him from forming a Manustry,
and then 1t would be necessary for the governor to consult him about
elections

No one found much difficulty on the general policy of releasing pohitical
prisoners except the dangerous ones, and hfting the ban on Congress
OTanisatons

I pownted out that elections were probably mnevitable but that they did

nat amount to 2 policy, and mighe, after some months dslocation of
admumistration and communal agitatton leave us exactly where we were,
if Congress stll refused to take office m the Provinces unless a pohitical
Government was formed at the Centre Some Governors were i favour
ot bringing Pakastan into the open by means of a Conference, Comrmuttee
or Misston—Indian British or International—to determmne 1ts advisabaity

and practicability I'said that the difficulty was that Jmnah and the League

would almost cerrainly boycott any such enquiry unless they were given

some such unacceptable pledge——of the fate of certamn Provinces or areas

being determuined by the Muslim vote zlone—as Jinnah demands

Everyone approved my suggestion of the formation of 2 Counall—to
be called perhaps the Planning and Development Council—composed of

restored tn all or the great majonty, and some representatives of the States

They also all agreed that the Natiwonal Defence Couneil should be
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continued ull the end of the war with Japan, but need not meet so
frequently

We also discussed 1 a general way, Food, coal, cloth, resettlement of
soldters, shortage of personnel, pay of government servants

»

Aungust 3

My Governors have exther eft today or leave tomorrow mommg They
all profess themselves pleased with the meeting, and T think genumely,
they get a chance of scetng one another and exchanging views and of
doing a grood deal of business with Departments of Government I have
had mterviews with them all, therr Provinees all seem te be runming
reasonably well and they had nothing very much to tell me about them

Council meetmg 1 everung, only routine items of Food and Coal, and
Summary At this time of year the Food and Coal prospects can seldom
both be good, 1f the monsoon 1s favourable a very large proportion of the
labour 1n the coalfields goes off to cultivate the land and we lose coal, of
the monsoon 1s bad we may get more coal but shall lose food

Aungust 6

I know nothing of the new S of § Pethick-Lawrence, I fear he may have
fixed and old-fashioned 1deas derived mamly from Congress contacts
I wonder what the policy of the new Government to India wall be, T have
no mdication at all yet

I had a discussion this mormng with C-in-C, Home Member and
Finance Member over the treatment of the re-captured T N A The general
policy 15 all nght I think, to detain the “Blacks’” and try the worst of them
by court-martial to discharge the ‘Greys’, and to return the “Whates’ to
therr units The main potnt at 1ssuc 1s the financial trcatment of the Greys,
when I saw hum some days age C -m-C mtended to discharge them with
their pay during the whole time they had been Prisoners of War 1 told him that
I really could not stand for our paying men to fight agamst us, and that 1
was not fair on men who had remamed loyal, and that he must think again
He now proposes to pay them gratwty eamed by previous service and to
give them the leave on full pay that they would normally be enutled to on
drscherge Fagaw thank, 2nd Fanance and Home Members agree, shot these
terms are too generous Clande Auchinleck promused to reconsider

Of some go,000 men of the Indian Army who fell into Japanese hands as
prisoners of war about 20,000 defected fo them and joned the IN A (Indan
National Army) Thus was at first commanded by a Sikh officer, bt he fell out



162 END OF THE WAR AND SECOND VISIT TO LONDON

with the Japanese and the IN A became more or less morsbund until the
attumn of 1943 when Sublas Chandra Bose (see footnote on p 49) arrved
and took o1 er command

Mbtanly the IN A was of lutle use to the Japanese, but st had some
propaganda ralue Mauy of the 20,000 mulitary personniel who joined 1t did so
primarily to get better treatment, but some of them were imbied 1w ith genine
patriotic fers our and were persuaded by Bose to beleve that they 1 ere serving
the catise of Indian freedom

The *Blacks’ uwere considered to have entered wholeheartedly into the
movement and to be qute unrepentant They numbered over 7,000 Some of
thent had been guilty not only of waging war agamst the King but also of
appalling brutahity to many fellow-prisoners who remamed loyal and refused
to oint them Consequently there was very strong feeling aganst the LN A
mnong some of the loyalists The decision to try a few of the u orst offenders by
conri-tuartral gave rise o a greal deal ﬂf agitation d fﬂ# months later

August 7

So the atomic bomb has come, a suzpnise to me, though I think I have
known or suspected the majonity of the war secrets I konew vaguely that
they were working at it, but had no adea 1t was near gong into use The
correspondence there has been about the Travancore npuneral salts
(Monasite, etc.} 1s connected with t, I fancy A very dangerous scientific
development, smce I doubt whether man has yet the wasdom to use it
wisely It may end war or 1t may end avilization It 1s not a weapon that
any thinking man would willingly have pur into the hands of the present-
day world It has shown it cannot be trusted with 2 box of matches 1s 1t

reasonable to think 1t can play with a Mills grenade and not pull the pin
out?

Augist 8
Routine Council this mommg nothinng much except that the food

sititation. will deteriorate agamn unless we get some heavy rams soon

Sir John Woodhead 1s staying with me, he has written an efficzent but dry
rather dull report on the food problem

I had a telegram from Winston thanking me for the letter [ wrate lim
on hus ceanng to be P M, he seems quate pleased wath 1t

A:gg:tir 11

Habet Nippon, so now for the horrors of peace The first one will be that
I must wnte a victory broadeast, 1 suppose
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August 14

The last few days have been spent wating for the formal surrender of
Japan Whecler® came to see me on Sunday Amencans are always quck
off the mark, and he was already starting to get home the 200,000 Amen-
cans 1 India and Burma and the 60,000 n China SE A C are sending
a commando to Penang to take over the pore and airficlds there, and
a diviston from Rangoon to Singapore I wonder how many of our Bratish
and Incdian Prisoners of War we shall recover

In the Depattments of the G of T we are not nearly ready for peace, but
I doubt whether we ever should have been, P SV and 1 are trying to star
up Departments but 1t 15 a hard job

Anigust 18

Nothme much to record I gave my broadcast on the 15th on the defrat
of Japan, not a very good one, but adequate I suppose

A telegram from the S of § today, the first real sign of hfe, mdicated
that HM G intend to take the India problem in hand at once and
seriously Theyagree to clections and the general programme? I put home
after the Governors’ Canference, but obviously mean something further,
and § of S says another telegram wall be sent me early next week after
further discussion 1n Cabinet

August 19

Thanksayving Service this momung I was sent the choice of three most
mappropnate and rather dreary pieces of scupture to read as the lesson,
so I smd I would read the song of Deborah T was told that this would be
most out of keeping wath the spirit of the Service but 1t seemed 1o me
entirely 1n heeping with the celebration of wetory, and I duly read 1. It
was a good sexvice, but the Bishop 15 not a good preacher

Monteath sent Evan Jenkins a private wire mchc:atmg that T am Dikely
to be aalled home at short notice for consultation.

Basil Gould took leave, he goes home tomorrow after 373 years m
India We went to Summerhields tﬂgﬂther over $o years ago and on to
College at Winchester He certainly did well m Sikkim and the people
up there loved hum.

v General Wheeler had become Deputy to Mountbatten 1n succession to General Stilwell
2 This was the programme for clections release of political prisoners hifting the ban on
Congress orgatuzations cte , agreed to at the Govemers Conference
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August 2¢

FK N told me that if elections were to be held early next year he wished
to leave Counail and go back to Punjab polines He has m fact gone over
to Jinnah and the League and agasmnst his cousin Khizar He wall be no loss

to Councal

Atigust 22

The present Government certanly moves quicker than 1ts predecessor
They want me to start home the day after tomorrow or as soon after as
possible And they annonnced ststrasght away, also the holding of elections
[ had to call a special Counal yesterday at very short notice, to let them
know before the public announcement Fehcty wall go with me and
Menon, and George Abell will meet me m London

Azad has sent an indignant wire about my ordenng elections without
consulang the convemence of Congress, whe apparently want more tune
to orgamse, and will also use electtons as another lever to try to get therr
rematng crimunals out of jail

A prrvate telegram from the S of S mmdicates that they propose to go
back to the Cripps offer This won't do, I am sure, 1t 1s much less hkely
to be accepted by the parties now than before

Arigust 24
Lefr Delli at noon.

Dow at Karachi was 1n hrs usval rather eymueal form. We spoke of the
acquuttal of huis ex-Mmister Khuhro, who wall now probably become
Premier before long to be suspected of murdering one s encniues or even
to be knowm to have done 8 15 2 qualification rather than 3 hindrance in
Sind politics

Dow thinks thar some sort of a Constntuent Assembly, or prelimmaries

for one 1s now necessary, but agrees that an Inquury mto the question of
Pakistan 1s probably an essential prelimunacy

I wonder 1f the Japanese announcement of Subhas Chandra Bose's
death 1n an air—crash 1s true, I suspect 5t very much 1t 15 just what would be
gwven out if he meant to go enderground My first reaction when I heard
it was 19 tellPSV toask SEAC to make most careful enquurics mnto
the story as soon as they could If 1t &5 true 1t will be 2 great rehef His
dispesal would have presented 2 most difficulz problem

1 am not very much looking forward to this tnp I shall find 1e dufficult,
I think, to persuade the Labour party of the realiues of the Indian sttuation



20-2% AUGUST 1045 15¢

and that they must go slow. How ever, 1t will be easter to do 1t i person

than by exchange of teleprams

August 26

Arnived London this evening The S. of S met us and I motored wath lum
to Clandges He looks old, 15 plezsant and amiable George Abell tells me
that Cripps 1s the only man 1n the Government who 15 really in a hurry
over Indua, and he wants to get back to the Crpps offer The remamnder
of the Government, George thunks, are m no hurry, and the rank and file
of the Labour party and the country at large take little interest in India,

Angust 27

I had 13 hours with S of § He outhined the reasons that were impelling
the Labour Government to carly action——the pronouncements of Labour
leaders, the end of the war, the fact that the Foreipn Minssters of Great
Britatn, U S A , and Russta are meeting carly next month and Bevin would
like to show progress in India, and the fact that Congress seemed to be 1n
an accommodatng mood He sad that of progress was to be made, the
alternatis es seemed to be the Cripps offer or 2 modification of 1t, or some
new line of approach. He then spoke of the Paksstan 1ssue and the atntude
of the Muslims Finally, he said thar while the Consttutional 1ssue was
being settled there would presumably be 2 time-fag during which the
business of India had to be carried on, and suggested means for formmng,
a provistonal Executtve Counci from a Provineal panel,

I sa1d the reasons impelling the Government to an early settlement were
understandable, but did not justify action that mught throw Indu mto
chaos or turmoil Besides the polinical 1ssue, we had responsibility to the
nmunorities other than the Mushms, to the workers vis-3-vis the factory
owners, and to the peasants vis-i-vis the [andowners, and for India’s post—
war problemms, we must not overlook these m the hope of appeasing 2 few
polineal leaders 1 sard the spint and objectives of Congress had not really
changed they were 1n a comparatively reasonable mood at present
because they were anxtous to get back mto power 1did not believe a fresh
Cnpps offer would be acceptable to any of the parties, and I thought we
had to face the Pakistan 1ssue and bring 1ts real implicattons mrto the hght
before we could get any further [agreed the ttme-lag would be consider-
able and mught amount to 5 or 6 years I outlmed the posubilines of an
Exccutive Counal during this mtenm period—a political Counal if one
could get one, an ‘efficency’ Counal, or the present Councal 1 remunded
lum that he had not even mentioned the States but that they were a
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constderable part of the Indian problem, and warned lum of the dangers
that mmght result, especally i the Punyab, 1f 1t were said that the Cripps
offer would be enforced (he had hinted at this) I spoke of Indua’s socnal,
economic, and fmancial problems that had to be faced and must not be
neglected 1n concentrating on the political settlement I emphastsed the
Indian Jack of leaderstup Some tatk followed on Jmnak's atnrude and
demands and the difficuley of fitting the Punjab with any Pakistan scheme
P L gave me the impression that he had no wish to be m 2 hurry lumselt
but was bewng pressed by Cabinet and Party

After lunch had another 13 hours with 8 of § , and the Under Secretary,
Henderson, was present We talked at constderable length of the detentton
Ordinances which the Labour Govemment want abolished, the H1xs,
and JLBs,! of whose cnmes and dangerous proclivines they scemed
unaware, of the meeting of Foresgn Musters and Indra’s interest 1n the
problems they might discuss (Palestune, the future of Italisn Fast Africa,
Persta, Stam), of Bajpar's status, and other matters

In the evenme I dined with the P M 1 the flat in the War Cabmet
bwldings, PL was the only other present We talked rather at large on
Inndi2 and Indman personalities without getting down to anything definite

Dmner ‘was at 7 30 pm and the party broke up at 9 45, Winston would
have had dinnerat 9 pm and talked ull 2 am

Argust 28

Busy at 1O practically the whole day Y went to have a talk wath S of §
in morung on assumption that we had finished with the political sitration
for the moment and that he wanted to discuss Governorships and other
matters But I found that hes mind was entirely engrossed with producmg
somice definite scheme for tomorrow’s nieeting of the India Commuttee,
and he asked me to outhne 2 draft announcement to be made, which
would go as far as possible to meet forward opmion 1 the Cabinet and
would not embarrass me 1n India This was 2 very quick one for which
was not in the least prepared Ithought on the whole [rose to the occasion
rather cflecuvely 1 outlined the heads of a possible announcement on

general pohicy towards a settlement which § of § satd he thought would
do adnurably He asked me to produce a dtaft annonncement by 5 pm

[ put George Abcll Menon and Turnbull on to producing 2 draft, and
went off to give George Giffard lunch

*J1% s 1e Japanese inspied Fifth Colunmn were fhe mem of the TN A TheHIiF s

s Hitler Inspired Fafth Column were the very much smaller ninmber of prisoners of war
i German hands who had agreed 1o colfaborate wath them P
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George Abell produced a short and stmple draft, wiuch the S of §
approved 1n substance but then started to try his hand at drafting So we
had another discussion at about 6 pm, I didn’t hke his draft, so we left
1t ull next mornmng

Aregtist 29
Final draft was produced at 1 O thes monung, and I got through a certain

amount of muscellancous work

At India Cabinet Commuttee m afternoon were PM, Crnipps, Ellen
Wikinson, Stansgate {(Wedawood Benn that was), Petluck-Lawrence,
Henderson and Listowel I made a general statement on the present
position and the causes and result of the fatlure at Simla and said 1t now
scemed that we must clear the Pakistan 1ssue before we conld go any
further Tsaid I did not think the Cripps offer would now be accepted by
the parties, and Cnpps sayd that Burla, Shiva Rao? and others had told him
that the Hindus would accept st 2 The draft drawn up by 5 of § and
myself was criucized by PM and Cnpps as reactionary, and 1t became
evident that Cupps was, mamly I think for reasons of personal presuge,
set on enforcing the onginal Cripps offer, which he said wasnow HM G.’s
policy About three-quatters of an hour inconclustve talk followed, at the
end of which 1t was agreed to think 2gam Ths 1s a set-back to my hopes
of early retum

I sent off a telegram t6 Colvalle, asking hun to consult Hallett, Glancy,
Casey, Hope and Corfield® on implications of a renewal of Cripps offer

Arigust 31
Went to War Office and sawnew S of §, Lawson, whom I had known 1n
1942 when he came to India with the Parhamentary Mission to China
We had about 20 mumutes of goodwll, I tmpressed on lum the necessity
for a quuck decision on oficering the I A and put lum wise about Hifs and

Jifs problem
Then to F O and had half an hour with Bevin, wheo I thought was very

sensible about Palestine, about the status of Indwa’s representatives at

1 B Shiva Rao a distinguushed yournahist wntmmg mamly for the Madras paper The
H ndu _

£ Tt would not have been sccepted by the Mushm Lesgne The Cnpps offer had grven
individual Provinces the night vo stand out of an Indian Umon  but the Mushim majoraties
1n the important Provinces of Benpal and the Punjab were so small thar the League could
bhave no assurance that m these two Provinces there wonld be 2 vote in favour of standing out

of an Indian Lnion
s & Conrad Corfeld, I C 8., whoe had succeeded Sir Francss Wylie as Political Advaser
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‘Washmgton and Chungkmg, about Indian representation whenever the
Donmumons were represented, and other matters He was anxious to get
SOINE ANMOUnTETRENT Sut aboust progress on the Induan polwical stmation
before Sept 10, when he meets Foreign Mmusters of U S A and Russia
Iwenttosee the S of S whose draftng I dishke more every time I see
it We discussed hus fresh draft for India Cabinet Commuttee and agreed

to meetagam at § 15 pm, and then went on to the matter of détenus 1
Bengal, S of S fecls very strongly about detention of people without
trial, 1t 1s of course mdefensible m prinerple, but almost certainly the only
way to kecp law and order m some parts of India

I had an hour with Winston from 4 to 5 pm He was friendly and 1n

good form, 15 Just off on a holiday to Traly, to 2 villa near Lake Como
where he will pant He gave forth his nsual jerermad about Indta, wamed
me that the anchor (himself) was now gone and that I was on a lee shore
with rash pilots, revealed that the only reason he had agreed to my
political move was that the India Commuttee had all told him 1t was bound
to fail!

When I got a brt tired of hus diatnibes on Indra, I asked ham whether he
was gomg to wrte the history of the war, he disclamed any mtention of
1t, said he was too old and mght leave notes to be put mto shape after his
hiettme He spoke of the shock of the election, how m one day 1n 1940

he had been elevated to P M when the enemy was at the gates, and 1n one
day m 1945 when the war was over had been thrown out

We talked of the strategy of the war, of the fall of Singapore, of the
Greek campaign which he still reparded with disapproval, of Camro and
Moscow m August 1943, and then of the atormae bomb, 1w not wil
Potsdam that they knew 1t was a success Wanston sard 1f he had known 1t
was gomng to come off and that the Japanese war would be over so soon
he would not have had the election till October, he admitted, however,
th-‘.lt thf.‘: I'ESU]t would prnbabl}r h;nn: b:m much thc camne He was VLY
triendly, and 1 think genmnely pleased that T had been to see hrm. His
fmal remark as I closed the door of the Lift was Keep a bit of India’

[ had a shortsessian wath the § of § and wold him his last draft was the
worst of zl] and that I couldn’t acceptat Iagreed to produce an alternative

by Monday and that the India Comnuttee should not meet agam tll
Tuesday

September 3

I seem to have reached rather a cnas with HM G Aficr scemng the tele-
grams from Colville giving the views of Governors—which apreed
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generally with my own—early this mornung, 1 drafted a note for the India
Commuttee stating the objections to trymng 1o 1mpose 2 Constitution
Making Body on India without further consultatton wath Indians, and
vook 1t round to § of § He was rather shaken, but I told hum quate clearly
thar T meant to stick to 1t, and suggested that I'should see the PM T saw
him again in the afternoon when he had madc a rather fecble attempt to
water down my draft announcement, ‘mn order to make 1t easier to get 1t
past the India Comuuttee” 1 told hum that 1t was perfectly easy to draft
something that would get past the Commuttee, but that if 1t pronused
something we could not fulfil 1t would be dishonest, and if 1t was com-
pletcly unacceptable to onc of the two pnincipal communitics it would be
highly dangerous, and that I would not consent to aither

These people hate to be brought up agamst realitics and made tq face
thetr fences squarely Birla and Shiva Rao and other Congress propa-
gandists are, I know, seeing Cripps and Attlee, and they are takang all they
say as gospel

That was pretty nearly all the business of the day, excecpt a certamn
cumber of routme telegrams, but 1t took quite 2 time

Septetnber 4
A very busy and not very profitable day Sir R Maxwell came to see me,
hus only suggestion on the India problem was an enlarged franchuse, rather
a surprising one from hem, he must know better than anyone the ignorance
of the present electorate

At 4 pm Ihadan hour with P M He was quite friendly but did not
convince me about the advisability of imposing a Constitution Making
Body on Indna, I don't think I convinced him of the madvisability, but
I left lum 1n no doubt about the dangers At the back of 1t all he made it
clear, wathout mtending to do so. that the Cabinet was thinking more of
placating opimntosn 11 their own party, andin U S A, than of the real good
of India He sard m the end that the India Commuttee would discuss 1t
among, themselves that afternoon

Then went to dme with Cripps He tried to persuade me on the same
Lines as the P M, and I'was equally firm on the dangers of trying to force
the pace and 1mpose 2 Constitution Making Body He also revealed 1n
what he said that at the back of hts mmnd was pledges to the party tal and
fear of their pressure, instigated by Congress propaganda, rather than the
real good of tndia I made no sccret of my views as to the dangers of
the course they proposed and the extent to which they werce disregarding
the good of the people However, they are obviously bent on handing over
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India to therr Congress friends as soon as possible ‘They will try to get me
to accept some compromuse formuls of words that they wall wterpret
therr way [ may have to deaade whether to refuse to be a party to therr
plans to Quut Inda, or to go back and try to keep them out of disaster
as much as possible Afterwards Cripps talked more sensibly on India's
economuc problems, and then on the question of Governorships

September 3
Just before lunch S of S produced yet another draft, and [ discussed it

with lim for over an hour mn the afiernoon He 15 a most chanmung old
gentleman but not 2 very skilful drafter 1 think thus latest effort may do
with a few alterations, but 1t really leaves all the Joose ends unued

September 6

Meetng of the Cabiner India Commuttee went well. ‘The latest drake

announcement was passed with only a few textual amendments, 1t was
agreed that 1t would be a good thing 1f I supplemented 1t with a broadcast,
and the P M would also probably broadcast at home Ithen made a state-
ment, warning HM G of the rochs ahead and emphasising that a mere
expression of thetr mntentions however good, did not solve the Indun
problem and that there were many awkward questions to be anywered
and decisions to be made before CM B could come mto bemg, much
more before a2 Constitution could be agreed I outhned some of them—
the composiion and procedure of the CM B, the sccession 1ssue, the

pledges to the Princes the nghts of mumeonties It was agreed that there
should be a discussion of these paints before T went back,

The announcement which Waell made on behalf of HMG on
19 September after his return to India, w as as follows

‘As stated m the gracious Speech from the Throne at the Openmg of
Porlament, His Mayesty’s Govetument are determmed to do their sitmost to
promote i romunctron with the leaders of Indsan apsmon the carly realisation
of full self-gor exnment 11 India Dyning mty visit to Londou they hat e discussed
1 ith me the steps to be talen

"An armouncenient has already been made that elections to the Central and
Protincial Legislatures, so long postponed owing to the war, are to be hel {
duning the commmng cold weather Thereafter His Alajesty’s Governtient
earnestly hope that nunistersal responsibility will be accepted by pﬂfmfﬂf
leaders o all Provinces

It 15 the miention nf His Marfsrf s Gaorernmenit o coniene as seon as
possible a C'm:snmrmn-um.{fqg Body, and as o prelinnary sfep they hate
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authorised me to undertake, ymmediately after the elections, diseusstons v uh
representatives of the Leqislatiie Assemblies w the Provinces, to ascertamn
whether the proposals contamed w the 1942 declaration are acceptable or
w hether some alternative or modified scheme 1s preferable Discussions will also
be undertaken with the represcentatives of the Indian States with a vew to
ascerimining 1 u hat way they can best take theer part m the Constitution-
making Body

‘His Majesty’s Government are proceeding to the consideration of the content
of the treaty tluch il sequire ta be concluded betveen Great Brtan and
India

‘Duning these preparatory stages, the Government of India must be carrted
on, and tirgent cconomic and searal problems must be dealt wuh Furthermore,
India has to play her full part in working out the new World Order His
Majesty’s Government have therefore f:m'wr avthorised me, as soon as the
results of the Provincial elections are published, to take steps to bring mto beng
an Exectitie e Cotmmet! whieh u ] have the support of the man Indian parties”

Scptember 11

The Sccretary of the India Society, Richter, came to see me about the
proposed exlubition of Indian Art at Burlington House and I found that
almost nothing had been done since I was home last So I wrote a note to
the S of S

The Cabinet Commuttee discussed all the difficulties 1n front of us a
httle langwidly, since they were not inmedute Cripps was always ready
with a form of words, but even he realises that words, however skitfully
chosen, will not solve fundamental differences Still the atmosphere was
friendly, diffcrent to the Inda Comumuttee of the last Government, who
were however, more alive to the pracneal difficulties Compared with
last time, I have had to rase my night foot—the one on the accelerator
pedal—-and put down my Ileft foot—the brake pedal one—gently but

firmly

September 12
The usual last day hustle included a meeting wath the Secretary of State
on Commercial safeguards and disciminanion agamnst Brtish firms and
several other matters—a muxed bag

Sinell the gunner whom Lleft in command on Java m February 1942
came to see me He has been a Jap prisoner ever since He seemed 1n very
good heart as he was when I handed bam over that very forlom hope He
t0ld me the story of his adventures When the Japs landed Sitwell was
ordered by Ter Poorten to surrender The Japs beat hum up really



172 END OF THE WAR AND SECOND VISIT TO LONDON

thoroughly at the start to try and get from hum where the Australan 1
Corps was, he told me he was left on the floor for ten days with s hands
tted behmd Tus back for six days without food Afterwards they (the
officers} were subjected to a pohey of degradation 1n front of therr men—
2 policy which did not pay from the Japanese pownt of view, as 1t only
aroused the fury and indignation of the men. He sud the morale of our
men was much better thant hat of the Dutch and Amernicans  Stwell
impresses me by his vitality and courage, as he did when I put inm m

command

September 14 (Cairo)

Usual party to see me off yesterday Arnved Cairo about 8 p m and went
to Paget—our old house on Gezira

The Caseys tumed up for dinner and I had half an hour with nm He
was furious over the release of Sarat Bose,! apparently 1t was done without
consulung ham He wants to leave Bengal in January, rather to my dis-
appomtment he had no very definite 1deas abour a successor

September 16

Back to Dellu by lunch time Evan Jenkins had as usual prepared a suc-
cint and ilununating note onall the prinaipal developments in my absence

So ends another stage or inadent of my Viceroyalty I think 1t was
worthwhile to go home and make contact with the new Government

1 appear to have for the moment the confidence of HM G and of people

generally, and hope I have mrroduced some sense of reales mto the
people to whom I have tatked on the Indian sttuaton

It has been fartly gnling work and I am a hittle weary
' Left wing Congress feader from Bengal brother of Subhas Chandra Bose
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Lord Wavell had predicted that the end of the war would be a testing time 1n
India, and he 1was right The fe_'ﬁ-wmg extrenmsts in Congress, many of twhom
had recently been refeased from jal, were stehung to Launch a fresh ‘Qut India”
rebellion, and duning the next jﬁw months this seemed to be the itention of the
Congress leaders, pudgmg by the violence of their public utterances Gandh
teas saud to favonr moderation, but Gandhy's influence was en the decline

The first trals of members of the IN' A began 1 November and aronsed
greatexcitement, fomented by the Congressleaders, some of whom were thinking
of employmg I N.A officers and wien as the spearhead of a rebeflion The
trials 1vere a sotirce ajﬂ;rmr atxtety fo the Government of Indin On the
Anny'’s wisistence and aganst the advice of the Home Member, they uere
wuwnsely held us the Red Fort at Delli i thhe fullest glare of publicity, and 1
retrospect 1t 13 clear that the policy, adopted later, of only sending for troal those
agatnst st howt charges of bristality conld be proved, should have been followed
Jroms the outser, but 1t 15 difficult 1o see how these tnals conld have been avorded
altopether

Another sonrce of anxiety at this tune was the posstble need to use Indan
troops agamst the Indonessans If the smpression was created that the Indian
ATHE! was bewsy used to restore “colomalismi’, this would witensify political
trouble 1 India and mught excite disaffection in the Army atself

Hotwever, by the end of the year the worst dangers were over The vmportant
Congress leader, Vallabhbha Patel, seems to have come round to the view that
Independence could be ganed qunte soon by peaceful means and that 1t would be
Jeolish to stir up trouble and create disorder an the country He therefore began
to throw the weight of his great mfluence in favour of keeping the peace

September zo
Council meetings on last two days On the evening of 18th | held a special
meeting to copununicate the resule of my discussions at home and to read
the proposed announcement of HM G In contrast to the last oceasion
when [ came back, the proposals had a very good reception, and the
comments of members were sensible and friendly

After dinner I made my broadcast of H M G 's announcement, and then
had to do 1t all over agan m front of an Amencan film umt, whose

machine kept breaking down with the result that T was kept about 40
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munutes m front of those blazing hghts 1 remarked to the American 1
charge that I did not wonder that film stars became temperamental, he
merely replied ‘You are lucky, you haven’t got any make-up on’

September 21

According to the Japs at Singapore, S C Bose definitely 1s dead, but I shall
be sceptical till further confirmation

[ told Caroe and Trveds about their Governorstups! and they seemed
pleased Mudie has accepted Governorship of Sind.

September 22

Ceremonnal parade this moming when Wheeler presented Legion of
Memt to Cn-C and myself We had a number of Americans ta lunch
later on. Parade went well and I think Wheeler was very pleased, he has
been a great co-operator wath the Bniash and genuinely liked by everyone
I saw two correspondents this mornme—Moraes of the Times of India,
who trted to draw me on my political intentions and drew 2 blank, and
Holbum of the Trmes Sultan Ahmed also came and expressed a wish to

resign from Counctl and take up a post 2s Muslum Adviser to the Chamber
of Princes

SEPIEHI!?FF 28

Back this mornimng from z fairly strenuous 4 days at Dehra Dun I saw the
2 Gurkha Tramng Depot and battalions of 2nd and gth Gurkhas back
from P o W campsin Malaya gth Gurkha battalion put up an impressive
performance by turnmg out on parade very smart for inspection m spite
of being a very sick and debilitated lot of men Both battahons had
brought back mose men and in rather better shape than I expected, both

were exceedmgly bitter about the LN A from whose hands they had
had worse treatment than from the Japs

September 20

A pretty busy day Saturday was succeeded by a very ‘Green-box’, Sunday,
and I got no week-end rest at all Bengal 1s getang very worrted about

food, and 1t looks as 1f we might have a situation comparable with 1943,
unless e are careful

t S Ohaf Caroe 1C5S  who had been Fore
the NYWFP and $Sir Chanda Ial Trived: ! CEI:
ment was appointed Governor of Orissy

Secretary was appointed Governor of
who had been Secretary 'War Depart-
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Qitober 1

I began wath an hour with Lawson, the § of S for \War, who arrived last
night I tackled hum over passages home for the large numbers of civihans,
Service and commercaial, who have been abroad for 7 or 8 years He was,
perhaps naturally, umpressed wath the necessity of cleaning the block of
soldiers watting to go to the UK. where trade 15 suffering from lack
of labour

I then had two of the Diwans of big States—Ramaswamu Aryar of
Travancore and the Nawsb of Chattani from Hyderabad The former
talked of s plan for Repronal grouping, of the necessity to form an
Interim National Government, of proposals to bring the Prnces into
consultation over industmal and economic questions, of Pakistan and how
to elucidate it He has clear and sound 1deas of what should be done butno
intention, as he showed a year or two ago, of descending into the dust and
strife of the arena himself.

The Nawab of Chattar1 with a bad cold was even less audible and
mtelhgible than he usually 1s to me He was charged by hus fornudable
and 1mportunate master to suggest that HM G should enter mnto a
separate treaty with Hyderabad as an independent State and give her an
outlet to the sea by permutang or helping her to buy Marmagaoa fromthe
Portuguese, also that HEH should be given 2 resounding title and be

released from all restrictions as a reward for hus services in the war I -was
not encouraging about either proposal

Then I had a talk with Archie Rowlands for an hour on the reorganisa-
tion of the Finance Branch, the deamalization of the comage, India's
ratification of the Bretton Woods agreement, and several other matters

Next an hour with C -m-C on various matters He wants a big Victory
parade and military week m February, which seems a bit late, and the
Africans, East and West, removed from Indm as soon as possible—
especially the West Africans

Finally, 2 big dinner party of 70 or so, largely Princes

October 4

The 1oth and final session of the N D C., whach has been 1 exustence for
just four years, ended today It has been, [ think 2 useful body, but 1t has
sometimes been rather a weanisome ene 'We discussed a humber of matters
and then ac the end an officer P O W krom Malaya, Major Bahadur Singh
of the Hyderabad Regiment spoke of Ins experrences and sang a hymn of
hate against the I N A His obvious sincerity and the obvious sufferings he
had been through made a constderable impression It was a good session

D 16% M
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and ended with farewell complimentary remarks by mysclf, the Jam Sahub,
and Str C Jehangir !
‘We had two biggish partics, an At Home on the evemmg of the 2nd for
Lawson to meet the N D C and a farewell dinner torught for the ND C
Peter Coats departed yesterday morning with Lawson, he has been
with me for nearly six years, as ADC, P S and Comprroller I shall muss
his sumulating compaty and quck wir
Outside the N D C  there has been plenty of paperwork and a number
of interviews 1 had a Iong session with Corfield on the difficult problem of
war rewards for the Princes, on which 1t will be v ery difficult to satisfy
them It looks as if we should have to agree to Mirza Ismal gomng to
Hyderabad to replace Chattari—a vamn untrustworthy but clever man
for an honest but stupid one
Dalal saw me today, full of difficultres and complaints of the slow
functioning of other Departments, says he can get no decision on Agrn-
cultural policy, Educational policy, pohcy to deal with unemployment
(roads, etc.) I hold no brief for my Members i charge of chese Depart-
ments, they are maddenmgly slow, but Dalal 1s rather soft and faunt-
hearted and cannot stand up ro difhiculnies or crittaasm I tried to hearten
him a httle He sard he had seen Gandhi and Vallabhar Patel in Bombay
Gandbi had now no objection to promonon of heavy mdustnes, though
he sull wished for cloth to be prodaced by willage industry  Vallabhas
Patel was very bitter about the dissolution of the Assemblies by Governors
and claimed that Congress should have been given the chance to form
Minsstracs, though he said they would not have done so I suppose what
they wanted was to be asked to form Mumstries so that they could have
refused or demanded condittons I am told that there 1s a constderable

struggle going on mnside Congress between the advocates of co-operation

(on Congress terms) and violence Vallabhay Patel of course advocatcs the
latter

October 6
A constderable number of interviews Sir Cowasjee Jehangir talked on

the pobtzcal simanion He had been sallang to Jinmsh and was posably
sounding me on Jnnah’s behalf He said communal feeling was worse
than ever and adjured me to form a Central Government before the
clections with panty betw een Moslem League and Congress I said that we
were a little tred of makmng efforts at solution and findmg them rejected

' A proounent Patsee, who represented the City of Bombay 1n the Central Leguslative
Auembly 193047
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and that Jmnah had said at Simla that nothing less than Myl e F

with all other partics at the Centre would satisfy him, and the, ! L’;f:: T

he was playing hs cardsbadly C ] sard there were dussensions g Cer ;H:
v

and that Gandht was losimng s influence, and that the tmmoderages v.on
gaimng ground -

I talked to Mudie about law and order during the elections, abo,
Rutherford had been rather panicky, and told him to 1m

that to appease the Congress at the expense of loyalists

i
I

"FJ"L;'.,-*E

Pl'ﬂi m f‘i’ﬂ'}'rf_..

wWat not m !
7Py,

October 17

Got back this evenung from a visit to Kashmir and Rawa] pdy The vy o
to Kashmur was comparatively peaceful, my only offictal dutyes wepe of
opening of an (unfinshed) hospital and interviews with Minygper, ;:;
soctal occasions were many We had three shoots and a round of -‘;If‘
Gulmarg S as

The hosprtal was a very complete ptece of camouflage, 1t wae unfinsdy,
and would not take pauents for many months, but a complete saff ¢
doctors, nurses, orderlies, etc, had been assembled, the fingshed w;,c;
were complete with beds, blankets, flowers, and every detayl, INSErUtneny :
X-ray apparatus, operating tables and s0 on had been wmstalled mn th "
proper places, the dispensanies had an entire stock of medicines; eyen, ﬂ::
offices were full of stationery, ash-trays, etc, a5 1f m use Next d, I
suppose it was all moved back to the other hospitals from which 1 IL;
been taken I made a short specch and the ceremony did not take lnng

I ltked H H, he 1s shrewd, has quite a sense of humour, and 15 liberal.
mnded—for an Indtan Prince He means well by his State and subjecry
and docs not seem to be very extravagant—except on hus wife’s JEWE]Icry'
But he 1s energetic only by fits and starts and will not rﬂally put h!m-:
self out

I quote fell for the Maharam who 1s attractive and has obviously 2 goog
deal of character Her Jewels must be seen to be bebeved, she wore a freqf,
set every day we weze there

The new Prime Muuster, Kak, a Kashmur Pundit with a Brutish wafe 4,
clever, plausible, and quute useless 1 a ensis, I should say He has been o4,
power behind the throne for some time and 1s said to have ousted the 135,
two or three P M ’s by hus mtrigues Kashrmur 1s hkely to be the seat of
political trouble before long, there are two factions, both Mushm (Bo%
of the population 1s Muslm), one of which supports and 1s supported by

the Congress, the other Mushim League Nehru, Azad and Jinnah have a]|
visited the State lately and have agitated
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We had four days of official engagements i Rawalpmnds, nulitary and
otherwise

I had longish talks with Glancy and Khizar, both were very anxous
that HM G should announce a definste policy about Pakistan, 1e what
they really meant by pernussion to secede from the Indian Unton whach
was promssed in the Cnpps offer FKN and Jinnah are fining in strong
accusations, both to the § of § and myself, that Glancy and Kluzar are
usmg officials to support the Uniomst party and to influence the electrons

October 19

A long day of green boxes, mterviews and a Councill meeting The
Council meeting was the long-postponed one on Education It was less
difficult than I expected though I don'’t think it really gets us anywhere
The Indian tendency to think with the heart rather than the head was
evident All the Indian members disregarded Finance Member’s waming
that the full scheme was quite impossible to finance, and pracncally all
nsisted that at was the really backward classes that must get the most
attention and money, although 1t 1s quite obvious that India’s real need at
present 1s techmaans and leaders, and that halfeducated sweepers and
bhustss and wald men of the hills can contmbute little or nothing to the
removal of India’s poverty Sargent-was very good, clear and conethatory,
and we arnived at some sort of general approval of the report Curtowsly
enough, 1t was Ambedkar alone of the Indians who advocated that moncy

should be spent on leaders, technictans and busmessmen rather than on the
most backward

October 24

Normal day of papers and mterviews Depressing reports continute to
come w from Provinces of the mtemperate attitede of Congress, ther
attempts to meinudate the Services by threats of revenge when they come
mto power, and so on. Nehm, n particular, scems gquite unable to re-
stratn hanself and perhaps impnisonment has quite upset hus balance which

was nevet his strong point. Thorne! agrees that T should see lum and wam
him about his speeches

Counall meeting this mormng was a longish one There was an ¢n-
couraging telegram from S of S about Food imports, and apparently on
the strengrth of u, Jogm gave hus de~control hare 2 canter round the track
but could find no one to chase 1t We deaded to restore the ban on women
working underground i muines on February 1, 1946, on the summary,

! He had succeeded Sir Franos Mudse 2s Home Member
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Members of Councail voiced thor apprchensions on the law and order
situation, and are obviously getting a hetle rattled

Qctober 26

Dr Khan Salub, Congress Prenucr of N W FP, lunched yesterday He
15 pleasant but not perhaps a very strong character Hutchings, who has
lately returned from leave home, said that the atmosphere 1n the Food
Minsstry at home was quute changed and now much more friendly to

Indra

October 31

I had C -in-C and Thorne m and told them to be prepared for trouble
and possibly for a fresh struggle with Congress as m August, 1942, 1n view
of the obvious wntention of Congress leaders to stir up a mass struggle

George Cunmungham arnived 1n the evenung and I had some talk wath
hum about the Frontter Province

Next day a conference with the C-n-C, George Cunmingham and
Olaf Caroe on the Frontier problem, The C -1n-C commuttee on Frontier
defence had been divided on the 1ssue of disammung the tribes The majonty
had held, qute nightly I think, that disarmament could only come by
ccononue penctration and improved soctal condittons, obwiously a matter
of ime 'The President, Tuker?! and the R.A F member recommended a
policy of immediate disarmament as an essennal. The C-in-C msisted
on disarmament as the key Cunmngham and Caroe supported the
majorty opiuon, After a good deal of time the C-in-C promused to
produce a plan for the substitution of Armed police for troops m Wazin-
stan and the Khyber So the old sce-saw of frontier pohcy goes on, much
as 1t has gone on for the fast 100 years, without getting any nearer to a

permanent solution

November 2
Wild speeches by Nehru and Patel threatening 2 mass movement after
the elechions unless they get all they want i ¢ Quut India), continue, and

Smath 2 the D1 B, was gloomy yesterday
P SV saw Holbum of the Times today and put htm mto the pcture

he had just come back from Burma and sad that sepous trouble was
brewing there

I Ie-Cen Sir Francis Tuker GO Com-C  Eastern Command india
2 Sir Norman Srauth, I[P Inspector-General of Police Bombay 19424, Dhrector Intel-
Ligence Bureau, Government of [ndia 19456
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Had a farewell Junch party for Sultan Ahmed today, who has resigned
from Counal to take up a job with the Princes

Noi erber 3
I had an hour with Nehru this mermng I told hum that no Government

could continue to tolerate mdefinttely inciternent to violence or threats to
s offictals and that the future of Indsa must depend on some compronuse
between Hindu and Mushm.,

He replied that Congress could make no terms whatever with the
Muslun League under uts present leadership and policy, that it was 2
reactronary body with entizely unacceptable 1deas with which there could
be no settlement

He practically admutted that he was preaching violence and said that he
did not see how violence could be avorded if legitimate atms could not
be artamed otherwase

I left ki 1n no doubt that the Government were bound to take the
necessaty measures to prevent violence I don’t think it wiil do any good
Though his attitude was quiet and friendly throughout and I cannot help
Liking lum he seems to me to have reached the state of mind of a fanatic
and 15 quute mneapable of constdenng any wiews that do not comade with
hus own. I think he knows he 15 heading for trouble but feels he can rouse
the country sufficienty to make it difficult for us to suppress it The
situation gets to look more ugly every day and the tone of the Nationahst
Press more virulent We shall before long be faced wath the 1ssue of
another violent suppression of Congress, with weaker and rather de-

moralised forces perhaps if therr mtimdation of officaals and police
continues unchecked and they succeed tn dividing the [ A over the IN A
trials or of capuitulation to them

Ivor Jehu' came to dinner and I had an hour wath him afterwards He
13 always mtercsting He s very wornied over the pohey of hus paper, the
Times of India 1¢ what hne to take about the Congress He agrees that
the policy of Congress 1s now almost openly viclence He thunks they wall
take office after the clections get nid of the Brssh officials paralyse the
adrmunsstration and start 2 mass movenent 1] has had talks with Valla-
bhar Patel whom he regards as the strong man of Congress and says they
are determuned to get nd of Botsh power altogether in 2 year or two
He wanted to know what line Goyvernment proposed to take with Con-

gress He agrees with me that our propaganda and publicity over the

' 1 5 Jebu at thi ome acting-editor of the T nes of [1d 4,
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LN A. was fatally slow and meflectin ¢, and that we have given Congress
a weapon which they have been not slow to use, and very unserupulously

Noventber ;

A long, rather depressing day Old Mohamed Usman at kis interview
today was really upser at the prospect of the Bntish leaving Indua, the
dear old boy 15 a real die-hard Impernalist and quite contemptuous of the
ability of his own countrymen to rule He smid we were losing all our
friends, that no one 1 India ever worshupped the setting sun, only the
rising one, and that was now Congress He deplored the general tide of
world politics, whach perhaps made our attitude mevitable

I had a long talk 1 the evening wich Alan Brooke (now Alan Alan-
brooke) who arnived thus afternoon I showed Alan the note I proposed
to send HM G on the Indan sitwation, he agreed that I ought to send
2 warnmng but had no idea where the troops would come from if we
wanted them

The note sent to H M G. 15 grven below

We are now faced in India with 2 situanen of great difficulty and
danger, mn which I requre support and guidance from His Majesty's
Government

2 Since the session of the All India Congress Commuttee (21st~23rd

September) the Congress leaders everywhere, but parncularly Vallabha:
Patel in Bombay and Nehru and Pant in the United Provinces, have been
making statements and speeches which can only be intended to provoke
or pave the way for mass disorder They began by taking the credst of the
1042 disturbances, asserting that the British could be turned out of India
within a very short time, dr:nymﬁ the possthility of 2 compromise with
the Muslun League, glonfying the IN A, and threatening the officals
who took part in the suppression of the 1942 disturbances with trial and
punishment as ‘war coiminals’ From these general attempts to excite
racial and communal hatred, they have now passed to a disclosure of the:r
programume, which 1s, briefly, to contest the elections, to serve an ult-
matum o H M G, and, m default of 1ts acceptance, to organise a mass
movement on the 1942 lines but on a much larger scale

3 The Congress, as a bedy, would almost certainly deny, n spite of
the speeches of members of the Working Commttee, that violence 1s any
part of their official creed But exther there 1s a secret policy which incfudes
use of violence, or the more extreme leaders are out of control Gandhi’s
imfluence 1s believed to be an the side of moderation but he has said and
done practically nothung for wecks, and his friends are beheved 1o be
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seriously wotrted about lus health Whether he wal! attempt later to
control the extremust Congress leaders I do not know , but if, as I suspeet,

they are taking their lme from the rank and file of the party, he may be
unwilling or unable to do so

4 Atany rate there 1s nothing secret about the intentions of Nehru and
Patel, and as they are, after Gandhy, by far the most influential of the
Congress leaders the others are takmg their line from them In a recent
speech at Bombay, Patel said that ‘Congress was not going to sit quiet
after the elections and wait on the convemence and pleasure of the Bntish

Government The Congress would demand an immediate and final
solution  Ifsuch a solution was not forthcoming  sure as day follows
nght there would follow another struggle  When the time f?:;r action
comes and the time for action may come soon, we must be able to act as

one man’ Nehru said a day earlier that ‘revolution 15 mevitable’

5 In order to make sure that there was no nusundcrst;mcf[mg I saw

Nehru on 3rd November, and ponted out to him the danger of the course
he and other leaders were advocating He made 1t clear that he thought
violence mevitable and shortly after our interview dehivered an inflam—
matory speech of the usual kand I believe that the Congress are counting

on the IN A as the spear head of their revolt, they would suborn the
Indian Army 1f they could, and they hope that their threats wall imparr the
loyalty and efficiency of the Police They have been encouraged by events
m French Indo-China and Indonesia which they are watching carefully,

and a good deal may depend upon what happens there and i Syna and
Palestine

6 The object of the nising the Congress leaders have in mund would be
the expulsion of the Briish Whatever the leaders themselves mught say
publicly, there would be organused attacks on the rmilways and public
buildings, treasunies would be looted and records destroyed In fact

Congressmen would attempt to paralyse the admmmstraton as they did
m 1942, they would also attack and possibly murder any officials, Brinsh
and Indsan, on whom they could lay therr hands In a recent speech Nehu
has given special prasse to the people of Balha a District m the United
Provinces, m which the noters managed to paralyse the admmstration

for 2 few days m 1042 henamed and threatened five British officials who
restored order there

7 It1sin my judement unhkely that the Congress leaders will attempt
therr coup unnl all the Provmeal elections are completed unless events
force their hand T doubt 1f they are much mterested 1n the elections as

such, what 1s more important to thern 1« the opportumty afforded by the

clections to revive and re-organise the Party and they are already taking

full advantage of thas opportunity The tone of the nationalist Press has
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pethaps never been worse, and there 15 no doubt about the growth of
Hindu enthustasm for the Congress It 1s probable that there may be
commnuunal disorder on a large scale before the Provincal elections, and 1t
1s possible that 1n Provinces such as the U P. and Bihar, anti-Government
disorders may begin before the Congress leaders intend.

8. I must accotdmgly, with the utmost gravity, wam HM G to be
prepared for a serious attempt by the Congress, probably next spring, but
quite possibly cather, to subvert by force the present admumstration 1n
India Half measures will be of no usc in dealing with a movement of this
kind, and the chotce will lie between capitulating to Congress and accept-
mg therr demands—whatever they may be—and using all our resources
to suppress the movement

9 The mam Congress demand would, I suppose, be the prant of
rmmediate mdependence to Indn under a Government selected by the
Congress High Command This has been the aim of Congress policy for
years, and 1t 1s clear that nothing short of 1t would satisfy Nehru and Patel
I do not imagme that His Majesty’s Govermnment will wash to yield to
force or threats of force, mor can we l:ghtlky divest ourselves of our
obligattans to the munorteres I assume therefore that there will be no
question of the acceptance of a Congress vlimatum

10 If this assumption 15 correct, we must be prepared to suppress the
movement, and to suppress 1t this bme with great thoroughness T am
aware of the extreme difficulty of thus course, 1t would involve the use of
a considerable force of Briush troops, probably the declaration of martial
law over parts of the country, the detention of a large number of persons
without trial or trial by special courts, and the suppression for an indefinite
penod of the Congress Party  All this would be most imsatisfactory, but
the alternative 15 to hand India over to a single party-—-admuttedly the
strongest and best organised in the country, but conststing matnly of caste
Hindus and experienced m nothing but agitation If we handed over
British India, 1t would be impossible for us to fulfil our obligations to the
States, the rulers of which have loyally supported us

11 We should be justified in moving agamst the Congress now, on the
mnformation aiready avalable The Party 1s not yet fully re-organised and
its immediate suppression would be relatively easy Moreover, immediate
action would rally those Indians who have hitherto supported us, and
would put heart mto the Services The British members of the IC S and
IP are disronted and discontented. the Indian members of these services
are uneasy about the future and under strong pelitical and socal pressure,
while the Indian subordmates on whom the admimstration so largely
depends are naturally reluctant to make enemies of the firture masters of

India
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12 Butl do not recommend immediate action, unless 1t 15 forced on us
before the elections by actual disorder To abandon our programme now
would be to invite eriticism all over the world, and to stimulate the general
doubts ahout our good farth {am afraid thatwe mustwart for the present,
and prepare 1o act quickly as soon as we are compelled to do so The
dangers of maction are grave, since the capactity of the adrunistration m
rural districts to stand up to serious disturbances 1s largely a matter of

morale, and service morale 15 now bad i many distnicts and 15 beng
steadily undermined

13 1 am convinced that His Majesty’s Government should at some
very carly date make 1t clear {1) that they are aware of the gravity of the
Indsan situation, {11) that they do not mtend to permut the use of force by
any political parvy and will suppress disturbances by every means, (u1) that
they will support aganst pcﬁ]mcal attack offtcials who have done ther
duty, and {tv} that they will provide me with the resources I requure to
keep the peace A statement on these lines mught brmng some of the less
hystenical Congressmen down to earth, and would certamnly put heart

into the Services Tt is mn fact essenttal, m my view and 1t 1s just possible

that1t mught bring Congtess to 1ts senses and prevent the violent movement
which I apprehend

W
O6-1I1-194%

Noventber 8

Counctl meeting yesterday lasted under half an hour The members
present unammously approved keeping Ordmance III (Arrest without
trial) i foree ull September 1046, mstead of withdrawing 1t next month
as had been proposed, and made some gloomy comments on the law and
order situation

S of S cabled that Archre Niye? was being offered Madras, 1if Tapproved
I agn‘:ed

V P Menon optimistic as usual said that he thought Nehru had
quictened down a bt since hus interview with me, 1 can sce lietle sign of

it Azad sent what was, T think, meant to be 2 conciliatory reply to my
last tetter to hum

Notember 15

Back this evenung from U P It was the dullest tour 1 have done, ting
depressing and hat

b Lt -Gen S Archubald Nyve, Vice-Chief of Im

Madras 1946-8, H gh Comm ssioner for the U petial General Staff 1941-6 Governor of

K inlndiz 1948352
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On retumn [ held a short Counail meeting on some matters in connection
with the Assembly, and started on the weary bustmess of catchung up on
the work which always scems to accumulate, however many green boaes
one deals wath on tour

Gandht wrote a malevolent letter to P SV, admrtting that Nehru's
speeches were ‘hot” but putung forward the cunious argument that if the
British really meant to grant freedom to India 1t did not matter how hot
they were, 1f the Boush were not 1n earnest they ought to be hotter, and
that “forgive and forget’ could not be held to apply to our action 1n
suppressing the 1942 rebelion He 15 a malignane ofd mar

November 12

Evan Jenkins went off yesterday,? I shall feel hus loss greatly He had an
extraordinantly clear and quick bran, and was a sympathetic personality
in spate of hus rather detached outlook.

Archue Rowlands duscussed his visits to the Provinces and the big
schemes of expenditure they would necd to prevent heavy unemployment
He said G D Burla was alarmed at the virulence of Congress speeches

November 21

I retumed from a few days m Gwahor which I hoped were going to be
restful but turned out to be exhaustmg

Tuesday was supposed to be piven up to a tiger shoot It didn’t turn out
the least as I had expected There was one short beat and no tiger and that
was aff the shooting The beat for tiger was about 20 mmies away Whale
we were collecting at the rendezvous two male elephants starved a fight
while being loaded up and delayed proceedmgs for nearly an hour, and
the nowse probably disturbed the tiger, anyway he was not in the beat
which was down a narrow ravine Then we motored another 20 nles for
hunch after which we motored on another 40 mules to Sharpun to vasit
the tombs of H H ’s ancestors There was sometfung rather incongruous
about this we were all in shooting clothes, 1t was quute unexpected and
some of the items were unusual, for example there was outside 3 fine
marble tomb a small cheap bath-mat with the word welcome’, and a
sentry with fixed bayonet stood and presented arms while we mspected
a shrine to Rama and Hanuman (the monkey god) The tomb of HH ’s
father was a fine one with inlard marble after the fashion of the Tay Mahal,
and silver doors At his grandmother’s tomb there was a figure of the old

} He was proceedng ou leaye prepanatory to takmg over as Governor of the Punjab
George Abell took s place
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lady, which was, H H. mformed us, treated as living, and washed and fed.
The mmense gulf between the Hindu religion and mentaltty and ours,
and the Moslem, 1s the real core of all our trotbles i India, and this viat
ma way brought 1t home to me After 1t, we motored to a lake and rushed
about m Amencan speed-boats and were then offered 2n enormous tea.
A weary drrve home of 70 to 80 males ended a cuntous day

I like the Maharaa, but he has never quite grown up A long minonty,
with a domineening mother, has given lum 2n infertority complex and

2 suspraion of mterference or advice But he has the right 1deas, no vices,
and a very attrzctive Maharam

Notember 22

Long Council meeting m the momme 10 301 p m. Food member gave
qibte an encouraging report from Bengal but coal had had a bad week.
Rowland’s plan for decmalisation of comage went through, with
Instructions to keep the term ‘anna’ and to avoid “cent’” The rest of the
morning was taken up by discussion of 5 bills which Ambedkar wishes to
mtrodtice 1n next session—a Working Hours m Factones hill, a Mimmum
Wages bill, an Amendment to merease the Compensation for 1njures,
a bill to compel employers to post up conditions of employment 1n all

factonies, and a bill for the recogmtion of Trade Umions Ambedkar had
not quite thought them all out, but on the whole got 2 good deal of hrs
programme through, a bit mangled

I had over an hour with C an-C on polincal situatton and internal

sccunity precautions, IN A trials, the proposal that the Victory Week
i Delhi should be cancelled (C-1n-C and Tagreed that 1t should not), and

one or two other matters

The paper on the sitwation 1n India which I sent home about a fortrught
ago has obviously shaken up the Cabmet 1had a long telegram last mght
from S of § which 1 discussed with Home Member this morming
HMG’s proposals are (a) to send out a Parhamentary Delegation at
zbout the end of the year (b) that I should see Gandhi and ask for his
assstance in counseling moderaton (¢) that Nehry and Jinnah should be

should make a statement when the

intention to press on with a Constituyon Making Body after the electtons,
and making clear therr attitude towards disorder and their Intention to

protect Government servants In my teply I welcomed (2) and (d} and
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discouraged (b) and (¢} whuch I am sure would do o good Later 1 got
2 senstble letter from § of § which he had written after secing my paper

Of my viators, Kharegat! was as dry as ever, but rather more interesting
than usual, about locusts, afforestation, ctc , he knows hus stuffbut 15 a pur¢
pen-pusher, I am sure, and will never get results Hutchings was hopeful
about the food sitation after hus visit to Bengal but gloomy about the
political outlook, and pownted our that nterruption of commurcations
on anythung hke the August 1942 scale nught mean fanune

Notentber 24

I have given up hoping for any relief at week-ends I have been struggling
to draft a speech for Caleurta, but have hardly had a clear five munutes
George Abell bronght 1t some papers and expressed his concern about the
IN A trals, then Srivastava asked specully for an interview and came 1n
with one of hus pentodical attacks of cold feet, over the IN A trials agan
suggesting that [ should cafl them off” He was followed by B N Rau?
about the Madras-Orissa boundary dispute and the work he 15 domg on
the preparation of a deaft treaty between Britam and India Then came
the C-in-C, also about the IN A tmals, on which he 15 putting up
a modified policy, he 15 now definutely wornied about them and the
possible effect of them and Indenesia on the loyalty of the Indian Army
He has sent i the appreciation which HM G asked for as the result of
my reports on the political situanon—quite 2 good one but not very
comforting

The trsal of [ N A officers afforded Congress leadets a splendid opportunsty
of arousmmg popular feeling against the Government svluch they u ere not slos
to explowt They set up a strong defence comnuttee under Bhulabhar Desar
which tncluded Nehrie and the veteran Liberal Leader, Sy Tey Bahadur Sapru
Not to be outdone i patriotisin the Mushm Leagne also assocsated sself with
the defence of the accused

The tnal of the first batch of officers, a Hindu, 4 Mushm, and a Sikh, who
were daocsed ﬂf g war against the K 1174 and .':y“ murder or abetment %f
murder, opened at the Red Fort, Dellu, w1 November It was the signal for
tndespread demonstrations which wn Caleutta led to serious rioting Over thirty
people were klled, several lundred nyured, and a large number of cars and

police vehicles destrayed or damaged

I Sir Pheroze Kharepat, I C $, Secxctary to the Government of India  Department of

Agricufrure
: S5ir B N Rag, I1CS, Puune Judge of the High Court Calcutta, 1938-44 on specal
duty with the Governmenr of India 1944 Constirutional Adwiser top the Constituent

Assembly of India m 1946 Permanent Representative of India to the UN 1949
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A very good and dlummnating letter that Sir George Cunnmingham, Governor

of the N W F.P, urote to Lord Wavell at this tme on the subect of the I N A
trial 1s reproduced belous

Peshawar, November 27th, 1014

Dear Lord Wavell,
['am gomg somewhat outsde my proper sphere 1t wnitme to Your
Excellency about the IN A tral, but the matter 1s one on which I have

been trying to gauge opmion of all sorts and I have now come to a
defimite conclusion [ s that the C win-C should at once announce that,

as Indian optnion 15 opposed to the tral of these persons, he wipes the
whole thing out and takes no further proceedings aganst anyone No one
can do 1t but the C ~in-C , of hus own volition and on hus own responsi~

bility Done by anyone else, even by the King, 1t will not have the same
effect—particularly on the Army

Some Army Officers of great expenence with whom I have discussed
the matter—Dick O’Connor was one—have said that leniency at ths
stage would have a disastrous effect on the Army I do not behieve that
that 1s true Some Indian officers and soldiers, whose relanons or close
friends have suffered under the 1 N A leaders, are no doubt thersting for
their blood But [ am certam that they are comparanvely few and that
their resentment at any clemency shown now would not affect Army
disctpline as a whole Most Indran soldiers who have said to me ‘Hang the
lot” have, m my opumon, said so because they thought 1t was what I
wanted to hear, and thus applies to comment by Indians on most occasions

The thing 1s daily beco mung more and more purely Indian versus Brnitish,

and less and less ill-disposed Indians versys Bntish-com-well-disposed
Indians Ithink that eve

ry day that passes now brings over more and more
well-dispased Indians 1nto the ant~British camp and, whatever the out-
come of the tral may be, this ant-Briush bras will persist in each man’s

mind The only way of stopping the rot 1s by a clean cut, as I have said,
and at once

I dislike saying ths intensely It is tantamount to sirrendering to threats,
and no reasonable man doubts for 2 moment that the worst of the IN A
leaders ought to have heen shat out of hand Congressmen—Dr Khan
Samb among them—have sard ta me If only they had been shot n
angoon or Singapore, everyone would have been pleased” But that
teelmg has gone and cannot now be revived

{ feel ternbly for Your Excellency and for Claude A 1n this It 15 the
most difficult problem to tac

certain, from what [ have heard from a very wide variety of people here,

to do 15 to cut our losses
Yours sincerely,
{; Cunmngham
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Lord 1Vavell replied

The Viceroy's House, New Delh;
November 3oth, ro¢s
My Dear Cunmingham,

Many thanks for your Jetter No 2710f 27th Novemberaboutthe I N A
trials It was good of you to wiite, and 1 was glad to have your view Irs
about as difficult a case as one could want Bur we have, a[}tcr constdenng,
all opinions 1n the last few days, decided on a policy, and a commumque
will be 1ssued before you get ths letter No {E.IILITE trials wall take place
except where there are allegations of gross brutality agamse the accused
We have advisedly said nothing about the present cases, but st 15 intended
that these will continue Counal considered the policy and approved this
mormung We shall no doubt continue to suffer from &1smrttr§] publicity,
but I think 1n the long run 1t will be recogmzed that we have given the
accused a fair tr1al and that though we have gone to the very hmat of
clemency, we have not ennrely forgotten the 40,000 out of 60,000 of the
Indian Army who were loyal to their allegiance and refused to give way
to pressure and join the enemy

2 Thope you will not thank that I have failed to appreciate the strength
of the arguments you put forward Ido appreciate 11, but I think the policy

on which we have decided 1s the nght ene
Yours sincerely,

V/AVELL

Notember 25

After Iunch the Caseys tumed up, and [ had a long talk wath him about the
Caleutta nots, It was his first expenience of cvil disorder and he was
obviously surprised but not at all shaken He said the police staff-work
was thoroughly bad, a good deal of the finng wnnecessary, and most of
the Benpal officials useless The crowad was quite hysterical and he could
get no sense out of any of them, though he went down 1o them personally
without molestation The tactics of attacking transport and purhng up
road-blocks proved difficult to deal with Casey wanted the troops to act
as additional police, armed with truncheons, and T pointed out the diff:-
culties 2and dangers of this Later m the day he had a talk wath C -mn-C
and with Smmth of the D 1B Latter explamed to hum Bombay police
methods of dealing with crowds and rots, and Casey deaided at once to
send one of his police officers to Bombay 1o study them

Casey said he was gong to ask for some more of Bengal officers back
from the Centre, 1 doubt whether we can afford to Jet them go On the
general political situation, 1 showed ham my paper of November 6 to the
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S of § and he said 1t was a masterly statement He spohe of Burrows,?
whom he had met, said he was a good stout-hearted man, but he thought
he would be all at sea 1n Bengal and 1 the hands of hus officials for the

first six months

November 27

A companatively queet day, except for the general current of uncasiness
about the IN A trials which practically

I am sure 1t would be disastrous to stop the present trials as I am bemng

urged to do, and I am not much m love with the C -in-C s 1dea of

puttng out a fresh commumqué I think the harm 15 done now and that
we should stick to our guns

November 28

November 2g

I had a letter from Evan Jenkins on hus interview with the § of S , he had
certainly panted the picture 1 dark colomrs

Then to 2 Railway Board cocktail patty The one bright moment was
when I asked the wife of some

. Ratlway Manager whether she had a
farly and she rephed ‘No, I've tried foh tfally hard, but Pve o aly got
dachshunds

' Sir Fredenck Burrowsy

Company Sergeant Ma t
National Umion of Ry lwaymen lﬂfl—.: G E o nfjﬂﬂ; ;Ll‘l;tsl:él;r Guards Presiden
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Notember 30

The Counci meeting on IN A trals went quite well, I saw C-in-C
before the meenng and we got a communiqué drafted, and Council

accepted the pohicy and the communmiqué wath lirtle alteration suggested
to Jatter

Tuo out of the first three IN A officers put on trial were acqustted of
all charges except that of waging u ar agamst the King Some wmonths later
Lord Wavell admutted that “it was undoubtedly a sertous blunder to place on
trial first men agawnst whom no brutalty cm:i;' be proved

December 4

We got back just before lunch from three days in Bahawalpur Quute a
pleasant trip but rather mobile, we never slept more than one mght in the
same place, and one place was a tram, and we did a lot of motonng over
not very good roads

The usual job 1n catchung up wath papers thus afternoon, but no inter-
views Cascy rang up about his talks with Gandhy, he 15 seeing hum agam
tonight He thinks one of G "s main objects 1s to try and ascertarn how far
Congress will be allowed to go in matement durmng the elections without
the arrest of the leaders Casey claims to have pnivate information that
Nehru and Patel are determmed on wolence 1n 1946.

December 5

I had an mteresting letter from Evan Jenkins on a viat to Chequers, at
which he was attacked by Attlee, Mornson and Jowitt on the meffictency

of the Indian Government They obwvicusly know little about India, do
not care very much, but are very worned and have no real 1dea what

to do

December 6

Dalal has sent 1n hus resignation, I have been expecung 1t for some time
He has httle stamuna, physical and moral, and 15 not the man to take the
knocks of politics, especally i an unpopular admrmstration Nor I think
has he got on well with hus colleagues, i fact he sard when I saw lum that
only my support had enabled hum to get on at all, that the others were
jealous, especually Mudalar, who had wanted the job himself D sug-
eested M should now be gnenat D wants to tume hus resignation so that
he will not have to face the Assembly at the end of January

I 168 4
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December 15

Returned this evenmg from a tour to Caleutta, Assam and Bihar On
Monday I delivered my address to the Associated Chambers of Commerce,
wluch has somehow come to be the Viceroy's annual review of the econo-

mic and pohtical positton m India, I don’t think 1t 15 a good convention

that such an address should be delivered to a commercal and Bntish
audtence, and I thunk I shall try to find some other occaston Iam not 2

great admurer of the British business man in Caleutta I think the speech

was not a bad one 1 the prevailing condttions, the Nationahst Press 1s
rude about 1t of course but not so rude as maght be expected, and secret
mformation 1s to the effect that 1t made some impression

In the course of this speech Lord Wavell appealed for moderation and a
sincere effort to reach agreement ‘The British Government and the British
people’, he sad, “honestly and sincerely 1 1sh the Indian people to have therr
political freedom and a Government or Governments, of therr own chouce
But  stis not a sunple problent, 1t cannot and wsll not be solved by repeating
a passiword or formula “Quut India’ wll not act as the magic* Sesame” w huch
opened Ali Baba's cave It cannot and will not be solved by violence There
are various parties,  twho must somehow or other reach a measure of agree-

tent amongst themselt es—Congress, the largest political party m India, the
munortties, of whone the Mushms are the most numerous and niost wnportant,

the Rulers of the Indian States and the British Government The objective of

all 15 the same—the freedom and welfare of India I do not believe an agreed
solution between the parties 1s impossible, I'do not beheve 1t would even be very

difpcult grven goodwnll, commonsense and patience on all sides  Ido appeal
most sclemnly and earnestly at this entical moment of Indian history for good-

will on the part of all leaders It 1s a tune when every man m any position
of responsibility must determune to do all s Ins pou er to bring abont a just and

lasting solution of Indid’s problem without phinging this great Iand into conflict”

After that I interviewed 2 deputation of the European Association
They voiced their apprehensions of the present polittical situatron, and of
the safety of 1olated Europeans especially in Bihar They also deplored
the departare of Casey and change of Governors at this critical moment
I told them that it was quite inpossible to put a police guard on every
European s house which they seemed to expect, and that the change of
Govemors had to take place some time and that no one could tell quite
when the cnisis would come

They wete followed by Gandhi—anith whom I had 40 mmnutes [ de-
plored the recent speeches of Congress leaders and said that the preaching
of violence could only lcad to violence especally with the mflammable
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matenial m India, of young students and goondhas {the Indun equi-
valent of hooligans), and that fomentation of racal and communal
hatred would not produce the atmosphere in which a solution could be
produced 1n next year’s discussions He admutted the violence of Congress
speeches and indicated that he was trying to get the tone lowered 1 said
that an agrecment of some hind between Himda and Mushim was necessary,
evenif 1t was an agreement to part He said he had always tried for a settle-
ment but was frustrated by the Britsh policy of divide and rule. I said thus
was nonsense, we tried our best to bring them together, that the mncrease
n communal feching was mamly due to the action of Congress Munistries
in 1937-319 which had made Muslims feel they would not get a square
deal from Congress and had caused the nisc of the Muslim Leaguc and the
1dea of Pakistan He defended the Congress Mimistries at some length, and
sard all Governors had adnutted their fazmess I said there was no doubr
about the psychological effect on the Mushms, whatever the facts may
have been, and he adnutted thas I then said that the British were 2c-
customed to ahuse and mustepresentation from Indian Nationalists, bur
that there was a limt, and that it seemed hardly wise to antagomise us at
this moment when we were trying our best to bring about a settlement,
and that Ind1a after getting her freedom would want Britain’s co-operation
in defence and 1n commercial development 1 added that if any disorder
resulted from the hatred now betng sticred up, 1t would of course be my
duty to suppress 1t, and I should do so by all means i my power He
assented to this, and then smd that India needed no help from Bntain 1n
trade or defence She would develop her trade 1n her own way, and her
defence would be the moral force of non-viclence, which would eventi-
ally conquer the wotld and bnng about umversal peace Isaid I chd not
think either of us would live to see this desirable 1ssue, and that the
immediate pount was to prevent violence i Indiz during the next year or
so We left 1t at that He was quite friendly though woolly, and seemed
m good health He then went off to see Arthur Smmth,! who found lum
quertdous, nialictous and quite ammpressive, so he told me at the arrficld
next morning He told Arthur that he had no trust at all in the British, that
they always broke their word, that 1 had broken mne at Sumla (he based
thts on the grounds that I had said I meant to make the Conference suc-
ceed, 1if possible, and then had not done so'}, and went back to the Mutny,

ctc He has aat changed and never wall
Casey seemed in quite good heart He told me of his talks with Gandh,,

I Te~Gen Sir Arthur Sputh G Q C -m-C , Eastern Commoand, India 1945-6, Chief of
General Stafl, India, 1946
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Nehru and Patel He did not think much of Nehru and judged him a weak

character He sard Patel was a proper ‘tough’ and the real dnving force
behund Congress” ageressive policy

I went on to Assam on the 11th, to see the northem frontier and the
tribes there We landed at Tezpur about rmudday and motored to Charduar
where I Iived in the Poliucal Officers’ bungalow Next mormung we went
out to the Barcill River for a picnug, seeing an elephant camp on the way
with several recently captured wild elephants In the afternoon there was
a parade of the Tnbesmen of the Balipara Frontier Tract, a picturesque
and rather attractive looking Jot who did ceremomal dances and some
national sports, an mteresting performance

Next day we Hew east over the Himalayan foothills and tribal country,
and then up the Lohit valley, through some magnificent mountam gorges
over Walong, a frontser post at the N E corner of India on the borders of
China and Tibet

[ had a long talk on the N E frontier and the future of the tribes wath
Mills the Govemor's adviser for tnbal areas, and Godfrey one of the
Frontier Political Officers, both sensible people, who knew and liked the
tribes They wanted a policy for frontier organisation, a road policy, and
mformation about the possibility of continuing to supply the fronter
posts by a1c The drop last month was on the whole successful, bue 1 gather

the RAF thought it nsky It 1s difficudt to see any good future for these

simple unsophisticated, probably quite happy, wild men, one cannot stay
the advance of crvilization or pretend that st bnings unimxed blessing, and
what wll happen when Indians take over 15 not pleasant to contemplate,
few of them are likely to have our sympathy with wild men and wild Iife
Mills and Godfrey both thought the policy of advance to the MacMahon
e correct

[ went to Bihar on the 14th We flew for an hour and a half to see the
depredations caused by the erratic behaviour of the Kost nver which
has moved some 30 or 40 mules in the Jast 1§ years or so, destroymng large
areas of fernle land Then I went and looked at a Med:cal School and two
hospitals attended a Garden Party given by the Maharaja of Dharbanga,”
with whom we wete staymg, had an hour of mterviews, and finished up
with a ten-course dinner at Dharbanga s palace, follow ed by an exlubinion
of dancmg It was a long day I had caught a cold i Calcutta and 1t was
IOW at 1ts worst

This mommng I motored 40 or 50 mules (ternbly dusty roads) to see
some of the Kost niver floods at close quarters We went out 1 2 boat 10

' An exceedingly wealthy landowner not a Rulng Prince.
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a flooded willage,and got 2 good impression of the damage done The
villagers politely assured me that their troubles would now be aver since
I had come and taken the matter 1n hand, a very voluble, intelligent and
candid gentleman, who was the local Congress leader, explaned the
position to me n an extraordinary nuxture of Hindustam and English,
and sasd that plenty of people had been to look at the floods but no one
had done anythmng, he hoped 1 would really get something done

December 19

Arrears of worlk. for several days and the house full of visitars

I finished a note on the political situation and a possible way of dealing
with 1t | also went into the question of getting a survey, by air and on the
ground, of the Kost river where 1t leaves the hills m Nepal, and akso a
survey of levels in the flood area T am not quite clear why nothing has
been done before Reports and recommendations have been made but
have been pigeon holed and ignored

Today, quite an mmpressive parade outside the Red Fort, at which I
presented a number of VCs The Chief Commussioner of Delh had
begeed me not to hold tt, as he feared 2 demonstration i favour of the
IN A 1 absolutely refused to pay any regard to hus protests There was
a large and orderly crowd a very good parade and no demenstration of
any kind

In the afternoon we had a soldier’s party at VH for the men on the
parade, and there were about a thousand

One way and another—parades parties, green boxes, red carpet—
Her Ex and I earned our keep today

December 20

I am feeling definstely overworked I have been at 1t all day and have not
even kept abreast of the routine stuff, let 2lone several important things
I have to do—appreciation for Cabmet speech for Engineers at Calcurta,
fetter to the Kmg—and privace correspondence

Council meeting was fortunately short Both Food and Coal positions
are deteriorating rapidly We decided to adhere for India to the Bretton
Woods agreement which has to be done by 315t December 1f Tndia 1s to
obtam the advantages and prestige of onguial membership This means
hrea_kmg Our Plﬂd,g': to consult the .ﬂsscfﬂb]}r first, for which we shall be

heavily cnticised, but 1f we don’t do 1r, they will enticise us for not securin o
India a place
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I pave Counctl an account of my mecting with Gandht, and Md Usman
made characteristic comments

My last mterview today was with Dr Khan Sahib, Congress Prermuer
of the N W F P, whom I like and find sensible though not perhaps a very
good admumstrator We spoke of economec penetration of the Tribal

arez He agrecs wath me that any policy of foraible disarmament of the
Tribes would be folly

December 22

The last two days have been a steady struggle against files, wath the files

gamning ground I have been trying to complete two jobs, a pohucal
apprectation for the Cabinet and a speech for the Engineering Institution
whuch 1 have to grve at Calcutta next week. I am also due to wmte a

periodical letter to the King but have not had time even to begin 1t And
private correspondence contintes to accumulate

Lord Wasell sent the “polinical appreciation for the Cabinet to the Secre-
tary of State onr 27 December along uith a ‘programme for political action’

Appreaation of polinical situation
I. Our immediate objectives for 1046 are

(a) to sccure a reasonably effictent Executive Council with representa-

tives of the pnincipal parties on a proportional basis, which wall
carry on the government of Indra dunng the ntenm penod,

(b) to form a Constitution Making Body which wall vroduce a work-
able and acceptable constitution,

(c) to bning about Governments in the Provinces, on a Coalition basis
as far as possible

2 The chref factors we have to ke into consideration are the aims and

E:llt:]ﬁ of the Congress, the Mushm League, and the Rulmg Princes We
ve also tesponsibilines to the numerous mmontes, and 2 general
responsibility to ensure that India 1s not thrown nto chaos and civil stofe
before, duning or immediately after our hand-over of power

3 The objective of Congress, the princrpal poliical party, 15 un-
doubtedly to seize power for their nrgamzat{,:n,li e the (I;asg ’Hmdm.
and to destroy British mfuence 1n India as soon as possible They will go
to any lengths to achieve thg of they feel strong enough, and will use

violence 1f necessary

Congress commands the support of practically all Caste Hindus, and of
certin other elements in India which tend to follow their nsing fortunes

They have the support of nearly the whole of the Press, they have the
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best orgamised—in fact the only well organized—political machine, and
they command almost unhimited financral support Almost all educated
Hindus, and especally the student class, are their enthustastic followers,
and they can always raise mob passion and mob support, and do not
hesitate to use the worst and most violent elements 1n the population for
their purposes

Indian business magnates, although strongly pro-Congress, are anxious
for a solution without conflict and disorder

Most of the ig landowmers dislike and fear Congress and would like to
support Government, but few of them can probably now be refied on to
grve active aid. They have never organized opposition to Congress with
any success, and are on the whole rather a poor ot

There 15 generally speaking no orgamized opposition to Congress
amongst Hindus m Bntsh Inda {except possibly i the Punjab) and
nothing to put wn 1ts place 1f we suppress 1t Neither the Communist Party
nor M N Roy’s Social Democrats have any mmfluence The Scheduled
Castes are divided and many of them support Congress The only real
opposition to Congress comes from the ninontes, of which the Mushm
League 1s of course the prmaipal but represents entirely sectional interests
and not all-India The League, though strongly ann-Congress 1s not
pro-government or pro-Bntish, and would support us only to the extent
of remaimng neutral m a conflict between Govemment and Congress

Pakistan will remam inflexably the League policy, so long as Jinah

controls 1t, though many of his supporters, perhaps the majonty of those
who really thimk, realise the difficulties and dlsadmtzges of Pakistan.

4 Atpresent the Government can prohably count on the support of the
Officaals, Police and Army, m a conflict with Congress, though there
maght be some defections amongst the junuor offictals and perhaps jumor
police officers It would certamnly not be wise to try the Indian Army too
highly m the suppression of their own people As time groes on, the loyalty
of Indian officials, the Indian Army and the police nught become prob-
lematical A large number of Britssh officials will probably take the first
opportumty to retire

5 The atuitude of the Princes 15 on the whole that they would Iike to be
rid of the Brtish 1f st were not for their fear of Congress They would
certanly for the most part, support us 1n a show-dawn with Congress
The Prnnces are not nrgamzed and do not nurmal]y show a common
front The Chamber of Princes 1s by no means representative

§ The general conclusions I make on thus part of the appreciation are

(2) That Congress commands the support of practically the whole of
articutate Hinda opinton, and could undoubtedly bring about a
very senious revolt aganst Britsh rule,
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(b) That we could still probably suppress such a revolt, after a consider-
able amount of bloodshed,

(c) That1f we do have to suppress Congress we have nothung to put in
sts place, and should be driven to an almost entircly official rule, for
which the necessary numbers of efficient officials do not exast

In other words, we shall be placed 1n a quite untenable position, unless
we find a solution, and we must do so by some means or other Our chief
problem 1s to find some bridge between Hmdu and Muslim

Probable course of events

7 The present Congress pohicy seems to be to avoid conflict at any rate
until the elections are over, while taking full advantage of the licence they
are bemng allowed duning the elections, to mcrease their mfluence and
prestige, to stir up racial hatred agawst the British and communal feelmg
against the Mushm League, and to complete their organtzation for a mass
movement, unless their demands are satisfied after the elections They wall
g0 as far as they feel they safely can without provoking a premarure {from
their pomt of view) confhet with Government Meanwhale they will do
their best to weaken Government by intumdatmg offictals and all non-

official supporters of Government, and by endeavourng to suborn the
Indian Ay

8 Afier the elections, which wall wndoubtedly show overwhelming
success for Congress, they wall, unless we take the imtiative, present thert
demands 1n some form or another, wth the threat of 2 mass movement if

not fulfilled. These demands may include

(a) Immediate establishment of a Central Executive, on which Con-
gress representanon will be proportionate to their success m the
elections,

) Abolition of the Governor-General's power of veto, ora convention

that 1t will not be used,

(c}) Formaton ofa CM B on which Congress representation will be
ptoportionate to their success i the elections, and a pledge from

HM G that the decisions of dhs body wil] be accepted without
further discussion or amendment,

(d) Possibly a refusal o take office or cooperate IN any way. unless

Indian troops are withdrawn from Indonesia andfor all I N A men
released.

o What we have to decide now 15

(a) The method by which we are to attempt the formation of a new
Exccutve Counal, by a conference as ar Simla, or by direct
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invitation by the Governor-General to certatn individuals to assume
office, or by any other method,

(b) How far we are prepared to go to secure Congress cooperation 1n
a2 Central Executive, the two crucal issucs woll be

(1) to what extent we are prepared to over-nide or by-pass Jinnah

and the Mushim League,
(n) whether we will consent to any restniction of the Governor-

General's power of veto,

(The above are inter-related to the extent thar any weakening of the
Governor-General's veto will mcrease the relucrance of the Muoshm

League to cooperate]
(c) How we are to form the Conference on the CM B

The ‘programme of political action” that Lord Wavell suggested was

designed to forestall Congress demands and enable hum to seize the imtiative
He smd that he wished to attempt to form a wew Central Executive as early as
possible, 1 ¢ ton ards the end of Febritary, for by thent the results of the elections
it the Pungab wonld be known and these wonld show the preasire of success
that the AMushm League had won He proposed to avord a conference on the
hnes of the Sunla Conference and sumply to sce the Presidents of the Congress
and the Mushm League and to ask them fo let him have panels of names from
which he would choose the Congress and Muslm League members of the
Executive Council He 1 ould, if necessary, make 1t clear to them that of any
party refused to co-operate fie v ould go ahead and form an Executne Couneil
tathout them
If the Punjab elections went well for the Muslm League, he itended to
asssire Jinnah, (a) that the Muslhms woeuld have parity with the Hindus other
than Scheduled Castes m the Exenrive Councl, (b) that the Aushm seats
would be filled by Mushm Leaguers, (c) that the Mushm League could have
tie o otit of the four key portfolios, viz. War, External Affarrs, Home, Fiuiance
He ennisaged a Counal of fourteen composed as follows five Hindus other
than Scheduled Castes, five Mushms, tuo Scheduled Castes, one Sikh, one
Indian Christian
As soon as the new Executive Counail was formed, e proposed to put before
them suggestions for holdng a Prelwmmary Conference to reach decisions about
setting up a Constutution Makmg Body He furmished detailed papers draiwn
up by V. P Menon and Sy B N Rau, regarding the composition of this
Confererice and 1ts agenda
Lord W avell also sent to the Secretary of State on 27 December an important
Memorandum showng how he proposed to proceed ws regard to the Pakistan
issiee If at any stage, the Musluns brought about a deadloch by their inflexable
demand for Palastan, he would tell Jimal: that tf they persisted i this attitude,
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H M G would have to take a decision themselves and thesr decision wonld be
based on the principle that large non-Muslim populations conld not be included
in Pakistan agawnst ther 1l This would mean that Westerss Bengal including
Calcntta and at least t1 o-fifths of the Pumab would have to be excluded from
Pakastan and Jinnal wonld be left, in his own words, 1with only “the husk’
Lord Wavell thought that 1f Jmnah swas confronted with this prospect, there
was at least a chance that he would set to worlk to sectire the best possible terts
for the Muslims within a nmted India

HMG acknowiedged these proposals, but did not comment on fiem 1
detail, for the deaision, taken in January, to send to India o Cabinet Misston
catised them to be set aside It will be found, however, that m dealing with
Jimnah the Cabmet Mission more or less adopted the line that Lord Wa: ell
suggested, offerng hum only a truncated Pakistan as an alternatve to some

form of all-India Union, and that Jinuch, faced with this bleak prospect,

opted, to begin wnth, for a loose unton

December 23

Cleared up arrears and had one visitor, Pandit Kunzru, an old fiend or
encmy-—earnest, simcefe, austere, rather tiresome sometimes He 15 going
to Malaya as an unofficial delegation, to enquire o the difficulines of
Ind:ans there under arrest or at liberty He spoke at some length on the

pohitical sitwation, and stated the problem with admurable luaidity, but
had no solution to offer

December 30 (i Caleutta)

I bad two long talks wath Casey, on the lessons of the Caleuita niots, the
use of troops 1 cval disturbances, tear gas, Australian poltics, et He has
enjoyed his two years in Bengal, but leaves with a liking for the Bengali
but a very poor opunion of lum as a politictan or eitizen

A scmious food crisis seems to be developing again as HM G 1s gomng
back on all 1ts promuses about imports, and the situation n Bombay and
Madras 1s worscning 1 thought that Food was gomng to be one of the few
things it India I should not have to wotry about m the next six months

5o ends 1945, a busy and eventful year for me The rmportant pcnuds
were of course my visit home 1n the early partof the year and long struggle
for permussion to make an attempt to end the Indian deadlock, and then
my fadure at Stmla to do so Then came two rather unexpected develop-
ments, the Labour success in the Election and the sudden ending of the

war with Japan, both of wlich had of course considerable effect on my
problems out here
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I am sure that 1 was nght to try for a solution, and [ think 1t was some-
thing of an achicvement to have got 1t past Winston’s Government, | have
wondered many times whether I could have avoided the Simla failure, by
a different handling of Jinnah or by by -passing hrn when he was obstinate.
[ doubt 1.

The end of the war brought on my difficult period sooner than 1 had
expected, but a Labour Government has on the whole made things casier,
since rather more attention 1s pard to India and the outlook 15 rather more
sympathetic,

And so to 1946, to which I am not very much looking forward I think
we may have passed the first cnisis, an immediate outbreak of wiolence or
such a threat of 1t as would have necessitated a fresh conflict with Con-
gress But all the difficult and dangerous factors stll remain, and I shall
constder myself very fortunate if I am wnnng with any cause for satis-
faction at the end of 1046.
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['am not very much looking forward to 1946, and shall be surprised and
very pleased 1f we get through without serious trouble But I believe
everyone wants 2 solution, and every one really expects HM G to produce
it, and that works down to me, I'suppose, and I very much doubt whether

my bramn-power or personality are equal to 1t 1 shall Just have to keep on

trying, but I shal}, as I say, be very pleased and surpnsed 1f 1t comes out
nght,

New Year 1946
jammr}' 2

1 opened the year yesterday with discussions on two important problems—
with Hutchmgs on Food and the Cam-C on IN A trial sentences

Hutchmgs was not as perturbed at the food situatzon as I had expected,

he hoped we should be all nght t1ll end of March—swnith UP the 1m-

mediate danger—provided we had some ram shortly in the Punjab and

managed to get nice out of Nepal The shortage was fortunately worst 1n
our best-admumistered Provinces—Bombay and Madras

The C-mn-C told me of the sentences m the first I N A trtals® and his
proposals to commute them

Today’s Counail meeting went quute smoothly There was an almost

unanimous decision for the Government to remain at Delh: for the summer
and not go to Simla

Jantiary 5

[ had over an hour with Jinnah mn the mornm g He was rather less difficult
tr manner than at Simla but just as uncontpromusing in substance

The Pathamentary Delegation® turned up many hours late, and rather
tired, having been delayed four hours at Bahremn by a damaged float On

fiest impressions quute a pleasant body with hrtle knowledge of India but
anvious to leam

' Al the three accused were scatenced to transportation for Life and to be cashiered and
Jose all pay and atlowances whule wrth

the Japanese General Auchinleck renuteed the sen-
tences of trantportation

: E?: Proposal tosend out 3 Pitltmmtarr Dfl'-‘g:-tmn bad been made ;n Movember see
P I
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The followng st of Members of the Delegation was insested in the Journal,

Professor R. Ruchards (Leader of the Delegation), M P. {Lab)
AMr. R. Sorensen, M.P. {Lab)

Mrs. Munel H. Nichol, A P. {Lab)

Mr. A. G. Bottomley, M.P. {Lab)

Major 13oodrow Wyatt, AL P. (Lab)

Mr. Godfrey Nicholson, M.P. {Cons)

Brigader A R. V. Low, C.B.E., D.SO, M P, (Cons)

Mr R. Hoplun Moms, M P, (Lib)

The Earl of Munster

The Lord Chorley of Kendal

jammry &

A dinner party for the Delegation to meet Exccutive Counal went quute
well, 1 think. [ think the Delegation had had rather a entical reception by
same of the Press at a conferenice in the eventng, and scem to have acquitted
themselves quite well.

Jamuary 7

I spent an hour and a half m the moming, giving the Delegation a short
talk on how the Government of India functioned and on the economuc
problems, and answenng their questions, This went quite well

Then Md Usman delivered hrs usual honuly on the folly of the British
n leaving India, and Roy the Law Member, who had been away sick for
some months without anyone noticng 1t very much, told me all about
his 1llness

In the evening we had a muxed bag party for the Delegauon It went
quite well I talked to the local Muslim League leader, who thought I was
one of the Delegation and was rather shocked when I told him I was the
Viceroy, [ think the personnel of the Delegation 1s on the whole very well
chosen for goodwnll purposes

January 12

Back this evemng from a short tour to Ahmedabad, Bombay and Poona.
Qumte mteresting but strennons Ahmedabad, 2 big mdusmal centre, a
great Congtess stronghold and an wmteresting ity from the old and the
modern pont of view, had not been visited by a Viceroy for 17 or 18
vears I saw some of the old buildings in the momung,
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I was garlanded ac 2 Hindu temple near the Bhadra forr, by the Jews of
Ahmedabad, by the calico printers, and by the Dyers Thus garlanding
habit 15 much practised 1n Bombay Presidency, and 15 tiresome, an
Englshman feels a fool and looks a fool, when a very large garland of wet
flowers 15 hung round his neck and a large tight bouquer of flowers
pressed into hus hand and a platoon of photographers crowd round to
take photographs It 1s a little difficult to deade at what stage one 1s en-
titled to remove the garland whch 1s usually dripping down one's neck
and soaking one’s collar, and hand the bouquet to an ADC [ have
decided that as soon as the photographers have recorded the event, the
garlander 15 quite sanisfied and the garlandee can remove the garland

Jannary 16

I had the usual interviews and 2 Council 1n the morning which went quite
smoothly

[ then had an hour or so, first wath Dickie M B and then wath hum and
C-in-C, chiefly on the danger of trouble m Burma m which Indian
troops might be mvolved I do not share Dickie’s enthusiasm for Aung
San the Burmese leader, first of an army of Burmans for the Japs and
aganst us, next for us and agamst the Japs and now of 2 pohtical party

{ doubt 1f I should place much trust m the gentlemnan, but victory seems to
make us acquamted with some strange bedfellows

jﬂﬂrmry 17
The first day of the Chamber of Princes, entirely formal for the most parr,
except for certam passages 1 my opemng speech, wamnmg the small
States that they must by amalgamation or othenwise, form themselves
into unities capable of runmng a reasonable admimstration Bhopal came
to me after the day'’s Session, and s11d he was tn difficulties with the smaller
States, to whom hss election as Chancellor was chiefly due, they opposed
any form of amalgamation or reform and Bhopal, while professing to be
entirely out of sympathy with them said he would have to represent their
views He said that some of them were threatening to merge with British
Indsa of they had to losc ther independence and B suggested that Nehru
had got at them (I fancy that a number of the larger Princes, mcluding
Bhopal humself, have been in touch wath Congress as to the terms they
might expect in 2 Congress-ruled Inda) Bhopal s ways are tortuous, he

spoke vaguely of resignation, but I imagine that he does not want to
repeat his mustake of last year
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Jannary 18

Sesston of Chamber of Princes concluded quictly today, I think the tone
was perhaps more realistic than usual, the Prmmces have realised that they
must ntove with the times

January 19
[ saw Vallabhai Patel for the first time this morming Not an attractive
personahity and uncompromising but more of 2 man than most of the
Indian pohtcians I have met I began with some talk about Ahmedabad
where he hves, which T had lately visited—ts buildings, 1ts mdustnes and
history 'We then had some talk of the scarcity of ramn m that part of India
and of the food situation generally We passed on presently to the political
sitsation, and the need for a settlement between Hindu and Mushm., Patel
at once began with allegations that the Botish were supporung Mr Jmnah
and the Mushm League, that innah had been allowed to wreck the Simia
Conference, that lus manners to Azad had been mmtolerable and so on He
then went on to make a grnievance of the Provincial Legsslatures being
dissolved before Congress mumistnies could take office, and alleped that
this had been done at the instance of Jinnah T combated this and said that
Congress had had ample time and opportumty to make up their mmnds 1f
they wanted to form Provinaial ministries after Simla, and to approach
Governors, but that they had shown no sign of domng so, in fact I thought
that one pronunent Congress leader had said that they had no intention of
forming mimistries before the elections 1 told hum that at the Governors
Conference which [ had held after Simla, 1t had been agreed that of any
approach had beet made to Governors for the formation of munustnes they
would be accepted, 1t was only after there was no stgn of any intention of
the political Jeaders to come forward thar Legislarures were dissolved, as a
matter of administrative convenience n view of the approaching electrons
Patel seemed to be determuned to make a grievance of this and an mscarice
of British support of the Muslims, but d:d not speak with any great bitter-
ness about 1t

He said that he did not see how there was ever going to be a settlement
between Hindu and Mushim while the British were 1in India, and that the
British should clear out and leave Indians to settle matters themselves
1 saud he really could not expect us to leave India to chaos and avil war,
and that there must be some sort of settlement [ did not introduce the
issue of Pakustan, as the tone of his approach did not seem to favour 1t,
and merely said that it was my busmess to see that law and order was
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maintained until some new form of Government was settled He agreed

with ths

He was polite, and certanly quite as friendly as I expected, but obviously
UNcOmMpromising

Jatary 24
A peniod of comparative quiet was succeeded by a real blizzard of work,
a whole number of awkward problems SecIIIng to arise at once

Counail meeting m the evening lasted nearly two hours, of which 1}
hours were on food The complcte fatture of the rains 1n the South has
created a famine posttion m parts of Madras, Bombay and Mysore, and
the lack of winter ramns 1n the north has entirely dned up procurement m
Punjab and Sind Also nice 1s not coming cut of Siam quick enough or in
sufhczent quanuty, how far this 1s due to HM G nsisting on 1,500,000
tons being supplied free as reparations 1s uncertain, but 1t will undoubtedly
be the subject of bitter cincaism here There will be a debate 1 the
Assembly next weel.

Meanwhile a telegram came in rom HM G to say that they propose
to send a delegation of three Ministers to negotiate a settlement of the
Indian problem, to arrive middle of February I wonder if this 15 a wise
move, they are under an 1llusion 1f they think a weck or two of discussion
s gomng to be sufficient From my own pomt of view, 1t relieves me of
some of the immediate load of responsibihity, I suppose, but may mcrease
it 1n the end, as [ suspect that I may be lefr wath all the loose and awkward
ends to tie up, and pethaps to implement a policy with which I do not
agree It depends a great deal whom they send I am afraid that I would
not wholly trust Cripps as a negotiator

I also saw Smuth, D1 B His tnformation 1s that Congress 1s m mulizant

mood and out gunmng for the Muslims, confident thar they can down
them He thinks they are prepared to take office 1t the Provinces without
waiting for the Centre,' and will then secure control of Government
servants and make action against Congress impossible, by disnussal or
persecution of any officals not amenable to therr 1dcas A dangcrous
policy for us, and also I think for themselves 1n the long run

[ saw Liaquat Ali Khan in the cveung, he is rather an attractive person,
much pleasanter and easier to talk with than Jinnah, His cencral theme was
that Hindus and Mushms would nev or agree and that the Britsh would
hatve to face the Pakustan 1ssue and produce a solution 1 said that if we
1imposed a solution we should have to stop 1n India to enforce e, and he

' This was confirmed by And during his interview with Lord Wavell on 25 January
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said that m any event we should have to stop for many years yet, and that
the Mushims were not at all anxiqus that we should go, India conld not
stand alone and would only get some worse master

January 25
Another very full day Isaw Hydan and ashed him to take over Planning
and Development Department from Dalal 25 Mudalar, having been
elected President of an important Commttee of U N O, was not hkely
to be available for some months at any rate, Hydan was dehghted

After Junch I had 1} hours with Azad and Asaf Ali* the latter acting as
mmterpreter I entirely refused to accept their thesis that Congress was
entirely night 1n all 1t sard and did I think these Congress leaders live as
httle tin gods in their immediate entourage and never hear eniticism and
are entirely autocratic, so that a hetle plam speaking does no harm

In the course of this meeting, at winch a nuwmber of sulyects, e g the velease
of detenus ti ere discussed, Azad informed Lord [Vavell that after the electtons
the Congress wonld form governments i all Provinces i which they had
a majority and would not expect a new Executive Counedl at the Centre o be
formed tll afier this Lord Wavell told hun that he was discussmg with HM G
the best way of formung a good Executit e Councl to carry on the adimntstration
while constitution-making was 1 progress Axzad suggested that the Premers
of all the elevent Provinces should be ashed to ntontmate two persons and that out
of this panel of twenty-two the Viceroy should select the Executive Counnl
In reply to an mquiry whether the Viceroy would have complete freedom of
chotce it makang hiss selechion Azad said that 1t u ould be a matter for negotiation

Jannary 26

I hear Congress do not mean to attend the Assembly when I speak on
Monday
I spoke to A J’s soldiers on India a difficult thing to deal with one of

the world s most complicated problems in 40 mmutes

January 28

This mormng I addressed the Assembly Congress did not antend and
apparently considered it rather a concesston that the Prestdent® did

Then we had a Council on Food found ourselves at Jeast a mulhon tons
short, decrded to send a deputation to London and to Washington 1f
necessary and to take certan other measures

I A Congress Mushim from Delha and member of the Congress Working Commuttec
3 The President 1 ¢ Speaker who had just been elected was 2 Congressman

I 169
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Janury 29

Sargent spoke to me about the long-delayed letrer to the Provinces on

Education policy 1 took this up i March 1944 Just before I went home

did not finish discussion 1n Counal, Colsille would not rouch 1t while he
was acting for me, when I came back the $imla conference occupied my
whele attention for a month or s0, then [ could never get a quorum of
my Council suthciently large to deal with 1t ll October, we passed the
policy in October, and since then Fmance branch has held up wssue of the
policy by a dispute on the financial implications  Such 1s the difficulry of
getung anytiung important settled and 1ssued m ths country

.Fffimary 1

A quet day I saw an Amencan correspondent, Jones of the New York
Times and suggested that Amencans might show thair sympathy for the
Indian war effore and Indis's aspirations for freedom by allocaung more
food He didn't seem to realise that there had been an Indian war effort
but scemed to thunk the matter of food shortage was worth a message

Stvastava has accepted to lead the Food deputation to London and
Washmgton.

The food problem continues an anxiety Congress polncians seem
determined to make caputal out of 1t, by denouncing the Botish Govern-
ment as entirely responsible and by demanding pressure on the Mushm

Provinces Punjab and Sind to produce surpluses I had a busmess-like
letter from Colwille, who seems to be dealing with the problem as efficiently

and cheerfully as possible, and 2 very gloomy one from Glancy, who 1s
obviously a tired and depressed man

The MPs returned, and I had an hour with them before dinner, they
have not found any sohd answer to the problem and are, I thmk, as
¢ complexities and personahties as anyone else No one seems
mpressed with Jinnah, or rather they all seem to be impressed
with his intransigence, but practically all think that the Pakistan wssue has
I fancy a good number of them zre disillusioned wath

Congtess and the Indrans—certamly Morns Richards and Bottomley seem

to be and probably Mrs Nichel. | have not seen Wyatt yet, I am seemg
them all 2gam tomorrow evening

Through no Jault of its members the Parlamentary Delegation did not
arovise tmsich wnterest w India and had little effect on the cotrse of events, but
some of 1ts members probably did succeed to some ex